
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Cabinet Advisory 
Panel B

A meeting of the above Panel will be held on 

Monday 3 December 2018

Cabinet
A meeting of the above will be held on 

Thursday 6 December 2018

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
(Chairman)

Councillor C J Shippam 
(Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE

Councillor P F Coleman Councillor K M Kelly Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

Both meetings will be held at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

Managing Director
Wednesday 28 November 2018

Councillor M J Davis (Chairman) Councillor P Kelly
Councillor R S L Perfitt (Vice-Chairman) Councillor E J Lampkin
Councillor I D Armitt Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor A Bardoe Councillor C S McLean
Councillor J Burrell Councillor D J Mote
Councillor R M Currans Councillor D Page
Councillor D A Hammock Councillor A Sandhu, MBE
Councillor J A Hayes Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor S R Jarnell Councillor R J Wells
Councillor J Jones



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET ADVISORY PANEL B 
Monday 3 December 2018

CABINET
Thursday 6 December 2018

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest on Items 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director.

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 1 November 
2018 

4. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda.

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC

5. To receive the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 3 
December 2018 
To follow

6. References from Committees 
None at this stage.

A - Strategies, Policies, Key Decisions, Consultations

7. Community Infrastructure Levy: Governance and Spending 
Review 2018 (Pages 1 - 30)
Summary:

The report sets out an updated indicative five year programme of 
potential infrastructure projects that could be supported by 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  It sets out progress made over 
the past year. It details current CIL receipts and forecasts and reports 
on progress to date on mechanisms to release unparished 
neighbourhood funding to locally focused projects.



Recommendations:

1. That the CIL Indicative Five Year Programme as set out in 
paragraph 4.4 of the report and Appendix A, be agreed as a 
basis for ongoing liaison with relevant infrastructure providers 
and further development of the identified schemes, subject to 
availability of CIL funding and approval of individual schemes by 
Cabinet.

2.  That  an ‘in principle’ commitment for CIL funding to support two 
new health hubs in Dartford town centre and at Stone be agreed, 
subject to the level of CIL funding being clarified through the 
finalisation of the business case for each. 

3. That a final decision on the agreement to and level of CIL funding 
for the health projects identified in paragraph 4.2 of the report, as 
well as any further potential projects identified in paragraph 4.4, 
be considered either as part of a subsequent annual CIL report in 
December 2019, or mid-year, if there is a need for urgency.

4. That Dartford’s CIL Annual Report, attached at Appendix C to the 
report, be agreed for publication.

5. That the progress on identification and delivery of CIL projects 
funded through the neighbourhood element in unparished areas, 
as set out in paragraph 5.6 of the report, be noted and to agree to 
receive further reports as matters are progressed.

8. Lower Thames Crossing - Second Consultation (Pages 31 - 48)
Summary:

To consider a response to the second consultation by Highways 
England on detailed proposals for the Lower Thames Crossing 
following the announcement of the preferred route for the crossing 
between east of Gravesend and Tilbury in 2017. 

Recommendation:

That the response to the consultation questions set out in Appendix A 
to the report be agreed as the Council’s response to the second 
consultation on the Lower Thames Crossing.

9. Government Consultation on Planning Reform: Supporting the 
High Street and Increasing the Delivery of New Homes (Pages 49 
- 114)
Summary:

To respond to the Government Consultation Paper on “Planning 
Reform: Supporting the High Street and increasing the delivery of 
New Homes” which proposes to extend the range of developments 
that can take place without the need for planning permission as well 
as extending local authorities’ freedoms to dispose of surplus land.



Recommendation:

That the responses to the questions, set out in Appendix B to the 
report, form the Council’s response to the Government’s Consultation 
on Planning Reform.

10. Draft Licensing Policy 2019-2024 (Pages 115 - 150)
Summary:

To consider and propose the adoption of the draft Licensing Policy 
under the Licensing Act 2003 for the period 2019-2024.

Recommendations:

1. That the Cabinet notes that no consultation responses were 
received to the draft Licensing Policy;

2. That the draft Licensing Policy 2019-2024 at Appendix A to the 
report, be recommended to the General Assembly of the Council 
for adoption, at its meeting on 10 December 2018; and 

3. That the draft Code of Good Practice on Promoting the Four 
Licensing Objectives in Appendix B to the report be recommended 
to the General Assembly of the Council for endorsement. 

Please note that Appendix B is “to follow.”

11. Draft Gambling Policy 2019-2022 (Pages 151 - 190)
Summary:

To consider and propose the adoption of the draft Gambling Policy 
2019-2022 under the Gambling Act 2005.

Recommendations:

1. That the Cabinet notes that no responses were received to the 
consultation on the Draft Gambling Policy 2019-2022; and

2. That the Draft Gambling Policy attached at Appendix A to the 
report, be recommended to the General Assembly of the Council 
for adoption.  

12. Local Scheme of Support for Council Tax 2019/20 (Pages 191 - 
302)
Summary:

This report provides Members with the detailed results from the 
recent Council Tax Reduction Scheme consultation process and the 
findings from the revised Customer Access Review, and presents 
revisions to the current scheme for Members’ approval, to be 



effective from 1 April 2019.

Recommendation:

That the Cabinet recommends to the General Assembly of the 
Council the adoption of the new Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
2019/20 with effect from 1 April 2019.

13. Electric Vehicle Charging Points Advice Note (Pages 303 - 322)
Summary:

On 8 November 2018 the Development Control Board considered a 
Development Management Advice Note on Electric Vehicle Charging 
Points.  The report is included as Appendix A and the advice note is 
included as Appendix C.

Development Control Board resolved to advise Cabinet of its support 
for the Development Management Advice Note on Electric Vehicle 
Charging Points and its treatment as a material consideration for 
development management purposes when considering any relevant 
planning applications, subject to the inclusion of large householder 
extensions within the advice note.  It was also agreed that Cabinet be 
asked to request the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation to treat the 
Development Management Advice Note as a material consideration 
for development management purposes when considering any 
relevant planning applications within Dartford Borough.

Recommendations:

1. That the Advice Note at Appendix C to the report, be amended to 
include the text set out in paragraph 3.2 of the report.

2. That the Development Management Advice Note on Electric 
Vehicle Charging Points at Appendix C to the report (as 
amended) be treated as a material consideration for development 
management purposes when considering any relevant planning 
applications.

3. That the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation be requested to 
treat the Development Management Advice Note (as amended) 
as a material consideration for development management 
purposes when considering any relevant planning applications 
within Dartford Borough.

B - Non-Key Decisions, Monitoring Reports

14. New Build Council Housing Project  - Update (Pages 323 - 326)
Summary:

To provide an update on the progress made towards the Council’s 
current and future new build housing projects.



Recommendations:

1. That the Cabinet notes the contents of the report.

2. That the Cabinet approves the progression of the proposed new 
build sites as detailed in the report. 

3. That delegated authority be granted to the Managing Director, in 
consultation with the Housing Portfolio Holder, to award a contract 
to the successful tenderer and progress the construction phase of 
the projects.

15. Joydens Wood Community Centre  - Lease Surrender, Grant of a 
New Lease and Grant Funding (Pages 327 - 332)
Summary:

To seek approval to grant fund the Joydens Wood Residents’ 
Community Association on the terms outlined in the body of the 
report and to agree to the surrender of the current lease and the 
granting of a new 20-year lease.

Recommendations:

1. That, subject to the Joydens Wood Residents’ Community 
Association agreeing to entering into a Service level Agreement 
with the Council, on terms to be agreed by the Consultant Valuer, 
the Council grant funds the Association the sum of £7,300 (seven 
thousand three hundred pounds) per annum, reviewable annually, 
in accordance with the Service Level Agreement; and 

2. That, subject to para. 2.1 and for the reasons outlined in the body 
of the report, the Council agrees to the surrender of the current 
lease to the Joydens Wood Residents’ Community Association 
and that a new 20 year lease be granted, at an annual rent of 
£8,800 (eight thousand eight hundred pounds), on terms to be 
agreed by the Consultant Valuer in consultation with the Head of 
Legal Services.

16. Dartford Town Centre Transport and Public Realm 
Improvements (Pages 333 - 344)
Summary:

This report provides an update to the previous report dated 12 April 
2018, sets out the finalised outline design for Market St, summarises 
activities completed and sets out the planned progression of the 
scheme design, consultation and engagement and installation works.

Recommendations:

1. That the finalised outline design for Market Street, as shown at 
Appendix A to the report, be agreed as the basis for developing 
the detailed design for the Market Street Scheme, with delegated 



authority granted to the Managing Director in liaison with the 
Leader of the Council to agree the detailed design.

2. That Officers continue to liaise with bus operators to identify the 
most appropriate arrangement for bus stop provision.

3. That the Cabinet notes the proposed appointment of Amey via 
the KCC Framework to carry out the construction works for the 
Market Street Scheme.

4. That the High Street area be added to the scope of the project, 
with Officers seeking to identify appropriate funding to this 
additional element. In the event that insufficient funding is 
identified, delegated authority be granted to the Managing 
Director, in consultation with the Leader of the Council, to meet 
any funding shortfall from the Council’s earmarked reserves. 

17. Local Plan Review - Progress (Pages 345 - 396)
Summary:

To consider progress on work on the Local Plan based on feedback 
from the first consultation for a revised Local Plan, the implications of 
changes in national planning policy, and by commencing the 
technical evidence required for the next stage of public engagement 
for a Local Plan.

Recommendations:

1. That the responses to the Strategic Issues Local Plan consultation, 
including summaries at paragraphs 4.2 and 4.3 and Appendix A to 
the report, be used to inform the next stage in the preparation of 
the Local Plan.

2. That the Local Plan evidence base position, summarised at 
paragraphs 5.1 to 6.5 in the report, including ongoing technical 
work for the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 
(SHLAA) refresh be used to inform the next stage in the 
preparation of the Local Plan.

3. That the Council’s Five Year Housing Land Supply detailed in 
Appendix B to the report be approved for publication. 

18. Orchard Theatre Auditorium Refurbishment (Pages 397 - 400)
Summary:

The Orchard Theatre operator, HQ Theatres, in consultation with the 
Council, have agreed in principle to refurbishment works to the 
auditorium during the summer of 2019 at an approximate cost of 
£490,000. The Cabinet is asked to approve for the Council to 
undertake these works, subject to the funding for the works being 
approved as part of the overall Capital Programme for 2019/20, 
which will be put forward for approval by the General Assembly of the 



Council as part of the budget in February 2019. Following completion 
of the works, it is anticipated that additional revenues will arise and 
HQ Theatres have agreed to adjust the annual payment downwards 
to reflect this.

Recommendations:

1. That the Cabinet approves the funding of the refurbishment of the 
auditorium at an approximate cost of £490,000 subject to funding 
for the works being agreed as part of the Capital Programme for 
2019/20.

2. That the Cabinet agrees that the annual payment to HQ theatres 
be adjusted as a result of the Council undertaking the works. 

19. Financial Contributions to Parish and Town Councils (Pages 401 
- 406)
Summary:

To agree the level of financial contributions to be paid to Parish and 
Town Councils in 2019/20.

Recommendations:

1. That, subject to recommendation 2 below, the Council, under the 
provisions of Section 136 of the Local Government Act 1972, make 
the following contributions towards the expenses of Parish and 
Town Councils’ concurrent functions in 2019/20:

Bean £666
Darenth £1,464
Longfield £1,225
Southfleet £0
Stone £4,151
Sutton at Hone and Hawley £1,752
Swanscombe and 
Greenhithe £5,440
Wilmington £2,655

2. That the contributions be made subject to the Parish and Town 
Councils submitting suitably analysed details of estimated net 
expenditure for the ensuing year by 31 January each year, and 
actual net expenditure for the preceding year no later than six 
months after the end of each financial year, in a format prescribed 
by the Council.

3. That the payments be made in two equal instalments; the first on 
30 April (or next working day) and the second, the latter of 30 
September (or next working day) or seven days following receipt of 
the Parish or Town Councils’ 2018/19 accounts, certified as correct 
by their Clerks.



4. That the Council continues to operate the Capacity Building Fund 
and makes a contribution of £40,000 into the fund in 2019/20.

5. That the Managing Director, in consultation with the Leader and 
Deputy Leader of the Council, be granted delegated authority to 
agree the Capacity Building Fund bidding criteria and approval of 
awards through a Grants Panel process.

6. That the Council make the following contributions to Parish and 
Town Councils to compensate for lost council tax income in local 
areas for the introduction of the council tax support scheme:

Bean £334
Darenth £1,923
Longfield £631
Southfleet £198
Stone £7,021
Sutton at Hone and Hawley £1,737
Swanscombe and 
Greenhithe £14,435
Wilmington £1,317

20. Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 - Projected Outturn and 
2019/20 Budget Process 
This report is ‘to follow.’

21. Street Naming and Numbering - Eastern Quarry Phase 5, Parcel 
1 (Pages 407 - 410)
Summary:

To approve a name for a new road for Phase 5 (Parcel I) of the 
Eastern Quarry development.

Recommendation:

That the new road name for Phase 5 (Parcel I) of the Eastern Quarry 
development be approved as Norman Lane.

C - Items for Information, Noting, Endorsing

22. Capital Programme Budget Monitoring 2018/19 - Progress and 
Projected Outturn (Pages 411 - 418)
Summary:

To inform the Cabinet of the progress to date on the schemes in the 
approved Capital Programme and to report the latest position on 
capital resources.

Recommendation:

That Cabinet notes the progress made to date on the 2018/19 Capital 



Programme.

23. Corporate Plan - Key Actions and Performance Indicators 
Monitoring Report (Pages 419 - 438)
Summary:

To report progress on the latest set of Corporate Plan key actions 
and performance indicators for quarter 2 of 2018/19.

Recommendation: 

That the contents of the key action and performance indicator 
monitoring reports attached at Appendices A and B to the report be 
noted.





CABINET
6 December 2018

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY:  GOVERNANCE AND 
SPENDING REVIEW 2018

1. Summary

1.1 This is a Key Decision as it is of such significance to the locality, the Council, or 
the services, which it provides that the Managing Director is of the opinion that it 
should be treated as a Key Decision.

1.2  The report sets out an updated indicative five year programme of potential 
infrastructure projects that could be supported by Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL).  It sets out progress made over the past year. It details current CIL 
receipts and forecasts and reports on progress to date on mechanisms to 
release unparished neighbourhood funding to locally focused projects.   

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the CIL Indicative Five Year Programme as set out in paragraph 4.4 of the 
report and Appendix A, be agreed as a basis for ongoing liaison with relevant 
infrastructure providers and further development of the identified schemes, 
subject to availability of CIL funding and approval of individual schemes by 
Cabinet.

2.2    That  an ‘in principle’ commitment for CIL funding to support two new health 
hubs in Dartford town centre and at Stone be agreed, subject to the level of CIL 
funding being clarified through the finalisation of the business case for each. 

2.3    That a final decision on the agreement to and level of CIL funding for the health 
projects identified in paragraph 4.2 of the report, as well as any further potential 
projects identified in paragraph 4.4, be considered either as part of a 
subsequent annual CIL report in December 2019, or mid-year, if there is a need 
for urgency.

2.4    That Dartford’s CIL Annual Report, at Appendix C, be agreed for publication. 

2.5    That the progress on identification and delivery of CIL projects funded through 
the neighbourhood element in unparished areas, as set out in paragraph 5.6 of 
the report, be noted and to agree to receive further reports as matters are 
progressed.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. A report on CIL governance arrangements was agreed by Cabinet on 9 
March 2017 (Minute No. 124).  A progress report with further details of 
these arrangements together with a draft initial five year programme of 
CIL projects was agreed 7 December 2017 (Minute No. 77).   An annual 
update on the Five Year CIL rolling programme, together with the CIL 



CABINET
6 December 2018

Annual Report, and details of CIL income and spending is provided to 
Cabinet each year. This process gives delivery bodies some certainty 
that they will obtain CIL funding for their schemes and thereby facilitates 
development of the scheme and securing other sources of funding.

3.2. As at April 2018 total funding receipts, net of transferred local area 
monies and administrative costs amounted to £2.92m as outlined in the 
Annual Report (Appendix C).  The CIL Annual Report provides details of 
income held, details of monies received during 2017/18 and other 
information on CIL.  If approved, it will be published on the Council’s 
website.

3.3. Whilst future CIL receipts cannot be estimated with a high level of 
certainty, based on pipeline developments there is potential for around 
£18m CIL receipts in the next five years. However, this is entirely subject 
to when development commences and the amount of statutory relief 
given.

4. Leader’s Advisory Group on CIL

4.1. In accordance with the agreed governance arrangements, the Leader’s 
Advisory Group on CIL met in October and discussed CIL income 
projection, emerging projects with potential to be partially funded by CIL 
and progress made during the year. There was general support for the 
projects identified as having potential for CIL support and the proposed 
ongoing approach to allocation of CIL funds.  

4.2. The group heard from the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
representative that full business cases were being progressed by 
consultants for projects to deliver two new health hubs in the Borough. 
Taking account of progress being made, representatives were 
supportive of a recommendation being put to Cabinet that an ‘in principle’ 
commitment to provide CIL funding to help deliver the two health hub 
projects be made. The commitment would be subject to provision of 
further information regarding delivery, cost, other funding achieved and 
level of CIL monies sought and this being satisfactory. 

 Potential CIL Funded Projects

4.3 The purpose of CIL funding is to make a contribution towards the 
infrastructure required to support new development in the Borough.  
Such infrastructure has been identified in the 2018 updated 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP), Appendix A.  The draft IDP updates 
the current funding circumstances of the identified projects. Some 
projects appear to be fully funded through historic S106 obligations and 
other funding sources, such as the Education and Skills Funding 
Agency.  These are set out in Part 1 of the IDP and are being progressed 
by relevant partners.

4.4 Part 2 of the IDP identifies projects that could potentially be enabled by 
CIL monies, alongside other funding streams. These are as follows:

 Dartford Town Centre transport and public realm improvements



CABINET
6 December 2018

 Stone 2 Form Entry Primary School and another school 
extension in the North east part of the Borough

 Dartford Town Centre Health and Well Being Hub
 Stone/Greenhithe Primary care facility
 North of Dartford Town Centre – pedestrian/cycle bridge over the 

River Darent 
 Refurbishment and renewal of flood defences at the Thames and 

River Darent 
 Darent Valley Path – improvements and waymarking

The 2017 CIL project list included the Dartford Town Centre flood 
mitigation scheme.  This is still being progressed by the Environment 
Agency but is now be funded by external sources.

4.5 The majority of these projects are at early stages of project planning and 
require more certainty in terms of cost, project delivery and funding 
arrangements.  However, as indicated in para 3.5 above, progress has 
been made by the CCG and its partners in identifying potential sites for 
new health facilities, engagement with  relevant GP practices, and initial 
scoping of space and design requirements. 

4.6 All identified projects are considered necessary to support development 
in the Borough and are likely to meet CIL Assessment Criteria.  
Therefore, it is recommended that they are included in the indicative CIL 
Five Year Rolling Programme 2019-2024.  An overview of the potential 
delivery timescale for each is provided in Appendix A.  Other than the 
health hubs, the projects do not yet have sufficient certainty to be fully 
confirmed for the Council’s CIL five year rolling programme and for a 
commitment to CIL funding to be made. However, delivery partners have 
indicated that in some cases projects are being actively progressed, with 
some already awarded external match funding. Therefore, CIL funding 
support may be sought by partners during 2019/20 to enable delivery of 
these projects.   

4.7 It is proposed that Officers continue to work with partners to progress 
these projects listed above, with a view to subsequent reports being 
brought to Cabinet with specific recommendations for funding either 
during the year or as part of the annual update in December. Where it 
becomes clear that an eligible project could be enabled through CIL 
funding during the 2019/20 financial year, a report will be submitted to 
Cabinet. 

4.8 It is not envisaged that CIL will fund any of these projects in full as this 
would not result in the most effective use of CIL funds.  Rather, partners 
are being encouraged to seek other sources of funding, with CIL being 
used as part of the funding cocktail.

4.9 Part 3 of the IDP identifies potential projects that require more details in 
terms of proposal and timescale, such as a future expansion of Darent 
Valley hospital.  This section also contains future Fastrack projects. At 
present identified enhancements have sufficient approved funding to 
progress and deliver these schemes. Details are listed in the IDP. 



CABINET
6 December 2018

Feasibility studies of additional schemes are underway. Once these are 
completed funding to deliver the schemes will be explored including 
potential CIL support.  

5. CIL Neighbourhood Proportion

Parished/town council areas

5.1 CIL Regulations require that 15% of CIL development in a parish or town 
council area is passed to those councils.  The majority of the Borough is 
parished with one town council.   This rises to 25% where there is an 
adopted neighbourhood plan- none currently exist, although one is in 
preparation in Stone Parish. This should be used on projects that support 
development in the area or address local priorities of communities 
impacted by development.  Spending is not restricted to infrastructure.  

5.2 During the monitoring year £137,332 has been passed to a number of 
parish and town councils in the Borough.  Details are provided in the CIL 
Annual Report (Annex C) regarding payment of these monies up to 
March 2018.  The highest proportion, since 2014, of neighbourhood 
monies has been passed to Stone Parish Council which to date has had 
most commenced CIL-liable development in its area.  During 2016/17 
CIL monies were passed to Stone, Sutton at Hone, Southfleet, 
Wilmington and Longfield and New Barn parish Councils. A number of 
the Parish Councils have applied CIL allocations to local projects during 
the monitoring year, some of which are detailed in the Annual Report.  
Remaining monies are being held over for future identified projects. 

5.3 The CIL Regulations require that parish and town councils work closely 
with the Council to agree spending priorities. The CIL Lead Officer will 
continue to liaise with parish/town councils to identify projects where CIL 
funding and local monies could be combined to meet shared priorities.  
Examples could be health provision projects or schools that address 
development needs within a specific area. This is in accordance with the 
views expressed by Cabinet, after considering this matter on 7 
December 2017 (minute no.77), that Parishes would be expected to 
contribute some of their allocated neighbourhood funding to support the 
provision of key infrastructure projects in their area supported by the 
Council through CIL funding.  

Un-parished Areas

5.4 CIL receipts arising from developments in unparished areas of the 
Borough are retained by the Council in the same proportion as for 
parished areas.  They are to be used to support growth and on local 
priorities in areas impacted by development.  As at October 2018, 
£223,242.43 is being held by the Council for such schemes.  As further 
development commences in the un-parished area, additional CIL local 
proportion monies will be available to be applied to local schemes in this 
area.  

5.5 National Regulations require that the Council engages with communities 
to ensure funded projects address local neighbourhood priorities.   



CABINET
6 December 2018

Projects may be commissioned and delivered by either local 
interest/community groups where they meet the criteria or the Council, 
where they are additional to the usual remit of Council services and meet 
criteria.  

5.6   Individual projects may potentially be large and complex and beyond the 
scale of community projects to date.  Robust financial, legal and 
governance arrangements need to be in place and the Council will need 
to ensure it has sufficient expertise and resource to manage and monitor 
them.  Community groups are likely to need assistance in developing and 
implementing their projects.   During the year officers have begun to liaise 
with agencies and bodies who work directly with local groups and provide 
support in applying for funding, managing and delivering projects.  This 
work is ongoing and will continue during 2019. It appears that there may 
be opportunities for some agencies to apply neighbourhood CIL together 
with other funding to work with local groups, particularly on heritage and 
green infrastructure projects. During the financial year 2019/20, it is 
expected that a number of projects capable of meeting the selection 
criteria for unparished funding will materialise. This will require the setting 
up of a member panel to consider the suitability of projects, before 
recommendations are submitted to Cabinet later in the financial year.  
Further reports will be submitted to Cabinet as these matters are 
progressed.

3 Relationship to the Corporate Plan

To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to 
all of our communities

To reduce overall health inequality in Dartford to provide for a rich and 
varied quality of life. 

4 Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications This report sets out that at this stage, no 
infrastructure projects are recommended for 
grant of CIL funding during 2019/20.  At present, 
CIL net receipts (minus administration and local 
proportion monies) will be retained by the Council 
until funding requirements are clarified and 
awards made by Cabinet.  
The report recommends an ‘in principle’ 
commitment to support two projects with CIL 
funding be agreed. At this point it is unclear what 
the precise level of CIL funding will be requested 
for these projects.  Any proposed award will be 
approved by Cabinet during 2019/20 as 
necessary.  



CABINET
6 December 2018

A full review of projects and recommendations for 
use of CIL monies during 2020/21 will be 
submitted to Cabinet in December 2019.  
Local CIL ‘unparished monies will be held by the 
Council and be granted or applied to projects, 
following approval by Cabinet.

Legal Implications The use of CIL monies is limited by regulatory 
requirements. Regulations also require the 
monitoring and reporting of CIL receipts and 
spending. Appendix C of this report sets out the 
CIL Annual Report for 2017-18.  The processes 
outlined are in accordance with national CIL 
Regulations.  Appendix B of this report proposes 
a process for allocation of local unparished CIL 
monies, following additional work by officers and 
recommendations of Cabinet.  

Public Sector Equality 
Duty
Crime and Disorder Duty

There are no specific Public Sector Equality Duty 
and Crime and Disorder Duty implications arising 
from this report. However, individual 
infrastructure projects will need to be assessed 
against these duties as they come forward. 

Staffing Implications The administration of CIL governance 
arrangements will be carried out within existing 
staff resources. There is provision within the CIL 
regulations for up to 5% of CIL contributions to 
be used for administration of CIL. This provision 
is being used.  Application of the CIL 
Neighbourhood Funding process will be kept 
under review as it is progressed. 

Administrative 
Implications

As above

Risk Assessment There is a risk of overspend on individual projects 
within the 5 year infrastructure programme. Legal 
agreements will be entered into for each 
individual project, with the risk of overspend 
resting with the delivery agency. 

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices
Appendix A– CIL Five-Year Programme 2019-2024
Appendix B– Infrastructure Delivery Plan Update 2018
Appendix C – Dartford CIL Monitoring Report 2017-18



CABINET
6 December 2018

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Tania Smith
(01322) 343103

Regenerati
on
Planning 
Policy

N/A





Appendix A: CIL Indicative Five Year Rolling Programme 

Project Timeline

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-2024

Transport and movement     

Northern Gateway Bridge (pedestrian and cycle)     

Dartford Town Centre: transport and public realm

Education     

Stone - Primary School 2FE     

North Area primary school extension     

Health     

Dartford Town Centre        Health Hub     

Greenhithe/Stone GP Hub     

Green infrastructure

Darent Valley Path

Key

 Preparation phase
 Anticipated delivery

Note :  The Delivery Programme will be updated on annual basis.  Further projects can be added when details are sufficiently 
defined and the project meets identified criteria and is supported.





Appendix B

Infrastructure Delivery Plan
(Living Document)

Draft

Update
October 2018 DRAFT

                                                                                                     



Introduction

This updated Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) sets out a variety of projects that have been identified by the Council and 
infrastructure providers including KCC, CCG, EA, and HE to support planned new development in the Borough and to meet the new 
demands this will generate.   Infrastructure to support development can include a variety of projects from new schools to flood 
protection measures. 

It provides a new IDP to that published in December 2017, and updates on progress of scheme delivery. The IDP is a ‘living 
document and is subject to change as new development takes place in different parts of the borough, and  an understanding of  
arising demand,  existing infrastructure capacity and the impact of changes to service delivery requirements,  enable delivery 
partners to identify  the need for future  infrastructure projects.

 Infrastructure projects are identified under three sections, according to progress made in their delivery, and reflect the projects that 
are currently expected to be delivered in the next five or so years:

1. Projects where full funding has been identified 
2. Projects where CIL funding can help to unlock delivery
3. Other projects which may be needed to support development but need to be further defined

Section 1 highlights a number of projects which, partners consider, will be fully funded through S106 obligations and/or other 
external funding sources.  

Through ongoing liaison with delivery partners, a number of projects have emerged where CIL funding has the potential to unlock 
delivery over the next five years.  These are identified in Section 2.  It is recognised that further actions are needed to firm up the 
certainty of these projects, with a CIL contribution potentially forming part of a full funding package for the project.  Final decisions 
on CIL funding will be subject to assessment against Dartford’s CIL Assessment Criteria and approval by the Council’s Cabinet 
usually on an annual basis. 

There are also emerging additional projects which have not yet been clearly defined.  These are set out in Section 3.  The specifics 
of the projects, such as need, delivery and timing, clarity of funding sources, and whether CIL would assist in unlocking delivery 
require further consideration. The Council will continue to work with relevant delivery partners to assess future need, timing, 
location and costs of these projects. 



Updates will be provided in future editions of the IDP, and are expected to be published annually to coincide with the annual 
consideration of Dartford’s CIL funding programme by Members. 

The IDP Schedule is provided below. 

1. Fully Funded Projects 

Location Project Need for project
Lead 

Delivery 
Agency

Funding 
Sources Delivery Issues/Comments When Cost

PHYSICAL



Strategic 
Transport 

Infrastructure 
Program (STIP)

Dartford 
Town 

Centre

Package of 
highways and 
public realm 

improvements
Phase 1

Measures to transform the 
town centre’s transport 
network and public realm 
to support planned 
regeneration. To 
encourage a modal shift in 
and around the town 
centre in order to 
accommodate the travel 
movements from the 
significant housing 
development in the area.

DBC

Homes and 
Communities 
Agency, Local 
Growth Fund 

and S106 
contributions

Programme Manager 
appointed. 1st scheme of 
project at Market St is 
expected to commence 
approximately May 2019 – 
design and preliminary actions 
underway.  Further identified 
improvements in Phase 2 
could be supported by CIL 
(see below).  

2019 £12m 

Stone/ 
Greenhithe

Expanded and 
improved 

junction at St 
Clements 
Way/A226 

London Road

Providing for additional 
demand from development  
in the area, through 
improved flow 
management for traffic, 
Fastrack and buses, 
cycling and walking

KCC
Local Growth 

Fund and S106 
contributions

Construction underway. January/February 
2019 £8.5m

Ebbfleet 
Garden City, 

Bean and 
Southfleet

Expanded 
junctions from 
the A2(T)  at 

Bean and 
Ebbsfleet

Increased capacity and 
improved flow 
management at junctions 
to respond to economic 
and housing development 
planned in the Kent 
Thameside area

HE

S106 
contributions, 

DfT
EDC forward 

funding

Public consultation of draft 
design undertaken in 2018. 
HE have confirmed that they 
intend to now take forward 
under the  Highways Act 
consent route rather than 
DCO route due to reduction in 
land take required for the 
scheme. Further revisions to 
design ongoing.  

2020 £125m

Location Project Need for project
Lead 

Delivery 
Agency

Funding 
Sources Delivery Issues/Comments When Cost



Borough 
Wide

Urban Traffic 
Management and 

Control 
(UTMC)system

Integrated and 
responsive traffic 
control system across 
the Dartford area to 
tackle congestion and 
support smooth running 
of traffic.

KCC S106

Initial discussions underway with 
consultants, however consideration of 
future improvements such as A2 Bean, 
Ebbsfleet and the proposed lower Thames 
Crossing will need to be incorporated into 
the project

2021 Uncertain

Other  transport 
schemes

Dartford 
Tunnel 
Approach

A282 1A,1b and 2

To alleviate pressure 
from the crossing 
approach on the local 
road network taking into 
account future 
development in the 
Borough and wider area 
including Thurrock

HE/KCC

Central 
Government 

and other 
funding sources 

yet to be 
identified

Various improvements underway. 
Additional options being developed for 
further improvements at junction 1a. 
Strategic study underway to identify further 
interventions along the A282 in advance of 
the Lower Thames Crossing, including 
alternative travel modes/routes. The report 
is to be submitted to the SoS this year. 
Strategic partners have informal 
agreement to seek to identify future 
options for improvements and increased 
capacity particularly Junction 1A. 

2016- 
2025

£10m 
plus

Flood defence

Dartford 
Town 

Centre

Alleviation 
scheme to 

improve level of  
current defence 

A number of small scale 
alleviation works to 
ensure Dartford Town 
Centre is adequately 
defended against fluvial 
and tidal flood risk

EA
FDGiA/ DBC 

flood alleviation 
project fund

EA have completed updated modelling of 
potential flood risk. The results are being 
reviewed and it is expected a number of 
small scale projects, for example 
improvement works at the River Darent 
flood channel. 

2019-
2021 Uncertain

Location Project Need for project Lead Delivery 
Agency

Funding 
Sources Delivery Issues/Comments When Cost

COMMUNITY 
AND SOCIAL

Education
Schools



Northern 
Gateway

2 FE ‘Rivermill’ 
Primary school

To address demand 
arising from 
development within 
Dartford Northern 
Gateway sites

KCC ESFA 

Academy Trust has been selected, site 
purchased. Planning applications 
expected for site re-mediation and 
school expected to be determined in 
early 2019.  Construction to start mid-
2019. Expected opening Spring term 
2020. There is a requirement for a 
temporary site to be provided in advance 
of opening. 

2020 £6.705m

Ebbsfleet 
Garden 

City

Education Hub 
Secondary 

School and Life 
Long Learning 

Centre 

4 - 8 FE school to 
meet demand from 
development within 
Ebbsfleeet Garden 
City and potentially 
some  demand from 
outside this area

Most likely to be 
developer  direct  
build, in 
conjunction with 
the education 
provider

4FE –6FE:  
S106 or 
developer 
direct, KCC 
Basic Needs 
grant for 
additional 
expansion if 
required

Early project feasibility and design 
underway in conjunction with master 
planning of the Central village area. The 
availability of the site and delivery 
timetable will depend on the pace of 
development within the Eastern Quarry 
site, but is anticipated to be an early 
piece of infrastructure in the central EQ 
area. Selection process for Academy 
Trust underway by KCC.

4FE 
by 

2021
£30m

Eastern 
Quarry 
(EGC)

2 x Primary 
schools

The schools are 
planned to meet 
demand from 
different phases of 
the Eastern Quarry 
development

KCC with the 
potential for the 
developer to 
build direct, in 
conjunction with 
the education 
provider

S106 or 
developer direct

Specific delivery timetable will be 
determined by KCC and the developer in 
conjunction with the EDC, in accordance 
with the triggers and arrangements set in 
the S106.   The availability of the site will 
depend on the pace of development 
within Eastern Quarry. There is potential 
for the Alkerden school to be co-located 
with the proposed secondary school(see 
above)

2021 
-2023 £7m x 2

Location Project Need for project
Lead 

Delivery 
Agency

Funding Sources Delivery 
Issues/Comments When Cost



Stone
8FE 

Secondary 
School

To provide for forecast 
demand from increasing 
numbers of primary school 
pupils due to housing 
growth; and to manage new 
demand arising from 
changing demographic 
changes within existing  
housing.

KCC ESFA

Academy Trust has been 
selected.  Site identified 
and planning application 
being determined. 
Temporary provision will 
be required in advance of 
opening. Site has been 
identified and is being 
progressed. 

2021 - 2023 £30m

Other 
education

Eastern 
Quarry 
(EGC)

Hub Facility 
– Life Long 
learning 
including 
library 
provision

Meet demand arising from 
new development in the 
area

KCC S106 and 
developer direct

Dependent on phasing 
and delivery of other 
elements of the district 
centre.  Review of nature 
of provision is underway

By 2022 £1.4m

Health

Ebbsfleet 
Garden 

City

New primary 
care facility 
to be linked 
to the 
health, 
education 
and 
innovation 
quarter 
proposal by 
EDC

To provide a new primary 
care facility within 
Ebbsfleet Garden City

CCG with 
EDC

S106, NHS 
Grants to CCG

Proposal dependent upon 
EDC proposals for the 
Garden City.  Potential for 
temporary provision 
initially.  S106 obligation 
requirements for Eastern 
Quarry under review. 

Uncertain Uncertain

2. Projects with Potential to be Unlocked by CIL 

Location Project Need for project
Lead 
Delivery 
Agency

Other 
Funding 
Sources

Delivery Issues/potential next steps When Estimated 
Cost

PHYSICAL INFRASTRUCTURE



Transpor
t

Dartford Town 
Centre

Package 
of 
highways 
and public 
realm 
improvem
ents
Phase 2

Measures to transform 
the town centre’s 
transport network and 
public realm to support 
planned regeneration. 
To encourage a modal 
shift in and around the 
town centre in order to 
accommodate the 
travel movements from 
the significant housing 
development in the 
area.

DBC

S106 
contributions/

CIL other 
funding 
sources 
being 

explored

Phase 2 of the project, to include 
elements not covered by Phase 1, for 
example Northern Gateway pedestrian 
access to town centre, with at grade 
crossing instead of underpass at Home 
Gardens and enhancement of the High 
Street

2019 To be 
clarified 

North of Dartford 
Town Centre 
(Northern 
Gateway)

Pedestria
n bridge 
over the 
River 
Darent 
and other 
local 
improvem
ents

To create a strategic 
east-west link for 
cyclists and 
pedestrians. The 
bridge together with 
new footpaths will link 
various development 
sites and established 
communities to the 
west of the River 
Darent, with the 
proposed new 
Northern Gateway 
school, employment 
areas and Fastrack.  

DBC S106, LGF 

Feasibility study complete. Detailed 
design needs to be completed and 
planning consent sought. A project 
delivery plan needs to be developed 
and a detailed understanding of costs, 
funding and the funding gap is 
required.

2020 £2.0m 

Location Project Need for project
Lead 
Delivery 
Agency

Other 
Funding 
Sources

Delivery Issues/potential next steps When Estimated 
Cost

Flood 
Defences



Thames and River 
Darent Riverside

Refurbish
-ment and 
renewal 
of existing 
flood 
defences

To ensure existing 
tidal flood defences 
are resilient to future 
climate change as part 
of the Thames 2100 
project. This will be 
partially achieved 
through new 
development and EA 
schemes. 

EA

FDGiA, 
developers, 
CIL and 
other 
sources 

Initial inspection has identified that 
some defences are deteriorating and 
will require improvement.  Appraisals 
underway during 2018/19.  Likely 
projects in next 6 years are; river 
frontages on Darent and the Thames, 
Darent tidal defence and other flood 
related infrastructure. However it is 
unlikely that any alleviation will be 
required at Swanscombe Peninsula in 
the next 6 years.  Renewal/upgrade 
schemes will be identified following 
appraisals

Up to 
2040

Forecast 
£23m to 
2024 with 
more 
schemes 
beyond

COMMUNITY AND SOCIAL
Educatio
n
Schools

Stone
Primary 
School 
2FE

To provide for demand 
arising from St James 
Lane pit proposed 
development and other 
new developments in 
the Stone area 

KCC ESFA, S106, 
CIL

An Academy Trust has been selected. 
Site locations options currently under 
investigation.  Certainty of funding and 
practical delivery of the project will be 
required in the next five years.  A 
priority action is to identify a preferred 
site. 

2020 - 
23 £7m

Location Project Need for project
Lead 
Delivery 
Agency

Other 
Funding 
Sources

Delivery Issues/potential next steps When Estimated 
Cost



North West of the 
Borough

1FE 
primary 
school 
extension 
and 
potential 
small 
scale 
extension
s to 
existing 
schools

To address the need 
for school places from 
existing and future 
development at The 
Bridge and other 
development in the 
education North 
Planning Area  which 
is not currently fully 
provided for within 
existing schools or at 
Northern Gateway.   

KCC

S106 and 
other 
sources to be 
identified

Initial feasibility for expansions 
underway. KCC will clarify projects 
over the coming year.  

2021 £2.5m

Health

Dartford Town 
Centre

Health 
and Well-
being hub 
– primary  
health 
and social 
care 
services

To provide for demand 
from new development 
at Northern Gateway 
and the town centre. 
Assessment of GP 
services in the area 
indicate that current 
GP practices and 
facilities are at 
capacity.

CCG

S106 , NHS 
grants to 
CCG,  
Capital 
receipts

Proposed to be delivered within a 
wider town centre regeneration 
scheme brought forward through a 
private developer.  Initial concept 
design completed and discussions 
with developer ongoing.  It is likely 
that funding will be required to provide 
for fit-out, one-off revenue costs and 
to provide tapering revenue support to 
cover gap funding during initial 
operating period and a NHS Wave 4 
bid for substantial capital monies 
made. Decision is expected by the 
end of the year.  Some funding has 
been secured. Consultants 
commissioned and detailed project 
plan and full business case being 
developed. Business Case to be 
submitted to NHS England by 
Summer 2019.

2021

To be 
clarified  
after 
confirmati
on of 
NHS 
funding

Location Project Need for project
Lead 
Delivery 
Agency

Other 
Funding 
Sources

Delivery Issues/potential next steps When Estimated 
Cost



Stone /Greenhithe 
area

New 
primary 
care 
facility

To provide new 
facilities for 3 existing 
GP practices and to 
provide for demand 
from new development 
at Stone, and St 
Clements, Greenhithe. 

CCG 

S106, NHS 
Grants to 
CCG, capital 
receipts, CIL 

 High level option appraisal 
completed. CCG, and local GPs 
progressing discussions with 
interested parties.  Funding required 
to support development and operating 
elements described above.  Will vary 
according to how much capital 
investment can be provided to 
developer.  Detailed project plan and 
details to be clarified as above. 

2020

To be 
clarified  
but likely 
to be 
approxim
ately  
£3m and 
potential 
need for 
some 
ongoing 
revenue

GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE

Darent Valley 
Path

Upgradin
g and 
improvem
ent of 
footpath 
and  
associate
d way-
marking

Improve footways at 
several sections of the 
Darent Valley long 
distance footpath 
including Bob Dunn 
Way, A2 and M25 
underpasses, Powder 
Mill Lane crossing, 
marshes tramway. 
These fall outside of 
identified 
improvements to be 
brought forward by 
other partners. The 
footpath provides a 
key north – south 
Green Grid link 
connecting newly 
developed areas 
around Dartford Town 
Centre with the 
countryside to the 
south of the A2 and 
The Thames coastal 
path. 

DVLP CIL, Heritage 
Lottery Fund

Elements of footpath within DBC 
which were identified as requiring 
improvement in the DVLP bid 
documents to the Heritage Lottery 
Fund (which has subsequently been 
approved)  The project would be 
progressed if match funding such as 
CIL was identified. There is need for a 
project specification, legal and design 
costs in addition to project delivery. 

2019/
20

Up to 
£250K

3. Other Schemes to be Further Defined



Location Project Need for project
Lead 

Delivery 
Agency

Delivery Issues/Comments When

Transport

Borough Wide

Fastrack 
Expansion 
and 
enhancement 
(strategic - off- 
site/ 
measures)

Enhancement of 
Fastrack to ensure a 
good quality, reliable 
and frequent service 
across the network, 
so as to encourage 
reduced car use for 
local journeys. 
Strategic initiatives 
are required to 
complement S106 
obligations for on-site 
provision.  Initiatives 
will complement 
projects being 
promoted by the 
EDC such as the 
creation of new links 
across the Garden 
City and into 
Bluewater. 

KCC and 
EDC

There is potential for CIL to complement 
other funding streams to ensure delivery of 
network-wide extensions and enhancements 
of the service.  An advisory group of partners 
has been set up.  A number of fully funded 
projects/workstreams are being progressed.

 Bluewater tunnel enabling direct FT 
connection between Bluewater and 
Ebbfleet Garden City

 Springhead Bridge to be completed 
2020 providing a direct link across 
Ebbsfleet Central area. 

 Procurement of new operator route 
B. 

 Update of Website
 Phased development plan for 

additional routes route adjustments 
to serve new developments.

Officers are drawing up a list of further 
priority schemes, which are not identified 
above. Potential for both CIL and EDC 
funding. To be clarified early in 2019. 

2022 and beyond

Location Project Need for project
Lead 

Delivery 
Agency

Delivery Issues/Comments When



Borough- wide

New and 
improved 
cycle and 
footpaths 

To create a coherent 
network of safe 
cycling and footpaths 
across the Borough 
to support choice of 
non-motorised travel 
for local journeys.   
Projects will provide 
the missing links 
outside of new 
developments and 
other highway 
projects,

DBC
(KCC – 
lead on 
specific 
projects), 
EDC, HE

Development of a coherent network strategy 
is ongoing.  This will link to cycling and 
walking strategy that is being progressed by 
the EDC and NMU improvements to be 
provided at A2 Bean/Ebbsfleet junctions.  A 
new scheme to extend the Princes Road 
segregated cycle route is to be delivered by 
April 2018. 

From 2019 and throughout 
plan period

Education

Borough wide

Expansions 
and new 

secondary 
and primary 

schools

Potential need for 
further school 

provision to meet 
longer term demand.

KCC To be kept under review

Some provision may be 
identified through the 

Council’s planned Local 
Plan review to start in 2018.

Swanscombe 
Peninsula 

(Ebbsfleet Garden 
City)

2FE Primary 
School

Need for this school 
is uncertain

None 
identified

Requirement to be kept under review by EDC 
and will be dependent upon London Resort 

proposals.
Uncertain

Borough wide

Expansion of 
Darent 
Valley 

Hospital 

To expand capacity 
in response to 

Dartford and wider 
local demand from 

development

DVH 
University 

Trust

Early expansion concept underway. Will be 
subject to consideration of new service 
delivery models and the commissioning 
requirements of the CCG. Likely to be 

incremental. 

Uncertain



Definitions
DBC    Dartford Borough Council
DVLP  Darent Valley Landscape Partnership
KCC    Kent County Council
HE Highways Agency
CCG Dartford, Gravesham and Sevenoaks Clinical Commissioning Trust
FDGiA   Flood Defence Grant Aid (Government)

Notes
. 

1. Specific community projects have been identified in the IDP but this does not include identification of potential other development funding 
requirements such as additional book stock and extended opening hours for libraries, youth outreach, and community learning and police resources. 
The Council will continue to discuss appropriate resource requirements to support development and agree funding mechanisms for these types of 
resources.  This is likely to be either through CIL or S106 and will depend on the geographic coverage of the service requirement.  The IDP is a living 
document and future updates will continue to consider service providers forecast requirements for these services arising from new development. 

Projects that have been completed or withdrawn from the IDP November 2012

Location Project
Delivery Agencies/  
Organisation Funding Sources Status

Community and Social
 Eastern 
Quarry 
(Ebbsfleet 
Garden 
City

2 FE primary 
school

Direct provision by 
developers and 
Academy Trust Direct

School has partially opened September 2017 with some temporary 
capacity provided at other local schools for some year groups

Dartford 
Town 
Centre

New pool facility 
or 
refurbishment/e
xtension DBC Direct

New refurbished pool and expanded health and poolside facilities 
opened in 2016

Northern 
Gateway 
and 
Temple Hill

1FE expansion 
to Temple Hill 
Primary School Kent Education Direct Work completed



Appendix C

Dartford Local Plan

Dartford Borough Council

December  2018

Community Infrastructure Levy 
Monitoring Report

1st April 2017 to 31st March 
2018

________---



Community Infrastructure Levy Monitoring Report 2017-18

1
December 2018

1. Background

1.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a mechanism to allow local planning 
authorities to raise funds from new development, in the form of a levy.  The 
Dartford Borough Council Charging Schedule was introduced in April 2014. 

1.2 Funds raised will be pooled and primarily used to contribute to the cost of 
infrastructure needed to support new development in the district. 

1.3 CIL is intended to support larger infrastructure required to support development 
within an area rather than funding specific mitigations to enable a specific site 
to be ‘acceptable in planning terms’ such as provision of open space and access 
roads. Therefore in some cases a Section 106 agreement may be still utilised to 
ensure specific site infrastructure requirements are delivered by the 
development proposal.  

1.4 From April 2014 new S106 agreements cannot include funding obligations for 
projects that have been included in a list of infrastructure that the Council has 
decided may be funded through CIL income. The Dartford Regulation 123 list of 
infrastructure is provided on the Council’s website and in general includes 
education facilities, strategic transport improvements, health facilities, and off 
site cycle and pedestrian network enhancements. 

1.5 In October 2018, in response to earlier consultation, the Government indicated 
that it intends to introduce legislative reforms to the system of developer 
contributions. It is expected that consultation on draft regulations will take place 
by the end of 2018. The proposed changes will include removing the current 
pooling restriction for S106’s.

1.6 Whilst the majority of CIL receipts will be used to support delivery of strategic 
infrastructure, the CIL Regulations 2010 requires that 15% of receipts1 are 
passed to the local town or parish council, where receipts have been received 
from development in their area. This increases to 25% where a Neighbourhood 
Plan is in place. There are no neighbourhood plans in place in Dartford Borough 
at the present time although Stone Parish Council is in the process of preparing 
one. 

1.7 In areas where receipts are received from developments situated in unparished 
areas of the Borough, the same requirements apply. In this case the Council is 

1 With a maximum cap of £100 per council tax dwelling



Community Infrastructure Levy Monitoring Report 2017-18

2
December 2018

required to use the retained local proportion to support development within 
unparished areas.  The ‘local proportion’ does not have to be spent purely on 
infrastructure but may be used to fund other measures as long as they address 
demands placed by development n the area.  Where possible the Council and 
town and parish councils are encouraged to identify agreed priorities for 
infrastructure in order that both CIL and the ‘local proportion’ is focused on 
delivering these priorities. 

1.8 An additional 5% of receipts can be used for administrative costs after 
introduction of CIL in an area.  

1.9 Dartford Borough Council, as CIL charging authority is required to prepare a 
report for any financial year it collects CIL (CIL Reg 62).  This annual report for 
Dartford covers the period 1st April 2017 to 31st March 2018. 



Community Infrastructure Levy Monitoring Report 2017-18

3
December 2018

Report for 2017/18 Period

Annual Performance

2.0      Figure 1 shows an overall summary of CIL payments that have been received by 
the Council between 1st April 2017 and 31st March 2018 together with total 
amount applied to administrative expenses, monies transferred to town or 
parish areas and the local proportion held for projects in unparished areas where 
development payments have been received.   The total CIL receipts held by the 
Council are also shown. 

Figure 1:   Dartford CIL Summary April 2017 to March 2018

Total CIL receipts during 2017/18 £915,999
Total CIL Expenditure  to support 
delivery of infrastructure during 
2017/18

£0

Total  CIL  ‘local proportion’  
payments that have been transferred 
to town and parish councils during 
2017/18

£137,332

Total CIL  receipts that have been 
retained to be spent in those local 
unparished areas where payments 
have been received from 
development during 2017/18

£67

Total CIL applied to administrative 
expenses and proportion of total CIL 
received

£45,800. (5%)

Total CIL retained  during 2017/18 
and available to be spent on 
infrastructure to support 
development in the Borough 

£732,799

Taking account previous years
Total CIL  receipts received by the 
Council since April 2014

£3,677,721

Total CIL retained and available to be 
spent on infrastructure to support 
development in the Borough taking 
into account previous net receipts

£2,942,177

*All figures are rounded



Community Infrastructure Levy Monitoring Report 2017-18

4
December 2018

Local proportion retained for unparished areas of the Borough (CIL Reg 59F)

2.1     As set out above, the Council has retained £67 during the monitoring year which 
forms 15% of CIL receipts arising in unparished areas of the Borough.  In total 
taking into account past CIL receipts, the total arising from CIL receipts in un-
parished areas currently held by the Council is £173,174.  National guidance 
encourages this to be spent on items/measures which local communities have 
expressed as important and that support development.  The Council has made 
progress in identifying appropriate agencies and bodies in the unparished area 
who have the ability to engage and work with local groups on projects, or that 
are already bringing forward local projects that are likely to be capable of 
meeting the Council’s selection criteria.   It is likely that these Bodies will be in a 
position to receive and apply local proportion monies for projects during 2019 -
2020 once administrative and legal arrangements are put in place, and funding 
for local projects is approved by the Council.

Local proportion passed to Parish &Town Councils in the Borough CIL Reg 59A-D

2.3 The Council passed a total of £190,053 to five Parish Councils, Stone, 
Wilmington, Longfield and New Barn, Southfleet and Sutton at Hone during the 
monitoring year. Parish Councils have to publish annual information on their 
website setting out details of CIL received from the Council, itemised and total 
expenditure.   Some recipient Parish Councils have applied some CIL monies to 
local projects such as renovation of bus shelters, new bollards and a new seat 
during the monitoring year, with remaining CIL money to be applied to other 
projects in subsequent years. Other Councils are holding monies but have 
earmarked future projects such as repair and improvement of the entrance and 
trackway to a sports pavilion. 

CIL Expenditure

2.2        There has been no infrastructure expenditure from CIL receipts in the monitoring 
year.  The amount of CIL revenue held by the Council has now risen to almost 
£2.92m, with potential for a significant increased level of receipts over the next 
five years, taking into account consented and pipeline developments. This will 
enable new infrastructure to begin to be supported by CIL funds.   

2.3     The Council has approved a mechanism for agreeing infrastructure priorities 
taking into account other sources of funding, phasing of development and 
project planning timetables to ensure timely delivery.  Detailed arrangements 
for the process, including a CIL project assessment criteria, were confirmed by 
the Council in December 2017.  In liaison with infrastructure delivery partners, 
the Council produces an annual update of an Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) 



Community Infrastructure Levy Monitoring Report 2017-18

5
December 2018

for Dartford of infrastructure projects forecast to be delivered in the next five 
years.  Some projects are fully funded but others have potential to be supported 
by CIL in the future. 

2.4 A number of projects are being progressed by delivery partners but require 
further project development to establish the level of CIL financial support 
necessary to ensure delivery.   These include Dartford town centre transport and 
public realm improvements, a primary school at Stone, two new health hubs and 
a new pedestrian bridge over the River Darent to connect new development to 
a primary school and other facilities. No projects have been identified which 
require CIL funding in 2018/19, but it is hoped that the identified projects will be 
sufficiently progressed by the delivery partners to enable a commitment to be 
made by the Council for future CIL funding.  

2.5 As reported in the last annual report, CIL receipts may be retained and combined 
with receipts in subsequent years to support delivery of priority infrastructure.  
The nature of the strategic infrastructure schemes requiring funding are such 
that there is a long lead in time to delivery and costs are significant.  Although it 
is not intended that CIL on its own will fund these schemes, nonetheless there is 
a necessity to pool funding over a number of years to secure sufficient funding 
to assist with implementing the identified schemes.

2.6 Details of the infrastructure projects that CIL receipts have supported or will be 
used to support will be provided in future annual monitoring reports. 



                             
CABINET

6 DECEMBER 2018

LOWER THAMES CROSSING - SECOND CONSULTATION  

1. Summary

1.1    Highways England is consulting on detailed proposals for the Lower Thames 
Crossing, following announcement of the preferred route for the crossing 
between east of Gravesend and Tilbury in 2017.  This report suggests a 
response to the consultation.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the response to the consultation questions, as set in Appendix A to the 
report, be agreed as the Council’s response to this second consultation on the 
Lower Thames Crossing.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Reports on progress on the implementation of the Lower Thames 
Crossing have previously been presented to Cabinet and Council.  The 
most recent of these was to General Assembly of the Council 
(15.2.2016, Minute No.84) with a proposed response to Highways 
England agreed by the GAC.  The response strongly supported locating 
a new crossing east of Gravesend, referred to as Location C.  Following 
this consultation, in 2017 the Secretary of State announced the preferred 
route as Location C.

3.2. Since that announcement, Highways England (HE) has been 
progressing the design of the scheme at Location C and firming up 
details of the precise route, holding detailed discussions with the affected 
authorities and other parties, carrying out updated transport modelling 
as well as a range of further assessments.  Some details of the routeing 
and construction of the previous identified scheme have been amended 
as a result of the further work.  

3.3. The main focus of this second consultation is on the details of the 
scheme, including the precise routeing, design of junctions, structures 
proposed, connections with the surrounding road network and 
environmental impacts and how they can be reduced.  The consultation 
also asks about charges for using the new crossing.

3.4. The proposed crossing will link Kent, Thurrock and Essex through a 
tunnel beneath the River Thames.  On the south side of the Thames, the 
new road will link the tunnel to the A2 and M2 in Kent.  On the north side, 
it will link the A13 and junction 29 of the M25 in the London Borough of 
Havering. The new crossing will have approximately 23 km of new roads 
connecting the tunnel to the existing road network.  There will be two 
tunnels underneath the Thames with three lanes in each direction, each 
4 km in length and 16 metres in diameter.  There will be improvements 
to the M25, A2 and A13 where the Lower Thames Crossing connects 



                             
CABINET

6 DECEMBER 2018
with these roads.  The project will be one of the largest single road 
investment projects in the UK since the M25 was completed more than 
30 years ago, it will be the longest road tunnel in the country and it will 
be one of the largest bored tunnels in the world.

3.5. The most recent traffic modelling predicts that when the new crossing 
opens, there will be a reduction in traffic (measured in passenger car 
units or pcus) using the Dartford Crossing by up to 24% in 2026 and up 
to 19% in 2041 in the peak hours, as compared to the situation without 
a new crossing.  The proportion of vehicles which are HGV’s using the 
crossing will fall from 18% to 14% in 2026 and will remain at this level at 
2041. This is an improvement over the previous traffic modelling which 
had suggested an overall traffic decrease of around 14% at opening.  

3.6. The latest modelling is considered to be a more sophisticated exercise, 
using more recent base traffic data with information on journey patterns 
derived from analysis of a vast number of mobile phones.  The model is 
used to predict how people will react to changes in the time and cost of 
their journeys and the routes they will use as a result of the new crossing. 
The forecasts for overall traffic growth over the period modelled are 
based on the most recent DfT forecasts, published in February 2017. 
The model has applied growth rates which address higher forecast 
growth levels in the south east.    Local adjustments have been made to 
the model with respect to new housing and other development which 
have been identified through the planning system.  However, future 
growth which has not yet been progressed through the planning system 
is not included.  

3.7. In spite of the higher traffic growth forecasts used, there is a possibility 
that the forecasts will not fully reflect future levels of development in the 
wider Kent area.   There will be a need to continue to work with Highways 
England, Kent Highways and our neighbouring authorities to monitor 
development and traffic levels, forecast future traffic levels and respond 
with appropriate measures to ensure the road network continues to 
perform adequately.    

3.8. The consultation is supported by a range of documents including:

 Your Guide to Consultation
 The Case for the Project
 Approach to Design, Construction and Operation
 Map Books
 Preliminary Environmental Information Report (PEIR)
 Preliminary Environmental Traffic Forecasting Report
 Traffic Forecast Non-Technical Summary

These documents are available online at 
www.lowerthamescrossing.co.uk/haveyoursay  . A copy of ‘Your guide 
to Consultation’ has been placed in the Members Room.

3.9. The consultation closes on 20 December 2018.  Subject to the outcome 
of the consultation, Highways England will submit its application 

http://www.lowerthamescrossing.co.uk/haveyoursay


                             
CABINET

6 DECEMBER 2018
(referred to as a Development Consent Order, (DCO)) to the Planning 
Inspectorate for examination.  The DCO is expected to be examined in 
2020 with a decision in 2021.  The currently estimated opening date of 
the Lower Thames Crossing is 2027.  

4. Response to the Consultation

4.1 The proposed response strongly supports the need for the Lower 
Thames Crossing, its proposed location, as well as some of the changes 
to the preferred route which have been made since the last consultation. 
However, it is acknowledged that the new crossing will place pressures 
on other parts of the network.  If these are not addressed, it will reduce 
the effectiveness of the new crossing as an alternative route, particularly 
between the Channel ports and Thurrock/Essex and a resolution of 
these issues is sought.

4.2 More specifically, the Council’s proposed response (Appendix A) 
strongly agrees that a Lower Thames Crossing is needed.  The need is 
well documented in the consultation documents and very familiar to 
those who live, work, or travel through Dartford and its surroundings.  
The need arises from lack of capacity and lack of resilience at the 
Dartford Crossing, as well as the age of the tunnels and their physical 
constraints.  The design capacity of the Dartford Crossing is 135,000 
vehicles a day, yet it regularly carries more than 180,000 vehicles.

4.3 The preferred route east of Gravesend is strongly supported.  It is 
considered that a genuine improvement in the resilience of the strategic and 
local road network and its ability to respond to incidents and congestion can 
only be achieved if the new crossing is a good distance from the existing one 
and can provide an alternative route when incidents occur.  The preferred route 
meets this requirement. Moreover, the proposed route will provide a faster, more 
reliable route to the Midlands and North from the Kent ports and will be 
particularly attractive to long-distance freight traffic.  It will boost British 
business and the national economy, and enhance transport connectivity and 
resilience between Kent and Essex, as well as nationally and internationally.

4.4 There are changes to the design of the route made since the last 
consultation which are of overall benefit to the scheme and reduce the 
negative impacts of the scheme on our neighbouring authorities.  These 
changes include three lanes through the tunnels in both directions which 
will future-proof the scheme and ensure adequate capacity well into the 
future; extension of the tunnel 600m further back at the southern tunnel 
entrance which will reduce the impact on the environment and adjacent 
communities; and revised proposals at the junction with the M2/A2, with 
design of a new dedicated and simpler junction, west of the previous 
proposal.  This will improve resilience at this junction.  There is, however, 
disappointment that it is not proposed to provide a link from the Lower 
Thames Crossing onto the A13 westbound and towards the Port of 
Tilbury.  This reduces the connectivity between Kent and Essex with a 
consequent reduction in economic benefits. 



                             
CABINET

6 DECEMBER 2018
4.5 As noted in the Study, road conditions result in a high level of incidents 

at the Dartford Crossing and its approach, resulting in injuries and 
fatalities to road users and have a disproportionate impact on congestion 
on the surrounding road network.  Local experience is that the regular 
instances of congestion and lack of predictability of road conditions 
places a significant constraint on economic growth in the local area.  This 
is supported by the study findings.

4.6 The consultation documents provide outputs from the traffic modelling 
showing which areas will experience a reduced or increased level of 
traffic.  This shows that large areas of the surrounding network will experience 
reduced levels of traffic at 2026 as compared to current conditions, with the new 
crossing.  This includes the M25 between Jct 3 heading north through the 
Dartford Tunnel and up to the new junction with the Lower Thames Crossing, 
as well as the A2 west of the southern junction with the Lower Thames Crossing. 
Some parts of the network experience a deterioration in traffic conditions.  To 
the south of the river, this is particularly in the area to the west of the new A2 
junction and the link roads between the M20 and M2.  However, from the 
outputs provided, it would appear that the increased flows forecast are the result 
of factors other than the Lower Thames Crossing and most likely the result of 
growth.  The response urges Highways England to address issues on those parts 
of the network that will experience pressures and identify the locations where 
further improvements will be needed.  This particularly relates to the links 
between the M20 and the M2/A2, including the A229.

4.7 There are likely to be significant traffic impacts over a wide area during 
the construction period.  It is understood that it is difficult to provide accurate 
information about routeing of construction vehicles in advance of contracts 
being let and waste sites etc being identified.  However, the response urges 
Highways England to continue ongoing liaison with relevant authorities as more 
information becomes available, so that the impacts can be minimised.

4.8 With regard to charging, a free-flowing e-charging system is supported 
as is differential charging.  It is considered these will make most effective 
use of the new Crossing.  Easy payment for the new Crossing at the ports, 
publicity and information at the ports and clear signage for the new route starting 
at the ports is also encouraged.

4.9 It is evident that traffic levels will continue to increase in advance of the 
new crossing being opened. It is emphasised in the response that the 
new crossing should be implemented as soon as is possible, so that 
the opening date can be brought forward. Highways England is also 
urged to bring forward mitigations to improve the flow at the Dartford 
Crossing and its approach in the meantime.

5. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

ED4 Ensure the timely delivery of transport infrastructure.
ED3 Improve the economic performance of the town centre



                             
CABINET

6 DECEMBER 2018
HW2 Reduce overall health inequalities in the Borough
ET1 Reduce carbon emissions.

6. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications There is a risk that other parties who are 
opposed to the proposed location of the Lower 
Thames Crossing will take legal action against a 
potential positive planning decision.  This could 
delay the implementation of the scheme.

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative 
Implications

None 

Risk Assessment The risk with the greatest impact on Dartford 
would be any delay to implementation of a 
crossing, whether due to legal interventions 
(see above), for financial or other reasons.  The 
lack of additional traffic capacity, away from the 
existing crossing and serving as an alternative 
to the Dartford Crossing, would have severe 
impacts on traffic conditions, the local economy 
and the health and well-being of the local 
community. 

7. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

8. Appendices

Appendix A: Response to Lower Thames Crossing Consultation, 
December 2018

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Teresa Ryszkowska 
Head of Regeneration
01322 343631

Strategic 
External 
Services 
Directorate

N/A





APPENDIX  A: RESPONSE TO THE LOWER THAMES CROSSING 
CONSULTATION, DECEMBER 2018

1. The need for the Lower Thames Crossing
The case for the Lower Thames Crossing, including the reasons why we
consider it is needed, is set out in Section 4 of Your guide to consultation and
in the Case for the Project.

Q1a. Do you agree or disagree that the Lower Thames Crossing is needed?
Strongly agree X
Agree
Neutral
Disagree
Strongly disagree
Don’t know

Q1b. Please let us know the reasons for your response to Q1a and any other views you
have on the case for the Lower Thames Crossing.

The need for a Lower Thames Crossing is very clearly documented in the consultation documents and 
is evident from everyday experience in and around the Dartford Crossing. The Dartford Crossing 
suffers from a severe lack of capacity, with demand exceeding road capacity by over 30% on a regular 
basis.  It carries in excess of 180,000 vehicles on some days, as compared to a design capacity of 
135,000.  This will only get worse as development and growth comes forward over the wider network.

The lack of capacity is exacerbated by the age of the tunnels and their physical constraints, including 
maximum height limits and bends in the tunnels restricting width of HGV’s.  This results in slow and 
unreliable journeys and a high level of incidents at the Dartford Crossing and its approach which in 
turn leads to traffic diverting to local roads.  This leads to junction blocking and road congestion on 
the local network.  The impact on the local road network is particularly severe when long-running 
incidents occur at the Crossing.  This has severe impacts on local businesses as well as on the daily life 
of local residents.

The regular instances of congestion and lack of predictability of road conditions places a significant 
constraint on economic growth in the local area.  Investment decisions to locate or expand in the area 
are deterred on account of traffic conditions with development being constrained by the lack of capacity 
at Junctions 1a, 1b and the A2 junction.  Access and egress from the Strategic Road network is 
constrained and east west movement across the junctions is impeded.  Employers find it difficult to 
recruit and retain staff because of the difficult journeys, whether by private vehicle or bus.  It is 
becoming increasingly difficult in planning determinations to reconcile the government’s objectives for 
housing and employment growth in the area with the objective of keeping the Strategic Road Network 
performing adequately, or at ‘nil detriment’ as HE expects. 

In addition to providing additional capacity, an independent crossing built to modern standards and 
suitable for all users will increase the resilience of the road network.  An independent crossing will 
provide an alternative route in the event of an incident at the Dartford Crossing.  Moreover, studies 
show that when there is congestion at the Dartford Crossing, traffic diverts to other crossings (notably 
the Blackwall Tunnel) or goes the long way round the M25. The provision of a new crossing will release 
capacity at the Dartford Crossing, thereby also releasing capacity on the wider transport network. It 
will provide for added resilience in the event of an incident.  An alternative crossing will not only 
radically improve the resilience of crossing the Lower Thames when there is congestion or an incident 
occurs at the existing Crossing but also the resilience of the strategic road network between Kent, the 
Midlands/North and mainland Europe.   



2. Our preferred route for the Lower
Thames Crossing
For a description of how, in 2017, we selected a preferred route for the
Lower Thames Crossing, and how that route has been refined since
then, please refer to Section 3 of Your guide to consultation, and
also to Approach to Design, Construction and Operation.

Q2a. Do you support or oppose our selection of the preferred route for the Lower
Thames Crossing?
Strongly support X
Support
Neutral
Oppose
Strongly oppose
Don’t know

Q2b. Do you support or oppose the changes we have made to the route since
our preferred route announcement in 2017?
Strongly support
Support X
Neutral
Oppose
Strongly oppose
Don’t know
Q2c. Please let us know the reasons for your response to Q2a-Q2b and any
other views you have on our selection of a preferred route for the Lower
Thames Crossing.

Q 2a The selection of the preferred route for the lower Thames Crossing east of Gravesend is strongly 
supported.  

An additional crossing a good distance from the existing one will help alleviate the problems of lack 
and reliability and resilience that regularly occur at the Dartford Crossing.  In order to provide any 
genuine improvement in the resilience of the strategic and local road network and its ability to respond 
to incidents and congestion, it is essential that that the additional capacity is located some distance 
from the existing crossing, providing an alternative route when incidents occur and be sufficiently 
distant from the source of the network problems to not be affected by them.  The preferred route meets 
this requirement.  

A new crossing at the preferred location will provide more choice of routes over the wider Strategic 
Road Network, rather than concentrating travel to one single crossing location to the east of London.  
This will result in shorter journeys where the new crossing is better located in relation to origin and 
destination of the journey, providing journey time savings for drivers and a reduction of travel miles 
on the network.

Unlike the existing crossing, the route will attract mainly traffic travelling between Kent/the Channel 
Ports and the M25/East Anglia. The provision of a faster, more reliable route to the Midlands and North 
from the Kent ports will be particularly attractive to long-distance freight traffic and will have the 
benefit of diverting many of these journeys away from Dartford.    The preferred route provides a 
strategic network solution providing connectivity both from Kent into neighbouring Essex and, most 
significantly, from Europe to the distribution centres in the Midlands and the North.



Construction of a new Crossing at the preferred route will provide an alternative to the existing 
Crossing, will boost British business and the national economy, and enhance transport connectivity and 
resilience between Kent and Essex, as well as nationally and internationally.

Q2b The changes made to the route since the preferred route announcement are supported.  In 
particular, the increase in the number of lanes through the proposed tunnel to 3 in each direction, the 
redesign of the A2 junction, the removal of the A226 junction and moving of the tunnel entrance 600m 
further south are all welcomed.

However, Dartford Council would have liked to see wider network improvements as part of the scheme 
which would fully realise its benefits and achieve resilience for the strategic road network in Kent, 
particularly for long-distance freight traffic from the Channel ports.  This primarily relates to the link 
between the M20 and the M2 at the A229.  It is hoped that planning for the improvement of this link, as 
well as the related links and junctions between the M20 and M2 which are likely to see increased traffic 
as a result of the proposal, will be taken forward as a separate exercise by HE and partners.  The 
Council urges that planning and design work for these improvements commences immediately so that 
it is well advanced and able to progress by the time the Lower Thames Crossing opens in 9 years.  Such 
schemes should be prioritised for future rounds of the Road Investment Strategy (RIS).

The Council defers to Essex County Council with respect to the route changes north of the Thames, 
since Essex CC is best placed to assess the impacts of the changes.

3. Sections of the route
For the purposes of this consultation question, we have divided our proposed
route for the Lower Thames Crossing into three sections, starting with the
section south of the river in Kent, then the crossing under the Thames, and
finally the section to the north of the river in Thurrock, Essex and Havering.
A detailed description of our proposed route for the Lower Thames
Crossing is in Section 5 of Your guide to consultation, also
Approach to Design, Construction and Operation, the Preliminary
Environmental Information Report (PEIR) and our Map Books.

South of the river in Kent
This refers to the section of the proposed route starting at the M2/A2 and
ending to the south of the southern tunnel entrance. It also includes the
proposed improvements to sections of the M2/A2 around the junction with the
Lower Thames Crossing.
Included in the scope of question 3a and 3b are the route, structures such as
bridges, embankments, viaducts and any other aspect that you wish to comment
on. Please note, question 4 provides an opportunity to comment on connections
between the Lower Thames Crossing and the surrounding road network.
Lower Thames Crossing consultation 2018 – Response form 7

Q3a. Do you support or oppose the proposed route south of the river?
Strongly support 
Support X
Neutral
Oppose
Strongly oppose
Don’t know

Q3b. Please give us your comments or any other views you have on the



proposed route south of the river, including structures such as bridges,
embankments and viaducts.

With the improvements introduced, the proposed route south of the river is broadly supported, including 
the selection of the Western Southern Link, in preference to the Eastern Southern Link.  

Dartford Council defers to Gravesham Council and Kent County Council in respect of detailed aspects 
of the southern route.

The crossing
This refers to two bored tunnels beneath the Thames, the southern tunnel
entrance and the northern tunnel entrance.
Included in the scope of question 3c is the route, structures such as bridges,
embankments, viaducts and any other aspect that you wish to
comment on.
Please note, question 4 provides an opportunity to comment on connections
between the Lower Thames Crossing and the surrounding road network.

Q3c. Please give us your comments on the tunnel, the north and the south
tunnel entrances and any other feedback you have on this part of the
proposed route.

The provision of three lanes both ways through the tunnel is greatly welcomed as this will future-
proof the scheme and provide the capacity required to support future development and growth. This 
will assist in maintaining resilience in the longer term.
 
The extension of the tunnel 600m further back at the southern tunnel entrance is welcomed as this will 
reduce the impact on the environment and communities.

North of the river in Thurrock, Essex and Havering
This refers to the section of the proposed route starting immediately north
of the northern tunnel entrance and ending at the connection with the
M25 at junction 29, and the related improvement works at the M25.
Included in the scope of question 3d and 3e are the route, structures such as
bridges, embankments, viaducts and any other aspect that you wish to
comment on.
Please note, question 4 provides an opportunity to comment on connections
between the Lower Thames Crossing and the surrounding road network.

Q3d. Do you support or oppose the proposed route north of the crossing?
Strongly support
Support
Neutral X
Oppose
Strongly oppose
Don’t know

Q3e. Please give us your comments or any other views you have on the
proposed route north of the river, including structures such as bridges,
embankments and viaducts.

The Council defers to Essex County Council with respect to the proposed route north of the river, 
since Essex CC is best placed to assess this.



4. Connections
For the purposes of this consultation question, we have divided our proposed
route for the Lower Thames Crossing into two sections, starting with the section
to the south of the Thames, and then the section to the north of the Thames.
We have described the proposed connections between the Lower Thames
Crossing and the surrounding road network in Section 5 of Your guide to
consultation, and in Approach to Design, Construction and Operation
and our Map Books.

South of the crossing
This refers to the proposed junction between the Lower Thames Crossing
and the M2/A2. It also refers to the relationship between the Lower Thames
Crossing and the existing road network, including new bridges, underpasses
and diversions.

Q4a. Do you support or oppose the proposed junction between the Lower Thames
Crossing and the M2/A2?

Strongly support
Support X
Neutral
Oppose
Strongly oppose
Don’t know
Q4b. Please let us know the reasons for your response to Q4a and any other
views you have on the relationship between the Lower Thames Crossing
and the existing road network south of the crossing, including new bridges,
underpasses and diversions.

The proposed junction between the Lower Thames Crossing and the M2/A2 is supported.  The selection 
of the Western Southern Link has allowed the creation of a new dedicated and simpler junction on the 
M2/A2.  This is in contrast to the previously proposed Eastern Southern Link which would have resulted 
in a complex junction at the M2 with a lower level of resilience.  

North of the crossing
This refers to the proposed Tilbury junction, the A13/A1089 junction and the
junction with the M25. It also refers to the relationship between the Lower
Thames Crossing and the existing road network, including new bridges,
underpasses and diversions.

Q4c. Do you support or oppose the proposed Tilbury junction?
Strongly support
Support
Neutral X
Oppose
Strongly oppose
Don’t know 
Q4d. Do you support or oppose the proposed junction between the Lower Thames
Crossing and the A13/A1089?
Strongly support
Support
Neutral
Oppose X



Strongly oppose
Don’t know

Q4e. Do you support or oppose the proposed junction between the Lower Thames
Crossing and the M25?
Strongly support
Support
Neutral X
Oppose
Strongly oppose
Don’t know 

Q4f. Please let us know the reasons for your response to Q4c-Q4e, indicating
which junction or junctions you are referring to, and any other comments you
have on the proposed connections of the route north of the crossing.

Dartford Council is disappointed that it is not proposed to provide a link from the Lower Thames 
Crossing onto the A13 westbound and towards the Port of Tilbury.  This reduces the connectivity 
between Kent and Essex with a consequent reduction in economic benefits, access to jobs for local 
residents and more difficult journeys for destinations along the A13 to the west of the Lower Thames 
Crossing.

5. Walkers, cyclists and horse riders
Our proposal for the Lower Thames Crossing aims to replace, where
practicable, public rights of way affected by the project, and we will explore
how we can improve and enhance these routes. During construction, we will
keep disruption to public rights of way to a minimum. Please refer to Section 6
of Your guide to consultation, and see Map Book 1 and also Approach to
Design, Construction and Operation.

Q5a. Do you support or oppose our proposals in relation to public rights of way?
Strongly support
Support
Neutral X
Oppose
Strongly oppose
Don’t know 

Q5b. Please let us know the reasons for your response to Q5a and any other views
you have on our plans in relation to public rights of way, including the new
routes we have proposed.

Dartford Council is supportive of re-provision of high quality walking, cycling and horse-riding 
routes with minimal disruption during construction.  It defers to Gravesham Council, Kent County 
Council and the relevant interest groups as to the acceptability of the proposals. 

6. Environmental impacts and how we plan to
reduce them
We have described in our consultation materials the potential environmental
impacts of the Lower Thames Crossing and the measures we propose to reduce
them. For example, this includes how we would protect habitats and species,



reduce noise impacts on local communities and manage effects on air quality.
We have explained our approach to environmental assessment in Preliminary
Environmental Information Report (PEIR), Preliminary Environmental
Information Summary and Section 6 of Your guide to consultation.

Q6a. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed measures to reduce the impacts of
the project?
Strongly agree
Agree
Neutral X
Disagree
Strongly disagree
Don’t know

Q6b. Please let us know the reasons for your response to Q6a and any other views
you have on the environmental impacts of the Lower Thames Crossing as set out
in the Preliminary Environmental Information Report, including our approach to
assessing and reducing the impacts of the project.

The proposed mitigations to address the environmental impacts of the proposal are broadly welcomed.  
However, Dartford Council defers to the appropriate bodies in respect of the detailed impacts and 
adequacy of mitigation.

Dartford Council appreciates that some impacts are difficult to fully address, such as changes to the 
landscape.  However, it is considered that any impacts have to be considered in the round, alongside 
the benefits of the scheme and related environmental improvements which will occur elsewhere.  The 
existing Crossing is in a heavily populated area, with the surrounding community suffering negative 
health and well-being effects as a result of heavy traffic and congestion in the surrounding area.  The 
environmental impacts of the proposed project need to be balanced against the improvement in air 
quality and reduced traffic noise resulting from reduced congestion at the Dartford Crossing.

7. Development boundary
We have defined the area of land where the proposed Lower Thames
Crossing would be situated, as well as land that may be required to
enable construction and to provide mitigation for some of the impacts
associated with construction. This is called the development boundary,
and it can be seen in Section 6 of Your guide to consultation and our
Map Books. It identifies land and property that may need to be acquired
permanently or used temporarily for the Lower Thames Crossing to be
built and maintained. We will continue to work closely with the owners
and occupiers of this land and property as the project develops.

Q7a. Do you support or oppose the proposed area of land we require to build
the Lower Thames Crossing?
Strongly support
Support
Neutral X
Oppose
Strongly oppose
Don’t know 



Q7b. Please let us know the reasons for your response to Q7a and any other
views you have on the land we require to build the Lower Thames Crossing.
Lower Thames Crossing consultation 2018 – Response form 15

Dartford Council defers to the relevant host authorities in this respect.

8. Proposed rest and service area, and
maintenance depot
Our proposal includes provision for a rest and service area, and maintenance
depot north east of the Tilbury junction. Information on our plans can be
found in Section 5 of Your guide to consultation and Approach to Design,
Construction and Operation.

Q8a. Do you support or oppose our proposals for a rest and service area in
this location?
Strongly support
Support X
Neutral
Oppose
Strongly oppose
Don’t know

Q8b. Do you support or oppose our proposals for the maintenance depot in
this location?
Strongly support
Support
Neutral X
Oppose
Strongly oppose
Don’t know
Q8c. Please let us know the reasons for your responses to Q8a and Q8b, and any
other views you have on our proposals for a rest and service area, and for
the maintenance depot.

Dartford Council supports the provision of adequate rest and service facilities on the strategic network 
as this will improve the comfort and safety of those making long journeys and consequently result in 
fewer accidents.

The provision of electrical charging points is strongly supported. Improved charging infrastructure on 
the Strategic Road Network will encourage the potential use of electric vehicles for longer journeys and 
thereby increase their take-up.  This will reduce vehicular air pollutants in particular nitrogen dioxide, 
help improve air quality and reduce green-house gases.

9. Traffic
We have modelled forecast changes in traffic flows and the impacts on
congestion as a result of the Lower Thames Crossing. Further details of our
analysis are set out in Section 8 of Your guide to consultation, and also Traffic
Forecasting Report and Traffic Forecasts Non-Technical Summary.

Q9a. Do you agree or disagree with the view that the Lower Thames Crossing would
improve traffic conditions on the surrounding road network?



Strongly agree X
Agree
Neutral
Disagree
Strongly disagree
Don’t know

Q9b. Please let us know the reasons for your response to Q9a and any other views you
have on the Lower Thames Crossing’s impact on traffic.

Figures 4.1-4.3 of the Traffic Forecast Non-Technical Summary show quite clearly that there will be 
large areas of the surrounding network experiencing reduced levels of traffic at 2026 as compared to 
current conditions, with the new crossing.  This includes the M20 west of the A229, the M25 between 
Jct 3 and the new junction with the Lower Thames Crossing, as well as the A2 west of the southern 
junction with the Lower Thames Crossing.  These reductions take account of development and growth 
in the ten year period 2016-2026.  The improvements in traffic conditions, therefore, provide not only 
an improvement as compared to current circumstances but go beyond that to accommodate additional 
traffic arising from growth over that period.

It is also evident that some parts of the network experience a deterioration in traffic conditions.  To the 
south of the river, this is particularly in the area to the west of the new A2 junction and the link roads 
between the M20 and M2.  

Figures 4.4-4.9 of the Non-Technical Summary compare the network at 2026 with and without the 
proposed Crossing.  This shows that there is little change in network capacity around Gravesend, the 
Medway Towns and Maidstone when the new Crossing is opened.  In fact, there are some improvements 
around Gravesend.  This suggests that the increased flows forecast and shown in Figs 4.1- 4.3 are the 
result of factors other than the Lower Thames Crossing and most likely the result of growth.

Over the period of the modelling to 2051, the likely levels of growth in the area have not been 
specifically taken into account, since they have not yet been confirmed through Local Plans.  The model 
has applied Tempro growth 7.2 which addresses higher forecast growth levels in the south east.  Whilst 
Tempro has been used to forecast trip growth, Dartford Council urges that Highways England 
continues to work with local authorities to define more accurately the extent of growth and the full 
impacts on the surrounding road network; and identify the locations where further improvements may 
be needed.  Failure to address issues on the surrounding network will make it less attractive as an 
alternative to the existing Crossing, will mean that its capacity is not fully utilised and will reduce its 
effectiveness in making the Strategic Road Network more resilient. 

10. Charges for using the crossing
Our proposal is to charge drivers to use the tunnel with a free-flow e-charging
system, in line with the Dart Charge at the Dartford Crossing. We are also
considering other aspects of our charging proposal, such as charging amounts,
the application of peak charges and emission-based charging to manage traffic.
We are proposing to seek flexibility over the charging scheme for the Lower
Thames Crossing. For a description of our approach to charging users of the
crossing, please refer to Section 8 of Your guide to consultation, and also
Case for the Project and Approach to Design, Construction and Operation.

Please give us your views on our proposed approach to charging users of
the crossing.



Dartford Councils supports a free-flowing e-charging system which is designed to optimise traffic 
management.  This may require that it is different from the one at the Dartford Crossing.  

Differential charging according to vehicle type or hours of travel is fully supported, particularly 
where this helps make most effective use of the new Crossing.  

To achieve maximum benefits, driver behaviour will need to be changed, particularly where there are 
entrenched route choices.  Freight vehicle drivers from the continent may be the most resistant to 
change due to lack of information, language difficulties and a lack of willingness to change from long 
established route choices.  Concerted efforts will need to be made to target these drivers.  This can be 
achieved by easy payment for the new Crossing at the ports, publicity and information at the ports and 
clear signage for the new route starting at the ports.

 11. Building the Lower Thames Crossing
We have described our initial plans on how to build the Lower Thames Crossing
in Section 7 of Your guide to consultation and also Approach to Design,
Construction and Operation. This includes our proposed working hours
and tunnelling methods, our plans for temporary road closures and traffic
management, and the proposed location of construction compounds.

Q11a. Do you support or oppose our initial plans for how to build the Lower
Thames Crossing?
Strongly support
Support
Neutral X
Oppose
Strongly oppose
Don’t know

Q11b. Please let us know the reasons for your response to Q11a and any other views
you have on our initial plans on how to build the Lower Thames Crossing.

The traffic impacts during the construction phase will undoubtedly be significant.  It is understood that 
it is difficult to provide accurate information about routeing of construction vehicles in advance of 
contracts being let and waste sites etc being identified.  

Dartford Council urges that Highways England liaises with relevant local authorities and keeps them 
informed as the details become clearer, so that working together, the most appropriate routeing can be 
agreed and the impacts of the construction phase minimised.   

The Council is aware of a number of SRN projects currently underway and planned in the future, in 
close proximity to the proposed crossing.  In considering construction impacts, HE should also take 
into account the longer term impact on drivers of the combined effect of these schemes.  

12. Utilities and pylons
Building the Lower Thames Crossing would require changes to existing utilities
infrastructure, including electricity pylons and gas pipelines. More on this can be
found in the Section 7 of Your guide to consultation, and also Approach to
Design, Construction and Operation, Preliminary Environmental Information
Report (PEIR) and Preliminary Environmental Information Summary.

Please let us know any views you have on the proposed changes to utilities



infrastructure.

Dartford Council defers to the affected authorities and utility providers on this matter.

13. Other comments
We would like to know what is important to you. Please let us know if you have any
other comments about the Lower Thames Crossing.
Lower Thames Crossing consultation 2018 – Response form 21

Dartford Council is highly supportive of a new Crossing at the preferred location.  However, Dartford 
Crossing is already operating significantly beyond capacity, with consequent resilience issues and 
traffic levels will continue to increase before the new Crossing is open.  The Council, therefore, urges 
Highways England to continuously explore ways to speed up the implementation of the new Crossing 
throughout the lifetime of the project, so that its opening date can be brought forward as far as possible. 

The Council also urges Highway England to continue to work closely and proactively, in the meantime, 
with Dartford and Kent Highways to bring forward mitigations to improve the flow at the Crossing and 
its approach and to provide solutions to the congestion at junctions 1a,1b and 2 of the M25/A282.  The 
£10 million fund to support improvements in and around Dartford Crossing is very welcome as is the 
further assessment that is being carried out to identify wide-ranging solutions.  Some of the 
interventions required will be of a large scale, as for example meaningful solutions to the congestion 
at junction 1a.  The identified fund will be insufficient to fund these and a collaborative effort will be 
needed to identify further sources of funding.  Continued resilience and improvement at the Dartford 
Crossing will be required even with the new crossing in place, as the Crossing will continue to provide 
for increasing demand from growth in East London, as well as traffic growth on the M25 to the south 
and west of the Crossing.

The charging regime to be implemented at the new Crossing will be critical in ensuring the most 
effective distribution and routeing of vehicles.  Dartford Council wishes to be fully involved in 
discussions on the matter as proposals are progressed.

14. The consultation
Please let us know what you think about the quality of our consultation
materials, our events, the way in which we have notified people about our
plans, and anything else related to this consultation.
Very Good Good Average Poor Very poor
Not
applicable
Q14a. Information – was the information clear and easy to understand? Very good
Q14b. Events – were the events of good quality? Very good
Q14c. Events – were the events suitably located? Average
Q14d. Promotion – was the consultation promoted well and to the right people? Good
Q14e. Please let us know the reasons for your response to Q14a-Q14d and any other
views you have on the delivery of this consultation.

The Bluewater event was in a good location with high footfall, hence it achieved a high level of 
interest.  The promotional material, provided via a range of media, was extensive and very 
informative.  



The Dartford Town Centre event was in a location well outside the centre, which has limited passing 
pedestrian traffic.  It did not, therefore, attract a wide audience, with attendance being low.



CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

GOVERNMENT CONSULTATION ON PLANNING REFORM: 
SUPPORTING THE HIGH STREET AND INCREASING THE 
DELIVERY OF NEW HOMES

1. Summary

1.1 The Government is consulting on amendments to planning regulations, which 
generally extend the range of developments that can take place without the need 
for planning permission.  It is also proposing to extend local authorities’ freedoms 
to dispose of surplus land. Appendix B sets out the proposed responses to the 
consultation questions.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the responses to the questions, set out in Appendix B to the report, form 
the Council’s response to the Government’s Consultation on Planning Reform.

3. Background and Discussion 

3.1. The Government has published the consultation document “Planning 
Reform: Supporting the high street and increasing the delivery of new 
homes.”  This is included as Appendix A.  There are four parts to the 
document as follows:
 Permitted development rights and use classes
 Disposal of local authority land
 Canal & River Trust: Draft listed building consent order
 New town development corporations: Draft compulsory purchase 

guidance
The consultation takes the form of a series of questions and ends on 14 
January 2019.  The suggested responses to the consultation questions 
are set out in Appendix B but the key points are outlined below.

Part 1: Permitted development rights and use classes

Allow greater change of use to support high streets to adapt and diversify

3.2. It is proposed to introduce new permitted development rights to allow 
existing premises in typical high street uses to change to a wider range 
of uses, allowing more leisure and community uses such as gyms, 
libraries, health care and office use as well as homes.  The Government 
is also consulting on changes to use classes for uses commonly found 
on the high street to make it easier for certain uses to change use.

3.3. It is considered that there are benefits to the introduction of a single use 
class for A1 (shops), A2 (financial and professional services) and A3 
(food and drink) uses as retail centres now generally comprise a mix of 
these uses and the change would allow for more flexible use of premises 
and simplify the system.  It is also considered that support could be given 
to making it easier to change from high street uses to community uses 
such as libraries and health centres.  However, there are concerns that 



CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

the proposals to introduce permitted development rights to change from 
certain high street use classes to offices and residential uses, if 
unchecked, could undermine the critical mass of shops, services and 
activity which is needed to keep a town centre vibrant.  It also risks the 
creation of sub-standard residential units, with the ability to control the 
standard of accommodation and amenity being limited.

Allow certain building types in particular uses to extend upwards to 
create additional new homes

3.4. The Government proposes to introduce a new permitted development 
right to extend certain existing buildings upwards to provide additional 
new homes.  This includes associated questions relating to design codes 
and heights.

3.5. There are concerns that the introduction of such a permitted 
development right could lead to the provision of sub-standard, poor 
quality homes with no consideration given to the amenity/living 
conditions for future residents, occupiers of adjacent premises, waste 
storage, parking provision etc.  It could lead to concentrations of poor 
quality development with consequent effects on the character of certain 
areas.  This conflicts with the aims of national planning policy to achieve 
good design and a high standard of amenity.

Remove the existing right that allows the installation of, and advertising 
on, new public call boxes

3.6. There is a proposal to remove the existing permitted development right 
that allows the installation of, and advertising on, new public call boxes.  
This is to reflect changes to the way that people now access telephone 
services and use public call boxes.  

3.7. It is considered that this could be supported on the basis that it would 
allow the Council to consider whether such proposals are appropriate to 
the character and appearance of the area in which they are proposed.

Increased size limits for off-street electric vehicle charging points

3.8. The Government’s commitment is that by 2050 nearly all cars and vans 
should be zero emission vehicles.  To support its delivery, it is proposed 
to increase the existing size limits for electric vehicle charging points 
located in off-street parking areas to facilitate rapid charging.

3.9. The Council encourages the provision of electric vehicle charging points 
and this proposal is generally supported.  However, it is considered that 
existing controls should continue to apply within the curtilage of listed 
buildings.

Make permanent two time-limited rights

3.10. The Government proposes to make permanent two time-limited 
permitted development rights that will currently cease to have effect in 
2019.  These provide for the change of use from storage or distribution 
to residential use, and for larger single storey rear extensions to houses.



CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

3.11. It is considered that these proposals should not be supported.  In terms 
of the change of use from storage or distribution to residential use, there 
are concerns about the loss of valuable employment land and the 
creation of poor quality homes and living conditions (see also paragraph 
3.5 above).  In relation to increasing the sizes of house extensions, which 
could be built without the need for planning permission, the concerns 
relate to long-term impacts on neighbour amenity.  The Council has a 
good record of approving householder planning applications within a 
timely manner and it is considered unnecessary to further extend 
householder permitted development rights.

Explore the feasibility of a new right to allow for the demolition of existing 
commercial buildings and their redevelopment as residential

3.12. The Government is seeking views on whether it would be feasible for a 
permitted development right to be designed that could allow for the 
redevelopment of a commercial site to create new homes.

3.13. There are concerns about this proposal as it could result in the loss of 
valuable employment land and result in the introduction of residential 
use in locations, which are not suited to it.  It is questionable how such 
a permitted development right could manage the impacts, achieve good 
design and result in a high standard of amenity in accordance with 
national planning policy.  There are a significant number of issues that 
would need to be addressed which are appropriately considered under 
the current planning application system.  It is unclear what benefits the 
introduction of such a permitted development right would bring.

Part 2: Disposal of local authority land

3.14. There are well established consent procedures in place where local 
authorities seek to dispose of surplus land at less than best 
consideration.  The Government is proposing to extend local authorities’ 
freedoms to do so without seeking consent from the Secretary of State, 
thereby providing greater flexibility to dispose of surplus land in support 
of local development objectives.

3.15. The suggested responses support proposals to give local authorities 
more power to decide whether to dispose of land at undervalue without 
seeking consent from the Secretary of State.

Part 3: Canal & River Trust: Draft listed building consent order

3.16. The part of the consultation document relates to a proposal to allow the 
Canal & River Trust to carry out certain works to listed structures without 
the need to apply for listed building consent.  As the Trust is not 
responsible for any rivers in Dartford Borough, this section is not 
applicable to the Council.

Part 4: New town development corporations: Draft compulsory 
purchase guidance

3.17. The Government has produced draft guidance to be taken into account 
by ministers in deciding whether or not to confirm new town compulsory 



CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

purchase orders.  This relates to New Town Development Corporations 
under the New Towns Act 1981.  Ebbsfleet Development Corporation 
was set up under the Local Government, Planning and Land Act 1980 
so this part of the consultation document is not relevant to Dartford 
Borough’s area.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 The Council’s Corporate Plan includes a number of relevant strategic 
aims:

 To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of 
benefit to all of our communities

 To promote an environment which is attractive, with improved air 
quality and which provides a realistic choice of travel options

 To facilitate quality, choice and diversity in the housing market, 
assist in meeting housing need in Dartford and deliver high quality 
services to service users

 To create strong and self-reliant communities

4.2 The following strategic objectives are also applicable:
ET 2. Ensure that development in Dartford is sustainable, with 

high standards of design, layout and water/energy 
efficiency

ET 4. Ensure a high quality street scene
HS 1. Work towards meeting the housing needs of the Borough
HS 2. Provide high quality housing services and to strive to 

improve the quality and condition of the Borough’s private 
rented housing sector

HS 3. Promote self-reliant communities

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications The introduction of further permitted 
development rights and prior notification 
procedures is likely to result in a drop in fees from 
planning applications.

Legal Implications None.

Staffing Implications The introduction of further permitted 
development rights and prior notification 
procedures is likely to result in additional 
workload without a commensurate application 
fee.

Administrative 
Implications

Permitted development rights and prior 
notification procedures place an administrative 
burden on the authority without a commensurate 
application fee.

Risk Assessment None.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category



CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Planning Reform: Supporting the high street and 
increasing the delivery of new homes, MHCLG October 2018
Appendix B – Proposed Responses to Consultation Questions

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

 Planning Reform: Supporting the high 
street and increasing the delivery of 
new homes, MHCLG October 2018

Andrea Wright
(01322) 343060

Planning Policy, 
Regeneration 

N/A





October 2018 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

 

 

 

 

Planning Reform: Supporting the high street 
and increasing the delivery of new homes

Appendix A



 

 

© Crown copyright, 2018 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, 
under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit 
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/ 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg 

October 2018 

ISBN: 978-1-4098-5270-4

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.gov.uk/mhclg
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/mhclg


3 

Contents 
Scope of the consultation 4 

Foreword 7 

Part 1. Permitted development rights and use classes 9 

Part 2. Disposal of local authority land 23 

Part 3. Canal & River Trust: Draft listed building consent order 29 

Part 4. New town development corporations: Draft compulsory purchase       
guidance 33 

About this consultation 36 

Annex A: Privacy notice 37 

Annex B: Details of the general consent that governs disposals of land by the 
Greater London Authority 39 

Annex C: Draft listed building consent order 40 

Annex D: Draft compulsory purchase guidance – new town development 
corporations 44 

 
 
  

 



4 

Scope of the consultation 

Topic of this 
consultation: 

This consultation seeks any views on each part of a package of 
measures to make best use of land and speed up the delivery 
of new homes.  

Scope of this 
consultation: 

This consultation covers separate proposals on: 
 
Part 1: Permitted development rights and use classes  
Part 2: Disposal of local authority land 
Part 3: Canal & River Trust: Draft listed building consent order 
Part 4: New town development corporations: Draft compulsory 
purchase guidance 
 
Views are sought for each specific part and the relevant 
responses to each part will be considered in taking forward that 
particular proposal. 
 

Geographical 
scope: 

These proposals relate to England only. 
 

Impact 
Assessment: 

The government is mindful of its responsibility to have regard to 
the potential impact of any proposal on the Public Sector 
Equality Duty. In each part of the consultation we would invite 
any views on the duty. 
 

 
Basic Information 
 

To: This consultation is open to everyone. We are keen to hear 
from a wide range of interested parties from across the public 
and private sectors, as well as from the general public. 

Body/bodies 
responsible for 
the consultation: 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

Duration: This consultation will run from 29 October 2018 to 14 January 
2019.  

Enquiries: For any enquiries about the consultation please contact: 
planningconsultation2018@communities.gov.uk 
 

How to respond: Responses are invited to each specific part or parts of the 
consultation: those specific responses will be considered by the 
government in taking forward the relevant policy proposals. 
 

mailto:planningconsultation2018@communities.gov.uk


5 

 
Consultation responses should be submitted by online survey 
at:  
 
https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/PlanCon18 
 
We strongly encourage responses via the online survey, 
particularly from organisations with access to online facilities 
such as local authorities, representative bodies and 
businesses. Consultations on planning policy receive a high 
level of interest across many sectors. Using the online survey 
greatly assists our analysis of the responses, enabling more 
efficient and effective consideration of the issues raised for 
each question.  
 
Should you be unable to respond via the online survey we 
ask that you complete the response pro forma found at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-
reform-supporting-the-high-street-and-increasing-the-delivery-
of-new-homes. You may respond to one or more parts of the 
consultation.  Responses should be emailed to:  
planningconsultation2018@communities.gov.uk 
  
or posted to: 
 
Planning Consultation 
Planning Development Management Division 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
3rd floor, North East 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London 
SW1P 4DF 
 
If you are responding in writing, please make it clear which 
questions you are responding to. 
 
When you reply it would be very useful if you could confirm 
whether you are replying as an individual or submitting an 
official response on behalf of an organisation and include: 
 
- your name, 
- your position (if applicable), 
- the name of the organisation (if applicable), 
- an address (including postcode), 
- an email address, and 
- a contact telephone number 
 
 

https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/PlanCon18
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-reform-supporting-the-high-street-and-increasing-the-delivery-of-new-homes
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-reform-supporting-the-high-street-and-increasing-the-delivery-of-new-homes
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-reform-supporting-the-high-street-and-increasing-the-delivery-of-new-homes
mailto:planningconsultation2018@communities.gov.uk


6 

If responding on behalf of an organisation, please highlight 
which group you represent: 
 
Local Authorities (including National Parks, Broads 
Authority, the Greater London Authority and London 
Boroughs) 
Neighbourhood Planning Bodies / Parish or Town 
Council 
Private Sector Organisations (including housebuilders, 
housing associations, businesses, consultants) 
Trade Associations / Interest Groups / Voluntary or 
Charitable Organisations 
Academia  
Other 

 



7 

Foreword 
The government is committed to ensuring the planning system supports the creation of 
new businesses and homes. It has a critical role to play in the future of our high streets 
and in underpinning the delivery of much needed new homes.   

The revised National Planning Policy Framework1, published on 24 July 2018, sets out 
policies to ensure the vitality of our town centres by taking a positive approach to their 
growth, management and adaptation. The Framework will drive greater housing delivery 
where it is needed most and promote more efficient use of our land. With good design, 
protections for valued green spaces and community support, we can revitalise the high 
street, support business and deliver new homes. 

The National Planning Policy Framework is a key element of our reforms. However,  we 
wish to go further to give greater certainty and speed wherever possible.  

We want to give local areas the opportunity to make the most effective use of existing 
buildings both for business and residential use. In doing so we can reduce the need to 
build in our valued countryside and green spaces, improve our streetscapes, and make 
our town centres more attractive. 

We are now seeking views on further planning reforms. These reforms will support our 
high streets to meet the demands of the 21st century consumer and make the best use of 
land and buildings to deliver more homes.  

A summary of each part of the consultation is provided below. Responses are invited to 
each specific part. 

Part 1: Permitted development rights and use classes   

National permitted development rights play an important role in helping the high street 
adapt and meeting our housing aspiration. They provide developers with a more 
streamlined and certain route through the planning system while allowing for local 
consideration of key planning matters. We are seeking views on new permitted 
development rights to allow greater flexibility for change of use; use the airspace above 
existing buildings for additional new homes and extensions; remove the right to install new 
public call boxes and the associated advertising consent; and increase the height 
threshold for the installation of off-street electric vehicle charging points. We also propose 
to make permanent other existing time-limited rights, and to make an update to the Use 
Classes Order to reflect our changing high streets and make them more resilient.  

Part 2: Disposal of local authority land 

There are well established consent procedures in place where local authorities seek to 
dispose of surplus land at less than best consideration. We are proposing to extend local 
authorities’ freedoms to do so without seeking consent from the Secretary of State, 

                                            
 
1 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/revised-national-planning-policy-framework 
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/revised-national-planning-policy-framework


8 

thereby providing greater flexibility to dispose of surplus land in support of local 
development objectives.  

Part 3: Canal & River Trust: Draft listed building consent order 

We are proposing to make the first listed building consent order which will allow minor, 
routine works to the Canal & River Trust’s listed waterway structures without the need for 
individual listed building consent applications. This will remove unnecessary applications 
from the system while ensuring that appropriate protection for listed buildings and their 
settings is maintained. 

Part 4: New town development corporations: Draft compulsory purchase guidance 

Finally, we are seeking views on draft guidance on the compulsory purchase powers of 
new town development corporations. It sets out, amongst other things, the factors which 
Ministers will take into account when deciding whether or not to confirm new town 
compulsory purchase orders. This is intended to provide additional clarity to those with an 
interest in proposed new settlements, including promoters, investors, infrastructure 
providers, landowners and local communities. 

 

  



9 

Part 1. Permitted development rights and use 
classes 
Introduction 
 
1.1 National permitted development rights play an important role in helping high streets 

adapt to changes in how people shop and use the high street. They allow for change 
of use between some uses typically found on the high street, as well as allowing 
some high street premises to change to residential use. Separately other permitted 
development rights also support the delivery of new homes. In 2016/17, permitted 
development rights provided nearly 18,900 new homes, 8.5% of the total number of 
net additions delivered. The proposals set out in this chapter seek to build on 
previous reforms to help high streets thrive and to create more new homes from 
existing buildings, including in our town centres. 

  
1.2 Permitted development rights provide a more streamlined planning process with 

greater planning certainty, while at the same time allowing for local consideration of 
key planning matters. The individual permitted development rights2 allow for a wide 
range of development, including for businesses, householders and statutory 
undertakers to extend their premises, change use and install infrastructure.  
 

1.3 New permitted development rights for the change of use could support new 
businesses and encourage further diversity on the high street. Separately, the Use 
Classes Order3 is a key deregulatory tool which provides for movement within similar 
uses without the need for planning permission. There is now scope to consider 
whether the use classes could better support high street regeneration in a changing 
retail environment.      

 
1.4 In addition, we are proposing a new permitted development right to allow building up 

above existing buildings to promote new homes. This will bring particular benefits to 
town centres but also more widely where opportunities exist for well designed 
development in the airspace above buildings. 
 

1.5 We are now seeking views on the following matters:  
 
• Allow greater change of use to support high streets to adapt and diversify  

We are proposing new permitted development rights to allow existing premises in 
typical high street uses to change to a wider range of uses, allowing more leisure and 
community uses such as gyms, libraries, health care and office use as well as 

                                            
 
2  Permitted development rights are set out in The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015, as amended. 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/contents/made 
 
3 The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, as amended. 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1987/764/contents/made 
 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1987/764/contents/made


10 

homes.  We also want to support the modernisation of the high street and enable 
businesses to adapt to changes in consumer demands. We are consulting on 
changes to use classes for uses commonly found on the high street to make it easier 
for certain uses to change use.  

 
• Allow certain building types in particular uses to extend upwards to create 

additional new homes 
We propose a new permitted development right to extend certain existing buildings 
upwards to provide additional, well designed, new homes to meet local housing 
need. National planning policy is clear that to support housing delivery we should 
make effective use of previously developed land and buildings, including the airspace 
above existing buildings, to create new homes. This proposal is to create much 
needed additional new homes which fit within the existing streetscape and can 
enhance the local area.  
 

• Remove the existing right that allows the installation of, and advertising on, 
new public call boxes    
Permitted development rights initially played an important role in helping to provide 
public access to a telephone. The widespread use of mobile technology has changed 
the way people access telephone services and use public call boxes. Therefore, the 
placing of public call boxes would now benefit from the greater consideration of their 
impact on the local amenity. Any adverts on new public call boxes would similarly be 
subject to local consideration.     
 

• Increased size limits for off-street electric vehicle charging points 
The Government’s commitment is that by 2050 nearly all cars and vans should be 
zero emission vehicles. To support its delivery we propose to increase the existing 
size limits for electric vehicle charging points located in off-street parking areas to 
facilitate rapid charging.  

 
• Make permanent two time-limited rights  

We propose to make permanent two time-limited permitted development rights that 
will currently cease to have effect in 2019. These provide for the change of use from 
storage or distribution to residential use, and for larger single storey rear extensions 
to houses.   
 

• Explore the feasibility of a new right to allow for the demolition of existing 
commercial buildings and their redevelopment as residential 
The National Planning Policy Framework4 is clear that making effective use of land 
and buildings is central to boosting housing delivery. Therefore we are seeking views 
on whether it would be feasible for a permitted development right to be designed that 
could allow for the redevelopment of a commercial site to create new homes.  
 

Allow greater change of use to support high streets to adapt and diversify   
 
1.6 The government is committed to helping high streets adapt to meet the range of 

experiences consumers are demanding.  High streets and town centres are already 
                                            
 
4  https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/revised-national-planning-policy-framework 

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/revised-national-planning-policy-framework


11 

providing a wider range of leisure and community services and business uses 
alongside traditional high street shops and financial services.  Permitted development 
rights for change from retail and other high street uses would provide a quicker more 
certain route to enable business to adapt and help town centres to remain vibrant.    
 

1.7 To support greater diversity and footfall on the high street, we are proposing a new 
national permitted development right to allow shops (A1) financial and professional 
services (A2), hot food takeaways (A5), betting shops, pay day loan shop and 
launderettes to change to office use (B1).  We are also proposing to allow hot food 
takeaways (A5) to change to residential use (C3), as is already the case with the 
other uses listed in this paragraph.  We would welcome views on the benefit of this 
increased flexibility. 

 
1.8 Permitted development rights for change from high street uses would be subject to 

prior approval by the local planning authority. We would expect this to be in line with 
existing change of use prior approvals but would be interested in views on what 
specific matters should be considered.   

 
Question 1.1: Do you agree that there should be a new permitted development right to 
allow shops (A1) financial and professional services (A2), hot food takeaways (A5), betting 
shops, pay day loan shop and launderettes to change to office use (B1)? Please give your 
reasons. 
 
Question 1.2: Do you agree that there should be a new permitted development right to allow 
hot food takeaways (A5) to change to residential use (C3)? Please give your reasons. 
 
Question 1.3: Are there any specific matters that should be considered for prior approval to 
change to office use? 
 

 
Temporary change of use 

1.9 We are also interested in views on greater flexibility for temporary and community 
uses on the high street. We are proposing to extend the existing permitted 
development right for the temporary change of use from shops (A1) financial and 
professional services (A2), restaurants and cafes (A3), hot food takeaways (A5), 
offices (B1), non-residential institutions (D1), assembly and leisure uses (D2), betting 
shops and pay day loan shops to change to shops (A1) financial and professional 
services (A2), restaurants and cafes (A3) or offices (B1). The current right allows 
premises to change use for up to 2 years, enabling new business start-ups to test the 
market and help  ensure premises are not left empty.  To further support flexibility, we 
propose that these premises should also be allowed to change to certain community 
uses: public library, exhibition hall, museum, clinic or health centre.  In addition, to 
allow sufficient time to establish a business we propose to extend the period of the 
temporary use from 2 years to 3 years.  

 
Question 1.4: Do you agree that the permitted development right for the temporary 
change of use of the premises listed in paragraph 1.9 should allow change to a public 
library, exhibition hall, museum, clinic or health centre?  

 



12 

Question 1.5: Are there other community uses to which temporary change of use 
should be allowed? 
 
Question 1.6: Do you agree that the temporary change of use should be extended 
from 2 years to 3 years? 

 
Support for the high street through the Use Classes Order  

1.10 Modern high streets need to be able to adapt quickly to meet the changing 
expectations of communities for a mix of shop and leisure uses, and to reflect new 
businesses that continue to emerge.  With the rise of internet shopping, and the 
change in how people use the high street, it is timely to consider how the operation of 
the Use Classes Order can support greater flexibility. The Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, as amended, groups together uses that have 
similar land use impacts, and sets out that movement within a use class is not 
considered development and therefore does not need planning permission.  
Traditional high street uses are mostly found in the A classes: shops (A1), financial 
and professional services (A2), restaurants and cafes (A3), drinking establishments, 
including public houses (A4), and hot food takeaways (A5).  Permitted development 
rights already allow for some changes of use between these classes, except for 
those where particular considerations should apply. Public houses (A4) play an 
important role in communities and permitted development rights were removed in 
2017 to protect these important community assets. Recognising the potential impact 
on the local amenity, planning permission is required for the change of use to a hot 
food takeaway (A5).  
 

1.11 The Use Classes Order must remain current for the modern high street. The A1 use 
class captures commonly found shops on the high street. However, we wish to 
explore whether we could simplify the A1 shops use class to remove the current 
named uses and allow for a broader definition of uses for the sale, display or service 
to visiting members of the public. We would welcome views on how the A1 use class 
could be simplified to ensure that it accommodates new and future business models 
and modern shopping preferences.   

 
1.12 We could go further. Premises on the high street are often in more than one use, for 

example a bookshop and café, which allows them to attract a wider range of 
customers.  There could be scope for a new use class that provides for a mix of uses 
within the A1, A2 and A3 uses beyond that which is considered to be ancillary, which 
would support the diversification of high street businesses. This would replace the 
existing A1, A2 and A3 and result in a single use class to cover shops, financial and 
professional services, restaurants and cafes. This would mean that movement 
between these uses was no longer development and not a matter for the planning 
system to consider. It would bring greater flexibility but reduce the ability of 
communities and local planning authorities to distinguish between shops and 
restaurant uses. We would be interested in views on merging these use classes, and 
also on whether any other use class should be brought into the proposed merged 
use class. 

 
Question 1.7: Would changes to certain of the A use classes be helpful in supporting 
high streets?  

 



13 

 
Question 1.8: If so, which would be the most suitable approach: 
a. that the A1 use class should be simplified to ensure it captures current and future 
retail models; or, 
b. that the A1, A2 and A3 use classes should be merged to create a single use class? 
Please give your reasons.  

 
A new permitted development right to support housing delivery by extending 
buildings upwards to create additional new homes 
 
1.13 Building upwards to use the airspace above existing buildings can play an important 

role in delivering new homes both in town centres and elsewhere. National planning 
policy5 expects that local planning policies and decisions should respond positively to 
suitable opportunities to deliver additional new homes above existing residential and 
commercial premises. This policy offers an opportunity to bring forward well-designed 
homes which enhance the streetscape while making effective use of land for 
housing, boosting housing density in areas of high demand such as our town centres 
and high streets, increasing footfall and preventing unwanted garden-grabbing.    

 
Density in urban areas 

 
A number of researchers and commentators are investigating how high 
quality residential development can be delivered at high densities in 
urban areas to create liveable and popular communities, and how these 
can be supported and developed through planning.  Many reports note 
that some of the most densely populated areas of cities are some of the 
most desirable, that English urban areas are relatively low density by 
international standards, and that good design means that high density 
does not have to be the same as tall buildings. 

 
Reports include Policy Exchange - Better Brownfield6, Yes In My Back 
Yard - How To End The Housing Crisis7 and Create Streets - Create 
Boulevards for London8. The government welcomes this debate and 
encourages further analysis and examples of good practice. 

 
Permitted development rights, as set out in this paper, could play a role 
in supporting higher density development, alongside national planning 
policy, local plans, local design codes and good masterplanning. 

 
1.14 We know that additional new homes are already being brought forward using the 

airspace above existing buildings and approved through the planning application 
process. There is now an opportunity to consider the introduction of a permitted 
development right to further support the creation of additional new homes above 
certain existing buildings in high streets and town centres. While the operation of 

                                            
 
5  https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/revised-national-planning-policy-framework 
6 https://policyexchange.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/Better-Brownfield-LL.pdf 
7 https://static1.squarespace.com/static/56eddde762cd9413e151ac92/t/598c03c5be6594815d7741c5/   
8 http://dev.createstreets.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Create-Boulevards-03-May-2016.pdf 
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/revised-national-planning-policy-framework
https://policyexchange.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/Better-Brownfield-LL.pdf
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/56eddde762cd9413e151ac92/t/598c03c5be6594815d7741c5/
http://dev.createstreets.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Create-Boulevards-03-May-2016.pdf


14 

permitted development rights for change of use can sometimes raise local issues, the 
benefits of providing new homes, greater certainty and speeding up delivery have 
been recognised. The proposed right would not apply in Article 2(3) land (including 
conservation areas, areas of outstanding natural beauty, the Broads, National Parks 
and World Heritage Sites); sites of special scientific interest; listed buildings and land 
within their curtilage; sites that are or contain scheduled monuments; safety hazard 
areas; military explosives storage areas; and safeguarded land within 3 kilometres of 
the perimeter of an aerodrome.     

 
1.15 We are proposing a new permitted development right, subject to prior approval by the 

local planning authority, to allow additional storeys to be built above certain buildings, 
in particular those in commercial or residential (C3) use. This would complement our 
existing policy approach which supports making the best use of airspace and 
increasing density. We are interested in innovative approaches to building up to 
deliver additional new self-contained homes, and would welcome examples of how 
this permitted development right might be used in practice, and particularly of how 
the use of local design codes could help to encourage take up of the proposed right 
and improve the design quality and acceptability of upward extensions. 

 
Question 1.9:  Do you think there is a role for a permitted development right to provide 
additional self-contained homes by extending certain premises upwards?   
 
Question 1.10: Do you think there is a role for local design codes to improve outcomes 
from the application of the proposed right? 
 
Height limits 
  
1.16 A permitted development right could apply to the airspace above premises in a 

terrace of two or more joined properties where there is at least one higher building in 
the terrace. The roof of the premises extending upward would be no higher than the 
main roofline of the highest building in the existing terrace. This would have the 
advantage of providing a fixed local point against which any proposal could be 
considered and offer greater certainty on what is permitted.   

 
1.17 An alternative approach would be to permit upward extensions more widely to a 

height no higher than the prevailing roof height in the locality.  While this may extend 
the proposed right to a greater number of properties, it would not be possible to define 
prevailing roofline in regulations. Therefore it would be a matter to be considered by 
the local authority as part of the prior approval. In doing so, the local authority would 
be able to define what it considered to be the prevailing roofline taking account of the 
local building types and heights and the extent of the area over which it should be 
determined. This may offer less certainty to the applicant. It would, however, offer a 
different range of development opportunities.  

 
1.18 There are likely to be local amenity impacts to be considered when reviewing a 

proposal to construct additional storeys. Therefore it is proposed that there should be 
a maximum limit of 5 storeys from ground level for a building once extended, with 
anything higher requiring a planning application. This would be based on an 
additional storey not exceeding 3 metres in height. 

 



15 

1.19 Where premises are not on level ground the impact of adding additional storeys can 
be significantly greater on the amenity of neighbouring premises, for example from 
overlooking and overshadowing and on the character of the area. We would welcome 
views on how best to take account of the topography of specific areas.  
 

1.20 Separately, purpose built, free standing blocks of flats (C3) over 5 storeys would 
provide an opportunity to deliver additional new homes through upwards extensions. 
The government would also like a permitted development right to apply to such 
buildings, and is interested in views, including whether there should be a limit on the 
number of additional storeys that could be added, for example 5. 

 
Question 1.11: Which is the more suitable approach to a new permitted development 
right:  
a. that it allows premises to extend up to the roofline of the highest building in a terrace; or 
b. that it allows building up to the prevailing roof height in the locality? 
 
Question 1.12: Do you agree that there should be an overall limit of no more than 5 
storeys above ground level once extended?  
 
Question 1.13: How do you think a permitted development right should address the 
impact where the ground is not level?  
 
Question 1.14: Do you agree that, separately, there should be a right for additional 
storeys on purpose built free standing blocks of flats?  If so, how many storeys should be 
allowed?   
 
Premises that would benefit from a permitted development right to build upwards 
 
1.21 We propose that upward extensions should be permitted on premises in a range of 

uses that are compatible with C3 residential use. These could include existing C3 
residential premises, those A class and sui generis high street uses that can already 
change use to housing under a permitted development right (shops (A1), financial 
and professional services (A2), restaurants and cafes (A3), betting shops, pay day 
loan shops and launderettes), offices (B1 (a)), and buildings in mixed use within 
these uses. 

 
1.22 We want to explore whether there may also be other buildings whose use is 

compatible with the introduction of new homes. Given they are usually located in 
residential areas or high streets, would premises such as health centres and 
buildings used for community and leisure purposes be suitable for inclusion in the 
permitted development right? Out of town retail parks with a mix of shopping and 
leisure uses may also be suitable for upward extensions to provide additional homes.    

 
Question 1.15: Do you agree that the premises in paragraph 1.21 would be suitable to 
include in a permitted development right to extend upwards to create additional new 
homes? 
 
Question 1.16: Are there other types of premises, such as those in paragraph 1.22 that 
would be suitable to include in a permitted development right to extend upwards to create 
additional new homes? 



16 

Works to extend upwards 
 
1.23 The permitted development right would need to allow for the physical works required 

to construct or install additional storeys on a building. These could include works to 
strengthen existing walls, engineering works to strengthen existing foundations to 
support the additional storeys and works to provide safe and appropriate access and 
egress for any additional new homes within the building’s footprint. Separately it 
could also allow for works within the curtilage where it is necessary for access to the 
additional new homes. It is therefore proposed that the right would not seek to define 
particular physical works to allow for the varied nature of what might be required. 
There would, however, be a prior approval in relation to the nature and impacts of the 
works (see paragraph 1.25). In proposing any works, applicants would need to 
ensure that building safety matters were properly addressed. 

 
1.24 It is important to note that requirements under other legislation continue to apply to 

development carried out under a permitted development right. Where relevant, 
development must comply with Building Regulations and Fire Regulations, the Party 
Wall Act and other legislation as appropriate.  

 
Question 1.17:  Do you agree that a permitted development right should allow the local 
authority to consider the extent of the works proposed? 
 
Prior Approval  
 
1.25 Prior approval allows for the consideration by the local planning authority of the 

impacts of the permitted development right at the local level and can cover a range of 
matters that need further assessment and mitigation.  We propose applying those 
prior approvals that have already proved beneficial in permitted development rights 
for change to residential use. These would include matters such as flooding and 
contamination risks, transport and highways and the impact of additional new homes 
on existing occupiers and businesses, especially those that create noise and odours 
which may be a statutory nuisance.  Prior approval would apply the “agent of change” 
principle, set out in paragraph 182 of the National Planning Policy Framework, to 
ensure the introduction of housing could be integrated effectively with existing 
business and community uses, and to consider mitigation measures for the potential 
impacts on new residents and existing businesses. The prior approval would also 
assess the impacts of any works external to the building and within the curtilage, 
including fire escapes.  

 
1.26 Prior approval would consider the design, siting and appearance of the upward 

extension and its impact on the amenity and character of the area, taking account of 
the form of neighbouring properties. This may include considering whether the 
proposed development is of good design, adds to the overall quality of the area over 
its lifetime, is visually attractive as a result of good architecture, responds to the local 
character and history of the area and maintains a strong sense of place, as set out in 
paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework. We expect prior approval 
on design to be granted where the design is in keeping with the existing design of the 
building. 

 



17 

1.27 Prior approval would also consider the impact of the development on the amenity of 
neighbouring premises, for example, from obscuring existing windows, reducing 
access to light or resulting in unacceptable impact on neighbours’ privacy from 
overlooking. It would also consider measures to mitigate these impacts, and enable 
the neighbours, including owners and occupiers of premises impacted, to comment 
on the proposal. 

 
1.28 We propose that applications for prior approval should be accompanied by an 

appropriate fee per dwelling proposed, recognising the range and complexity of 
issues for local authority consideration.  

 
Question 1.18: Do you agree that in managing the impact of the proposal, the matters set 
out in paragraphs 1.25 -1.27 should be considered in a prior approval?  
 
Question 1.19: Are there any other planning matters that should be considered? 
 
1.29 Permitted development rights already allow the enlargement, improvement or 

alteration of existing homes to provide additional living space.  This includes up to 50 
cubic metres of additional roof space, such as a loft extension (which is no higher 
than the existing roof), as well as side and rear extensions. This consultation includes 
a proposal to make permanent the time-limited right for larger extensions to 
dwellinghouses (see paragraph 1.42 below). These rights do not allow for the 
addition of further storeys to an existing home. We are seeking views on whether the 
proposed right to build upwards to create new homes should additionally allow 
householders to extend their own homes.   

  
Question 1.20: Should a permitted development right also allow for the upward extension 
of a dwelling for the enlargement of an existing home? If so, what considerations should 
apply? 
 
The permitted development right to install public call boxes and associated 
advertisement consent 
 
1.30 Electronic Communications Code Operators9 have permitted development rights to 

install telecommunications infrastructure, including public call boxes (telephone 
kiosks), subject to prior approval by the local planning authority. Separately, the 
Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007, 
as amended10, grants “deemed consent” for specified classes of advertisements 
including advertisements displayed on telephone kiosks. Subject to complying with 
the relevant conditions and limitations, advertisements granted deemed consent can 
be displayed on a single side of a telephone kiosk without seeking consent from the 
local planning authority. 

 
1.31 Reflecting the technological changes that have taken place in recent years in relation 

to telecommunications, it is timely to consider whether the permitted development 

                                            
 
9 Registered by Ofcom 
10 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/783/contents/made 
 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/783/contents/made


18 

right to install public call boxes remains necessary. The public call box (telephone 
kiosk) network already exists, and has for some time been shrinking due to the 
widespread availability of mobile telephone technology. In this context, many new 
public call boxes are brought forward as part of a programme of renewal and 
rationalisation of the existing infrastructure. 

 
1.32 However, local planning authorities are seeing an increase in the number of prior 

approval applications for additional public call boxes in city centres, with a 
subsequent increase in the number of appeals coming before the Planning 
Inspectorate. The planning concerns in such cases have focused on the adverse 
impact on highway safety, accessibility and the cumulative impact on the street scene 
of additional structures on the pavement, which can lead to a less attractive high 
street. 

 
1.33 Recognising that there is already an existing public telephone network in place, we 

propose removing the permitted development right for public call boxes. This would 
not prevent a new public call box being installed: rather in the future it would be the 
subject of consideration through a full planning application. This would not alter the 
lawfulness of existing public call boxes, or interfere with any industry requirement for 
the adequate provision of public telephones in order to meet the reasonable needs of 
individuals and communities and where there is a social need for their retention or 
their use in supporting the delivery of 5G. 

 
1.34 We also propose amending the Control of Advertisements Regulations to remove the 

deemed consent which allows an advertisement to be placed on a single side of a 
telephone kiosk. This will allow the merits of an application for advertisement consent 
to be considered alongside a planning application for a kiosk. It would not affect the 
legal status of any advertisement with existing deemed consent already on a kiosk.  

 
1.35 These changes would apply to any public call box, shelter or similar structure which 

is erected or installed for the purpose of housing or supporting electronic 
communications apparatus and at which an electronic communications service is 
provided (or is to be provided) by an Electronic Communications Code Operator. This 
would include, but not be limited to, any public call box, telephone call box, telephone 
kiosk, booth, stand, or acoustic hood etc.  

 
1.36 We recognise that ever-increasing demands for mobile network capacity, and the 

impending arrival of 5G networks, means that wireless and mobile network operators 
are likely increasingly to need to deploy radio equipment at street level and on street 
furniture.  We will continue to explore whether this proposal will have a material 
impact on the deployment of 5G.  As set out in the Future Telecoms Infrastructure 
Review, Government will also continue to keep planning regulations under review to 
ensure that local planning authorities can manage demand for cell sites effectively. 

  
Question 1.21: Do you agree that the permitted development right for public call boxes 
(telephone kiosks) should be removed?     
 
Question 1.22: Do you agree that deemed consent which allows an advertisement to be 
placed on a single side of a telephone kiosk should be removed?     
 



19 

Increasing the height threshold for the permitted development right for electric 
vehicle charging points in areas used for off-street parking  
 
1.37 The government is committed to increasing the usage of zero emission vehicles to 

improve air quality and the environment, and to cut fuel costs. As set out in the Road 
to Zero Strategy11 by 2050 we want nearly all cars and vans to be zero emission 
vehicles. 

 
1.38 Existing permitted development rights allow the installation of an upstand, no greater 

than 1.6 metres in height, for recharging electric vehicles in a space located in an 
area legally used for off-street parking. Recent improvements in the technology and 
effectiveness of rapid charging points for electric vehicles could require a larger unit 
than allowed by the existing right. We therefore propose to increase the existing 
height limit to allow a charging point upstand no greater than 2.3 metres high.  In 
order to protect the amenity and character of residential areas we do not propose 
increasing the height limit for a charging point upstand within the curtilage of a 
dwellinghouse.   

 
Question 1.23:  Do you agree the proposed increased height limit for an electrical vehicle 
charging point upstand in an off-street parking space that is not within the curtilage of a 
dwellinghouse?    
 
Making permanent two time-limited permitted development rights  
 
A. Change of use from storage or distribution to residential  

 
1.39 A time-limited permitted development right for change of use from storage or 

distribution to residential was introduced in 2015 for a period of three years. The right 
was amended in April 201812 to extend it for one year, enabling homes to be 
developed under the right while we considered whether to make it permanent. The 
amended right allows applicants to secure prior approval on or before 10 June 2019, 
and provides those with prior approval three years from the date of prior approval in 
which to change use. 

 
1.40 The permitted development right allows buildings of up to 500 square metres of 

floorspace in use as B8 storage or distribution on 19 March 2014, which had been in 
such use for four years, to change to residential use. It is subject to prior approval by 
the local planning authority on specific planning matters including transport and 
highways, contamination, air quality, noise of the development, and flooding. It also 
includes consideration of the impact that change of use to residential might have on 
other nearby B8 or light industrial (B1 (c)) uses.  The right does not apply in Article 
2(3) land (including conservation areas, areas of outstanding natural beauty, the 
Broads, National Parks, and World Heritage sites) or in sites of special scientific 
interest.  

                                            
 
11 The Road to Zero Next steps towards cleaner road transport and delivering our Industrial Strategy 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/723501/ro
ad-to-zero.PDF.  
12 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/343/contents/made 
 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/723501/road-to-zero.PDF
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/723501/road-to-zero.PDF
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/343/contents/made


20 

1.41 We consider that the right has a useful role to play in continuing to support housing 
delivery and making effective use of buildings. We therefore propose that the right 
should be made permanent and that the existing conditions, including the matters for 
prior approval, remain unchanged.  

 
Question 1.24:  Do you agree that the existing time-limited permitted development right 
for change of use from storage or distribution to residential is made permanent?   
 
B. Larger extensions to dwellinghouses 
 
1.42 The time-limited permitted development right for larger extensions to dwellinghouses, 

introduced in 2013, made it easier for homeowners to improve and enlarge their 
homes without the need for an application for planning permission. Following 
consultation in 2014 the right was extended for three years, to May 2019. Its use has 
continued to be popular, with over 22,400 larger extensions in 2017/18 able to go 
ahead. We therefore now propose that the right is made permanent, and the existing 
conditions remain unchanged.    

 
1.43 The right allows for a single-storey rear extension of up to 8 metres in length for 

detached houses, and up to 6 metres in length for semi-detached and terrace 
houses, subject to consultation with neighbours on amenity. If adjoining neighbours 
object to a proposed extension the local authority then has to consider whether the 
impact on the amenity of any neighbours is acceptable before giving prior approval. 
The right does not apply in Article 2(3) land (including conservation areas, areas of 
outstanding natural beauty, the Broads, National Parks and World Heritage Sites) or 
in sites of special scientific interest. 

 
1.44 In making the right permanent, and reflecting the large number of applications on 

which local authorities are required to consult and determine, we intend that a fee of 
£96 should be introduced, which would be consistent with other prior approval 
application fees. This would still be substantially below the standard planning 
application fee for similar works of £206. 

 
Question 1.25:  Do you agree that the time-limited permitted development right for larger 
extensions to dwellinghouses is made permanent?  
 
Question 1.26: Do you agree that a fee should be charged for a prior approval application 
for a larger extension to a dwellinghouse? 
 
Supporting housing delivery by allowing for the demolition of commercial buildings 
and redevelopment as residential 
 
1.45 Currently permitted development rights deliver new homes through the change of use 

of existing buildings. However, as these rights only allow for the reuse of existing 
premises, the approach does not always allow the full potential of a building or site to 
be realised which would require a full planning application. While permitted 
development rights therefore deliver new homes, they may encourage an owner to 
change use rather than seek to redevelop the site which is likely to allow for a higher 
density development. At Autumn Budget 2017 we committed to consulting on 
introducing a permitted development right that would allow the demolition of 



21 

commercial buildings and replacement build as residential, which would retain the 
ability to secure high quality development consistent with national policy. 

 
1.46 Permitted development rights set out in legislation limit the scope of development 

permitted, such as limitations on size, and matters for prior approval by the local 
planning authority.  Rights for the change of use can be relatively straightforward to 
define as the existing building remains in place. Similarly rights for extensions to 
existing buildings benefit from the knowledge that the physical form already exists 
and that what is allowed is managed by conditions reflecting the nature of the site. 
Allowing for the demolition of the existing commercial buildings, the planning of how 
the vacant site is newly configured and the nature of the new residential building 
would expand the current scope of permitted development rights and require a wider 
range of considerations.  

 
1.47 Comments are invited on the scope of this right to ensure that it brings as many 

appropriate sites forward for development as possible. It may be that a right focused 
on smaller sites may be more practical in the light of the use of prior approvals. For 
example, in constructing a right it could be necessary to consider the size of the site; 
the height and density of new buildings; the existing use of the site; the relationship 
with local plan policies for key sites and areas where the right should apply. As with 
existing permitted development rights, development that is screened as having an 
environmental impact would be out of scope of the right. 

 
1.48 Permitted development rights allow for consideration of specific matters through prior 

approval by the local planning authority.  As demolition and redevelopment would be 
more ambitious than existing permitted development rights, comments are also 
invited on how prior approvals could be best used to mitigate the impacts of such 
development on the local area. It is recognised that applications under the resulting 
right would need to attract a proportionate fee. 

 
1.49 In addition, where development is brought forward by a permitted development right, 

no longer requiring an application for planning permission, we would be interested in 
views on how developer contributions expected towards affordable housing and other 
infrastructure could be secured. Community infrastructure levy may be liable on any 
development brought forward in this way. 

 
1.50 We would welcome views as to the design of a right which could operate effectively 

to bring sites forward for redevelopment. The responses to these questions will 
inform further thinking and a more detailed consultation would follow.    

 
Question 1.27: Do you support a permitted development right for the high quality 
redevelopment of commercial sites, including demolition and replacement build as 
residential, which retained the existing developer contributions?   
 
Question 1.28:  What considerations would be important in framing any future right for the 
demolition of commercial buildings and their redevelopment as residential to ensure that it 
brings the most sites forward for redevelopment? 
 
 
 



22 

Impact assessment 
 
1.51 An impact assessment will be prepared prior to any secondary legislation being laid 

to introduce new or amended permitted development rights, or to amend the Use 
Classes Order. The proposals in respect of new and amended permitted 
development rights for extending buildings upwards, storage or distribution, and off-
street vehicle charging points would remove the need for a planning application in 
more cases, thereby benefiting individuals and business by providing greater 
planning certainty and reducing costs. Similarly, any changes to certain of the ‘A’ use 
classes would be a deregulatory measure, removing the need for planning 
permission in more cases. Removing the existing right to install a new public call box, 
and thereby the associated advertisement consent, is a regulatory measure that has 
the potential to add costs to electronic code operators through requiring a full 
planning application to install a new public call box. Householders would continue to 
benefit from being able to build larger extensions on their homes without the need for 
a full planning application. Your views on the potential impacts of the proposed 
changes would be helpful in understanding the range of issues and scale of impacts. 
In particular we would be interested in your assessment of the likely take up of a new 
permitted development right to extend buildings upwards and where you think this 
right would be used, for example in metropolitan centres or across England.  

 
Question 1.29: Do you have any comments on the impact of any of the measures?   
i.  Allow greater change of use to support high streets to adapt and diversify  
ii. Introducing a new right to extend existing buildings upwards to create additional new 
homes 
iii. Removing permitted development rights and advertisement consent in respect of public 
call boxes (telephone kiosks). 
iv. Increasing the height limits for electric vehicle charging points in off-street parking 
spaces 
v. Making permanent the right for the change of use from storage to residential 
vi. Making permanent the right for larger extensions to dwellinghouses 
 

 
Public sector equality duty 
 
1.52 We are required to assess these proposals by reference to the public sector equality 

duty contained in the Equality Act 2010. We would welcome your comments as part 
of this consultation. 

 
Question 1.30: Do you have any views about the implications of our proposed changes on 
people with protected characteristics as defined in the Equality Act 2010? What evidence 
do you have on these matters? Is there anything that could be done to mitigate any impact 
identified? 
  



23 

Part 2. Disposal of local authority land 
Introduction 
 
2.1 The Housing White Paper, Fixing our broken housing market13, set out the 

government’s plans to reform the housing market and boost the supply of new homes 
in England. A key element of those plans is to make more land available to build 
homes in the right places. As part of this, the government is committed to making the 
best use of surplus land which is already in public ownership. 

 
2.2 To support local authorities in releasing surplus land, the Housing White Paper set 

out our intention to: 
• amend the planning rules to allow all authorities to dispose of land with the benefit of 

planning permission which they have granted to themselves; and 
• consult on extending their flexibility to dispose of land at less than best consideration. 
 
2.3 The first of these commitments has already been taken forward, and the new rules to 

allow all authorities to dispose of land with the benefit of planning permission which 
they have granted to themselves have come into effect14.   

 
2.4 We are now seeking views on the second commitment. The purpose of these 

proposals is to streamline the involvement of the Secretary of State in the regime that 
governs disposal of land by local authorities at an undervalue, i.e. for less than best 
consideration. This is intended to give local authorities greater flexibility to dispose of 
public land at an undervalue where doing so is considered to deliver wider economic, 
social or environmental benefits. This section also covers the arrangements that 
apply to disposals of land by the Greater London Authority and its subsidiary bodies. 

 
Background 
 
2.5 Government policy on the disposal of land starts from the principle that local 

authorities and other public bodies should sell surplus land for the best consideration 
that can be reasonably obtained. However, the government also recognises that, in 
some instances, it may be appropriate for local authorities and the Greater London 
Authority to dispose of land at an undervalue because wider public benefits, 
economic, social or environmental, would be created by that disposal. This may, for 
example, help support local community initiatives and facilitate regeneration projects 
that deliver new housing, including the provision of affordable housing.   

 
2.6 Different rules govern the disposal of public sector land depending on the type of 

public body, the purposes for which the land is held and the extent of the proposed 
undervalue. At present the system requires the Secretary of State’s approval for 
disposal of land at an undervalue. Such approval can either be inferred because a 
‘general consent’ exists, or must be explicitly sought by the local authority writing to 

                                            
 
13 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fixing-our-broken-housing-market 
14 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/99/made 
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/590463/Fixing_our_broken_housing_market_-_accessible_version.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/99/made


24 

the Secretary of State in relation to that development: a ‘specific consent’.  General 
consents set out conditions which, if met by a proposed disposal, mean that the 
Secretary of State’s specific consent does not need to be sought.  

 
2.7 Local authorities have powers to dispose of land in any manner they wish subject to 

them complying with their legal obligations. The only constraint is that, if a disposal is 
for less than best consideration that can reasonably be obtained, the Secretary of 
State’s consent is required15.  

 
2.8 The Secretary of State has issued a general consent under section 123 of the Local 

Government Act 197216, in relation to land held for purposes other than housing or 
planning (which is part of this consultation)17. It allows local authorities to dispose of 
such land at an undervalue of less than £2 million without seeking a specific consent 
where they consider it will help secure improvement of the economic, social or 
environmental well-being of the area. 

 
2.9 The Secretary of State’s power to issue a general consent for the disposal of land 

held for planning purposes (governed by section 233 and Part IX of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 199018) has not yet been exercised, but this consultation invites 
responses on whether it should now be switched on. 

 
2.10 Section 333ZC of the Greater London Authority Act 1999 restricts the ability of the 

Greater London Authority to dispose of its land at an undervalue except when it has 
the consent of the Secretary of State. In 2012 the Secretary of State issued a 
separate general consent for the disposal of land held by the Greater London 
Authority for the purposes of housing and regeneration at an undervalue of up to £10 
million. (Details are at Annex B). 

 
Government proposals 
 
2.11 Our proposals focus on the financial thresholds for obtaining the Secretary of State’s 

consent to a proposed disposal of land at an undervalue. We consider that existing 
‘well-being’ criteria for general consents (i.e. whether a proposed disposal would 
improve economic, social or environmental wellbeing) continue to offer helpful 
guidance to authorities to act in accordance with their fiduciary duties and are not 
specifically subject to consultation. However, we are inviting responses on whether 
such well-being criteria should form part of a proposed new general consent in 
relation to disposal at an undervalue of land held for planning purposes by local 
authorities.   

 

                                            
 
15 See section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 (in relation to land held for purposes other than 
planning or housing), and section 233 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (in relation to land held for 
planning purposes). 
16 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/part/VII/crossheading/land-transactions-principal-councils 
17 This consent is known as The Local Government Act 1972: General Disposal Consent (England) 2003, 
also as ‘Circular 06/2003’. 
18 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/part/IX 
 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/123
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/233
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/part/VII/crossheading/land-transactions-principal-councils
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/disposal-of-land-for-less-than-the-best-consideration-that-can-reasonably-be-obtained-circular-06-2003
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/part/IX


25 

2.12 We do not propose to amend the consents concerning land held for the purposes of 
Part II of the Housing Act 1985 19 (Housing Revenue Account land) and the related 
general consent, as we believe a case by case approach to Housing Revenue 
Account land consents remains appropriate to safeguard the rights of tenants.   

 
2.13 Every local authority is required to appoint an appropriately qualified officer who has 

personal responsibility for the proper management of financial affairs. Nothing in 
these proposals alters this requirement or local authorities’ fiduciary duties.  

 
2.14 Some recently formed combined authorities have been given the same powers to 

dispose of land held for planning purposes as local authorities. Any proposals taken 
forward as a result of this consultation in relation to disposals of land held for 
planning purposes would therefore also apply to those combined authorities.   

 
Land held for purposes other than housing or planning – section 123 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 
 
2.15 We consider that the conditions contained in the current general consent document 

require reconsideration and amendment. In particular, we consider that the existing 
£2 million threshold for disposals of land held for purposes other than planning or 
housing, set in 2003, is out of date because of increases in the value of land.   

 
2.16 We consider that setting a new undervalue threshold of £5 million, or alternatively 

£10 million, would provide local authorities with substantially more flexibility to 
dispose of land without the involvement of the Secretary of State.  

 
2.17 In the interests of consistency, we consider that the same undervalue threshold 

should apply to both disposals of land held for purposes other than planning or 
housing (under section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972) and of  land held for 
planning purposes (under section 233 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 - 
see paragraph 2.19).  Alternatively, we would also be interested to hear respondents’ 
views on whether any amended and any new general consent (see paragraph 2.19) 
should contain any financial threshold at all. Removing or not including a financial 
threshold would mean local authorities would be able to dispose of land at any 
undervalue without seeking consent from the Secretary of State, although we 
consider that this should still be, subject to the proposed disposal promoting 
economic, social or environmental well-being.  

 
2.18 Any amended general consent would supersede the version currently set out in 

Circular 06/2003. Accordingly, the accompanying technical guidance for valuers, the 
Technical Appendix20 contained in the Circular, would be updated to reflect any 
changes to the consent.   

 

                                            
 
19 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1985/68/contents 
20 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/disposal-of-land-for-less-than-the-best-consideration-that-
can-reasonably-be-obtained-circular-06-2003 
 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1985/68/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/disposal-of-land-for-less-than-the-best-consideration-that-can-reasonably-be-obtained-circular-06-2003
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/disposal-of-land-for-less-than-the-best-consideration-that-can-reasonably-be-obtained-circular-06-2003


26 

Question 2.1: Do you think that the threshold for the existing general consent for the 
disposal of land held for purposes other than planning or housing at undervalue (under 
section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972) should: 
a. remain at the current level? 
b. be increased?  
c. be removed completely? 
Please give your reasons. 
 
Question 2.2: If you consider it should be increased, do you think the new threshold 
should be:  
a. £5 million or less? 
b. £10 million or less? 
c. other threshold? (please state level) 
Please give your reasons. 
 
Land held for planning purposes – section 233 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 
 
2.19 We consider that the current requirement to seek specific consent from the Secretary 

of State for every disposal at an undervalue of local authority land held for planning 
purposes is unnecessary. It can delay disposals and hold up development schemes, 
including for new housing.  We therefore propose to introduce a new general consent 
for the disposal of land held for planning purposes at an undervalue. We are seeking 
views on this and what, if any, undervalue threshold such a general consent should 
be subject to. We propose that the consent should also include the economic, social 
or environmental well-being criteria currently applied in relation to the existing 
general consent, which is currently only applicable to disposal of land held for 
purposes other than planning or housing. 

 
Question 2.3: Do you agree that the Secretary of State should issue a new general 
consent under section 233 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 for the disposal of 
land held for planning purposes?  Please give your reasons. 
 
Question 2.4: If yes, do you think any new general consent should apply to: 
a. disposals at an undervalue of £2 million or less? 
b. disposals at an undervalue of £5 million or less? 
c. disposals at an undervalue of £10 million or less? 
d. disposals at some other undervalue threshold? (please state level) 
e. all disposals regardless of the undervalue? 
Please give your reasons. 
 
Question 2.5: Do you agree that the economic, social or environmental well-being criteria 
which apply to the existing general consent should also apply to any new general consent 
for the disposal of land held for planning purposes? 
 
Question 2.6: Do you have any additional comments about the current system governing 
disposals of land at an undervalue by local authorities and our proposals to amend it? 
 
 



27 

Land held by the Greater London Authority – section 333ZC of the Greater London 
Authority Act 1999 
 
2.20 The threshold on the general consent for the disposal of land at an undervalue by the 

Greater London Authority was set in 2012. Given the increase in land values in 
Greater London since then the Government is seeking views on whether the current 
threshold of £10 million remains appropriate.  

 
Question 2.7: Do you consider that the current £10m threshold contained in the general 
consent governing disposals by the Greater London Authority remains appropriate?  
Please give your reasons. 
 
Question 2.8: If you consider the current threshold is no longer appropriate, or that the 
limit should be removed completely, please specify what you think the alternative should 
be and give reasons.  
 
Impact assessment 
 
2.21 A regulatory impact assessment is not required for these proposals as they do not 

regulate or deregulate business.   
 
2.22 The main effect of the proposals would be either to enable local authorities to 

dispose of surplus land without the involvement of the Secretary of State, if the future 
general consent regime did not contain financial thresholds, or to limit the 
involvement of the Secretary of State only to those proposals where disposal of land 
occurred at a significantly higher threshold than currently applies in relation to that 
general consent. This would have a positive effect on local authorities as it will give 
them greater flexibility to support local development opportunities by allowing them to 
dispose of land more quickly and with greater certainty. There would be similar 
benefits for the Greater London Authority if equivalent amendments were made to 
the general consent that applies to disposals of their land. There would also be a 
slight benefit to business, i.e. the purchasers of the land, from quicker disposal 
decisions.  

 
2.23 A secondary effect is that by requiring fewer cases to be referred to the Secretary of 

State for specific consent the proposals would reduce the administrative burden 
associated with such oversight. This would speed up government decision-making 
processes on cases where the Secretary of State retains a role. 

 
2.24 We recognise that there may be concerns that the proposals would reduce the 

mechanisms for scrutinising disposal of land at an undervalue. However, we consider 
that the fiduciary duty owed by local authorities to their taxpayers, and legal remedies 
under public/criminal law principles, would provide sufficient protection to ensure any 
new or amended criteria contained in general consents are correctly applied where 
land was disposed of at an undervalue, and that local authorities act within their 
powers. 

 
 
 
 



28 

Public sector equality duty 
 
2.25 We are required to assess these proposals by reference to the public sector equality 

duty contained in the Equality Act 2010. We would welcome your comments as part 
of this consultation. 

 
Question 2.9: Do you have any views about the implications of our proposed changes on 
people with protected characteristics as defined in the Equality Act 2010? What evidence 
do you have on these matters? Is there anything that could be done to mitigate any impact 
identified? 
 



29 

Part 3. Canal & River Trust: Draft listed 
building consent order 
Introduction 
 
3.1 The concept of listed building consent orders was introduced by the Enterprise and 

Regulatory Reform Act 201321. The Secretary of State may by order (known as a 
‘listed building consent order’) grant listed building consent in respect of works for the 
alteration or extension (but not demolition) of listed buildings of any description in 
England. An order would allow specified works which would otherwise require a 
series of separate applications for listed building consent. An order may grant listed 
building consent subject to conditions. 

 
3.2 This is the first proposed use of the Secretary of State’s powers. It follows detailed 

discussions between Historic England, the Canal & River Trust, and the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government about how these powers could be 
used in a way that reduces unnecessary applications for routine, minor works, yet 
maintains appropriate protection for listed buildings and their settings. 

 
The draft order 
 
3.3 In developing this draft listed building consent order the Secretary of State has had 

special regard to the desirability of preserving the listed buildings to which the order 
applies, their setting or any other features of special architectural or historic interest 
they possess in accordance with the requirements of section 26F of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 199022.  

 
3.4 Working closely with Historic England and the Canal & River Trust we have identified 

work which the Trust routinely undertakes to the listed waterway structures it is 
responsible for across England. Such works are necessary for the repair or 
maintenance of structures and to maintain the safe and effective operation of the 
waterways. This work may include, for example, such things as re-pointing, lock gate 
replacement, fencing and handrail replacement, reconstruction of lost or damaged 
masonry and the erection of operational signs.  

 
3.5 The work is of a common nature and, in most cases, is unlikely to have a significant 

impact on the special architectural and historic interest of the listed waterway 
structures involved.  

 
3.6 One of the Canal & River Trust’s key charitable objectives is to protect and conserve 

for public benefit sites, objects and buildings of archaeological, architectural, 

                                            
 
21  http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2013/24/section/60/enacted By inserting Section 26C to the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
22 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/contents 
 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2013/24/section/60/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/contents


30 

engineering or historic interest on, in the vicinity of, or otherwise associated with its 
waterways.   

 
3.7 We consider that having to submit and determine separate listed building consent 

applications for this type of work places an unnecessary burden on the Canal & River 
Trust and the local planning authorities involved.  We therefore, propose that these 
works are granted general listed building consent through a national listed building 
consent order. 

 
3.8 As this would be the first such order we consider in this instance it would be 

beneficial to seek views on the draft listed building consent order attached at Annex 
C. Subject to the safeguards set out below, it would grant listed building consent for 
works executed by the Canal & River Trust for the alteration or extension of a 
waterway structure (as defined in article 2) owned, controlled or managed by the 
Trust which would affect its character as a building of special architectural or historic 
interest which are necessary  to: 

 
(i) repair or maintain the waterways structure; 
(ii) maintain the safe and effective operation of the waterway; or 
(iii) effect any of the works listed in paragraphs (i) and (ii). 

 
Question 3.1: Do you agree that the types of work set out in paragraph 3.8 should be 
granted a general listed building consent? Please give your reasons. 
 
Safeguards 
 
3.9 The general listed building consent granted by the draft order is subject to the 

following safeguards: 
 
a. before undertaking any works covered by the order, the Trust would have to first 

agree with Historic England the methodology for how it will carry out the works 
and publish that methodology on its website (Schedule, paragraph 3(a)).  
 

b. the Trust would have to report annually to Historic England on the works it has 
undertaken and publish a copy of that report on its website (Schedule, 
paragraph 3(b)). 
 

c. the Secretary of State would have the power to direct that specific listed 
buildings, or listed buildings of a certain description or in a certain area, are not 
covered by the order (articles 4 and 5). 
 

d. the Secretary of State would have to review the order from time to time and 
publish reports on the conclusions of reviews, including whether the order 
remains appropriate having special regard to the considerations set out in  
section 26F of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
(article 6). We propose that the first review takes place 3 years after the order 
comes into effect. 
 

3.10 We consider that these safeguards would ensure that there remains appropriate 
protection for the listed buildings covered by this order. 



31 

 
Question 3.2: Do you agree that the safeguards included in the order are appropriate? 
Please give your reasons. 
 
Question 3.3: Do you consider that any additional safeguards are required? Please 
provide details. 
 
Methodology for works 
 
3.11 As noted in paragraph 3.9 above, the draft order requires the Canal & River Trust, 

before undertaking any works, to first agree with Historic England a methodology for 
how the works will be carried out. The methodology is intended to set out the detailed 
principles and governance arrangements the Trust will put in place for undertaking 
works covered by the order.   

 
3.12 The methodology will be a separate document rather than part of the order. This 

approach will: 
• mean the order is clearer and easier to understand without the detailed 

methodology included; and 
• allow the methodology to be reviewed and amended, subject to Historic England’s 

agreement, more easily in the light of experience. Incorporating the methodology 
into the order would mean going through the legislative process each time it 
required amendment. 

 
3.13 The Canal & River Trust and Historic England are currently inviting comments on a 

draft methodology. You may, therefore, also wish to respond to that separate 
consultation, details of which can be found at:  
https://historicengland.org.uk/about/what-we-do/consultations/guidance-open-for-
consultation/ 
The methodology will be formally agreed with Historic England before it is finalised.   

 
Compensation 
 
3.14 It is a core principle of the planning system that where permission or consent has 

been granted and is subsequently withdrawn without notice there is a right to 
compensation. 

 
3.15 We have previously confirmed  our intention to base the compensation procedures 

where the listed building consent granted by an order is withdrawn on those which 
are in place for local listed building consent orders (see Enterprise and Regulatory 
Reform Act: Government Response to the Consultation on the Secondary Legislation 
to accompany the Heritage Provisions23). The compensation procedures that would 
apply will be set out in separate regulations. 

 
 

                                            
 
23 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/enterprise-and-regulatory-reform-act-secondary-legislation-
to-accompany-the-heritage-provisions-a-consultation 
 

https://historicengland.org.uk/about/what-we-do/consultations/guidance-open-for-consultation/
https://historicengland.org.uk/about/what-we-do/consultations/guidance-open-for-consultation/
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/enterprise-and-regulatory-reform-act-secondary-legislation-to-accompany-the-heritage-provisions-a-consultation
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/enterprise-and-regulatory-reform-act-secondary-legislation-to-accompany-the-heritage-provisions-a-consultation


32 

 
 
Impact assessment 
 
3.16 The main effect of the proposals would be to reduce the number of listed building 

consent applications which the Canal & River Trust submit, with consequent savings 
in time and resources.  Local authorities would also benefit as they would no longer 
be required to determine such applications (for which there is no fee), freeing up their 
resources to be used where they are most needed. Based on the number of cases in 
2016/17, the Trust estimates that the order could reduce the number of cases 
submitted by around 200 per annum. 

 
Public sector equality duty 
 
3.17 We are required to assess this proposal by reference to the public sector equality 

duty contained in the Equality Act 2010. We would welcome your comments as part 
of this consultation. 

 
Question 3.4: Do you have any views about the implications of our proposed changes on 
people with protected characteristics as defined in the Equality Act 2010? What evidence 
do you have on these matters? Is there anything that could be done to mitigate any impact 
identified? 
 
  



33 

Part 4. New town development corporations: 
Draft compulsory purchase guidance 
Introduction 
 
4.1 Well-planned and well-designed new communities have an important part to play in 

meeting our long-term housing needs. The government is already supporting the 
delivery of 24 locally-led garden towns and villages, with the potential for at least 
220,000 new homes. At the Autumn Budget 2017 we announced that we would bring 
together public and private capital to build 5 more new garden towns.  

 
4.2 New towns legislation allows the Secretary of State to designate areas as proposed 

new towns, and to establish development corporations to drive forward their delivery. 
This model was used to deliver the post-war generation of new towns. Although they 
have not been used for some time, the government considers that the new towns 
provisions still provide a powerful and effective mechanism for creating high quality 
new settlements at scale. 

 
4.3 The earlier generation of new town development corporations were overseen by the 

Secretary of State. The Housing White Paper contained a commitment to legislate for 
locally accountable new town development corporations. The Neighbourhood 
Planning Act 201724 introduced amendments that enable the Secretary of State to 
transfer oversight of new town development corporations to local authorities. In 
December 2017 we consulted on draft regulations providing for the transfer of a 
number of functions from the Secretary of State to one or more local authorities 
where an area has been designated as a ‘locally-led new town’25. The resulting 
regulations came into force on 24 July 201826.  

 
4.4 All new town development corporations, whether overseen locally or nationally, have 

extensive compulsory purchase powers27 . The exercise of these powers is likely to 
be important in carrying out the necessary land assembly to deliver designated new 
settlements and their associated infrastructure.    

 
4.5 Compulsory purchase orders made by new town development corporations are 

subject to ‘confirmation’ (i.e. approval) by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government. Our existing guidance28 sets out government policy on how 
compulsory powers should be used and the factors which confirming authorities will 
take into account when deciding whether to approve compulsory purchase orders. It 
contains both general considerations that apply to all compulsory purchase orders 
and specific considerations that are relevant to orders made under particular 

                                            
 
24 Section 16 of the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 
25 The New Towns Act 1981 (Local Authority Oversight) Regulations: a consultation paper (December 2017) 
26 The New Towns Act 1981 (Local Authority Oversight) Regulations 2018 
27 See Section 10 of the New Towns Act 1981 
 
 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/663874/New_Towns_Regulations_Consultation_Paper.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2018/9780111169995


34 

enabling powers e.g. section 226 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, and/or 
by particular acquiring authorities such as e.g. Homes England. 

 
4.6 However, our current guidance does not cover the compulsory purchase powers of 

new town development corporations. This creates potential uncertainty about how 
decisions on whether to approve compulsory purchase orders will be taken by the 
confirming Minister, which may lead to delays and deter local authorities who may 
wish to promote a locally led new town. Addressing this in the guidance will provide 
additional clarity for all stakeholders, including promoters, investors, infrastructure 
providers, landowners and local communities. The government response29 to the 
December 2017 consultation stated that we would “prepare new guidance on the use 
of new town development corporations‘ compulsory purchase powers”. 

 
The draft guidance 
 
4.7 The draft guidance can be found at Annex D. It is intended to apply to all new town 

development corporations established under the New Towns Act 1981, not just those 
which are overseen locally. If taken forward it would be incorporated into our existing 
compulsory purchase guidance document. The box below sets out the key principles 
that have informed the preparation of the draft guidance. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.8 The draft guidance sets out substantive government policy on how we expect new 
town development corporations’ compulsory purchase powers to be used, and the 
policy factors which Ministers will take into account when deciding whether to 
approve new town compulsory purchase orders. Given the scale and nature of new 
towns, and that new town powers have not been exercised for several decades, we 
consider in this instance it would be beneficial to seek views on the draft guidance. 

                                            
 
29 The New Towns Act 1981 (Local Authority Oversight) Regulations: summary of consultations responses 
and government response 

A: Certainty. Clarifying matters which confirming Ministers will take into account, 
without fettering their decision-making function, highlighting in particular: 

• That orders will be considered on their individual merits. 
• New town development corporations’ broad powers to acquire land, 

including land for which there are no proposals, and the specific statutory 
objects these powers serve. 

• The potential planning and commercial benefits of assembling land early 
in the new town development process. 

• That new town development corporations may be justified in making a 
compulsory purchase order in advance of detailed proposals being 
developed and approved, given the scale and nature of new towns.  

 
B: Consistency. Avoiding conflict with established legal and policy principles 
that govern the compulsory purchase process. 
 
C: Complementarity. Supporting the government’s garden towns and villages 
programme and wider policy on new settlements. 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/711197/20180525_Summary_of_consultation_responses_and_Government_response.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/711197/20180525_Summary_of_consultation_responses_and_Government_response.pdf


35 

The intention is that the guidance, if taken forward, would be incorporated into our 
existing guidance on the compulsory purchase process. 
 

4.9 Compensation is not covered in the draft guidance at Annex D. This is because the 
assessment of compensation is separate from the confirmation process for 
compulsory purchase orders, with disputes settled in the Upper Tribunal (Lands 
Chamber). Furthermore, our existing guidance on compulsory purchase process 
already provides an overview of compensation, and the special provision made in 
respect of new town, urban and mayoral development corporations30. In these 
areas, ‘the scheme’ to be disregarded for the purposes of assessing compensation 
is the development of any land for the purposes for which the area is or was 
designated. The means that the value of later acquisitions will not be influenced by 
earlier development31.   

 
Question 4.1: Do you have any comments on the draft guidance at Annex D? 
 
 
Public sector equality duty 
 
4.10 We are required to assess this proposal by reference to the public sector equality 

duty contained in the Equality Act 2010. We would welcome your comments as part 
of this consultation. 

 
Question 4.2: Do you have any views about the implications of the proposed guidance on 
people with protected characteristics as defined in the Equality Act 2010? What evidence 
do you have on these matters? Is there anything that could be done to mitigate any impact 
identified? 
 

  

                                            
 
30 See paragraph 76 of Guidance on Compulsory purchase process and The Crichel Down Rules, 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/684529/C
ompulsory_purchase_process_and_the_Crichel_Down_Rules_-_guidance_updated_180228.pdf 
31 For further background, see: 

• The policy factsheet on compulsory purchase published by the Government during the passage of 
the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/neighbourhood-
planning-bill-policy-factsheets  

• The consultation on further reform of the compulsory purchase system and the Government’s 
response. https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/further-reform-of-the-compulsory-purchase-system 

  
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/neighbourhood-planning-bill-policy-factsheets
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/neighbourhood-planning-bill-policy-factsheets
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/further-reform-of-the-compulsory-purchase-system


36 

About this consultation 
This consultation document and consultation process have been planned to adhere to the 
Consultation Principles issued by the Cabinet Office.  
 
Representative groups are asked to give a summary of the people and organisations they 
represent, and where relevant who else they have consulted in reaching their conclusions 
when they respond. 
 
Information provided in response to this consultation, including personal data, may be 
published or disclosed in accordance with the access to information regimes (these are 
primarily the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA), the Data Protection Act 2018 
(DPA), and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004). 
 
If you want the information that you provide to be treated as confidential please be aware 
that, as a public authority, the Department is bound by the Freedom of Information Act and 
may therefore be obliged to disclose all or some of the information you provide. In view of 
this it would be helpful if you could explain to us why you regard the information you have 
provided as confidential. If we receive a request for disclosure of the information we will 
take full account of your explanation, but we cannot give an assurance that confidentiality 
can be maintained in all circumstances. An automatic confidentiality disclaimer generated 
by your IT system will not, of itself, be regarded as binding on the Department. 
 
The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government will process your personal 
data in accordance with the law and in the majority of circumstances this will mean that 
your personal data will not be disclosed to third parties. A full privacy notice is included at 
Annex A. 
 
Individual responses will not be acknowledged unless specifically requested. 
 
Your opinions are valuable to us. Thank you for taking the time to read this document and 
respond. 
 
Are you satisfied that this consultation has followed the Consultation Principles?  If not, or 
you have any other observations about how we can improve the process, please contact 
us via the complaints procedure.  

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-communities-and-local-government/about/complaints-procedure


37 

Annex A: Privacy notice 
 
Personal data 
 
The following is to explain your rights and give you the information you are entitled to 
under the Data Protection Act 2018.  
 
Note that this section only refers to your personal data (your name address and anything 
that could be used to identify you personally) not the content of your response to the 
consultation.  
 
1. The identity of the data controller and contact details of our Data Protection 
Officer     
The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) is the data 
controller. The Data Protection Officer can be contacted at 
dataprotection@communities.gov.uk 
              
2. Why we are collecting your personal data    
Your personal data is being collected as an essential part of the consultation process, so 
that we can contact you regarding your response and for statistical purposes. We may also 
use it to contact you about related matters. 
 
3. Our legal basis for processing your personal data 
The Data Protection Act 2018 states that, as a government department, MHCLG may 
process personal data as necessary for the effective performance of a task carried out in 
the public interest, i.e. a consultation. 
 
3. With whom we will be sharing your personal data 
Your personal data will not be shared with any organisation outside of MHCLG. 
  
4. For how long we will keep your personal data, or criteria used to determine the 
retention period.  
Your personal data will be held for two years from the closure of the consultation. 
 
5. Your rights, e.g. access, rectification, erasure   
The data we are collecting is your personal data, and you have considerable say over 
what happens to it. You have the right: 
a. to see what data we have about you 
b. to ask us to stop using your data, but keep it on record 
c. to ask to have all or some of your data deleted or corrected  
d. to lodge a complaint with the independent Information Commissioner (ICO) if you 
think we are not handling your data fairly or in accordance with the law.  You can contact 
the ICO at https://ico.org.uk/, or telephone 0303 123 1113. 
 
6. The Data you provide directly will be stored by Survey Monkey on their servers in the 
United States. We have taken all necessary precautions to ensure that your rights in terms 
of data protection will not be compromised by this. 
 
7. Your personal data will not be used for any automated decision making.                  

mailto:dataprotection@communities.gov.uk
https://ico.org.uk/


38 

 
8. Your personal data will moved from Survey Monkey 6 months from the date the 
consultation closes and stored in a secure government IT system.   
 
 
  



39 

Annex B: Details of the general consent that 
governs disposals of land by the Greater 
London Authority 
In 2012 the Secretary of State issued a general consent for the disposal of land held by 
the Greater London Authority, or any subsidiary, for the purposes of housing and 
regeneration at an undervalue provided that the following criteria are met: 
 

• the Greater London Authority considers that the disposal will further or facilitate or is 
conducive or incidental to the furtherance of any one or more of its principal 
purposes of: 

 
i. promoting economic development and wealth creation in Greater London 
ii. promoting social development in Greater London 
iii. promoting the improvement of the environment in Greater London 

 
• the difference between the unrestricted value of the land and the consideration for 

the disposal does not exceed £10 million 
 

• the difference between the unrestricted value of the land and the consideration for 
the disposal does not exceed 30 per cent of the unrestricted value of the land 

 
• the Greater London Authority must observe all applicable laws and rules of the UK 

and European Community, including in particular European Commission State Aid 
requirements when making a disposal 

 
• in determining whether or not to dispose of land for less than the best consideration 

that can reasonably be obtained the Greater London Authority should ensure that it 
complies with the relevant Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors Appraisal and 
Valuation Standards, and with normal and prudent commercial practices, including 
obtaining the view of a professionally qualified valuer as to the likely amount of the 
undervalue. 

 

  



40 

Annex C: Draft listed building consent order 
 

Draft Order laid before Parliament under section 93(5A) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990, for approval by resolution of each House of Parliament. 

D R A F T  S T A T U T O R Y  I N S T R U M E N T S  

2018 No. 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING, ENGLAND 

The Planning (Listed Building Consent) 
(Canal & River Trust) Order 2018 

Made - - - - [date] 

Coming into force in accordance with regulation 1 

The Secretary of State, in exercise of the powers conferred by sections 26C of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990(32) makes the following Order: 

In accordance with section 26F(2) of that Act, the Secretary of State has consulted the Commission (known as 
Historic England) on this Order. 

In accordance with section 93(5A) of that Act, a draft of this instrument has been laid before and approved by 
resolution of each House of Parliament. 

Citation, commencement and application 

1.—(1) This Order may be cited as the Planning (Listed Building Consent) (Canal & River Trust) Order 2017 and 
comes into force twenty-one days after the day after the day it is made. 

(2) This Order applies in relation to England only. 

Interpretation 

2. In this Order— 
“Canal & River Trust” means the Canal & River Trust, a charity registered with the Charity Commission, 
registered number 1146792 and a company limited by guarantee registered in England & Wales, registered 
number 7807276; 

                                            
 
(32) 1990 c. 9. Section 26C was inserted into the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 by section 60(3) of the Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013 (c. 24). 



41 

“relevant building” means a listed building which is or includes a waterways structure; 
“waterways structure” means— 
(a) an aqueduct, bridge, crane, lock, boundary or distance marker, milepost, tunnel, waterway or basin wall, 

weir or sluice; or 
(b) an object or structure— 

(i) which has a function which is ancillary to any structure listed in sub-paragraph (a);  and  
(ii) which is fixed to that structure and, for the purposes of section 1(5A)(a) of the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, is treated as part of the relevant building, 
which is owned, controlled or managed by the Canal & River Trust.  

Listed building consent granted 

3.—(1) Subject to the provisions of this Order, listed building consent is granted under section 8(1) of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 for the works described in the Schedule. 

(2) Any consent granted by paragraph (1) is subject to the conditions specified in the Schedule. 
(3) Nothing in this Order permits works which are contrary to any condition imposed by any other consent granted 

under Part 1 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

Directions restricting the grant of listed building consent 

4.The Secretary of State may make a direction under this article that the consent granted by this Order does not 
apply to— 

(a) a relevant building specified in the direction; 
(b) a relevant building of a description specified in the direction; or 
(c) a relevant building in an area specified in the direction. 

Procedure for article 5(1) directions 

5.—(1) The Secretary of State must give notice of any direction made under article 4(1) to the Canal & River 
Trust, the Commission and the relevant local planning authority as soon as practicable after the direction has been 
made. 

(2) The notice referred to in paragraph (1) must— 
(a) include a copy of the direction; 
(b) specify a period of at least 21 days, stating the date on which that period begins, within which any 

representations concerning the direction may be made to the Secretary of State; 
(c) specify the date on which it is proposed that the direction will come into force.  

(3) Unless the Secretary of State considers that it is necessary for the direction to take immediate effect, the date 
referred to in paragraph (2)(c) must be at least 28 days, but no longer than [1] year, after the date referred to in 
paragraph (2)(b). 

(4) The direction comes into force on the date specified in accordance with paragraph (2)(c) unless, in the case of 
a non-immediate direction, the Secretary of State has first notified the Canal & River Trust, the Commission and 
the local planning authority of its cancellation. 

(5) Any power conferred by this Order to give a direction includes power, at any time before or after the direction 
comes into force, to cancel or vary the direction by subsequent direction.  The procedure set out in this article applies 
to any such subsequent direction. 

Review 

6.—(1) The Secretary of State must from time to time— 
(a) carry out a review of this Order; and 
(b) publish a report setting out the conclusions of the review; 



42 

(2) The first report must be published before [x date].  
(3) Subsequent reports must be published at intervals not exceeding 5 years. 
(4) A report published under this article must, in particular— 

(a) set out the objectives intended to be achieved by this Order; 
(b) assess the extent to which those objectives are achieved; 
(c) assess whether the Order remains appropriate, having special regard to the considerations set out in section 

26F of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
 
Signed by authority of the Secretary of State for Housing,  Communities and Local Government 
 
 Name 
 Minister  of State 
Date Ministry of  Housing,  Communities and  Local Government 

 SCHEDULE Article 3 

Works for which Listed Building Consent is granted 
1. Subject to paragraphs 2 and 3, this Order permits works for the alteration or extension of a relevant building 

which would affect its character as a building of special architectural or historic interest which— 
(a) comprise works to all or part of a waterways structure; 
(b) are executed by the Canal & River Trust; and 
(c) are necessary for one or more of the following purposes— 

(i) to repair or maintain the waterways structure; 
(ii) to maintain the safe and effective operation of the waterway; or 

(iii) to effect any of the works listed in paragraphs (i) and (ii). 

2. This Order does not permit works for which scheduled monument consent (as defined in section 2(3)(a) of 
Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979(33)) is required. 

3. Consent for the works described in paragraph 1 is granted subject to the condition that the Canal & River Trust 
will— 

(a) before undertaking any works under this Order, agree with the Commission a methodology which sets out 
how it will undertake works under this Order, and publish that methodology on its website; and 

(b) report to the Commission details of the location and description of works undertaken under this Order on 
an annual basis, and publish the report on its website. 

 
EXPLANATORY NOTE 

(This note is not part of the Order) 

This Order grants listed building consent for specified works undertaken by the Canal & River Trust, which means 
that individual applications for consent for works covered by this Order are not required.  The works covered by 
this Order are described in the Schedule.   

Article 3 grants listed building consent for the works described in the Schedule.  This is subject to conditions which 
are set out in the Schedule.  These conditions require the Canal & River Trust to agree with Historic England  
(defined as “the Commission” in the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990) a methodology 
for undertaking the works, and to report the works it has undertaken under this Order to the Commission on an 
annual basis. The methodology and report must be published on the Canal & River Trust’s website. 

                                            
 
(33) 1979 c.46.  



43 

Article 4 allows the Secretary of State to issue a direction to provide that the consent granted by this Order does not 
apply to a particular listed building, or to listed buildings of a specified description or in a specific area, according 
to the procedure outlined in Article 5.   

Article 6 requires the Secretary of State to carry out a regular review of the Order and to publish regular reports.  
The report must include an assessment of whether the Order remains appropriate, having special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the listed buildings to which the Order applies, their setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which they possess (these are the considerations referred to in article 7(4)(c) which 
are set out in section 26Fof the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990).  

[A full impact assessment has not been prepared for this instrument, as no, or no significant, impact on the private, 
voluntary or public sectors  is foreseen] 

 

 

 

 
  



44 

Annex D: Draft compulsory purchase 
guidance – new town development 
corporations 
1. What is the purpose of a new town development corporation? 
A new town development corporation can be established under section 3 of the New 
Towns Act 1981 (‘the 1981 act’) for the purposes of developing a new town. The objects of 
a new town development corporation, as set out in section 4(1) of the 1981 act, are to 
secure the laying out and development of the new town in accordance with proposals 
approved under the 1981 act. In pursuing those objects, new town development 
corporations must aim to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development, 
having particular regard to the desirability of good design (see sections 4(1A) and (1B) of 
the 1981 act). 
 
An area can be designated as the site of a proposed new town under section 1 of the 1981 
act where the Secretary of State is satisfied that it is expedient in the national interest for 
that area to be developed as a new town by a new town development corporation.  
 
The development of new towns has traditionally been overseen by the Secretary of State. 
However, under section 1A of the 1981 act the Secretary of State may appoint one or 
more local authorities (an ‘oversight authority’) to oversee the development of the area as 
a ‘locally-led’ new town. Where an oversight authority is appointed a number of functions 
that would otherwise be exercisable by the Secretary of State are instead exercisable by 
the oversight authority – as provided for by the New Towns Act 1981 (Local Authority 
Oversight) Regulations 2018.  
 
The Government has published separate guidance on the process for designating a new 
town and establishing locally-led new town development corporations.   
 
2. What powers does a new town development corporation have under the 1981 

act? 
Subject to any restrictions imposed under section 5 of the 1981 act, section 4(2) gives new 
town development corporations the power, among other things,  to acquire, hold, manage 
and dispose of land and other property, and generally to do anything necessary or 
expedient for the purposes  or incidental purposes of the new town.  
 
3. What powers does a new town development corporation have to acquire land? 
The powers of new town development corporations to acquire land are set out in section 
10 of the 1981 act. They provide for a new town development corporation to acquire 
(whether by agreement or by compulsion): 
• any land within the area of the new town, whether or not it is proposed to develop that 

land 
• any land adjacent to that area which they require for purposes connected with the 

development of the new town 
• any land, whether adjacent to that area or not, which they require for the provision of 

services for the purposes of the new town 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/64/section/3
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/64/section/3
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/64/section/4
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/64/section/1
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/64/section/1A
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/891/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/891/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/new-towns-act-1981-local-authority-oversight-regulations-2018-guidance
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/64/section/5
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/64/section/4
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/64/section/10
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/64/section/10


45 

 
The compulsory purchase powers provided for by section 10 of the 1981 act apply to all 
new town development corporations – including in the case of locally-led new towns. 
Compulsory purchase orders made by new town development corporations (regardless of 
whether the new town is nationally or locally-led) are subject to confirmation by the 
Secretary of State. 
 
For nationally-led new towns the new town development corporation must obtain consent 
from the Secretary of State to acquire land by agreement. For locally-led new towns the 
new town development corporation must obtain consent to acquire land by agreement 
from the oversight authority. 
 
4. What is the procedure for a new town development corporation acquiring land 

compulsorily by a compulsory purchase order? 
The procedure for making a compulsory purchase order under the New Towns Act 1981 is 
set out in schedule 4 to the 1981 act.   
 
5. In what circumstances can new town development corporations use their 

compulsory purchase powers?  
It is for new town development corporations to decide how best to use their land 
acquisition powers, having regard to this guidance. The compulsory purchase powers 
available to a new town development corporation in section 10 of the 1981 act are 
expressed in broad terms, and are intended to assist with land assembly that is necessary 
to carry out its statutory objects of securing the laying out and development of a new town.  
 
The Secretary of State will expect new town development corporations to demonstrate that 
they have taken reasonable steps to acquire the land included in a compulsory purchase 
order by agreement. Depending on when the land is required, it may sometimes be 
necessary for new town development corporations to initiate the compulsory purchase 
process in parallel with negotiations to acquire the land by agreement.   
 
New town development corporation ownership of land early in the development process 
may assist with the proper planning for, infrastructure provision in and sustainable 
development of, a new town – in pursuit of its statutory objects under sections 4(1), (1A) 
and (1B) of the 1981 act. New town development corporation ownership of land may also 
help to stimulate confidence that the new town will proceed, help to secure infrastructure 
investment, and thereby promote development.   
 
6. Can new town development corporations acquire land even if they have no 

specific development proposals in place? 
Section 10(1) of the 1981 act enables new town development corporations to acquire land 
(compulsorily or by agreement) within the area of the new town whether or not it is 
proposed to be developed. The Secretary of State recognises that to achieve its statutory 
objects, it may sometimes be justified for a new town development corporation to acquire 
land for which it has no specific development proposals in place. 
 
7. What level of detail do new town development corporations need to provide 

when seeking an order? 
Given their scale, new towns are likely to be developed over an extended period of time, 
during which market conditions may change. In this context, the Secretary of State 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/64/schedule/4
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/64/section/10
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/64/section/4
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/64/section/4
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/64/section/10


46 

recognises that it will not always be possible or desirable for new town development 
corporations to have fully worked up, and secured approval for, detailed development 
proposals prior to proceeding with a compulsory purchase order.  
 
Where a new town development corporation does not have detailed proposals for the 
order lands, it will still be expected to demonstrate a compelling case for acquisition in the 
context of the planning framework that will guide development of the new town. The new 
town development corporation needs to be able to show that using compulsory purchase 
powers is necessary in the public interest and that the acquisition will support investment 
in and development of the new town.   
 
The Secretary of State will expect the statement of reasons accompanying the submission 
of the compulsory purchase order to include a summary of the planning framework for the 
development of the new town and the justification for the timing of the acquisition, and that 
the new town development corporation will be in a position to present evidence at inquiry 
to support its case for compulsory acquisition.  
 
While confirmation of a compulsory purchase order is a separate and distinct process from 
that of designating a new town, the Secretary of State acknowledges that evidence used to 
support the case for designation in the national interest may also be relevant to justifying 
the use of compulsory purchase powers in the public interest under section 10 of the 1981 
act. 
 
8. What factors will the Secretary of State take into account in deciding whether to 

confirm a compulsory purchase order under section 10 of the 1981 act? 
Any decision about whether or not to confirm a compulsory purchase order will be made 
on its individual merits, but the factors which the Secretary of State can be expected to 
consider include:   
• the statutory objects of the new town development corporation 
• whether the purpose(s) for which the order lands are being acquired by the new town 

development corporation fits in with the planning framework for the new town area 
• whether the new town development corporation has satisfactorily demonstrated that 

the order lands are needed to support the overall development of the new town 
• the appropriateness of alternative proposals (if any) put forward by the owners of the 

land or other persons  
• the quality and timescale of both the new town development corporation’s proposals 

and any alternative proposals 
 

9. What does the Secretary of State have to consider where there are other 
proposals for the use of land contained within a compulsory purchase order? 

Where owners or other parties have their own proposals for the use or development of 
land contained within a compulsory purchase order, factors that the Secretary of State can 
be expected to consider include: 
• whether these alternative proposals are likely to be implemented, taking into account 

the planning position 
• how the alternative proposals may conflict with those of the new town development 

corporation 
• how the alternative proposals may conflict with the new town development 

corporation’s statutory objects, and/or the purposes for which it was established. 
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/new-towns-act-1981-local-authority-oversight-regulations-2018-guidance


47 

10. How can new town development corporations dispose of the acquired land? 
New town development corporations may dispose of land in such a manner as they deem 
expedient for securing the development of the new town or for purposes connected with 
the development of the new town (see section 17 of the New Towns Act 1981).  
 
Section 18 of the 1981 act sets out certain requirements in respect of persons who were 
previously living or carrying on a business on land acquired by the new town development 
corporation.  If such  persons wish to obtain accommodation on land belonging to the new 
town development corporation and are willing to comply with any requirements of the 
corporation as to its development and use , section 18 requires the corporation, ‘so far as 
practicable,  to give them the opportunity  to do so. 
 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/64/section/17
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/64/section/18




1

Appendix B: Proposed Responses to Consultation 
Questions

Contents
Part 1: Permitted development rights and use classes............................................................1
Part 2: Disposal of local authority land.....................................................................................8
Part 3: Canal & river Trust: Draft listed building consent order..............................................10
Part 4: New town development corporations: Draft compulsory purchase guidance.............10

Part 1: Permitted development rights and use classes

The key proposals are:

Allow greater change of use to support high streets to adapt and diversify 

It is proposed to introduce new permitted development rights to allow existing premises in 
typical high street uses to change to a wider range of uses, allowing more leisure and 
community uses such as gyms, libraries, health care and office use as well as homes.  The 
government is also consulting on changes to use classes for uses commonly found on the 
high street to make it easier for certain uses to change use.

Allow certain building types in particular uses to extend upwards to create additional 
new homes 

The government proposes a new permitted development right to extend certain existing 
buildings upwards to provide additional new homes.

Remove the existing right that allows the installation of, and advertising on, new public 
call boxes 

There is a proposal to remove the existing permitted development right that allows the 
installation of, and advertising on, new public call boxes.  This is to reflect changes to the way 
that people now access telephone services and use public call boxes.

Increased size limits for off-street electric vehicle charging points 

The Government’s commitment is that by 2050 nearly all cars and vans should be zero 
emission vehicles.  To support its delivery, it is proposed to increase the existing size limits for 
electric vehicle charging points located in off-street parking areas to facilitate rapid charging.

Make permanent two time-limited rights 

The government proposes to make permanent two time-limited permitted development rights 
that will currently cease to have effect in 2019.  These provide for the change of use from 
storage or distribution to residential use, and for larger single storey rear extensions to houses.

Explore the feasibility of a new right to allow for the demolition of existing commercial 
buildings and their redevelopment as residential 



2

The government is seeking views on whether it would be feasible for a permitted development 
right to be designed that could allow for the redevelopment of a commercial site to create new 
homes.

Consultation question Suggested response
Question 1.1: Do you agree that there 
should be a new permitted development 
right to allow shops (A1) financial and 
professional services (A2), hot food 
takeaways (A5), betting shops, pay day loan 
shop and launderettes to change to office 
use (B1)? Please give your reasons.

Not within designated/protected retail 
centres but it could be supported outside 
retail centres.  It is questionable what benefit 
such a change would provide.  It has the 
potential to undermine the vitality and 
viability of retail centres.  There are existing 
permitted development rights which allow 
changes from B1 to C3 (residential use), so 
it could subsequently lead to retail centres 
being lost to housing.  Given that betting 
shops do not have an active frontage, it may 
be acceptable to introduce permitted 
development for changes of use from these 
to office uses if there is no onward permitted 
development change to residential use. 

Question 1.2: Do you agree that there 
should be a new permitted development 
right to allow hot food takeaways (A5) to 
change to residential use (C3)? Please give 
your reasons. 

Not within designated/protected retail 
centres as it could lead to residential uses in 
areas that are not suited to them and to the 
provision of small, sub-standard residential 
units.  This conflicts with the aims of the 
NPPF to achieve good design and a high 
standard of amenity.  Outside retail centres, 
it could be possible subject to the size of the 
unit and other amenity issues being 
satisfactory.

Question 1.3: Are there any specific matters 
that should be considered for prior approval 
to change to office use?

In relation to changes to office use (question 
1.1), it should prevent a subsequent 
permitted development right to change to C3 
(residential use) and take into account 
impacts on the retail centre.

Question 1.4: Do you agree that the 
permitted development right for the 
temporary change of use of the premises 
listed in paragraph 1.9 (shops, financial and 
professional services, restaurants and 
cafes, hot food takeaways, offices, non-
residential institutions, assembly and leisure 
uses, betting shops and pay day loan shops) 
should allow change to a public library, 
exhibition hall, museum, clinic or health 
centre?

Yes.

Question 1.5: Are there other community 
uses to which temporary change of use 
should be allowed? 

No

Question 1.6: Do you agree that the 
temporary change of use should be 
extended from 2 years to 3 years?

Yes.  This would give longer for new 
business start-ups to test the market and 
help ensure premises are not left empty.



3

Consultation question Suggested response

Question 1.7: Would changes to certain of 
the A use classes be helpful in supporting 
high streets?

Yes, a single use class would be helpful for 
A1, A2 and A3 uses.

Question 1.8: If so, which would be the most 
suitable approach: 
a. that the A1 use class should be simplified 
to ensure it captures current and future retail 
models; or, 
b. that the A1, A2 and A3 use classes should 
be merged to create a single use class? 
Please give your reasons.

b. Retail centres now generally comprise a 
mix of these uses so merging A1, A2 and A3 
into a single use class would allow for the 
flexible use of premises and simplify the 
system.  This should be subject to the 
requirement for premises to provide a shop 
window/active shop frontage.

Question 1.9: Do you think there is a role for 
a permitted development right to provide 
additional self-contained homes by 
extending certain premises upwards? 

No.  It could to lead to the provision of sub-
standard residential units with no 
consideration given to the amenity/living 
conditions for future residents, occupiers of 
adjacent premises, waste storage, parking 
provision etc.  There are concerns that it 
could lead to concentrations of poor quality 
development with consequent effects on the 
character of certain areas.  This conflicts 
with the aims of the NPPF to achieve good 
design and a high standard of amenity.

It is considered that such proposals should 
require planning permission to ensure that 
high quality development is achieved which 
meets suitable amenity, parking, space and 
design standards and does not adversely 
impact on neighbouring premises.

Question 1.10: Do you think there is a role 
for local design codes to improve outcomes 
from the application of the proposed right?

No.  The production of local design codes 
would shift the resource burden onto local 
authorities without compensatory funding.  It 
is unlikely they would have regulatory force 
so it is uncertain how they could overcome 
the issues outlined in the answer to question 
1.9.

Question 1.11: Which is the more suitable 
approach to a new permitted development 
right: 
a. that it allows premises to extend up to the 
roofline of the highest building in a terrace; 
or 
b. that it allows building up to the prevailing 
roof height in the locality? 

The Council considers that such proposals 
should require planning permission which 
fully takes into account the character of 
existing areas.

If the proposal is to be implemented, there 
would be a preference for building up to the 
prevailing roof height in the locality.  Such a 
permitted development right should not be 
applied within Conservation Areas since this 
would undermine the protection and 
enhancement of these areas.

Question 1.12: Do you agree that there 
should be an overall limit of no more than 5 

The Council considers that all such 
proposals should require planning 



4

Consultation question Suggested response
storeys above ground level once extended? permission so that all impacts can be fully 

assessed.

If this is to be introduced, it should only apply 
within defined town centres and exclude 
Conservation Areas.  The limit should be a 
maximum of 5 storeys or the prevailing roof 
height in the locality, whichever is the lower.

Prior approvals should take into 
consideration overshadowing and loss of 
privacy.  Where these are impacted, 
planning permission should be required.

Question 1.13: How do you think a 
permitted development right should address 
the impact where the ground is not level? 

 Where there is an impact on overshadowing 
and overlooking, planning permission should 
be required.

Question 1.14: Do you agree that, 
separately, there should be a right for 
additional storeys on purpose built free 
standing blocks of flats? If so, how many 
storeys should be allowed?

No, this conflicts with the aims of the NPPF 
to achieve good design and a high standard 
of amenity.  The cumulative impacts of 
several storeys on a free-standing block of 
flats could be very significant.  It is 
considered that such proposals should 
require planning permission to ensure that 
these impacts can be identified, assessed 
and addressed through a planning 
application.  Additionally, a full planning 
application will help ensure high quality 
development is achieved which meets 
suitable amenity, parking, space and design 
standards and does not adversely impact on 
neighbouring premises and residents within 
the block.

Question 1.15: Do you agree that the 
premises in paragraph 1.21 (shops, financial 
and professional services, restaurants and 
cafes, betting shops, pay day loan shops 
and launderettes) would be suitable to 
include in a permitted development right to 
extend upwards to create additional new 
homes? 

No.  See response to Question 1.9.  
Additionally, the impacts of restaurants, 
cafes, launderettes etc can have amenity 
impacts on residential accommodation 
above, which should appropriately be 
addressed through a planning application.

Question 1.16: Are there other types of 
premises, such as those in paragraph 1.22 
(health centres, community and leisure 
uses) that would be suitable to include in a 
permitted development right to extend 
upwards to create additional new homes?

No.  See response to Question 1.9.

Question 1.17: Do you agree that a 
permitted development right should allow the 
local authority to consider the extent of the 
works proposed?

Yes but then this is effectively the same as 
dealing with a planning application.



5

Consultation question Suggested response

Question 1.18: Do you agree that in 
managing the impact of the proposal, the 
matters set out in paragraphs 1.25 -1.27 
(flooding, contamination risks, transport and 
highways, the impact of additional new 
homes on existing occupiers and businesses 
and vice versa, design, siting, appearance, 
impact on the amenity and character of the 
area) should be considered in a prior 
approval? 

Yes.  Additionally the impact on the vitality 
and viability of a shopping centre should be 
considered in the case of town centre 
changes of use and the size of the unit if the 
proposed change is to residential.  Provision 
of parking should be considered where new 
residential units are proposed.

It is noted that the range of proposed issues 
is so extensive that the assessment would 
almost mirror that of a planning application.    
It is questionable what benefits are brought 
about by prior approval applications.  It 
creates a confusing two tier system for all 
involved.  The resources required to 
determine them are likely to be identical to 
those required for a full application.  It also 
prevents flexibility for changes to be made 
after work starts so, in effect, prior approvals 
result in additional workload, discussion and 
uncertainty for developers and the local 
planning authority.

Question 1.19: Are there any other planning 
matters that should be considered?

Size of units, waste provision, impacts on 
heritage assets, landscape and biodiversity.

Question 1.20: Should a permitted 
development right also allow for the upward 
extension of a dwelling for the enlargement 
of an existing home? If so, what 
considerations should apply?

No.  The Council considers that the larger 
extensions (including upward extensions of 
dwellings) allowed can have unintended 
consequences in terms of amenity impacts 
that are long term and that outweigh the 
short term benefits of boosting economic 
activity.  The full impact of larger extensions 
has yet to be fully realised with many allowed 
and not yet built.

In the 12 month period between October 
2017 and September 2018, the Council 
received 494 householder applications.  Of 
these, 86% were determined in 8 weeks or 
within the agreed time period and 90% were 
approved.  This suggests a responsive 
service, which has the capacity to meet local 
needs while safeguarding neighbour 
amenity.  

Question 1.21: Do you agree that the 
permitted development right for public call 
boxes (telephone kiosks) should be 
removed? 

Yes.  This will allow the Council to consider 
whether the siting and design of the 
telephone kiosks are appropriate to the 
character and appearance of the area.

Question 1.22: Do you agree that deemed 
consent which allows an advertisement to be 

Yes.  This will improve the appearance of the 
streetscene.



6

Consultation question Suggested response
placed on a single side of a telephone kiosk 
should be removed?

Question 1.23: Do you agree the proposed 
increased height limit for an electrical vehicle 
charging point upstand in an off-street 
parking space that is not within the curtilage 
of a dwellinghouse?

Yes, though the curtilage of listed buildings 
should be excluded from this proposed 
change.  The Council encourages the 
provision of electric vehicle charging points.

Question 1.24: Do you agree that the 
existing time-limited permitted development 
right for change of use from storage or 
distribution to residential is made 
permanent?

No.  This could result in the loss of valuable 
employment land, particularly for light 
industrial uses, which conflicts with the aims 
of the NPPF to make provision for such uses.  
It is also likely to lead to the provision of sub-
standard residential units with no 
consideration given to the amenity/living 
conditions for future residents, occupiers of 
adjacent premises, waste storage, parking 
provision etc.  There are concerns that it 
could lead to concentrations of poor quality 
development with consequent effects of the 
character of certain areas.  This conflicts 
with the aims of the NPPF to achieve good 
design and a high standard of amenity.

It is considered that such proposals should 
require planning permission to ensure that 
high quality development is achieved which 
meets suitable amenity, parking, space and 
design standards and does not adversely 
impact on neighbouring premises.

Question 1.25: Do you agree that the time-
limited permitted development right for larger 
extensions to dwellinghouses is made 
permanent? 

No.  The Council considers that the larger 
extensions allowed can have unintended 
consequences in terms of amenity impacts 
that are long term and that outweigh the 
short term benefits of boosting economic 
activity.  The full impact of larger extensions 
has yet to be fully realised with many allowed 
and not yet built.

In the 12 month period between October 
2017 and September 2018, the Council 
received 494 householder applications.  Of 
these, 86% were determined in 8 weeks or 
within the agreed time period and 90% were 
approved.  This suggests a responsive 
service, which has the capacity to meet local 
needs while safeguarding neighbour 
amenity.

Question 1.26: Do you agree that a fee 
should be charged for a prior approval 
application for a larger extension to a 
dwellinghouse?

Yes, a fee equivalent to a householder 
planning application should be charged to 
cover the costs incurred by authorities.  In 
reality, the resources required to determine 



7

Consultation question Suggested response
a prior approval application are virtually 
identical to those required for a full 
householder application.  The introduction of 
further prior approvals creates a confusing 
two tier system for all involved.

Question 1.27: Do you support a permitted 
development right for the high quality 
redevelopment of commercial sites, 
including demolition and replacement build 
as residential, which retained the existing 
developer contributions? 

No.  This could result in the loss of valuable 
employment land, particularly for light 
industrial uses, which conflicts with the aims 
of the NPPF to make provision for such uses.  
It is also likely to lead to the provision of sub-
standard residential units in areas that are 
not suited to them with no consideration 
given to the amenity/living conditions for 
future residents, occupiers of adjacent 
premises, waste storage, parking provision 
etc.  There are concerns that it could lead to 
concentrations of poor quality development 
with consequent effects on the character of 
certain areas.  This conflicts with the aims of 
the NPPF to achieve good design and a high 
standard of amenity.

It is considered that such proposals should 
require planning permission to ensure that 
high quality development is achieved which 
meets suitable amenity, parking, space and 
design standards and does not adversely 
impact on neighbouring premises.  It is 
unclear how high quality redevelopment 
could be ensured through permitted 
development rights.

The Local Plan is the appropriate route for 
determining the best balance at the local 
level between housing and employment.  
The proposed permitted development rights 
would undermine the Local Plan and its 
provision, which have been arrived at 
through a process of evidence assessment, 
consultation and public examination.

Question 1.28: What considerations would 
be important in framing any future right for 
the demolition of commercial buildings and 
their redevelopment as residential to ensure 
that it brings the most sites forward for 
redevelopment?

There are potential issues of flood risk, 
contamination, infrastructure provision, 
transport impacts, air quality, parking 
(including provision for electric vehicles and 
bicycles), design, overshadowing, 
overlooking, waste storage, landscaping, 
internal and external space standards etc.  
All these issues are considered under the 
current planning application system and it is 
unclear what benefits the introduction of 
such a right would bring.

Question 1.29: Do you have any comments 
on the impact of any of the measures? 

The Council supports the removal of 
permitted development rights and 



8

Consultation question Suggested response
i. Allow greater change of use to support 
high streets to adapt and diversify 
ii. Introducing a new right to extend existing 
buildings upwards to create additional new 
homes 
iii. Removing permitted development rights 
and advertisement consent in respect of 
public call boxes (telephone kiosks). 
iv. Increasing the height limits for electric 
vehicle charging points in off-street parking 
spaces 
v. Making permanent the right for the change 
of use from storage to residential 
vi. Making permanent the right for larger 
extensions to dwellinghouses

advertisement consent in respect of public 
call boxes (iii) and increasing the height 
limits for electric vehicle charging points in 
off-street parking spaces (except within the 
curtilage of listed buildings) (iv).  It also 
considers that there could be benefits in 
allowing some changes of use to support 
high streets to adapt and diversify (i) as long 
as the uses allow the vitality and viability of 
retail centres to be retained.

However, the Council considers that the 
impacts of the proposals to extend permitted 
development rights to allow the creation of 
new homes and allow for larger extensions 
to dwellinghouses (i, ii, v and vi) could 
seriously fetter its ability to achieve high 
quality residential development adequately 
supported by sufficient infrastructure.  This 
conflicts with the aims of the NPPF to 
achieve good design and a high standard of 
amenity.  It also contravenes the NPPF 
requirement to ensure the provision of light 
industrial uses.  There is the need to 
consider a variety of issues including flood 
risk, contamination, infrastructure provision, 
transport impacts, air quality, parking, 
design, impacts on amenity, internal and 
external space standards, impacts on 
heritage assets/ biodiversity/ landscape etc 
which should be properly carried out through 
the formal planning application process.

Question 1.30: Do you have any views 
about the implications of our proposed 
changes on people with protected 
characteristics as defined in the Equality Act 
2010? What evidence do you have on these 
matters? Is there anything that could be 
done to mitigate any impact identified?

No.

Part 2: Disposal of local authority land

There are well established consent procedures in place where local authorities seek to dispose 
of surplus land at less than best consideration.  The government is proposing to extend local 
authorities’ freedoms to do so without seeking consent from the Secretary of State, thereby 
providing greater flexibility to dispose of surplus land in support of local development 
objectives.

Consultation question Suggested response
Question 2.1: Do you think that the 
threshold for the existing general consent for 
the disposal of land held for purposes other 

b. The threshold for the existing general 
consent for the disposal of land held for 
purposes other than planning or housing at 



9

Consultation question Suggested response
than planning or housing at undervalue 
(under section 123 of the Local Government 
Act 1972) should: 
a. remain at the current level? 
b. be increased? 
c. be removed completely? 
Please give your reasons

undervalue should be increased in order to 
empower local authorities to make the 
decisions that will enable the most effective 
use of the land for the local community.

Question 2.2: If you consider it should be 
increased, do you think the new threshold 
should be: 
a. £5 million or less? 
b. £10 million or less? 
c. other threshold? (please state level) 
Please give your reasons

b. £10 million would be an appropriate level.

Question 2.3: Do you agree that the 
Secretary of State should issue a new 
general consent under section 233 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 for the 
disposal of land held for planning purposes? 
Please give your reasons. 

Yes.  This would empower local authorities 
to make the decisions that will enable the 
most effective use of the land for the local 
community.

Question 2.4: If yes, do you think any new 
general consent should apply to: 
a. disposals at an undervalue of £2 million or 
less? 
b. disposals at an undervalue of £5 million or 
less? 
c. disposals at an undervalue of £10 million 
or less? 
d. disposals at some other undervalue 
threshold? (please state level) 
e. all disposals regardless of the 
undervalue? 
Please give your reasons.

c. £10 million would be an appropriate level 
enabling local decisions to be made upto a 
reasonable level.

Question 2.5: Do you agree that the 
economic, social or environmental well-
being criteria which apply to the existing 
general consent should also apply to any 
new general consent for the disposal of land 
held for planning purposes? 

Yes.

Question 2.6: Do you have any additional 
comments about the current system 
governing disposals of land at an undervalue 
by local authorities and our proposals to 
amend it?

No.

Question 2.7: Do you consider that the 
current £10m threshold contained in the 
general consent governing disposals by the 
Greater London Authority remains 
appropriate? Please give your reasons. 

No response.



10

Consultation question Suggested response

Question 2.8: If you consider the current 
threshold is no longer appropriate, or that the 
limit should be removed completely, please 
specify what you think the alternative should 
be and give reasons.

No response.

Question 2.9: Do you have any views about 
the implications of our proposed changes on 
people with protected characteristics as 
defined in the Equality Act 2010? What 
evidence do you have on these matters? Is 
there anything that could be done to mitigate 
any impact identified?

No views.  Impact seems unlikely.

Part 3: Canal & river Trust: Draft listed building consent order

This part relates to a proposal to allow the Canal & River Trust to carry out certain works to 
listed structures without the need to apply for listed building consent.  As the Trust is not 
responsible for any rivers in Dartford Borough, this section is not applicable to the Council.

Consultation question Suggested response
Question 3.1: Do you agree that the types 
of work set out in paragraph 3.8 should be 
granted a general listed building consent? 
Please give your reasons.

Not applicable to Dartford Borough

Question 3.2: Do you agree that the 
safeguards included in the order are 
appropriate? Please give your reasons.

Not applicable to Dartford Borough

Question 3.3: Do you consider that any 
additional safeguards are required? Please 
provide details.

Not applicable to Dartford Borough

Question 3.4: Do you have any views about 
the implications of our proposed changes on 
people with protected characteristics as 
defined in the Equality Act 2010? What 
evidence do you have on these matters? Is 
there anything that could be done to mitigate 
any impact identified?

Not applicable to Dartford Borough

Part 4: New town development corporations: Draft compulsory 
purchase guidance

This part relates to New Town Development Corporations under the New Towns Act 1981.  
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation was set up under the Local Government, Planning and 
Land Act 1980 so this part of the consultation document is not relevant to Dartford Borough’s 
area.



11

Consultation question Suggested response
Question 4.1: Do you have any comments 
on the draft guidance at Annex D?

Not applicable to Dartford Borough.  
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation was set 
up under the Local Government, Planning 
and Land Act 1980 and it is understood that 
this guidance would only relate to 
development corporations set up under the 
New Towns Act 1981.

Question 4.2: Do you have any views about 
the implications of the proposed guidance on 
people with protected characteristics as 
defined in the Equality Act 2010? What 
evidence do you have on these matters? Is 
there anything that could be done to mitigate 
any impact identified?

Not applicable to Dartford Borough





CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
10 DECEMBER 2018

DRAFT LICENSING POLICY – JANUARY 2019 TO JANUARY 2024

1. Summary

1.1 To propose the adoption of the draft Licensing Policy under the Licensing Act 
2003 for the period 2019-2024.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

To Cabinet

2.1 That Cabinet note that no consultation responses were received to the draft 
Licensing Policy.

2.2 That the draft Licensing Policy 2019 - 2024 at Appendix A to the report, be 
recommended to the General Assembly of the Council for adoption, at its 
meeting on 10 December 2018.

2.3 That and the draft Code of Good Practice on Promoting the Four Licensing 
Objectives at Appendix B to the report, be recommended to the General 
Assembly of the Council, for endorsement. 

2.4     To the General Assembly of the Council

2.4.1  That the draft Licensing Policy at Appendix A to the report, be adopted for the  
period January 2019 to January 2024. 

2.4.2 That the draft Code of Good Practice on Promoting the Four Licensing 
Objectives at Appendix B to the report, be endorsed. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 requires a licensing authority to 
prepare and publish a statement of its Licensing Policy every five 
years, previously every three years. Such a policy must be published 
before the authority carries out any function in respect of individual 
applications made under the terms of the 2003 Act.

3.2. The Council is required to adopt a statutory licensing policy to guide its 
decisions on licence applications. The Licensing Policy is required to 
comply with national guidance, and any departures must be supported 
by evidence, justifying a different policy approach.

3.3. The existing Licensing Policy was adopted on the 7 January 2014 and 
will expire on the 6 January 2019.  



CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
10 DECEMBER 2018

3.4. The draft Licensing Policy, for the purposes of consultation, was 
approved by Cabinet on 26 July 2018 [Min. No.36].  At that time, it was 
proposed that a further report be submitted to Cabinet on 6 December 
2018, summarising comments made in response to the consultation 
and suggesting amendments as necessary to the draft Policy.

3.5 Consultation on the draft Licensing Policy was carried out in 
accordance with national guidance. The draft was made available on 
the Council’s website, in the Civic Centre reception, all public libraries 
within the Borough and sent to all Responsible Authorities, as defined 
by the 2003 Act, as well as numerous trade associations and other 
persons representing licensing businesses in the area.

3.6 A comprehensive review of the draft Licensing Policy was undertaken 
by the Licensing Committee, during the consultation period, on 26 
September 2018 [Min. No. 6].  The Licensing Committee did not make 
a formal response to the consultation but resolved that, going forward, 
the Licensing Policy be supported by an additional document to reflect 
the aspirations and visions of the Council as Licensing Authority. The 
draft Code of Good Practice on Promoting the Four Licensing 
Objectives was approved by the Licensing Committee at its meeting in 
November 2018 and is recommended for endorsement by the General 
Assembly of the Council.  

3.6 No other responses were received to the consultation. 

3.7 Cabinet is asked to recommend the adoption of the draft Licensing 
Policy at Appendix A, to the General Assembly of the Council.  Once 
adopted, the Licensing Policy will take effect for the period 7 January 
2019 to 6 January 2024.  

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not Applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications The statutory framework for the Council's 
Licensing Policy is provided by the Licensing Act 
2003 and national guidance 

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints



CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
10 DECEMBER 2018

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A - Draft Licensing Policy
Appendix B – Draft Code of Good Practice on Promoting the Four 
Licensing Objectives – To Follow

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Licensing Act 2003, Guidance 
issued under s.182 of the 
Licensing Act 2003 

Joanne Philpott – 
Licensing Manger 
(01322) 343024

Licensing - 
Strategic

N/A





                                                                                                                                  

- 1 -

Appendix A

LICENSING ACT 2003

DARTFORD 
BOROUGH 
COUNCIL

  STATEMENT OF LICENSING
POLICY

07 January 2019 - 06 January 2024

If you or anybody you know requires this or any 
other council information in another language, 
please contact us and we will do our best to 
provide this for you. Braille, Audio tape and large 
print versions of this document are available upon 
request. 

Tel: 01322 343434
Fax: 01322 343432
Email: customer.services@dartford.gov.uk

Calls are welcome via NGT Relay 

mailto:customer.services@dartford.gov.uk


                                                                                                                                       

- 2 -

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY

CONTENTS

SECTION HEADING PAGE

1.0 INTRODUCTION 3

Licensing and Planning 5
Cumulative Impact 6
Early Morning Restriction Orders 7
Late Night Levy 8
Advice & Guidance 8
Consultation 9
Reviews 9
Enforcement 10
Right of Appeal 10
Annual Fees – Suspension
For Non-Payment 10

2.0 LICENSING OBJECTIVES 11

3.0 PREVENTION OF CRIME &
DISORDER 12

4.0 PUBLIC SAFETY 14

5.0 PREVENTION OF PUBLIC
NUISANCE 15

6.0 PROTECTION OF CHILDREN
FROM HARM 16

7.0 ADMINISTRATION, EXERCISE
AND DELEGATION 18

Delegation of Functions 20

APPENDIX 'A' DEFINITIONS 21

APPENDIX 'B' FURTHER INFORMATION &
CONTACTS 26

APPENDIX 'C' LICENSING ENFORCEMENT POLICY 28



                                                                                                                                       

- 3 -

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Licensing Act 2003 as amended by the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 
2011 and its various statutory instruments (the 2003 Act), sets out the law on alcohol 
licensing.  It provides for four different types of authorisation or permission, as follows:

• Premises Licence – to use Premises for Licensable Activities (i.e. the sale or supply of 
alcohol, the provision of entertainment, the provision of late night refreshment or any 
combination of these activities);

• Club Premises Certificate – to allow a Qualifying Club to engage in qualifying club 
activities as set out in Section 1 of the 2003 Act;

• Temporary Event Notice (TEN) – to carry out Licensable Activities at a temporary event;
• Personal Licence – to sell or authorise the sale of alcohol from Premises in respect of 

which there is a Premises Licence.

1.2 The statutory guidance issued under Section 182 of the 2003 Act (the Section 182 
Guidance1), provides detailed advice to licensing authorities on the requirements and their 
responsibilities under the 2003 Act.

1.3 The Dartford Borough Council (the Licensing Authority) is responsible for administering the 
2003 Act in the Borough of Dartford.  This includes issuing licences and enforcing the 
Conditions of the licence, certificate or authorisation, often working with the Police and 
other Responsible Authorities. 

1.4 The objective of the licensing process is for a unified system of regulation to allow 
Licensable Activities and Qualifying Clubs activities to be conducted in a manner, which 
promotes the following four objectives, each of which is considered to be of equal 
importance (the Licensing Objectives): 

 the prevention of crime and disorder
 public safety
 the prevention of public nuisance
 the protection of children from harm

1.5 The 2003 Act requires that the Licensing Authority publish a ‘Statement of Licensing Policy’ 
that sets out the policies it will generally apply to promote the Licensing Objectives, when 
making decisions on applications made under the 2003 Act (the Policy). 

This Policy will take effect on 7 January 2019 and will remain in effect for a period of five 
years until 6 January 2024.  This Policy may however be subject to Review at any time by 
the Licensing Authority, in accordance with paragraphs 1.45 and 1.46 of this Policy.

1.6 The aims of this Policy are in line with the Licensing Objectives and: 

a. help build and maintain a fair and prosperous society that properly balances the 
rights of individuals and their communities;

b. integrate its aims and objectives with other initiatives, policies plus strategies that 
will:

1 June 2013



                                                                                                                                       

- 4 -

 encourage people, especially young people, to participate in leisure and cultural 
activities

 reduce crime and disorder 
 encourage visitors to the Borough of Dartford
 continue to develop the daytime economy and encourage an early evening 

and night time economy which is viable and sustainable
 reduce alcohol misuse, especially under-age drinking
 encourage employment
 encourage the self-sufficiency of local communities
 reduce the burden of unnecessary regulation on business
 continue to value music in licensed Premises

1.7 This Policy has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 2003 Act and 
having regard to the Section 182 Guidance.  Where it is necessary to depart from the 
Section 182 Guidance, either in this Policy or at any other time, the Licensing Authority will 
give clear and cogent reasons for doing so.  The Licensing Authority will endeavour to work 
with other local authorities (particularly where licensing authorities' boundaries meet), to 
ensure that a consistent approach is taken in licensing matters, whilst respecting the 
differing needs of individual communities.

1.8 When considering applications, the Licensing Authority will have regard to this Policy, the 
2003 Act, the Licensing Objectives, the Section 182 Guidance and any supporting 
regulations that may from time to time be made.  It will also seek proper integration with 
local crime prevention, planning, transport, employment and cultural strategies.  To this 
end, the Licensing Committee may provide reports to the Development Control Board on 
matters regarding licensed Premises in the Borough of Dartford.  

1.9 This Policy does not undermine the rights of any person to apply under the 2003 Act for a 
variety of permissions and have the application considered on its individual merits, as well 
as against any relevant policy and statutory framework.  It does not override the right of 
any person to make representations on any application, or seek a Review of a licence or 
certificate or authorisation where permitted to do so under the 2003 Act. 

1.10 The principles of a fair and public hearing are important when it comes to licensing 
matters.  In formulating this Policy, the Licensing Authority has had regard to the provisions 
of the Human Rights Act 1998.  This Act places a duty on public authorities to protect the 
rights of individuals in a variety of circumstances, and to balance those rights against the 
rights of persons trading in Licensable Activities and to achieve proportionality.  

1.11 The Equality Act 2010 places a legal obligation on public authorities to have due regard to 
the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; to advance 
equality of opportunity; and to foster good relations, between persons with different 
protected characteristics.  The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual 
orientation.

The Licensing Authority will have full and proper regard to the Equality Act 2010 in 
determining applications, so as to avoid any possible indirect discriminatory impact on 
particular groups.

1.12 The object of licensing is to maintain appropriate control of licensed Premises, Qualifying 
Clubs, TENS and the people who manage them or hold personal licences within the terms 
of the 2003 Act.  Where Relevant Representations are made, the Licensing Authority will 
seek to make objective judgements as to whether Conditions may need to be attached to a 
licence, certificate or authorisation to secure achievement of the Licensing Objectives.  



                                                                                                                                       

- 5 -

1.13 If no Relevant Representations are received, the Licensing Authority must grant the licence 
in the terms sought in the application, subject only to Conditions which are consistent with 
the Operating Schedule and any relevant Mandatory Conditions.

1.14 The Licensing Authority expects every individual, club or business holding a licence, 
certificate or authorisation, to be responsible for minimising the impact of their activities and 
anti-social behaviour by their customers/patrons, within the immediate area surrounding 
their licensed Premises.  On receipt of Relevant Representations, Conditions may be 
imposed by the Licensing Authority, which seek to manage the behaviour of 
customers/patrons that are within the control of the individual, club or business holding the 
licence, certificate or authorisation concerned.  Each case will be considered on its own 
merits.

1.15 Licensing law is not the primary mechanism for the general control of nuisance and anti-
social behaviour by individuals once they are away from the licensed Premises and, 
therefore, beyond the direct control of the individual, club or business holding the licence, 
certificate or authorisation concerned.  Therefore, other mechanisms may be utilised, 
where appropriate, to tackle unruly or unlawful behaviour of patrons/customers when 
beyond the immediate area surrounding the licensed Premises.  These include:

 Partnership working with the Kent Police (and other agencies as appropriate) to 
promote enforcement of the law concerning public safety, crime and disorder and 
antisocial behaviour, including the issuing of fixed penalty notices;

 To control the consumption of alcohol in any part of the Borough of Dartford that is 
experiencing alcohol-related disorder or nuisance, through Designated Public Place 
Orders (does not include beer gardens or premise frontages);

 Partnership working with businesses, transport operators and other Licensing Authority 
departments, to create a safe and clean environment.

1.16 A key aim of this Policy is to maintain a safe and family friendly environment in the Borough 
of Dartford.  Conditions that would be relevant in the Dartford Town Centre may not be 
appropriate in rural areas.  Each application will be considered on its merits.

1.17 Whilst the Licensing Authority will avoid imposing Conditions, which duplicate other 
statutory provisions, it is mindful that requirements and responsibilities are placed on it and 
licence holders by other legislation.  Legislation, which may be relevant, includes:
• The Gambling Act 2005
• The Environmental Protection Act 1990
• The Noise Act 1996
• The Clean Neighbourhoods and Environmental Act 2005
• The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005
• Health and Safety (First-Aid) Regulations 1981
• The Equality Act 2010

Licences and planning permission

1.18 The Licensing Authority will ensure that planning permission, building control approvals and 
licensing regimes are separated to avoid duplication and inefficiency.

1.19 The use of any licensed Premises for the sale or supply of alcohol may be subject to 
planning controls.  There are several key differences between licensing and planning 
regimes.  Licensing is concerned with the fitness of the individual running or managing a 
business that sells or supplies alcohol and the detailed issues concerning the operation and 
management of the licensed Premises.  Planning is concerned with the use of the licensed 
Premises.  

1.20 The Licensing Authority expects in general, that any matter relating to the use of the 
licensed Premises under the planning regime, will have been resolved before an application 



                                                                                                                                       

- 6 -

is made under the 2003 Act, for a licence, certificate or other authorisation.  Applicants 
should seek advice regarding planning permission or building control approval from the 
Local Planning Authority, prior to submitting an application to the Licensing Authority under 
the 2003 Act.

1.21 The Licensing Authority is not bound by decisions made by the Local Planning Authority on 
any related planning application. However, a process of consultation will ensue with the aim 
of agreeing mutually acceptable operating hours and scheme designs. 
 

1.22 With the exception of the approval and Review of this Policy, decisions on licensing matters 
will be taken by the Licensing Authority in accordance with a published and approved 
scheme of delegation aimed at underlining the principles of timely, efficient and effective 
decision-making, as set out in paragraph 7.8 of this Policy.

Cumulative impact of a concentration of licensed Premises

1.23 "Cumulative impact" is not mentioned specifically in the 2003 Act, but means the potential 
impact on the promotion of the Licensing Objectives of a significant number of licensed 
Premises concentrated in one area.  For example, the potential impact on crime and 
disorder or public nuisance in Dartford Town Centre of a large concentration of licensed 
Premises in that part of the Borough.  The cumulative impact of licensed Premises on the 
promotion of the Licensing Objectives is a proper matter for the Licensing Authority to 
consider in this Policy.

1.24 Where, after considering the available evidence and consulting the statutory authorities and 
other bodies/persons listed in paragraph 1.46 of this Policy, the Licensing Authority is 
satisfied that it is appropriate and necessary to include an approach to cumulative impact in 
this Policy, it will indicate by way of a policy statement, that it is adopting a special provision 
of refusing new licences whenever it receives Relevant Representations about the 
cumulative impact on the Licensing Objectives from Responsible Authorities and Any Other 
Persons, which it concludes after hearing those representations, should lead to refusal.

1.25 There will be an evidential basis for the decision to include special provisions relating to 
cumulative impact within this Policy.  For example, the Dartford and Gravesham Community 
Safety Partnership will often have collated information that demonstrates cumulative impact 
as part of its general role on anti-social behaviour; and crime prevent strategies may have 
already identified cumulative impact as a local problem.  Similarly, environmental health 
officers may be able to demonstrate concentrations of valid complaints relating to noise 
disturbance. 

1.26 Cumulative impact assessments (CIAs) may relate to premises licensed to carry on any 
licensable activity, including the sale of alcohol for consumption on or off the premises, 
and the provision of late night refreshment. This includes late night refreshment 
providers, which are not licensed to sell alcohol. A CIA may relate to all premises 
licences and Club Premises Certificates in the area described in the assessment or 
parts thereof, or only to Premises of a particular kind described in the assessment. For 
example, it may be appropriate for the Licensing Authority to only include off-licences or 
nightclubs within the scope of its assessment. The Licensing Authority must make 
clear, when publishing its CIA, which Premises types it applies to. CIAs do not apply to 
TENs, however it is open to the Police and EHA (as Relevant Persons) to refer to 
evidence published within a CIA when objecting to a TEN. 

1.27 While the evidence underpinning the publication of a CIA should generally be suitable 
as the basis for a decision to refuse an application or impose conditions, it does not 
change the fundamental way that decisions are made under the 2003 Act. Each 
decision in an area subject to a CIA therefore still needs to be made on a case-by-case 
basis and with a view to what is appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives. Importantly, the publication of a CIA would not remove the Licensing 



                                                                                                                                       

- 7 -

Authority’s discretion to grant applications for new licences or applications to vary 
existing licences, where it considers this appropriate in the light of the individual 
circumstances of the case. 

1.28 In summary, the steps to be followed in considering whether to adopt special provisions 
within this Policy are:

 identification of concern about crime and disorder or public nuisance;
 consideration of whether it can be demonstrated that crime and disorder and nuisance 

are arising and are caused by the customers of licensed Premises, and if so identifying 
the area from which problems are arising and the boundaries of that area; or that the 
risk factors are such that the area is reaching a point where a cumulative impact is 
imminent;

 consultation with those specified by section 5(3) of the 2003 Act as part of the general 
consultation required in respect of the whole Policy;

 subject to that consultation, inclusion of special provisions about future Premises 
Licence or Club Premises Certificate applications from that area within the terms of this 
Policy;

 publication of the special provisions as part of this Policy required by the 2003 Act.

1.29 The effect of adopting special provisions of this kind is to create a rebuttable presumption 
that applications for new Premises licences or Club Premises Certificates or material 
variations will normally be refused if relevant representations to that effect are received, 
unless it can be demonstrated that the operation of the licensed Premises involved will not 
add to the cumulative impact already being experienced.  

1.30 Applicants would need to address any special provisions in their Operating Schedules in 
order to rebut such a presumption.  However, special provisions must stress that this 
presumption does not relieve Responsible Authorities or Any Other Persons of the need to 
make Relevant Representations before the Licensing Authority may lawfully consider giving 
effect to its special provisions.  If no Relevant Representation is received, it would remain 
the case that any application must be granted in terms that are consistent with the 
Operating Schedule.  However, Responsible Authorities, or Any Other Persons, can make a 
Relevant Representation maintaining that it is necessary to refuse the application for the 
promotion of the prevention of crime and disorder and referring to information that had been 
before the Licensing Authority when it developed this Policy.

1.31 The absence of special provisions does not prevent any Responsible Authority or Any 
Other Persons making representations on a new application for the grant of a licence on the 
grounds that the licensed Premises will give rise to a negative cumulative impact on one or 
more of the Licensing Objectives.

1.32 If adopted, special provisions will be reviewed regularly to assess whether they are needed 
any longer or need expanding.  While special provisions are in existence, applicants will 
need to demonstrate why the operation of the licensed Premises would not add to the 
cumulative impact being experienced.

1.33 The Licensing Authority recognises that the diversity of licensed Premises selling alcohol, 
serving food and providing entertainment covers a wide range of contrasting styles and 
characteristics and will have full regard to those differences and the differing impact these 
will have on the local community.  The Licensing Authority will not consider representations 
for a saturation policy based purely on the numbers of a specific type of business located in 
a defined area.

1.34 The Licensing Authority recognises that, within this Policy, it may be able to approve 
licences that are unlikely to add significantly to the problems arising from saturation, and 
will consider the circumstances of each individual application. 



                                                                                                                                       

- 8 -

Early Morning Restriction Orders (EMROs)

1.35 The Section182 Guidance states “EMROs are designed to address recurring problems such 
as high levels of alcohol-related crime and disorder in specific areas at specific times; serious 
public nuisance; and other instances of alcohol-related anti-social behaviour which is not 
directly attributable to specific premises.”

1.36 Through an EMRO, the Licensing Authority can restrict the sale of alcohol between 12 
midnight and 06.00am on all or some days, where it considers that there are alcohol related 
crime and disorder issues in the whole or a part of the Borough.

1.37 The Licensing Authority will consider evidence from Responsible Authorities, the Dartford 
and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership, together with its own evidence, to determine 
whether an EMRO is appropriate for the promotion of the Licensing Objectives.  The 
Licensing Authority must be satisfied that it has sufficient evidence to identify a problem in a 
specific area attributable to the supply of alcohol at two or more licensed Premises in that 
area.  Evidence will be considered in the same manner as with other licensing decisions.  
The Licensing Authority will also consider whether other measures may address the 
problems that it has identified as the basis for introducing an EMRO and consider the 
potential burden that would be imposed on licence holders as well as the potential benefits in 
terms of promoting the Licensing Objectives.

1.38 Other measures that could be taken instead of making an EMRO might include:

• introducing a cumulative impact policy (evidence based with Police data support);
• reviewing licences of specific problem licensed Premises;
• encouraging the creation of business-led best practice schemes in the area involving those 

licence holders with an interest in the late night economy and agencies who support the 
Licensing Objectives.

1.39 Where the Licensing Authority proposes to make an EMRO, it must follow the statutory 
advertisement and notification procedures set out in the Licensing Act 2003 (Early Morning 
Restriction Orders) Regulations 2012.  Any person wishing to make representations for, or 
against, the proposal, will have 42 days in which to lodge their comments.  If, following 
representations, there are any changes to the original proposal, the Licensing Authority will 
consult on any new EMRO proposal.  Representations will be heard by the Licensing Sub-
Committee.

It is for the General Assembly of the Council to decide the area, days and times in relation to 
which the EMRO would apply.  However, EMROs will not apply to any licensed Premises on 
New Year’s Eve.

1.40 The Licensing Authority will monitor the effectiveness of any EMRO, to ensure it continues to 
be appropriate for the promotion of the Licensing Objectives and periodically review whether 
it is appropriate to continue to apply it.

Late Night Levy

1.41 The late night levy enables the Licensing Authority to raise a contribution from late-opening 
alcohol suppliers towards the costs of policing crime and disorder connected to the supply of 
alcohol in the Borough of Dartford, between midnight and 6am.  If the levy is introduced (a 
local power that the Licensing Authority can choose whether or not to exercise), it is payable 
by all holders of Premises Licences or Club Premises Certificates which authorise the supply 
of alcohol at times beginning at or after midnight and ending at or before 6am (the Licensing 
Authority may determine the times but these must be the same each night).  

1.42 Licensed Premises that do not wish to operate in the levy period will be able to make a free 
minor variation to their licence before the levy is introduced.  The Licensing Authority may 



                                                                                                                                       

- 9 -

decide what exemptions and reductions should apply from a list set out in Late Night Levy 
(Expenses, Exemptions and Reductions) Regulations 20122.  Licensed Premises which are 
not part of the wider night-time economy (e.g. bingo halls, community halls, theatres and 
cinemas etc.) will be exempted from the levy.  Other licensed Premises will have to meet 
specific criteria to be considered for these exemptions.  The Licensing Authority has the 
discretion to exempt licensed Premises that only open late on New Year’s Eve.  

1.43 The amount of the late night levy is set at a national level.  The charge is calculated 
according to rateable value. This system applies to the existing licence fee and the levy 
charge is collected by the Licensing Authority, alongside the annual licence fee.

1.44 The Late Night Levy (Application and Administration) Regulations 2012 sets out the 
consultation procedure with the Police and other parties, which the Licensing Authority must 
comply with, before deciding whether to introduce the late night levy in the Borough of 
Dartford.

Advice and Guidance

1.45 The Licensing Authority recognises the valuable cultural, social and business importance 
that licensed Premises and events requiring a licence under the 2003 Act provide and 
welcomes the diversity of activities that are provided by licence holders.  For this reason, 
pre-application discussions will be encouraged to assist applicants to develop their 
Operating Schedule to the standards the Licensing Authority will normally expect.  The 
Licensing Authority will offer as much advice and guidance to applicants, as resources 
permit. 

1.46 The Licensing Authority will also seek to liaise with applicants and/or encourage mediation 
between applicants and others who may make Relevant Representations, to achieve a 
satisfactory outcome for all involved wherever possible and where resources permit.  
Where an applicant considers that Relevant Representations may be likely or probable, the 
applicant is advised to discuss the proposal with the Licensing Authority and those from 
whom they think Relevant Representations are likely, prior to submitting their application.  
Once an application has been lodged, there are statutory timescales imposed upon the 
application and determination process, which restrict the opportunity for such discussions, 
liaison and informal resolution, through mediation, between the applicant and those making 
Relevant Representations.

Consultation

1.47 The Licensing Authority is required to formally review this Policy every five years, as a 
minimum.  However, subject to the consultation provisions set out below, the Licensing 
Authority will keep this Policy under review to give effect to the Licensing Objectives and/or 
any changes to legislation or otherwise as it considers necessary.  Amendments will be 
published, either as a statement of the revisions, or as a revised ‘Licensing Policy 
Statement’.

1.48 There are a number of stakeholders who have an interest/stake in the leisure industry, 
including businesses, customers, residents and regulators, all of whom have views and 
concerns that require consideration as part of the licensing function and promotion of the 
Licensing Objectives.  When reviewing this Policy, the Licensing Authority will consult with:

 Chief Officer of Kent Police;
 Kent & Medway Towns’ Fire and Rescue Authority;
 Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership;
 Representatives of holders of Premises Licences, Club Premises Certificates and 

Personal Licences issued by the Licensing Authority;

2 see Home Office Guidance ‘Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 - Late Night Levy’



                                                                                                                                       

- 10 -

 Representatives of businesses and residents in the Borough of Dartford;
 Licensing Committee.

Reviews 

1.49 The Section 182 Guidance recognises that the promotion of the Licensing Objectives relies 
heavily on a partnership between the Licensing Authority, Responsible Authorities and 
licence holders and/or Any Other Persons, in pursuit of common aims.  It is considered 
good practice for the Licensing Authority and/or Responsible Authorities to give licence 
holders early warning of their concerns about problems identified at the licensed Premises 
concerned and of the need for improvement.  It is expected that a failure to respond to such 
warnings, would lead to a decision to request a Review.

1.50 The 2003 Act specifies that only Responsible Authorities or Any Other Persons may seek a 
Review of a Premises Licence and in the case of a Club Premises Certificate, this will also 
include members of the club.  No more than one Review will normally be permitted by the 
Licensing Authority within any 12 month period, on identical or substantially similar grounds, 
other than in exceptional and compelling circumstances (e.g. where new problems have 
arisen) or where a Review is required, following a Closure Order.

1.51 The Licensing Authority will first consider whether the reasons for the Review are relevant 
to one or more of the Licensing Objectives.  Secondly, the Licensing Authority must be 
satisfied that the application is not frivolous, vexatious or repetitious.

1.52 The Licensing Authority is a Responsible Authority for Premises Licences and Club 
Premises Certificates’ applications and will have the power to make Relevant 
Representations, which could lead to the refusal, removal or Review of a licence without 
representation from the Police or other Responsible Authority.

Enforcement

1.53 The Licensing Authority has adopted the principals of the Regulators' Compliance Code in 
the administration and enforcement of the licensing regime.  Specifically, the Licensing 
Authority is committed to the principles of good enforcement practice by carrying out its 
regulatory functions in a fair, open and consistent manner.

1.54 The Regulators' Compliance Code is based on the principles that businesses should:

 receive clear explanations from enforcers of what they need to do and by when; 
 have opportunities to resolve differences before enforcement action is taken - unless 

immediate action is needed; 
 receive an explanation of their rights of appeal.

1.55 The Licensing Authority recognises the interests of both individual citizens and the 
requirements of businesses and will work closely with partners to assist licence holders to 
comply with the law and the Licensing Objectives it seeks to promote. However, 
proportionate but firm action will be taken against those who commit serious offences or 
persistently break the law.  The Licensing Authority has set clear standards of service and 
performance that the public and businesses can expect.  In particular, a Licensing 
Enforcement Policy (see Appendix C) has been adopted that explains how the Licensing 
Authority will undertake and apply the principles of effective enforcement.  This Licensing 
Enforcement Policy can be also be viewed on the Licensing Authority’s website 
www.dartford.gov.uk

1.56 The Licensing Authority has established protocols with Kent Police, Kent & Medway 
Towns’ Fire and Rescue Authority and Kent County Council Trading Standards on 
enforcement issues.  These protocols provide for the targeting of resources towards high-

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


                                                                                                                                       

- 11 -

risk licensed Premises and licensing activities that require greater attention, while providing 
a lighter touch in respect of low risk licensed Premises that are well operated.

1.57 The principle of using a scoring scheme based on risk factors, will normally prevail and 
proactive inspections will usually be undertaken by the Licensing Authority in accordance 
with a priority inspection scheme.  This will ensure that resources are more effectively 
allocated to higher risk or ‘problem licensed Premises’.  Monitoring visits will also take place 
in around licensed Premises (see Appendix 'C').

Right of Appeal

1.58 The applicant, Any Other Persons and the Police, have a right of appeal to the Magistrates’ 
Court, against the Licensing Authority’s decision.  

1.59 It is important that the Licensing Authority gives comprehensive reasons for its 
decisions in anticipation of any appeals. Failure to give adequate reasons could itself 
give rise to grounds for an appeal. It is particularly important that reasons should also 
address the extent to which the decision has been made with regard to this Policy and 
the Guidance. Reasons will be promulgated to all the parties of any process, which 
might give rise to an appeal under the terms of the 2003 Act. 

1.60 It is important that the Licensing Authority also provides all parties who were party to 
the original hearing, but not involved directly in the appeal, with clear reasons for any 
subsequent decisions where appeals are settled out of court. Local residents in 
particular, who have attended a hearing where the decision was subject to an appeal, 
are likely to expect the final determination to be made by a court. 

1.61 Appeals must be lodged within 21 days, beginning with the day on which they are notified of 
the decision of the Licensing Authority.

Annual Fees - Suspension for Non-Payment 

1.62 The Licensing Authority will suspend a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate for 
non-payment of annual fees when they become due.  There are a limited number of 
exceptions to this rule:

 if the failure to pay was due to an administrative error (whether by the licence holder, the 
Licensing Authority or anyone else);

 if before or when the fee becomes due, the licence holder notifies the Licensing Authority 
in writing, that they dispute either their liability for or the amount of the fee; or

 the grace period of 21 days after the fee becomes due, has not expired.

Should these exceptions not apply, the Licensing Authority will serve a ‘notice of 
suspension’ on the licence holder, specifying a day, at least 2 working days after the date of 
the notice, on which the suspension will begin.  The suspension will last, until the fee is paid 
and the Licensing Authority has served an ‘acknowledgement of receipt’.  The receipt day 
specified on this acknowledgement, will be the date on which the suspension will be lifted.

2.0 LICENSING OBJECTIVES

2.1 The following sections set out the Licensing Authority's policy relating specifically to the 
Licensing Objectives: 

 The prevention of crime and disorder
 Public safety
 The prevention of public nuisance



                                                                                                                                       

- 12 -

 The protection of children from harm3

2.2 The Licensing Objectives are the only matters, which will be taken into account by the 
Licensing Authority when considering and determining applications.  Where the Licensing 
Authority receives Relevant Representations from a Responsible Authority or Any Other 
Persons, it may consider attaching Conditions to licences, certificates or authorisations, to 
promote the Licensing Objectives, as appropriate.

2.3 Conditions imposed by the Licensing Authority are ‘preventative’ as opposed to ‘punitive’ 
and are proportionate, reasonable and appropriate for the promotion of the Licensing 
Objectives.  Conditions are tailored to the individual style and characteristics of the 
particular licensed Premises and events concerned and may be drawn from the ‘Model 
Pool of Conditions’ (not an exhaustive list) set out in supporting guidance to the Section 
182 Guidance.  The Licensing Authority may consider it appropriate to impose Conditions 
not in the ‘Model Pool.’  Each application and the imposition of Conditions, will be 
considered on its merits.

2.4 This Policy provides lists of possible factors and control measures that would influence the 
achievement of the Licensing Objectives but, because of the wide variety of licensed Premises 
and Licensable Activities to which this Policy applies, the listed factors and control measures 
are not exhaustive.  Applicants know their licensed Premises best and are encouraged to 
address each Licensing Objective relevant to the individual style and characteristics of their 
licensed Premises and events in their Operating Schedule.

2.5 The Licensing Authority recommends the selection of control measures, to be based upon 
a risk assessment of the licensed Premises, events, activities and the customers expected 
to attend (e.g. their age, number, etc.) Applicants will therefore need to identify whether 
additional measures will be taken on an occasional or specific basis, such as when a 
special event or promotion is planned, which is intended to, or likely to attract, larger 
audiences. 

2.6 Whilst the Licensing Authority may not require risk assessments to be documented (other 
than where required by legislation), it considers such documentation to be good practice 
and a useful tool in the instruction and training of staff.  It is also a sound basis for review 
by the licence holder, in the event of an application for variation or a response to changing 
circumstances/conditions at the licensed Premises being required.

2.7 The Licensing Authority considers the effective and responsible management of the 
licensed Premises, instruction, training and supervision of staff and the adoption of best 
practice to be amongst the most essential control measures for the achievement of all the 
Licensing Objectives.

3. PREVENTION OF CRIME AND DISORDER

3.1 The Licensing Authority is committed to further improving the quality of life for the people of 
the Borough of Dartford, by continuing to reduce crime and the fear of crime.  

3.2 The Licensing Authority will consult and involve the Dartford and Gravesham Community 
Safety Partnership (CSP) in its decision making, in order to maximise the effectiveness of 
reducing crime, misuse of drugs and the fear of crime.

3.3 Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 provides a wide range of measures for 
preventing crime and disorder and imposes a duty on the Licensing Authority (and its CSP 
partners), to consider crime and disorder reduction in the exercise of all its duties. The 2003 
Act reinforces this duty.

3 The responsible authority for the protection of children from harm is: North Kent Social Services, C/o Civic Centre, Home Gardens, 
Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR



                                                                                                                                       

- 13 -

3.4 The promotion of the Licensing Objective, ‘to prevent crime and disorder’, places a 
responsibility on individuals, clubs or businesses holding a licence, certificate or 
authorisation to co-operate with the Licensing Authority in achieving this Objective. 
Applicants will be encouraged to demonstrate in their Operating Schedule, when necessary, 
that suitable and sufficient measures relevant to the individual style and characteristics of 
their licensed Premises and events, have been identified and which will be implemented 
and maintained, to reduce or prevent crime and disorder on and in the immediate area 
surrounding their licensed Premises. 

3.5 When addressing the issue of crime and disorder, the applicant must consider any factors 
that may impact on crime and disorder.  These might include:

 Underage drinking
 Drunkenness on licensed Premises
 Public drunkenness
 Drugs
 Violent behaviour
 Anti-social behaviour

3.6 The following examples of control measures are given to assist applicants when preparing 
their Operating Schedule, having regard to the individual style and characteristics of their 
licensed Premises and events:

 Effective and responsible management of licensed Premises
 Training and supervision of staff
 Adoption of best practice guidance (e.g. Safer Clubbing, National Alcohol Harm 

Reduction Strategy Toolkit4 and other voluntary codes of practice, including those 
relating to drinks promotions e.g. The Point of Sale Promotions published by the 
British Beer and Pub Association)

 Acceptance of accredited ‘proof of age’ cards for example “PASS Card” promoted by 
Kent Trading Standards and Kent Police – verification must include the individual’s 
photograph, date of birth and a holographic mark .e.g. driving licence, passports or 
military ID

 Provision of effective CCTV in and around licensed Premises
 Employment of Security Industry Authority Licensed Door Supervisors 
 Provision of toughened or plastic glasses
 Provision of secure deposit boxes for confiscated items (‘sin bins’)
 Provision of litterbins and other security measures, such as lighting, outside the 

licensed Premises
 Membership of the Dartford Town against Crime (D-TAC) Partnership.

3.7 With the exception of community premises e.g. church and village halls etc., anyone who 
authorise the sale or supply of alcohol must apply for a Personal Licence.  A premises 
supervisor must be designated by individuals, clubs or businesses holding a licence, 
certificate or authorisation and named in the Operating Schedule (the Designated 
Premises Supervisor (DPS)).  The DPS must also hold a Personal Licence.  The 
Licensing Authority will normally expect the DPS to have been given day-to-day 
responsibility for running the licensed Premises, by the Premises Licence holder.  In 
exceptional circumstances, the Police may object to the designation of a new premises 
supervisor as a DPS, where they believe that such appointment would undermine the 
crime prevention Licensing Objective.

3.8 Certain temporary events (at which Licensable Activities are to be undertaken) which are 
not authorised by a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate do not have to be 
authorised by the Licensing Authority on an application.  Instead, a person/organiser 
wishing to hold an event at which such activities are proposed to be carried on (the 
‘Premises User’) must notify the Licensing Authority, the Police and the EHA of the event, 

4 Department of Health, the Home Office and the Department of Children, Schools, and Families - 2008



                                                                                                                                       

- 14 -

using the form of Temporary Event Notice (TEN) prescribed by legislation5.  Depending on 
the nature and location of such events, these events can have serious crime and 
disorder/public nuisance implications.  

3.9 Under the 2003 Act ‘premises’ can mean any place. Events authorised under a TEN will 
therefore not always be in a building with a formal address and can take place, for 
example, in public parks and plots within larger areas of land. In all cases, the premises 
user should provide a clear description of the area in which they propose to carry on 
licensable activities, including whether the premises are, for example, an open field or a 
beer tent. 

3.10 The 2003 Act provides for two types of Temporary Event Notices (TENs) – the ‘standard 
TEN’ and the ‘late TEN’.

3.11 A ‘standard TEN’ must be submitted no less than 10 Working Days’ before the day of the 
event.  The Premises User is encouraged to provide the earliest possible notice  of any 
events planned, particularly as a Licensing Sub-Committee hearing may need to be 
convened, if objections have been received and to enable the Licensing Authority, Police 
and/or the EHA to work with the Premises User to identify and reduce the risk of crime and 
disorder.  

3.12 The Police and/or the EHA may submit an Objection Notice to the Licensing Authority.  A 
Licensing Sub-Committee hearing may need to be convened to decide on the basis of the 
Licensing Objectives, whether the event should go ahead. 

3.13 Objections to a ‘standard TEN’ may result in the Licensing Sub-Committee imposing 
conditions on the TEN, but only where the venue at which the event is to be held, has an 
existing Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate.  One or more Conditions (from the 
existing Conditions on the Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate) will be imposed 
on the ‘standard TEN’, but only if the Licensing Sub-Committee considers it appropriate for 
the promotion of the Licensing Objectives.  It is to be noted that the Police and/or the EHA 
may agree a modification of the proposed arrangements directly with the ‘Premises User’.

3.14 A ‘late TEN’ must be submitted no later than 5 clear working days and no earlier than 9 
working days before the event is due to take place.  The Police and/or the EHA may 
intervene to prevent a ‘late Ten’ taking place by submitting an Objection Notice to the 
Licensing Authority if they are satisfied that the event will undermine any of the Licensing 
Objectives.  If an objection is made to a ‘late TEN’, then the Licensing Authority will issue a 
counter notice.  In effect, a ‘late TEN’, which receives an objection, cannot go ahead.  
There is no scope under the 2003 Act for the modification of a’ late TEN ‘.

3.15 When giving a TEN, the Premises User must consider the promotion of the Licensing 
Objectives.  

3.16 A TEN does not relieve the Premises User from any requirements under planning law for 
appropriate planning permission, where it is required.

3.17 Premises Users may find the following documents helpful:
 The Event Safety Guide - A guide to health, safety and welfare at music and similar 

events (HSE 1999) ("The Purple Book") ISBN 0 7176 2453 6
 Managing Crowds Safely (HSE 2000) ISBN 0 7176 1834 X
 Steps to Risk Assessment: Case Studies (HSE 1998) ISBN 0 7176 1580 4
 The Guide to Safety at Sports Grounds (The Stationary Office 1997) ("The Green 

Guide") ISBN 0 11 300095 2

5 The Licensing Act 2003 (Permitted Temporary Activities) (Notices) (Amendment) Regulations 2012



                                                                                                                                       

- 15 -

 Safety Guidance for Street Arts, Carnivals, Processions and Large Scale 
Performances, published by the independent Street Arts Network, copies of which 
may be obtained through:www.streetartnetwork.org/pages/publications.

3.18 Exceptional events of local, national or international significance may arise, which could not 
have been anticipated when the application for a Premises Licence or Club Premises 
Certificate was first made.  In these circumstances, the Secretary of State may make a 
‘licensing hours order’ to allow licensed Premises to open for specified, generally extended 
hours on these special occasions.  This avoids the need for the Licensing Authority to 
process large numbers of TENS’ or applications to vary Premises Licences and Club 
Premises Certificates.  Typical events might include a one-off local festival or a Royal 
Jubilee.

3.19 Where the Licensing Authority has given notice in writing to the holder of the Premises 
Licence, prohibiting the exhibition of a film on the grounds that it contains matter, which, if 
exhibited, would be likely to:

 Encourage or incite crime or lead to disorder; or
 Stir up hatred or incite violence towards any section of the public on grounds of 

colour, race or ethnic or racial origin, disability, religious beliefs, sexual orientation or 
gender;

the Licensing Authority will expect that the film will not be exhibited in the licensed 
Premises, except with its written consent and in accordance with any Conditions attached 
to such consent.

3.20 The Licensing Authority will require all films to comply with the British Board of Film 
Classification (BBFC) guidelines.

4.0 PUBLIC SAFETY

4.1 The Licensing Authority is committed to ensuring that the safety of any person visiting or 
working in licensed Premises is not compromised.  To this end, applicants will be 
encouraged to demonstrate in their Operating Schedule, where necessary, that suitable 
and sufficient measures relevant to the individual style and characteristics of their licensed 
Premises and events, have been identified and will be implemented and maintained to 
ensure public safety.

4.2 When addressing the issue of public safety, the applicant must consider the factors that 
may impact on the standards of public safety.  These may include:

 The occupancy capacity of the licensed Premises
 The age, design and layout of the licensed Premises, including means of escape in 

the event of fire
 The nature of the Licensable Activities to be provided, in particular the sale or supply 

of alcohol, and including whether those activities are of a temporary or permanent 
nature

 The hours of operation noting the difference between opening hours and the hours of 
Licensable Activities ("drinking up time")

 Customer profile (e.g. age, disability)
 The use of special effects such as lasers, pyrotechnics, smoke machines, foam 

machines, strobe lighting etc.

4.3 The following examples of control measures are given to assist applicants when preparing 
their Operating Schedule, relevant to the individual style and characteristics of their 
licensed Premises and events:

 Suitable and sufficient risk assessments 



                                                                                                                                       

- 16 -

 Effective and responsible management of licensed Premises
 Provision of a sufficient number of people employed or engaged to secure the safety 

of the licensed Premises and patrons
 Appropriate instruction, training and supervision of those employed or engaged to 

secure the safety of the licensed Premises and patrons/customers
 Adoption of best practice guidance
 Provision of effective CCTV in and around licensed Premises
 Provision of toughened or plastic glasses
 Implementation of crowd management measures
 Regular testing (and certification where appropriate) of procedures, appliances, 

systems etc. pertinent to safety.

5.0 PREVENTION OF PUBLIC NUISANCE

5.1 Licensed Premises have a significant potential to adversely impact on communities through 
public nuisances that arise from their operation.  The Licensing Authority wishes to 
proactively maintain and protect the amenity of residents and other businesses from the 
potential consequence of the operation of licensed Premises, whilst recognising the 
valuable cultural, social and business importance that such licensed Premises provide.

5.2 The Licensing Authority interprets ‘public nuisance’ in its widest sense and takes it to 
include such issues as noise, light, odour, litter and anti-social behaviour, where these 
matters impact on those living or working in or around the licensed Premises. Individuals, 
clubs or businesses holding a licence, certificate or authorisation, are  responsible for 
minimising the impact of their activities and public nuisance by their customers/patrons, 
within the immediate area surrounding their licensed Premises, for example on the 
pavement, in a beer garden or in a smoking shelter, where and to the extent that these 
matters are within their control.

5.3 Applicants need to clearly understand that the Licensing Authority will pay particular 
attention to whether or not stricter Conditions should be imposed, including controls on 
licensing hours, where licensed Premises are in residential areas, with a view to protecting 
the quality of life of residential occupiers.

5.4 In the case of shops, stores, supermarkets and garages selling alcohol, for consumption off 
the licensed Premises, the general policy will be to allow sales of alcohol at all times when 
the licensed Premises are open for business.  Any decision not to allow sales of alcohol at 
particular times, will be based on evidence of the need to prevent crime, disorder and 
public nuisance (following Relevant Representations). 

5.5 Applicants will be encouraged to demonstrate in their Operating Schedule, when 
necessary, that suitable and sufficient measures relevant to the individual style and 
characteristics of their licensed Premises and events, have been identified and will be 
implemented and maintained to prevent public nuisance.  

5.6 When addressing the issue of prevention of public nuisance, the applicant must consider 
factors likely to contribute to public nuisance.  These factors may include:

 The location of licensed Premises and proximity to residential and other noise 
sensitive premises, such as hospitals, hospices, schools, nurseries and places of 
worship

 The hours of operation, particularly if between 23.00 and 07.00
 The nature of activities to be provided, including whether those activities are of a 

temporary or permanent nature and whether they are to be held inside or outside the 
licensed Premises

 The design and layout of the licensed Premises and in particular the presence of noise 
limiting features



                                                                                                                                       

- 17 -

 The occupancy capacity of the licensed Premises
 The availability of public transport
 Last admission time
 The steps the applicant has taken or proposes to take to ensure that staff leave the 

licensed Premises quietly
 The steps the applicant has taken or proposes to take to prevent disturbance by 

patrons arriving or leaving the licensed Premises
  Whether routes to and from the Premises, on foot or by car or service or delivery 

vehicles, pass residential premises
 Whether other measures have been taken or are proposed such as the use of CCTV 

or the employment of SIA Registered Door Supervisors
 The arrangements made or proposed for parking by patrons, and the effect of this 

parking on local residents
 The likelihood of any violence, disorder or policing problems arising if a licence were 

granted
 Whether taxis and private hire vehicles serving the licensed Premises are likely to 

disturb local residents
 The siting of external lighting, including security lighting that is installed 

inappropriately
 Whether the licensed Premises would result in increased refuse storage or disposal 

problems or additional litter in the vicinity of the licensed Premise and any measures 
or proposed measures to deal with this

 The history of previous nuisance complaints proved against the licensed Premises, 
particularly where statutory notices have been served on the present licensees.

5.7 The following examples of control measures are given to assist applicants when preparing 
their operating schedule, relevant to the individual style and characteristics of their licensed 
Premises and events: 

 Effective and responsible management of the licensed Premises
 Appropriate instruction, training and supervision of those employed or engaged to 

prevent incidents of public nuisance 
 Control of operating hours for all or parts (e.g. garden areas) of the licensed 

Premises, including such matters as deliveries
 Adoption of best practice guidance (e.g. Good Practice Guide on the Control of Noise 

from Pubs and Clubs6, produced by Institute of Acoustics or "Licensed Property: 
Noise Control" available from www.beerandpub.com). 

 Installation of soundproofing, air conditioning, acoustic lobbies and sound limitation 
devices

 Management of people, including staff, and traffic (and resulting queues) arriving and 
leaving the licensed  Premises

 Liaison with public transport providers
 Siting of external lighting, including security lighting
 Management arrangements for collection and disposal of litter
 Effective ventilation systems to prevent nuisance from odour. 

6.0 PROTECTION OF CHILDREN FROM HARM

6.1 In the context of many licensed Premises such as pubs, restaurants, café bars and hotels, 
the Licensing Authority does not wish to see the development of family-friendly 
environments frustrated by overly restrictive Conditions in respect of children, where there 
is no good reason to impose them.  Nothing, therefore, in this Policy limits the access of 
children to licensed Premises unless it is appropriate for the prevention of harm to children.  
No statement of policy can properly anticipate every issue of concern that could arise in 
respect of children with regard to individual licensed Premises and as such, general rules 

6 March 2003



                                                                                                                                       

- 18 -

will be avoided.  Consideration of the individual merits of each application remains the best 
mechanism for judging such matters.

6.2 Applicants are encouraged to demonstrate in their Operating Schedule, when necessary, 
that suitable and sufficient measures relevant to the individual style and characteristics of 
their licensed Premises and events, have been identified and will be implemented and 
maintained to protect children from harm.  The Licensing Authority commends the Portman 
Group Code of Practice7 on the naming and packaging of alcoholic drinks.

6.3 The protection of children from harm is an important issue and the risk of harm to children 
remains a paramount consideration when determining applications. The Licensing 
Authority will work actively with the Police and child protection agencies/bodies in enforcing 
the 2003 Act, where there are concerns regarding under-age sales and/or drinking.

6.4 In certain circumstances, children are more vulnerable and their needs will require special 
consideration.  This vulnerability includes their susceptibility to suggestion, peer group 
influences, inappropriate example, the unpredictability of their age and the lack of 
understanding of danger.  The ‘protection of children from harm’ includes:

(a) the protection of children from moral, psychological and physical harm and, in 
relation to the exhibition of films, the transmission of programmes; and

(b) the protection of children from exposure to strong language, sexual imagery and 
sexual expletives.  

6.5 Whilst children may be adequately protected from harm by the action taken to protect 
adults, they may also need special consideration and no policy can anticipate every 
situation.  When addressing the issue of protecting children from harm, the applicant must 
consider factors that may lead to or impact on harm to children. These factors include the 
potential for children to: 

 Purchase, acquire or consume alcohol
 Being exposed to drugs, drug taking or drug dealing
 Being exposed to gambling
 Being exposed to activities of an adult or sexual nature
 Being exposed to incidents of violence or disorder
 Being exposed to environmental pollution such as noise or smoke
 Being exposed to special hazards such as falls from a height

6.6 The following examples of control measures are given to assist applicants when preparing 
their Operating Schedule, relevant to the individual style and characteristics of their 
licensed Premises and events:

 Effective and responsible management of the licensed Premises
 Provision of a sufficient number of people employed or engaged to secure the 

protection of children from harm
 Appropriate instruction, training and supervision of those employed or engaged to 

secure the protection of children from harm
 Limitations on the hours when children may be present, in all or parts of the licensed 

Premises
 Limitations or exclusions by age when certain activities are taking place
 Imposition of requirements for children to be accompanied by an adult
 Acceptance of accredited ‘proof of age’ cards for example “PASS Card” promoted by 

Kent Trading Standards and Kent - verification must include the individual’s 
photograph, date of birth and a holographic mark .e.g. driving licence, passports or 
military ID

7 5th Edition – 31 May 2013



                                                                                                                                       

- 19 -

 The placing of machines to comply with the codes of practice under the Gambling Act 
2005 so that they can be properly supervised.

6.7 Where a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate authorises the exhibition of a film 
(including the exhibition of adverts), it must include a Condition requiring the admission of 
children to films to be restricted in accordance with the recommendations of the British 
Board of Film Classification (BBFC) or by the Licensing Authority.

6.8 The Licensing Authority will expect licensees to implement measures that restrict children 
from viewing age-restricted films classified according to the recommendations of the BBFC 
or the Licensing Authority.  In the case of a film exhibition that has not been classified, the 
Licensing Authority will expect the licensee to certify that an assessment of the suitability of 
the film for exhibition to children in accordance with the BBFC guidelines has been carried 
out and that this has been confirmed by the Licensing Authority in writing, prior to public 
viewing.

6.9 Where Regulated Entertainment is provided, the Licensing Authority will require the 
presence of an adequate number of adult staff to control the access and egress of children 
and to protect them from harm whilst on the licensed Premises (see the Section 182 
Guidance).  Where children are present as performers, the Licensing Authority will normally 
require an adequate number of adult staff to be responsible for the child performers. 

6.10 Complete bans on children entering all or part of licensed Premises will be rare, but the 
options for limiting the access of children, where appropriate, for the prevention of harm to 
children, include the following:

(1) limitations on the hours when and/or where children may be present;
(2) age limitations (below 18);
(3) limitations or exclusions when certain activities are taking place.
(4) requirements for an accompanying adult;
(5) full exclusion of people under 18 from the licensed Premises when any Licensable 

Activities are taking place;
(6) limitation on parts of the licensed Premises.

6.11 Examples of licensed Premises where children’s access will be limited, include where: 

(1) there have been convictions for serving alcohol to minors or where there is some 
evidence of under-age drinking

(2) there is a known association with drug taking or dealing
(3) there is a strong element of gambling on the licensed Premises
(4) entertainment of an adult or sexual nature is commonly provided
(5) there is a presumption that children under 18 should not be allowed (e.g. to 

nightclubs, except where under 18 discos are being held)
(6) Licensable Activities are taking place during times when children under 16 may be 

expected to be attending compulsory full-time education.

7.0 ADMINISTRATION, EXERCISE & DELEGATION

7.1 The Licensing Authority is involved in a wide range of licensing decisions and functions and 
has established a Licensing Committee to discharge its licensing functions under the 2003 
Act.  Powers/functions are further delegated to officers, under the Scheme of Delegations to 
Officers and to the Licensing Sub-Committee.  

7.2 The Licensing Sub-Committee provides a speedy, efficient and cost effective service to all 
parties involved in the licensing process.

7.3 Many of the decisions and functions are largely administrative in nature, such as the grant 
of non-contentious applications, including for example, the grant of Premises Licences, 



                                                                                                                                       

- 20 -

Club Premises Certificates and authorisations where no relevant representations have been 
made.  These decisions are delegated to officers.  

7.4 Where Relevant Representations are received, the application will be dealt with by the 
Licensing Sub-Committee, unless such Representations are considered irrelevant, frivolous 
or vexatious, or withdrawn or informally resolved before the Licensing Sub-Committee 
hearing.  

7.5 The table at paragraph 7.8 of this Policy, sets out the how the Licensing Authority exercises 
it licensing functions, which, where appropriate, will include the imposition of Conditions 
relevant to the Licensing Objectives.

7.6 Any arrangements made by virtue of the Scheme of Delegations to Officers, do not to 
prevent the Licensing Authority, Licensing Committee or Licensing Sub-Committee from 
exercising those functions. 

7.7 Meetings of the Licensing Committee and Licensing Sub-Committee are open to the public, 
except where confidential and/or exempt matters are being discussed.  Licensing Sub-
Committee members may retire into private session, to consider their decision.



                                                                                                                                       

- 21 -

7.8 Delegation of Functions:

Matter to be dealt with General 
Assembly of 
the Council 

Licensing 
Committee

Licensing 
Sub-
committee

Officers

Approval of Statement of 
Licensing Policy In all cases
Establish a Sub-Committee In all cases
Application for a Personal 
Licence

If a Police 
representation 
received

If no 
representation 
received

Application for a Personal 
Licence with unspent 
convictions

In all cases

Application for a Premises 
Licence/Club Premises 
Certificate

If a relevant 
representation 
received

If no relevant 
representation 
received

Application for a Provisional 
Statement

If a relevant 
representation 
received

If no relevant 
representation 
received

Application to vary Premises 
Licence/Club Premises 
Certificate

If a relevant 
representation 
received

If no relevant 
representation 
received

Application for a Minor 
Variation

In all cases

Application to vary the 
Designated Premises 
Supervisor

If a Police 
representation 
received

If no 
representation 
received

Request to be removed as 
Designated Premises 
Supervisor

In all cases

Application for Transfer of 
Premises Licence

If a Police 
representation 
received

If no 
representation 
received

Application for Interim 
Authorities

If a Police 
representation 
received

If no 
representation 
received

Application to Review 
Premises Licence/Club 
Premises Certificate

In all cases

Decision on whether a 
representation is relevant, 
frivolous, vexatious etc.

In all cases

Decision to object when local 
authority is a consultee and 
not the relevant authority 
considering the application

In all cases

Determination of a Police and 
or EHA objection to a 
‘standard’ Temporary
Event Notice

In all cases



                                                                                                                                       

- 22 -

Appendix A - Definitions

The following provides an explanation of the terminology referred to in this Policy:

'Any Other Persons' 
Anyone who can demonstrate that their business or residence is affected (or is likely to be 
affected) by Licensable Activities at the licensed Premises and entitled to make Relevant 
Representations.

'Appeals'
Appeals against decisions of the Licensing Authority are to the Magistrates' Court.  The appeal 
must be lodged within 21 days of being notified of the Licensing Authority's decision. On appeal, a 
Magistrates' Court may, dismiss the appeal; substitute its own decision; remit the case to the 
Licensing Authority with directions; and make an order for costs.

‘Associate [of the proposed ‘premises user’]
Is:
a. the spouse or civil partner of that person;
b. a child, parent, grandchild, grandparent, brother or sister of that person;
c. an agent or employee of that person; or
d. the spouse or civil partner of a person within (b) or (c).

For these purposes, a person living with another as that person’s husband or wife is to be treated 
as that person’s spouse.

'Closure Order'
Powers exercisable by the Police:

(a) to seek court orders to close licensed Premises in the Borough of Dartford, which are 
experiencing or likely to experience disorder; and 

(b) to close down instantly, individual licensed Premises that are:
• disorderly;
• likely to become disorderly; or
• are causing nuisance as a result of noise from the licensed Premises; or
• persistently selling alcohol to children.

These powers are available in relation to Premises licensed for the provision of Regulated 
Entertainment; and Late Night Refreshment and to Premises for which a TEN has effect.

'Club Premises Certificate'
Authorises the supply of alcohol and Regulated Entertainment in a Qualifying Club.  There is 
technically no sale by retail of alcohol (except to guests) because members of the club already own 
all the assets of the club, including the alcohol.  The money passing across the bar is merely a 
mechanism to preserve equity between members, where one may consume more than another.  
There is no requirement for a Personal Licence or to specify a Designated Premises Supervisor. 
The supply of alcohol must only be to a club member or a bona fide guest of a member.

'Conditions'
Can only be attached to Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates and must be tailored to 
the individual type, location and characteristics of the licensed Premises and events concerned.  
Conditions must be appropriate to promote one or more of the Licensing Objectives and be 
proportionate.

'Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS)'
The individual who holds a valid Personal Licence and is named on a Premises Licence which 
authorises the sale by retail of alcohol.  The DPS is the key person who will usually be charged 
with day to day management of the licensed Premises by the Premises Licence holder.  The DPS 



                                                                                                                                       

- 23 -

will provide an essential point of contact for police, fire officers or Licensing Authority officers so 
that problems can be dealt with swiftly.

'EHA'
Dartford Borough Council exercising its environmental health functions.

'Interim Authority Notice'
Issued following death, mental incapacity, insolvency or dissolution of the Premises Licence holder 
and allows for the Premises Licence to be reinstated for a maximum of three months to allow time 
for a Transfer application.

'Late Night Refreshment'
The supply of hot food heated to above ambient temperature or that, after it has been sold, can be 
heated on the licensed Premises) and/or drink to members of the public (whether for consumption 
on or off the licensed Premises) between the hours of 11.00pm and 05.00am.

'Licensable Activities'
 The sale by retail of alcohol;
 The supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club, or to the order of a member of the club;
 The provision of Regulated Entertainment;
 The provision of Late Night Refreshment.

‘Live Music’8

Amplified live music is not considered to be Regulated Entertainment, provided the following 
criteria are satisfied: 

 there is a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate in place permitting “on sales”; 
 the Premises are open for the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the licensed 

Premises; 
 live music is taking place between 8am and 11pm; 
 if the live music is amplified, the audience consists of no more than 200 people.

Where a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate permits live music beyond 11pm, any 
related conditions on the licence will still be applicable after that time.

Any Condition attached to the Premises Licence relating to live music, granted before 1 October 
2012, ceases to have effect in respect of the live music when offered between 8am and 11pm, 
unless the Condition has been or is reinstated by the Licensing Authority, on Review of the licence.

Unamplified live music provided anywhere, is not regarded as Regulated Entertainment, if it takes 
place between 8am and 11pm, regardless of the number of people in the audience. 

Unamplified live music after 11pm and amplified live music in non-licensed venues will still require 
formal authorisation from the Licensing Authority by way of a Premises Licence, Club Premises 
Certificate or Temporary Event Notice.

The provision of facilities for making music, the provision of facilities for dancing and the provision 
of facilities for anything similar to either music or dancing are not classed as Licensable Activities.

Morris dancing and any other similar forms of dance, such as maypole dancing, which is 
accompanied by amplified, live music and recorded music are exempt under the 2003 Act

Examples of performances that generally don’t need a licence are:
• karaoke
• busking

8 Live Music Act 2012



                                                                                                                                       

- 24 -

• spontaneous singing – e.g. people singing along to recorded music in a pub;
• incidental music - live music that is incidental to other activities that aren’t classed as Regulated 

Entertainment;
• rehearsals and sound checks (unless members of the public are charged admittance for the 

purpose of making profit)
• DJ playing tracks (unless he/she performs a set which consists mixing recorded music to create 

new sounds).

Entertainment facilities such as dance floors, microphone stands and pianos made available for 
use by the public are not licensable.

'Local Planning Authority'
Dartford Borough Council exercising its planning functions.

'Mandatory Conditions'
Conditions which the Licensing Authority is required (by the 2003 Act) to impose on a Premises 
Licence and Club Premises Certificate e.g. conditions relating to door supervision, exhibition of 
films, plays and where the licence authorises the supply of alcohol.

'Objection Notice'
By the Police on a Personal Licence application, where an applicant has an unspent conviction for 
a relevant or foreign offence;
By the Police and/or EHA in relation to a TEN;
By the Police in relation to an Interim Authority Notice

'Operating Schedule'
A document containing a statement of the following matters (and any others that may be 
prescribed):

 Steps to address the Licensing Objectives
 The Licensable Activities to be conducted on the licensed Premises
 The times during which the Licensable Activities are to take place and any other times 

when the licensed Premises are open to the public
 Where the licence is required only for a limited period, that period
 Where the Licensable Activities include the supply of alcohol, the name and address of the 

individual to be specified as the Designated Premises Supervisor.

'Personal Licence'
Granted to an individual and which authorises that individual to supply alcohol or authorises the 
supply of alcohol in accordance with a Premises Licence.  A Personal Licence lasts for 10 years 
and can be renewed.  It ceases to have effect when revoked, forfeited, surrendered or suspended.  
A Personal Licence holder is not required where the licensed Premises concerned do not supply 
alcohol as one of its Licensable Activities or for the supply of alcohol in a club which holds a Club 
Premises Certificate.  Only the Police can object to the grant of a Personal Licence (there is no 
equivalent to Relevant Representations as for Premises Licences).

‘Premise or Premises’
Means ‘any place’ in the 2003 Act.  Licensed Premises will therefore not always be a building with 
a formal address and postcode but may include, for example, public parks, recreation grounds and 
private land.

'Premises Licence'
Granted in respect of any licensed Premises used for one or more Licensable Activities.  Has effect 
until revoked, surrendered or on the death, insolvency etc. of the licence holder. 

'Qualifying Club'
There must be at least 25 members, a bona fide membership scheme in place, and the club must 
be conducted in good faith.  Instant membership is not permitted. 



                                                                                                                                       

- 25 -

'Regulated Entertainment'
Covers the provision of entertainment where the entertainment takes place in the presence of an 
audience and is provided, at least partly, to entertain that audience.  The descriptions of 
entertainment in the 2003 Act are:

 A performance of a play (but note the changes brought in on 27 June 2013 by the Licensing 
Act 2003 (Descriptions of Entertainment)(Amendment)(Order) 2013 referred to below*)

 An exhibition of a film
 An indoor sporting event ((but note the changes brought in on 27 June 2013 by the 

Licensing Act 2003 (Descriptions of Entertainment)(Amendment)(Order) 2013 referred to 
below*)

 A boxing or wrestling entertainment (indoors or outdoors)(including a contest, exhibition or 
display which combines boxing or wrestling with one or more martial arts (“combined 
fighting sports”);

 A performance of live music (but note the changes brought in on 1 October 2012 by the 
Live Music Act 2012 referred to above);

 Any playing of recorded music
 A performance of dance ((but note the changes brought in on 27 June 2013 by the 

Licensing Act 2003 (Descriptions of Entertainment)(Amendment)(Order) 2013 referred to 
below*)

 Entertainment of a similar description to the performance of live music, the playing of 
recorded music and the performance of dance.

Will require a Premises Licence, Club Premises Certificate or TEN if the entertainment is provided 
for members of the public or a section of the public, or for members of a club or its guests, or at a 
charge with the intention of making a profit unless the activities 

*The following are no longer classified as ‘Regulated Entertainment’ and as such, are not required 
to be licensed where they are performed between 8a.m and 11p.m:

 A performance of a play (up to audience limits of 500 people)
 A performance of dance (up to audience limits of 500 people and NOT including exhibitions 

of a sufficiently adult nature)
 An indoor sporting event (up to audience limits of 1000 people)

'Relevant Representations'
Made by a Responsible Authority or Any Other Persons for example in opposition to, or in support 
of, an application for a Premises Licence, Club Premises Certificate or a proposed EMRO.  
Relevant Representations must relate to the Licensing Objectives.  The making of Relevant 
Representations engages the Licensing Authority’s discretion to take 'steps' consistent with the 
Licensing Objectives when considering the application.  

'Responsible Authority'
Are automatically notified of all new applications.  Whilst all Responsible Authorities may make 
Relevant Representations regarding applications for Premises Licences and Club Premises 
Certificates and full variation applications, it is the responsibility of each Responsible Authority to 
determine when they have appropriate grounds to do so.

Responsible Authorities are:

 the Licensing Authority and any other licensing authority in whose area part of the licensed 
Premises is situated

 the Chief Officer of Police for the Borough of Dartford
 the Kent and Medway Towns’ Fire and Rescue Authority
 Kent Public Health Department
 the Health and Safety Executive
 Dartford Borough Council exercising its local planning authority functions



                                                                                                                                       

- 26 -

 Dartford Borough Council exercising its environmental health functions for minimising or 
preventing the risk of pollution of the environment or of harm to human health

 North Kent Social Services – Safeguarding Children’s Services (the body responsible for 
the protection of children from harm)

 in relation to a vessel, a navigation authority, the Environment Agency, or the British 
Waterways Board

 Kent Trading Standards
 Home Office Immigration Enforcement (on behalf of the Secretary of State).

'Review'
At any stage, following the grant of a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate, a 
Responsible Authority and/or Any Other Person, may ask the Licensing Authority to Review the 
licence or certificate because of a matter arising at the licensed Premises in connection with any of 
one or more of the Licensing Objectives.  The Licensing Authority will hold a Licensing Sub-
Committee hearing and as a result, may take any appropriate steps to promote the Licensing 
Objectives, such as modifying the Conditions, excluding Licensable Activities; removing a DPS, 
suspending the licence/certificate for up to three months, revoke the licence/certificate or reinstate 
Conditions. 

'Temporary Event Notice (TEN)'
A permitted temporary activity involving one or more Licensable Activities subject to the following 
limitations:

1. The number of standard TENS a person may give per annum - limited to 50 times p.a. for a 
Personal Licence holder and 5 times p.a. for other people

2. The number of late TENS a person may give per annum – limited to 10 times p.a. for a 
Personal Licence holder and 2 times p.a. for other people

3. The number of times a TEN may be given in respect of any particular licensed  Premises – 
limited to 12 times in a calendar year

4. The length of time a TEN – limited to 168 hours or 7 days;
5. The maximum aggregate duration of the periods covered by TENS at any individual

licensed Premises - limited to 21 days per calendar year
6. The scale of the event in terms of the maximum number of people attending at any one 

time - a maximum of 499 persons.

For the purposes of determining the overall limits of 50 TENS per Personal Licence holder (in a 
calendar year) and of 5 for a non-personal licence holder (in a calendar year), TENS given by an 
Associate or a person who is in business with a ‘premises user’ (and that business involves 
carrying on Licensable Activities) count towards those totals. The limits applying to late temporary 
event notices are included within the overall limits applying to the total number of TENS.

A TEN may only be given by an individual and not, for example, by an organisation or club or 
business.  The individual giving the notice is the proposed “premises user”.  For businesses, clubs 
or organisations, an individual will therefore need to be identified as the proposed ‘premises user’.

A TEN is only required for an indoor sporting event or the performance of dance or a play if the 
activity takes place before 08:00 or after 23:00 on any day.  As no more than 499 people can be 
permitted on authorised Premises by a TEN, a TEN cannot authorise the performance of a play or 
dance, or an indoor sporting event, where such an activity is licensable, because the relevant 
audience limit is exceeded.  Other Regulated Entertainment, or the sale or supply of alcohol, would 
need to be authorised by a TEN or a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate.

'Transfer'
On an application to transfer the Premises Licence into a new name e.g. if a Premises Licence 
holder sells his licensed  Premises, an application may be made to transfer the Premises Licence 
to the new owner.



                                                                                                                                       

- 27 -

Appendix B - Further Information & Contacts

Further information about the Licensing Act 2003 (as amended) and the Licensing Authority’s 
‘Statement of Licensing Policy’ can be obtained from:

Licensing Section
Dartford Borough Council
Civic Centre
Home Gardens
Dartford
Kent
DA1 1DR

Tel:      01322 343024
Fax:      01322 343607
Email:     licensing@dartford.gov.uk
Website: www.dartford.gov.uk

Information is also available from:

Home Office (Guidance to the Act)
The Alcohol Team
The Home Office
4th Floor, Fry Building (North West)
2 Marsham Street
London
SW1P 4DF

Email:     alcoholstrategy@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk
Website: www.gov.uk

HMSO (The Licensing Act 2003)
Website: www.hmso.gov.uk

Responsible Authorities:

Medway Police Station Kent Fire & Rescue Service
Eastbridge Fire Safety Office
Purser Way Dartford Fire Station
Gillingham Watling Street
Kent Dartford
ME7 1NE Kent

DA2 6EG

Tel:    01634 792733 Tel:      01322 278729
Fax:    01322 227962

Email: licensing.north.division@kent.police.pnn.uk Email: Dartford.firesafety@kent.fire-uk.org

Health & Safety/Environmental Health/Planning
Dartford Borough Council
Civic Centre
Home Gardens
Dartford
Kent
DA1 1DR

Tel: 01322 343434
Fax: 01322 343422
Email: environmental.admin@dartford.gov.uk (H & S/Environmental)

planning.admin@dartford.gov.uk (Planning)

mailto:licensing@dartford.gov.uk
http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:alcoholstrategy@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/
http://www.hmso.gov.uk/
http://www.hmso.gov.uk/
mailto:licensing.north.division@kent.police.pnn.uk
mailto:Dartford.firesafety@kent.fire-uk.org
mailto:environmental.admin@dartford.gov.uk
mailto:planning.admin@dartford.gov.uk


                                                                                                                                       

- 28 -

Area Manager Kent Public Health Department
North Kent Social Services Room 3.45, Sessions House 
Safeguarding Children’s Services County Hall
c/o Civic Centre County Road
Home Gardens Maidstone
Dartford Kent
Kent ME14 1XQ
DA1 1DR

Tel: 0300 3336379

KCC Trading Standards
Legal & Licensing Department
1st Floor, Invicta House
Maidstone
Kent
ME14 1XX

Tel: 01732 525291
Email: ts.licensing@kent.gov.uk

OTHER USEFUL CONTACTS:

The British Institute of Inn-keeping Security Industry Authority
(BII) (S.I.A.)
Wessex House PO Box 9
80 Park Street Newcastle Upon Tyne
Camberley NE82 6YX
Surrey 
GU15 3PT

Tel:         01276 684449 Tel:  08702 430100
Fax:        01276 23045 Fax:  08702 430125
Website: www.bii.org.uk Web: www.the-sia.org.uk

British Beer & Pub Association Bar, Entertainment & Dance
(BBPA) Association (BEDA)
Market Towers 5 Waterloo Road
1 Nine Elms Lane Stockport
London. SW8 5NQ Cheshire
SW8 5NQ SK1 3BD

Tel:         020 7627 9191 Tel: 01614 290012
Fax:        020 7627 9123 Fax: 01614 297214
Website: www.beerandpub.com Website: www.beda.gov.uk

The Portman Group Alcohol Concern
7-10 Chandos Street Waterbridge House
Cavendish Square 32-36 Loman Street
London London
W1G 9DQ SE1 0EE

Tel:      020 79073700 Tel:   020 7928 7377
Website: www.portman-group.org.uk Web: www.alcoholconcern.org.uk

mailto:ts.licensing@kent.gov.uk
http://www.bii.org.uk/
http://www.the-sia.org.uk/
http://www.beerandpub.com/
http://www.beda.gov.uk/
http://www.portman-group.org.uk/
http://www.alcoholconcern.org.uk/


                                                                                                                                       

- 29 -

Appendix C - Licensing Enforcement Policy

1. Aim

This Enforcement Policy is intended to fairly and firmly enforce the law in a consistent and 
transparent way, and in accordance with the four licensing objectives:-

 Prevention of crime and disorder
 Public Safety
 Prevention of public nuisance
 Protection of children from harm

The Licensing Authority will assist and advise wherever appropriate, but proportionate action will 
be taken against those who breach the provisions of the 2003 Act.

The Licensing Authority has adopted the provisions of the Regulators' Compliance Code9. In 
accordance with this Code, this Licensing Enforcement Policy helps to promote efficient and 
effective approaches to regulatory inspection and enforcement, which improve regulatory 
outcomes without imposing unnecessary burdens. 

In certain instances, the Licensing Authority may conclude that a provision in the Regulators' 
Compliance Code is either not relevant or is outweighed by another provision.  In exercising its 
licensing functions, the Licensing Authority will ensure that any decision to depart from the Code 
will be properly reasoned, based on material evidence and documented.

2. Liaison with Police and other Responsible Authorities

The Licensing Authority takes a proactive stance towards the proper regulation of, and 
enforcement of the provisions of the 2003 Act.  The Licensing Authority promotes and endorses 
multi-agency co-operation where appropriate and will work actively with the Police and other 
Responsible Authorities, in enforcing the licensing legislation. This may necessitate the sharing of 
information in relation to those persons involved in licensing and relevant licensed Premises based 
on the requirements of the 2003 Act, Criminal Justice and Police Act 1994, Crime and Disorder Act 
1998, the Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006 and other relevant legislation.

Under the Data Protection Act 2018, the Licensing Authority collects and uses personal information 
where it is necessary:

• for compliance with a legal obligation;
• for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of official 

authority vested in the Licensing Authority.

The Licensing Authority also shares personal information (through the Kent & Medway Information 
Sharing Agreement 2018) with other bodies. 

On occasions, complaints about licensed Premises may be dealt with by other agencies/bodies 
such as Trading Standards and/or Kent Police.  The Licensing Authority will normally take a lead 
on issues including:-

• Noise
• Production and display of relevant licences and documents
• Unauthorised Licensable Activities in relation to the provision of regulated entertainment
• Breaches of Conditions of Premises Licences
• Breaches of requirements under a Temporary Event Notice
• Exposing and keeping of alcohol on licensed Premises for unauthorised sale.

9 Issued by BERR - 17 December 2007



                                                                                                                                       

- 30 -

This Licensing Enforcement Policy does not restrict or prevent other regulatory bodies from 
carrying out enforcement under their own regulatory powers.

3. Licensing Premises’ Visits

Officers will make licensing visits to licensed Premises, and may on occasion be accompanied by 
the Police and/or other regulatory agencies.

The Licensing Authority considers that working with business is the primary method to achieve the 
Licensing Objectives, but will take appropriate enforcement action if necessary.

The visiting regime for licensed Premises is not decided solely on a risk assessment basis.  The 
Licensing Authority will, as part of its proactive stance, make regular visits to and in the vicinity of 
licensed Premises, in order to assess the impact of their operation on residents and other 
businesses in the area.

There will be a presumption that visits will take place when various crime and disorder and other 
indicators show that there are potential problems developing in relation to specific licensed 
Premises or areas in the Borough.

The Licensing Authority will monitor patron movement to, from and between licensed Premises and 
the provision and accessibility of transport to assist dispersal of persons away from licensed 
Premises. The information gained from these monitoring exercises will inform the development of 
this Licensing Enforcement Policy.

4. Consistency

The Licensing Authority, in exercising its licensing functions and its officers, will act in a fair and 
consistent manner. Officers, whilst exercising their professional judgement in individual cases, will 
do so within a framework based on consistency and fairness in action.

There will be specific circumstances when the Licensing Authority, exercising its licensing functions 
will share an enforcement role with the Police or other regulatory agencies. When this occurs, the 
same degree of consistency and fairness will be applied.

5. Proportionality

The Licensing Authority will, as far as the law allows and where co-operation is given, work with 
business/licensees to enable them to meet their legal obligations without undue cost.

The Licensing Authority will take into account the cost of compliance by ensuring that any 
enforcement or remedial action required is proportionate to the risks.  However, clear breaches of 
the 2003 Act may attract prosecution and/or recommendations for Review of the licence, where it 
is deemed to be in the public interest.

6. Enforcement Action/Options

i. The initial contact between Licensing Authority and business/licensees, will normally be 
informal, with the provision of advice, guidance and support.

ii. Enforcement action can include the following progressive approach to achieve compliance:

 Verbal advice - which may be documented
 Written advice
 Verbal warning - which may be documented
 Written warning
 Statutory Notice



                                                                                                                                       

- 31 -

 Formal Caution
 Prosecution

The individual circumstances of the breach of the 2003 Act will determine the level of 
enforcement by the Licensing Authority.  All actions will be considered in accordance with 
the requirements of the Human Rights Act 1998 and on the individual merits of each case.

iii. A Responsible Authority or Any Other Persons may make an application to the Licensing 
Authority for the Review of a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate because of a 
matter arising at the licensed Premises in connection with any of the Licensing Objectives.  
The Licensing Sub-committee will consider a Review application and further evidence from 
the licence holder against any claims made and may consider one or more of the following 
steps as necessary;

• modify the Conditions of the Premises licence/Club Premises Certificate;
• exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence;
• remove the Designated Premises Supervisor;
• suspend the licence for a period not exceeding 3 months;
• revoke the licence.

Alternatively, the Licensing Sub-Committee may consider that no action is required or issue 
a warning regarding future conduct.

It is to be noted that the Licensing Authority is a Responsible Authority for Premises 
Licences and Club Premises Certificates’ applications and will have the power to refuse, 
remove or Review a licence without representation from the Police or other Responsible 
Authority.

iv Before deciding whether to prosecute for any breaches of the 2003 Act, the following factors 
will be considered by the Licensing Authority:-

 The seriousness of the alleged offence
 The history of the business/person concerned
 The willingness of the business/individual to prevent a reoccurrence of the problem and 

the level of co-operation with Officers, Police and/or other agencies.
 Whether it is in the public interest to prosecute
 The realistic prospect of conviction
 Whether any other action (including a formal caution) would be appropriate
 The views of any complainant and other parties with an interest in a prosecution.

On conviction of a relevant offence under the 2003 Act, Magistrates’ may endorse, suspend 
or revoke a Personal Licence.





CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
10 DECEMBER 2018

DRAFT GAMBLING POLICY – JANUARY 2019 TO JANUARY 2022

1. Summary

1.1 To propose the adoption of the draft Gambling Policy 2019-2022 under 
the Gambling Act 2005.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

To Cabinet

2.1.That Cabinet note that no responses were received to the consultation on 
the draft Gambling Policy 2019-2022.

2.2.That the Draft Gambling Policy at Appendix A to the report, be 
recommended to the General Assembly of the Council for adoption.

     To the General Assembly of the Council

2.3.That the Draft Gambling Policy at Appendix A be adopted for the period 
January 2019 to January 2022. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1.The Gambling Act 2005 contains three licensing objectives, which underpin 
the functions that the Gambling Commission and licensing authorities will 
perform. These objectives are central to the regulatory regime created by 
the Act. They are:

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder, or being used to support crime;

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; and

 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling.

3.2 The Council is required to adopt a statutory Gambling Policy to guide its 
decisions on licence applications. The Gambling Policy is required to 
comply with extensive national guidance, and any departures must be 
supported by evidence, justifying a different policy approach.

3.3 The existing Gambling Policy was adopted by the Council on 14 December 
2015 [Min. No. 75] for the period 3 January 2016 and will expire on the 2 



CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
10 DECEMBER 2018

January 2019. The proposed draft Gambling Policy at Appendix A will 
cover the period 3 January 2019 to 2 January 2022.

3.4 The draft Gambling Policy for the purposes of consultation was approved 
by Cabinet on 26 July 2018 [Min. No. 37]. At that time, it was proposed that 
a further report be submitted to Cabinet on 6 December 2018 summarising 
comments made in response to the consultation and suggesting 
amendments as necessary to the draft Policy.

3.5 Consultation on the draft Gambling Policy was carried out in accordance 
with national guidance. The draft Gambling Policy was made available on 
the website, in the Civic Centre reception, all public libraries within the 
Borough and was sent to all Responsible Authorities, as defined within the 
Act, as well as numerous trade associations and other persons 
representing gambling businesses in the area.

3.6 A comprehensive review of the Gambling Policy was undertaken by the 
Licensing Committee, during the consultation period, on 26 September 
2018 [Min. No. 7].  It was resolved that the Gambling Policy was already a 
very comprehensive document and that the Licensing Committee would 
not be making a formal response during the consultation process.

3.7 The Licensing Committee did however request that two additional 
conditions be detailed within Appendix 2 of the draft Gambling Policy 
relating to overt advertising and doors remaining closed. These have been 
included on page 24.

3.6 No responses were received to the consultation. 

3.7 Cabinet is asked to recommend the draft Gambling Policy 2019-2022 to 
the General Assembly of the Council for adoption.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not Applicable. 

3. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

SC1: To use the Council’s statutory functions to ensure public safety in the 
Borough.

SC2: To reduce anti-social behavior

SC3: To increase public perception of the borough as a safe place



CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
10 DECEMBER 2018

4. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications The statutory framework for the Council’s 

Gambling Policy is provided in the Gambling 
Act 2005 and the extensive national guidance 
which has been issued following the enactment 
of the primary legislation

Staffing Implications Licensing Section already in place
Administrative Implications Licensing Section already in place

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

5. Appendices

Appendix A – Draft Gambling Policy 2019- 2020

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Gambling Act 2005
Gambling Commission guidance 
to Local Authorities - September 
2014
Gambling Commission Guidance 
5 Edition  – November 2015 

05/11/2018 Joanne Philpott
(01322) 343024

Licensing 
Strategic

N/A





GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 1

Appendix A

Gambling Policy 
Statement

Dartford Borough 
Licensing Authority

03 January 2019 to 02 January 2022
If you or anybody you know requires this or any 
other council information in another language, 
please contact us and we will do our best to 
provide this for you. Braille, Audio tape and large 
print versions of this document are available upon 
request. 

Tel: 01322 343434
Fax: 01322 343432
Email: customer.services@dartford.gov.uk

Calls are welcome via NGT Relay 

mailto:customer.services@dartford.gov.uk


GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 2

Contents
Item Page

1. Introduction 3
2. Consultation 4
3. Declaration 4
4. The Licensing Objectives 6
5. Casinos 8
6. Functions 8
7. Local Risk Assessments 9
8  Responsible Authorities 10
9. Interested parties 11
10. Exchange of information 12
11. Enforcement 12

The appendices that follow form part of this Gambling Policy Statement 

Appendix 1: Permits 13
(i) Unlicensed family entertainment centre gaming machine permits 13
(ii) (Alcohol) licensed premises gaming machine permits 14
(iii) Prize gaming permits 14
(iv) Club gaming and club machine permits 15
Appendix 2: Premises Licences 17
(i) Decision making – general 17
(ii) “Premises” 18
(iii) Location 19
(iv) Planning 19
(v) Duplication 19
(vi) Door supervisors 19
(viii) Reviews 20
(ix) Provisional statements 20
(x) Adult gaming centres 21
(xi) (Licensed) family entertainment centres 21
(xii) Tracks 22
(xiii) Casinos 23
(xiv) Bingo 24
(xv) Temporary Use Notices 24
(xvi) Occasional Use Notices 24
(xvii) Travelling fairs 24
(xviii) Betting premises 24
Information Exchange 25
GamCare Information 25
Appendix 3: Responsible Authorities Contact Details 26
Appendix 4: Summary of licensing authority delegations 27



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 3

1. Introduction

Dartford Borough Licensing Authority is situated in the County of Kent, which contains 12 District 
Licensing Authorities and 1 Unitary Authority in total. Each is represented on the Kent & Medway 
Regulatory Licensing Steering Group (K&MRLStGp) whose role includes the identification of 
issues on which a consistent countywide approach is considered essential and the formulation of 
recommended policy that establishes a minimum standard on these identified issues. 

This Gambling Policy Statement has been formulated in conjunction with the K&MRLStGp. This 
edition has been comprehensively revised to reflect clearly the expectations of Dartford Borough 
Council in its role as a Licensing Authority.

This Statement of Principles endeavours to carefully balance the interests of those who provide 
facilities for gambling and people who live, work in, and visit Dartford.  Its focus is to aim to permit 
gambling, as required by section 153 of the Gambling Act 2005, in so far as it is (a) in accordance 
with the Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice; (b) in accordance with 
the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities that is in effect at the time the 
application is considered; (c) reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and (d) in 
accordance with this Statement of Principles

The Borough of Dartford lies at the heart of the Thames Gateway and is easily accessible, being 
located at Junction 1 of the M25 motorway and only 17 miles from London. To the south, the town 
is by-passed by the A2. The Dartford Tunnels carry northbound traffic under the Thames and the 
Queen Elizabeth II Bridge takes traffic moving southwards. From the town centre the land rises 
sharply to residential districts in the east and west. A number of parishes lie to the south and east 
of the town, each of which has its own centre.

The majority of gambling premises are located in the Town Centre and include three Adult Gaming 
Centres and several Betting Shops (Bookmakers). There are also Betting Shops found within the 
parishes and at other locations in the Borough. Additionally, the majority of Public Houses and 
Members’ Clubs have gaming machines which may require permits from Dartford Borough 
Licensing Authority (the Licensing Authority).



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 4

The Licensing Authority is required by the Gambling Act 2005 to publish a statement of the 
principles that it proposes to apply when exercising its functions.  This statement must be 
published at least every three years.  The statement can also be reviewed from “time to time” and 
the amended parts re-consulted upon.  The statement must then be re-published.

In determining its Gambling Policy Statement, the Licensing Authority must have regard to the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities1 and will give appropriate weight to the 
views of those it has consulted. The Licensing Authority consulted widely on this Gambling Policy 
Statement before finalising and publishing it.

The Gambling Act 2005 requires that the following parties be consulted by Licensing Authority:

 The Chief Officer of Police
 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of persons 

carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s area
 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of persons 

who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority’s functions under the 
Gambling Act 2005

2. Consultation 

In accordance with the Act, this Gambling Policy Statement has been prepared in consultation with 
the following parties: 

 North Kent Area Commander, North Kent Police
 Neighbouring Authorities 
 Bodies designated under section 157 of the Act as ‘Responsible Authorities’ 
 Person/bodies representative of gambling businesses 
 Representatives of persons or business who hold premises licences 
 Organisations working with people who are problem gamblers 
 Representatives of health care organisations 
 Representatives of voluntary and community organisations working with children and 

young people 

The names and addresses of those persons/bodies consulted in the preparation of this Gambling 
Policy Statement are available on request to the Licensing Authority.

The consultation took place between 01 August 2018 and 12 October 2018. Consultation 
documents were provided on the Licensing Authority’s website. The full list of comments made, 
and the consideration by the Licensing Authority of those comments, is available on request to the 
Licensing Authority.
 
Appropriate weight has been given to the views of those consulted, and in determining the weight 
given, the factors the Licensing Authority has taken into account include: 

 Who made the representations, including their expertise or interest; 
 Relevance of the factors to the licensing objectives; 
 How many other people expressed the same or similar views; 
 The relevance of the representations, i.e. did they relate to matters the Licensing 

Authority should take into account.

1 5th Edition 2015 updated September 2016



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 5

3. Declaration 

In producing this Gambling Policy Statement, the Licensing Authority has had regard to: 

 The licensing objectives set out in the  Gambling Act 2005; 
 The guidance issued by the Gambling Commission in March 2015 and updated in 

September 20162; 
 The Gambling Regulation: Licensing Authority handbook issued by the Local 

Government Association3; 
 Any relevant Codes of Practice issued by the Gambling Commission; 
 Any relevant Regulations issued by the Secretary of State; and 
 The response of those consulted on this Gambling Policy Statement. 

Nothing in the Gambling Policy Statement overrides the right of any person to make an application, 
make representations about an application, or apply for a review of a licence. 

The Licensing Authority will consider each application on its own merits, in accordance with the 
statutory requirements of the Gambling Act 2005 and the Gambling Commission’s Guidance. 
However, the Licensing Authority may, if it considers it right to do so, depart from this Gambling 
Policy Statement and the Gambling Commission’s Guidance. Reasons for ‘departure’ will be 
clearly explained. 

The Licensing Authority will act in accordance with the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its 
exchange of information, which includes the requirement that the Data Protection Act 2018 will not 
be contravened. The Licensing Authority will also have regard to any guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission on this matter as well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of 
State. 

The Licensing Authority will maintain a register of licences and permits issued under the Gambling 
Act 2005, together with such other information as may be prescribed. The register and information 
will be available for inspection by members of the public at all reasonable times. The Licensing 
Authority will, on the payment of a reasonable fee, provide a copy of an entry in the register, or of 
information, to a member of the public on request. 

Any person wanting information on the content of the register or the cost of a copy of an entry from 
the register should contact the Licensing Team (see section 15 for contact details). 

The Licensing Authority has not passed a resolution under Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005 
excluding the issue of casino licences. Should the Licensing Authority decide in the future to pass 
a ‘no casino’ resolution, it will update this Gambling Policy Statement with details of that resolution. 

In carrying out its functions under the Gambling Act 2005, the Licensing Authority has regard to the 
Human Rights Act 1998, and in particular: 

 Article 1, Protocol 1 – peaceful enjoyment of possessions. A licence is considered a 
possession in law and people should not be deprived of their possessions except in the 
public interest; 

 Article 6 – right to a fair hearing; 
 Article 8 – respect for private and family life. In particular, removal or restriction of a 

licence may affect a person’s private life; and 
 Article 10 – right to freedom of expression. 

2 5th Edition
3 June 2015



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 6

4. Licensing Objectives 

This section provides additional information in relation to the principles the Licensing Authority will 
apply in the promotion of the three licensing objectives. 

Objective 1 - Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime 

The Licensing Authority acknowledges that the Gambling Commission plays a leading role in 
preventing gambling from being a source of crime. If during the course of considering a Premises 
Licence application, or at any other time, the Licensing Authority receives information that causes it 
to question the suitability of the applicant to hold a licence, these concerns will be brought to the 
attention of the Gambling Commission without delay. 

The Licensing Authority will consider the location of premises in the context of this licensing 
objective. For example, if an application for a licence or permit is received in relation to premises 
that are in an area noted for particular problems with organised crime, the Licensing Authority will 
consider what (if any) controls might be appropriate to prevent those premises becoming a source 
of crime.  These might include conditions being put on the licence, such as a requirement for door 
supervisors. 

The Licensing Authority notes that in the case of Premises Licences, disorder is intended to mean 
activity that is more serious and disruptive than nuisance. Factors to consider in determining 
whether a disturbance was serious enough to constitute disorder would include whether police 
assistance was required and how threatening the behaviour was to those who could see or hear it.  
However, the Licensing Authority may use other powers to deal with premises that are causing a 
nuisance. 

Should there be persistent or serious disorder problems that an operator could or should do more 
to prevent; the Licensing Authority will bring this to the attention of the Gambling Commission so 
that it can consider the continuing suitability of the operator to hold an operating licence. In 
addition, the Licensing Authority has the ability to review licences 

In relation to preventing disorder, the Licensing Authority does have the ability under section 169 of 
the Gambling Act 2005, to impose licence conditions. 

Objective 2 - Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 

The Licensing Authority acknowledges that the Gambling Commission has stated that it would 
generally not expect licensing authorities to become concerned with ensuring that gambling is 
conducted in a fair and open way, as this will be a matter for either the management of the 
gambling business, and therefore subject to an operating licence, or the individual and therefore 
subject to a personal licence. 

The Licensing Authority will however have a role to play in respect of the licensing of tracks, as the 
track operator will not necessarily have an operating licence issued by the Gambling Commission. 
In such instances, the Licensing Authority may consider the imposition of conditions on the 
Premises Licence to ensure that the environment in which the betting takes place is suitable. 

The Licensing Authority has noted that the Gambling Commission will achieve the promotion of this 
objective by working to ensure that: 

 Operating and personal licences are issued only to those who are suitable to offer 
gambling facilities or work in the industry; 

 Easily understandable information is made available by operators to players about, for 
example: the rules of the game, the probability of losing or winning, and the terms and 



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 7

conditions on which business is conducted; 
 The rules are fair; 
 Advertising is not misleading; 
 The results of events and competitions on which commercial gambling takes place are 

made public; and 
 Machines, equipment and software used to produce the outcome of games meet 

standards set by the Commission and operate as advertised. 

The Licensing Authority will bring any concerns it may have over the promotion of this objective to 
the attention of the Gambling Commission so that it can consider the continuing suitability of the 
operator to hold an operating licence, or individual to hold a personal licence.

Objective 3 - Protecting children and other vulnerable people from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling 

The Licensing Authority understands that, with limited exceptions, the intention of the Gambling Act 
2005 is that children and young persons should not be permitted to gamble and should be 
prevented from entering those gambling premises, which are adult-only environments.  
Furthermore, the Licensing Authority acknowledges that the objective in relation to children is 
explicitly to protect them from being “harmed or exploited by gambling”; and that this requires there 
to be restrictions on advertising so that gambling products are not aimed at children or advertised 
in such a way that makes them particularly attractive to children.
 
In carrying out its function under the Gambling Act 2005, the Licensing Authority will consider 
whether specific measures will be needed to protect children on particular categories of premises. 
This may include requirements such as supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling from 
areas frequented by children and supervision of gaming machines in licensed family entertainment 
centres (FECs). These considerations will also be particularly relevant on tracks (where children 
will be permitted in the betting areas on race-days).  

To assist those licensed premises that are subject to a mandatory condition that prohibits entry to 
persons under the age of 18, the Licensing Authority would recommend that, as a minimum, a 
‘Challenge 21’ policy is in operation. This means that whilst persons who are aged 18 or over may 
be permitted entry to the premises, any person who appears under the age of 21 is challenged and 
required to provide appropriate ID.  Appropriate ID is either a passport, photo driving licence or a 
photo ID card bearing the PASS hologram. 

The Licensing Authority will consider, in relation to particular premises, whether any special 
considerations apply in relation to the protection of “vulnerable persons”. Any such considerations 
will be balanced against the Licensing Authority’s aim to permit the use of premises for gambling. 
In making such considerations, the Licensing Authority will have regard to the fact that whilst the 
Gambling Commission has not defined “vulnerable persons”, it has for regulatory purposes, 
assumed that this group includes people who: 

 gamble more than they want to; 
 people who gamble beyond their means; and 
 may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about gambling due to a 

mental impairment, alcohol or drugs. 

The Licensing Authority will consider the location of premises in the context of this licensing 
objective.  For example, the proximity of gambling premises to schools and vulnerable adult 
centres, or to residential areas where there may be a high concentration of families with children.

Problem gambling can have a detrimental effect on personal finances as the attempt to chase 
losses becomes unmanageable.  As well as spending wages, savings and spare cash, debts can 



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 8

also be a feature of problem gambling as a result of borrowings and loans to cover gambling 
loses.   However, the effects of problem gambling can cost more than money.  Problem gamblers 
often say they feel isolated as a result of their solitary pursuits of chasing loses.  There is a 
tendency to stay away from school, college or work in order to gamble. In addition, there is often a 
preoccupation with gambling, a lack of interest in maintaining relationships and a lack of motivation 
to engage in social activities.  There is often reluctance amongst gamblers to spend money on 
items of clothing or household goods as this expenditure is often seen as funds for gambling. 
There can also be an unwillingness to pay utility bills, as money would rather be used for gambling 
purposes.  Problem gambling can be progressive in nature and problem gamblers can end up 
engaging in criminal activity to fund their gambling. This can lead to lifelong consequences with 
criminal convictions. 

5. Casinos 
 
No Casinos resolution – Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005 gives a licensing authority the 
ability to resolve not to issue casino Premises Licences. The Licensing Authority has not passed a 
‘no casino’ resolution. Should the Licensing Authority decide in the future to pass such a resolution, 
it will update this Gambling Policy Statement with details of that resolution. 

6. Functions under the Gambling Policy 

‘Gambling’ is defined in the Gambling Act 2005 as either, gaming, betting or taking part in a lottery. 

 ‘Gaming’ means playing a game of chance for a prize; 
 ‘Betting’ means making or accepting a bet on the outcome of a race, competition, or any 

other event; the likelihood of anything occurring or not occurring; or whether anything is true 
or not; 

 A ‘lottery’ is where persons are required to pay in order to take part in an arrangement, 
during the course of which one or more prizes are allocated by a process, which relies wholly 
on chance. 

The Gambling Act 2005 provides for three categories of licences: 

 Operating Licences; 
 Personal Licences; and 
 Premises Licences. 

The Licensing Authority will be responsible for issuing Premises Licences and the Gambling 
Commission for issuing Operating and Personal Licences. Licensing remote gambling falls to the 
Gambling Commission, via an Operator’s Licence. 

The main function of the Licensing Authority under the Gambling Act 2005 is to: 

 Licence premises for gambling activities 
 Grant permits for gambling and gaming machines in clubs 
 Regulate gaming and gaming machines in alcohol licensed premises 
 Grant permits to family entertainment centres for the use of certain lower stake gaming 

machines 
 Grant permits for prize gaming 
 Consider notices given for the temporary use of premises for gaming 
 Consider occasional use notices for betting at tracks 
 Register small societies lotteries 

Premises Licences granted by the Licensing Authority may authorise the provision of facilities on: 

 Casino premises; 



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 9

 Bingo premises; 
 Betting premises, including tracks; 
 Adult gaming centres; and 
 Family entertainment centres. 

Except in the case of tracks, Premises Licences may only be issued to people with a relevant 
Operating Licence granted by the Gambling Commission. Premises Licences are transferable to 
someone else holding a valid Operating Licence. The Licensing Authority may attach conditions to 
Premises Licences. 

Other forms of authorisation issued by the Licensing Authority may include authorising the 
temporary use of premises, occasional use notices, five different sorts of permit for unlicensed 
family entertainment centres, prize gaming, gaming machines on alcohol-licensed premises, club 
gaming and club gaming machines. 

Application forms and information on application fees is available on the Licensing Authority’s 
website www.dartford.gov.uk

7. Local Risk Assessments 

The ‘Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP)’4 issued by the Gambling Commission 
formalises the need for operators to consider local risks. As part of the application process, 
licensees are required to submit a local risk assessment when applying for a new Premises 
Licence.  

From April 2016, the ‘Social responsibility (SR) Code 10.1.1’ (issued by the Gambling Commission) 
will require existing licence holders to assess individual premises in order to identify any local risk 
that gambling facilities may pose on the promotion of the licensing objectives and to have policies, 
procedures and control measures to mitigate those risks. 

Licence holders will also be required to update an assessment: 

 when applying for a variation of a Premises Licence; 
 to take account of significant changes in local circumstances, including those identified 

in a licensing authority’s gambling policy statement; and 
 when there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may affect their 

mitigation of local risks. 

Applicants for a new grant Premises Licence will need to undertake a local risk assessment. For 
example, if the premises has a problem with crime in betting shops the risk assessment 
should include Maglocks, staff working double crewed, full CCTV retained for 28 days and 
made available to Police and Council officers on request.  

The Licensing Authority may require that risk assessments compiled at the time of applying for a 
new grant, or for a variation, of a Premises Licence, be shared with it. Where the Licensing 
Authority has concerns over new or existing risks, it may require a licensee to share their risk 
assessment with it.  By adopting this proactive approach, the Licensing Authority and licensees 
should be able to reduce the occasions on which a premises review is required.

The Licensing Authority expects an applicant or licence holder, when carrying out their risk 
assessment, to primarily concentrate on the steps they intend to take, so as to promote the 
licensing objectives. These steps might include: 

4 February 2015 and updated April 2015

file:///C:/Users/jphilpott/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.IE5/5FNZGLYU/www.dartford.gov.uk


GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 10

 details of training policies and training undertaken by staff 
 information of age verification procedure and how refusals to serve / admit on age 

grounds are recorded 
 location of age restricted gaming machines 
 keeping an ‘incident’ book and recording relevant incidents in or outside the premises, 

e.g. anti-social behaviour 
 approach to managing self-exclusion 
 involvement/impact of any work in local schemes or partnership working with other 

local businesses 

The above list is not exhaustive - it merely provides examples of matters that may be relevant to 
the promotion of the licensing objectives.

The Licensing Authority has not undertaken any local area assessments. The local neighbourhood 
police team will be able to provide current information on any crime and disorder or anti-social 
behaviour issues occurring in the local of an applicant or licensed premises.

8. Responsible Authorities

Responsible Authorities are public bodies that must be notified of applications and that are entitled 
to make representations to the Licensing Authority in relation to applications for, and in relation to, 
Premises Licences. All representations made by Responsible Authorities are likely to be relevant 
representations if they relate to the licensing objectives.

Section 157 of the Gambling Act 2005 identifies the bodies that are to be treated as Responsible 
Authorities. They are:

 a licensing authority in England and Wales in whose area the premises is wholly/partly 
situated;

 the Gambling Commission;
 the Chief Officer of Police/Chief Constable for the area in which the premises is wholly 

or partially situated;
 the Fire and Rescue authority for the same area;
 in England and Wales, the local planning authority;
 an authority which has functions in relation to pollution to the environment or harm to 

human health;
 anybody, designated in writing by the licensing authority as competent to advise about 

the protection of children from harm;
 HM Revenue & Customs; and
 any other person prescribed in regulations by the Secretary of State.

In exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Gambling Act 2005 to designate, in writing, a 
body which is competent to advise it about the protection of children from harm, the following 
principles have been applied by the Licensing Authority:

 the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of the licensing 
authority’s area;

 the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, rather than 
any particular vested interest group etc.



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 11

In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for Licensing Authorities, the Licensing 
Authority designates the following for this purpose: 

The contact details of all the responsible bodies under the Gambling Act 2005 are listed at 
Appendix 3 and are also available via the Licensing Authority’s website at: www.dartford.gov.uk.

9. Interested parties

Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or apply for a review of an 
existing licence.  These parties are defined in the Gambling Act 2005 as someone who, in the 
opinion of the licensing authority which issues the licence or to which the application is made,-

a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised activities;
b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities; or
c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)”.

Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected such as Councillors and 
Members of Parliament.  No specific evidence of being asked to represent an interested person will 
be required, as long as the Councillor or Member of Parliament represents the ward likely to be 
affected.  Other than these however, the Licensing Authority will generally require written evidence 
that a person 'represents' someone who either lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to 
be affected by the authorised activities and/or business interests that might be affected by the 
authorised activities.  A letter from one of these persons requesting the representation is sufficient. 

The Licensing Authority will view trade associations, trade unions, residents’ and tenants’ 
associations as interested parties only if they have a member who lives sufficiently close to the 
premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised activities.

The Licensing Authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply in exercising 
its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine whether a person is an interested party.  The 
overriding principle is that each case will be decided upon its merits.  The Licensing Authority will 
not apply a rigid rule to its decision-making.  The factors that the Licensing Authority may take into 
account when determining what ‘sufficiently close to the premises’ means (in each case) might 
include:

 the size of the premises
 the nature of the premises
 the distance of the premises from the location of the person making the representation
 the potential impact of the premises (number of customers, routes likely to be taken by 

those visiting the establishment); and
 the nature of the complainant.  This is not the personal characteristics of the 

complainant but the interests of the complainant, which may be relevant to the distance 
from the premises.  For example, it would be reasonable for the Licensing Authority to 
conclude that “sufficiently close to be likely to be affected” could have a different 
meaning for (a) a private resident (b) a residential school for children with truanting 
problems and (c) residential hostel for vulnerable adults.

In determining whether a person with business interests might be affected by the premises, the 
factors likely to be relevant include:

Kent Social Services
Civic Centre
Home Gardens
Dartford
Kent
DA1 1DR

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 12

 the size of the premises
 the ‘catchment’ area of the premises (i.e. how far people travel to visit); and
 whether the person making the representation has business interests in that catchment 

area that might be affected.

The Gambling Commission has emphasised to licensing authorities, that ‘demand’ cannot be a 
factor in decisions.  

Moral objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject applications for Premises Licences. 
This is because such objections do not relate to the licensing objectives (Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities para 5.28). All objections must be in line with the licensing 
objectives.

10.  Exchange of Information

Under the Data Protection Act 2018, the Licensing Authority collects and uses personal information 
where it is necessary:

 for compliance with a legal obligation;
 for the performance of a task in the public interest or in the exercise of official authority 

vested in the Licensing Authority.

The Licensing Authority also shares personal information (through the Kent & Medway Information 
Sharing Agreement 2018).

In holding and exchanging information with other bodies during the exercise of its functions under 
the Gambling Act 2005, the Licensing Authority will act in accordance with the provisions of the 
Data Protection Act 2018 and the requirements of the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 

The Licensing Authority will have regard to any guidance issued by the Gambling Commission on 
this matter as well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of State.

11.  Enforcement 

The main enforcement and compliance role for the Licensing Authority will be to ensure 
compliance with licences and permits issued by it and any conditions attached to them, including 
compliance with relevant codes of practice, dealing with temporary permissions and registration of 
small lotteries.

The Licensing Authority is required by the Gambling Act 2005 to state the principles to be applied 
by it in exercising the functions under Part 15 of the Act with respect to the inspection of premises; 
and the powers under section 346 of the Act, to institute criminal proceedings in respect of the 
offences specified.

The Kent & Medway Licensing Steering Group has formulated an Enforcement Protocol which 
each Licensing Authority and Responsible Authority has agreed. The purpose of this protocol is to 
facilitate co-operation and co-ordination between enforcement agencies in pursuance of both the 
Gambling Act 2005 and the Licensing Act 2003. The protocol underpins the mutual operational 
support required to tackle licensing issues.

The Licensing Authority’s approach to regulatory inspection and enforcement will be in accordance 
with the Regulators’ Code5 as follows:

5 April 2014



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 13

 Proportionate: only intervene when necessary: remedies should be appropriate to the risk 
posed, and costs identified and minimised;

 Accountable: justify decisions and be subject to public scrutiny;
 Consistent: rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly;
 Transparent: be open and keep regulations simple and user friendly; and
 Targeted: be focused on the problem and minimise side effects. 

The Licensing Authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes so far as 
possible.

The Licensing Authority will comply with the codes of practices developed by the Crown 
Prosecution Service in the management of criminal cases.

The Licensing Authority recognises that certain bookmakers have a number of premises within its 
area. In order to ensure that any compliance issues are recognised and resolved at the earliest 
stage, operators are requested to give the Licensing Authority a single named point of contact, who 
should be a senior individual, and whom the Licensing Authority will contact first, should any 
compliance queries or issues arise.  

The Gambling Commission will be the enforcement body for the Operator and Personal Licences 
and be responsible for compliance as regards unlicensed premises.



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 14

Appendix 1
In this Appendix, the Licensing Authority set out how it will comply with the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance for Licensing Authorities extracts of which are in italics:

 “The licensing authority should set out in its statement what factors it may take into account when 
considering applications for premises licences, permits and other permission and matters that it will 
consider when determining whether to review a licence.  The licensing authority will take into 
account considerations such as the proximity of gambling premises to schools and vulnerable adult 
centres, or to residential areas where there may be a high concentration of families with children 
and  should be detailed (where they are relevant).  Any such policy must, however, come with the 
qualification that each case will be decided on its merits, so if an applicant can show how they 
might overcome licensing objective concerns, that will have to be taken into account. “ (6.32)

1. Permits 

(i) Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre (FEC) gaming machine permits: 
(Statement of Principles on Permits - Schedule 10 paragraph 7)

This policy applies to those premises that are proposed to be used as Unlicensed Family 
Entertainment Centres (uFEC’s). uFEC’s are premises primarily used for making gaming machines 
available that offer only Category D gaming machines. A uFEC permit allows any number of these 
machines to be made available at the premises (subject to other considerations such as health and 
safety and fire regulations). Given that Category D machines have no age restrictions, these 
premises particularly appeal to children and young persons. Therefore, the Licensing Authority will 
give particular weight to matters relating to child protection issues.

The Licensing Authority will grant an application for a permit only if it is satisfied that the premises 
are used wholly or mainly for making gaming machines available for use, and following 
consultation with the Police. 

The Licensing Authority will not grant uFEC permits where the premises are not primarily used for 
making gaming machines available for use in accordance with section 238 of the Gambling Act 
2005. This will preclude granting permits to lobbies in shopping centres or motorway service areas 
for example.

In cases where an existing uFEC permit has been granted to premises not primarily used for 
making gaming machines available, the Licensing Authority shall refuse to renew such permits.

Applicants for uFEC permits are expected to provide a scale plan of the premises with their 
application showing entrances/exits, location of CCTV cameras, cash desk, and machine locations 
as well as other features such as a bowling alley for example or play area which may form part of 
the premises.

The Licensing Authority will require applicants to demonstrate as a minimum:
 a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of gambling that is permissible in 

unlicensed FECs;
 that problem gambling information will be provided in the premises commensurate with its 

size and layout;
 that the applicant has a written policy in place to deal with complaints and disputes which 

can be given to a customer on request;
 that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in Schedule 7 of the 

Act); 
 that staff are trained to recognise problem gambling and signpost a customer to problem 

gambling information;
 that there is no direct access from the uFEC to an AGC or a licensed FEC area where adult 



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 15

only gaming machines are provided;
 that staff have been trained in how to deal with complaints and disputes in line with the 

applicant’s policy.

The Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to show there are policies and procedures in 
place to protect children and vulnerable people from harm. Harm in this context is not limited to 
harm from gambling but includes wider child protection considerations. The efficiency of such 
policies and procedures will each be considered on their merits. However, they may include:

 measures/training for staff regarding suspected truant school children on the premises;
 measures/training covering how staff will deal with unsupervised very young children being 

on the premises;
 measures/training covering how staff would deal with children causing perceived problems 

on or around the premises.
 
With regard to renewals of these permits, the Licensing Authority may refuse an application for 
renewal of a permit only on the grounds that an authorised local authority officer has been refused 
access to the premises without reasonable excuse, or that renewal would not be reasonably 
consistent with pursuit of the licensing objectives.

(ii) (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits – (Schedule 13 Para 4(1))

Automatic entitlement to two gaming machines

Premises licensed to sell alcohol on the premises under the Licensing Act 2003 are automatically entitled to 
provide two gaming machines of Category C and/or D. The holder of the Premises Licence under the 
Licensing Act 2003 must notify the Licensing Authority of their intention to make the gaming machines 
available for use and must pay the prescribed fee.

This entitlement only relates to premises with a Licensing Act 2003 Premises Licence that authorises the 
sale of alcohol for consumption on the premises and which contain a bar at which alcohol is served without 
the requirement that alcohol is only sold ancillary to the provision of food.

Licensees siting gaming machines must comply with the relevant Gambling Commission Code of Practice.

Licensees must be aware that gaming machines can only be supplied by a person holding an Operating 
Licence from the Gambling Commission enabling them to do this. A register of licensed suppliers can be 
found on the Gambling Commission’s website at www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk. 

In the event that the relevant authorisation under the Licensing Act 2003 is transferred, lapses or is 
revoked, the automatic entitlement to two gaming machines ceases to have effect and a new notification 
will need to be served on the Licensing Authority.

The Licensing Authority will remove the automatic authorisation in respect of any particular premises if:

 provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the licensing objectives;
 gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a provision of section 282 of the Gambling Act 

(i.e. that written notice has been provided to the Licensing Authority, that a fee has been provided and 
that any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and 
operation of the machine has been complied with); 

 the premises are mainly used for gaming; or

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/


GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 16

 an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises.

Permit for three or more gaming machines

This policy applies to alcohol licensed premises that propose to have three or more gaming machines. 
Licensed premises wishing to have three or more gaming machines of Category C or D must apply to the 
Licensing Authority for a permit.  This permit will replace the automatic entitlement to two gaming 
machines rather than be in addition to it and the holder must comply with the relevant Gambling 
Commission Code of Practice.

As gaming machines provide opportunities for solitary play and immediate payouts, they are more likely to 
engender repetitive and excessive play. The Licensing Authority, on considering an application, will consider 
whether granting a permit would be appropriate on a case by case basis, but will specifically have regard to:

 the need to protect children and vulnerable people from harm or being exploited by gambling;
 measures taken by the applicant to satisfy the Licensing Authority that there are sufficient measures to 

ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult only gaming machines;
 whether the applicant has an effective policy in place for handling customer complaints or disputes 

about the gaming machines.

The Licensing Authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to meet the licensing objectives. 
However, appropriate measures may cover issues such as:

 the adult machines being in the sight of staff who will monitor that the machines are not being used by 
those under 18 and look for signs of problem gambling, attempts to cheat the machine, or suspected 
money laundering;

 notices and signage;
 the provision of information leaflets or helpline numbers for organisations who can assist with problem 

gambling.

If the Licensing Authority is not satisfied that appropriate measures have been taken by the applicant to 
comply with this policy, it may refuse to grant the permit, or it may vary the number or category of gaming 
machines authorised by the permit.

The Licensing Authority may cancel a permit or may vary the number or category (or both) of gaming 
machines authorised by it if:

(a) it would not be reasonably consistent with pursuit of the licensing objectives for the permit to continue 
to have effect,

(b) gaming has taken place on the premises in purported reliance on the permit but otherwise than in 
accordance with the permit or a condition of the permit, 

(c) the premises are mainly use or to be used for making gaming machines available, or,
(d) an offence under the Gambling Act 2005 has been committed on the premises.

Before the Licensing Authority cancels or varies a permit it will give the permit holder 21 days’ notice of its 
intention and allow him/her the opportunity to make a representation.  If the permit holder requests a 
hearing the Licensing Authority will arrange a Licensing Sub-Committee hearing to consider the permit 
holder’s representation and any other evidence available before making its determination.



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 17

When determining an application for an alcohol-licensed premises gaming machine permit, the Licensing 
Authority will consider each application on its own merits.

(iv) Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits

Members’ Clubs and Miners’ Welfare Institutes (but not Commercial Clubs) may apply for a Club 
Gaming Permit or a Club Gaming Machines Permit.  The Club Gaming Permit will enable the 
premises to provide gaming machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming 
and games of chance as set-out in forthcoming regulations.  A Club Gaming Machine Permit will 
enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D).

“Members' clubs must have at least 25 members and be established and conducted “wholly or 
mainly” for purposes other than gaming, unless the gaming is permitted by separate regulations.  It 
is anticipated that this will cover bridge and whist clubs, which will replicate the position under the 
Gaming Act 1968.  A members’ club must be permanent in nature, not established to make 
commercial profit, and controlled by its members equally.  Examples include working men’s clubs, 
branches of Royal British Legion and clubs with political affiliations.” (25.6)

“Before granting the permit the authority will need to satisfy itself that the premises meet the 
requirements of a members’ club and may grant the permit if the majority of members are over 
18.”(25.17)

The Licensing Authority may only refuse an application on the grounds that:

(a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or commercial club or miners’ 
welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the type of permit for which it has 
applied;

(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young persons;
(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the applicant while 

providing gaming facilities;
(d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; or
(e) an objection has been lodged by the Gambling Commission or the police (Gambling 

Commission’s Guidance for Local Authorities 25.40)

It should be noted that there is a ‘fast-track’ procedure available for premises that hold a Club 
Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003.  “Under the fast-track procedure there is no 
opportunity for objections to be made by the Commission or the police, and the grounds upon 
which an authority can refuse a permit are reduced” and “The grounds on which an application 
under the process may be refused are:

(a) that the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming prescribed under schedule 
12;

(b) that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for other gaming; or
(c) that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in the last ten years 

has been cancelled.”

There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a category B3A, B4 or C 
machine on the premises and that the holder complies with any relevant provision of a code of 
practice about the location and operation of gaming machines. 

The Licensing Authority will need to satisfy itself that the club meets the requirements of the 
Gambling Act 2005 to hold a club gaming permit.  In order to do this, it may require proof of 
additional information from the operator such as:

 is the primary activity of the club something other than gaming?
 are the club’s profits retained solely for the benefit of the club’s members?



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 18

 are there 25 or more members?
 are the addresses of members of the club genuine domestic addresses and do most 

members live reasonably locally to the club?
 do members participate in the activities of the club via the internet?
 do guest arrangements link each guest to a member?
 is the 48 hour rule being applying for membership and being granted admission being 

adhered to?
 are there annual club accounts available for more than one year?
 how is the club advertised and listed in directories and on the internet?
 are children permitted in the club?
 does the club have a constitution and can it provide evidence that the constitution was 

approved by members of the club?
 is there a list of Committee members and evidence of their election by the club members?

When examining the club’s constitution, the Licensing Authority would expect to see evidence of 
the following:

 Who makes commercial decisions on behalf of the club?
 Are the aims of the club set out in the constitution?
 Are there shareholders or members?  Shareholders indicate a business venture rather than 

a non-profit making club.
 Is the club permanently established?  (Clubs cannot be temporary).
 Can people join with a temporary membership?  What is the usual duration of membership?
 Are there long term club membership benefits?

Aside from bridge and whist clubs, clubs may not be established wholly or mainly for the purposes 
of gaming.  The Licensing Authority may consider such factors as:

 How many nights a week gaming is provided;
 How much revenue is derived from gambling activity versus other activity;
 How the gaming is advertised;
 What stakes and prizes are offered;
 Whether there is evidence of leagues with weekly, monthly or annual winners;
 Whether there is evidence of members who do not participate in gaming;
 Whether there are teaching sessions to promote gaming such as poker;
 Where there is a tie-in with other clubs offering gaming through tournaments and leagues;
 Whether there is sponsorship by gaming organisations;
 Whether participation fees are within limits.

(v) Small Society Lotteries

The Gambling Act 2005 provides that promoting or facilitating a lottery is illegal, unless it falls into 
one of two categories of permitted lottery, namely:

 licensed lotteries – these are large society lotteries and lotteries run for the benefit of local 
authorities that are regulated by the Commission and require operating licences

 exempt lotteries – there are four types of exempt lottery that are expressly permitted under 
Schedule 11 of the Act, including the small society lottery.



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 19

Definition of lottery

A lottery is any arrangement that satisfies all of the criteria contained within the statutory description of 
either a simple lottery or a complex lottery, under s.14 of the Gambling Act 2005.

An arrangement is a simple lottery if:

 persons are required to pay to participate
 one or more prizes are allocated to one or more members of a class
 the prizes are allocated by a process which relies wholly on chance.

An arrangement is a complex lottery if:

 persons are required to pay to participate
 one or more prizes are allocated to one or more members of a class
 the prizes are allocated by a series of processes
 the first of those processes relies wholly on chance.

Definition of society
A ‘society’ is the society, or any separate branch of such a society, on whose behalf a lottery is to be 
promoted.  Section 19 of the Gambling Act 2005 defines a society as such if it is established and conducted:

 for charitable purposes, as defined in s.2 of the Charities Act 2006
 for the purpose of enabling participation in, or of supporting, sport, athletics or a cultural activity
 for any other non-commercial purpose other than that of private gain.

It is inherent in this definition that the society must have been established for one of the permitted 
purposes as set out in s.19 of the Act, and that the proceeds of any lottery must be devoted to those 
purposes. It is not permissible to establish a society whose sole purpose is to facilitate lotteries.

Participation in a lottery is a form of gambling. Lotteries must be conducted in a socially responsible 
manner and in accordance with the Act.

The minimum age for participation in a lottery is sixteen. The holder of a small society lottery registration 
must take reasonable steps to ensure that all those engaged in the promotion of their lottery understand 
their responsibilities for preventing underage gambling, returning stakes and not paying prizes to underage 
customers.

External Lottery Managers

External lottery managers (ELM’s) are required to hold a lottery operator’s licence issued by the Gambling 
Commission to promote a lottery on behalf of a licensed society.

However, individuals or firms can and do provide services to a society or local authority lottery without 
assuming the role of an ELM. When determining whether a third party is a ‘service provider’ only, or has 
assumed the role of an ELM, the degree of management undertaken by both the promoter and the sub-
contractor will be crucial factors. Key indicators will include:

 who decides how the lottery scheme will operate



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 20

 who appoints and manages any sub-contractors
 the banking arrangements for handling the proceeds of the lottery
 who sells the tickets and pays the prizes
 who controls promotional aspects of the lottery.

Societies employing an unlicensed ELM may be committing an offence and they will need to satisfy 
themselves that any ELM they employ holds the relevant operator’s licence issued by the Commission. The 
Commission publishes a register of operating licences on its website at www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk. 

Lottery Tickets

Lotteries may involve the issuing of physical or virtual tickets to participants (a virtual ticket being non-
physical, for example in the form of an email or text message). All tickets must state:

 the name of the promoting society
 the price of the ticket, which must be the same for all tickets (e.g. there can be no option to ‘buy 

two tickets, get one free’
 the name and address of the member of the society who is designated as having responsibility at 

the society for promoting small lotteries or, if there is one, the ELM
 the date of the draw, or information which enables the date to be determined.

The requirement to provide this information can be satisfied by providing an opportunity for the participant 
to retain the message electronically or print it.

The society should maintain written records of any unsold and returned tickets for a period of one year 
from the date of the lottery draw. The Licensing Authority may wish to inspect the records of the lottery for 
any purpose related to the lottery.

Where tickets may be sold
The Licensing Authority expects holders of small society lottery registrations not to sell lottery tickets to a 
person in any street. For these purposes ‘street’ includes any bridge, road, lane, footway, subway, square, 
court, alley or passage (including passages through enclosed premises such as shopping malls) whether a 
thoroughfare or not. Tickets may, however, be sold in a street from a static structure such as a kiosk or 
display stand. Tickets may also be sold door to door. Licensees must ensure that they have any necessary 
local authority permissions, such as a street trading licence, in order to do this.

Prizes
Prizes awarded in small society lotteries can be either cash or non-monetary. Prizes declared on returns 
must not exceed the limits on prizes set out by the Act - in effect that combined with any expenses incurred 
with the running of the lottery, such as managers’ fees, they must not comprise more than 80% of the total 
proceeds of the lottery. Donated prizes would not be counted as part of this 80% (as no money would be 
withdrawn from the proceeds to cover their purchase) but are still subject to the limit on a single maximum 
prize of £25,000 and should be declared on the return following the lottery draw.

Alcohol should not be offered as a prize in a lottery without the society first ensuring that no Licensing Act 
2003 consent is required for this from the Licensing Authority. If such consent is required, then alcohol shall 
not be offered as a prize unless such consent has been obtained.

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/


GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 21

Small society registration
The promoting society of a small society lottery must, throughout the period during which the lottery is 
promoted, be registered with a Licensing Authority. Parts 4 and 5 of Schedule 11 of the Act set out the 
requirements on both societies and Licensing Authorities with respect to the registration of small society 
lotteries.

The Licensing Authority with which a small society lottery is required to register must be in the area where 
their principal office is located. 

Applications for small society lottery registrations must be in the form prescribed by the Secretary of State 
and be accompanied by both the required registration fee and all necessary documents required by the 
Licensing Authority to assess the application. This information shall include a copy of the society’s terms 
and conditions and their constitution to establish that they are a non-commercial society. 

Societies may not circumvent the requirement to hold a Gambling Commission Lottery Operating Licence 
by obtaining two or more registrations with the same or different Licensing Authorities. As set out 
previously, the Act states that a society lottery is a large lottery if the arrangements for it are such that its 
proceeds may exceed £20,000 in a single lottery, or if the aggregate proceeds in a calendar year exceed 
£250,000.

In cases where a society has separate branches with different aims and objectives, it is acceptable for them 
to hold more than one licence or registration. However, in cases where a society holds more than one 
registration and the aims and objectives of those societies are the same, this may constitute a breach of the 
threshold limits for small society lotteries set out in Schedule 11 of the Act.

By virtue of Schedule 11 paragraph 31(5) of the Act, societies may not hold an Operating Licence with the 
Gambling Commission and a local authority registration with the same aims and objectives at the same 
time. This paragraph also provides for a statutory period of three years during which a large society cannot 
convert to small society status. 

Registrations run for an unlimited period, unless the registration is cancelled. 

Refusal of registration

The Licensing Authority may propose to refuse an application for any of the following reasons:

 An operating licence held by the applicant for registration has been revoked or an application for an 
operating licence made by the applicant for registration has been refused, within the past five 
years. The Commission will be able to advise the details of people and organisations that have been 
refused an operating licence or have had an operating licence revoked in the past five years. 
Licensing Authorities should consult the Commission as part of their consideration process.

 The society in question cannot be deemed non-commercial. 
 A person who will or may be connected with the promotion of the lottery has been convicted of a 

relevant offence, listed in Schedule 7 of the Act. 
 Information provided in or with the application for registration is found to be false or misleading.

The Licensing Authority may only refuse an application for registration after the society has had the 
opportunity to make representations. These can be taken at a formal hearing or via correspondence. The 
Licensing Authority shall inform the society of the reasons why it is minded to refuse registration and 



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 22

provide it with at least an outline of the evidence on which it has reached that preliminary conclusion, in 
order to enable representations to be made.

Revocation of a small society’s registered status

The Licensing Authority may revoke the registration of a society if it thinks that they would have had to, or 
would be entitled to, refuse an application for registration if it were being made at that time. The Licensing 
Authority will inform the society of the reasons why it is minded to revoke the registration and provide 
them with the evidence on which it has reached that preliminary conclusion. 

Administration and returns

The Act requires that a minimum proportion of the money raised by the lottery is channelled to the goals of 
the society that promoted the lottery. If a small society lottery does not comply with these limits it will be 
in breach of the Act’s provisions, and consequently be liable to prosecution.

The limits are as follows:

 at least 20% of the lottery proceeds must be applied to the purposes of the society (Schedule 11, 
paragraph 33)

 no single prize may be worth more than £25,000 (Schedule 11, paragraph 34)
 rollovers between lotteries are only permitted where every lottery affected is also a small society 

lottery promoted by the same society, and the maximum single prize is £25,000 (Schedule 11, 
paragraph 35)

 every ticket in the lottery must cost the same and the society must take payment for the ticket fee 
before entry into the draw is allowed (Schedule 11, paragraph 37).

Paragraph 39 of Schedule 11 in the Act sets out the information that the promoting society of a small 
society lottery must send as returns to the Licensing Authority with which it is registered, following each 
lottery held. This information allows Licensing Authorities to assess whether financial limits are being 
adhered to and to ensure that any money raised is applied for the proper purpose. The following 
information must be submitted:

 the arrangements for the lottery - specifically the date on which tickets were available for sale or 
supply, the dates of any draw and the value of prizes, including any donated prizes and any rollover

 the total proceeds of the lottery
 the amounts deducted by the promoters of the lottery in providing prizes, including prizes in 

accordance with any rollovers
 the amounts deducted by the promoters of the lottery in respect of costs incurred in organising the 

lottery
 the amount applied to the purpose for which the promoting society is conducted (this must be at 

least 20% of the proceeds)
 whether any expenses incurred in connection with the lottery were not paid for by deduction from 

the proceeds, and, if so, the amount of expenses and the sources from which they were paid.

Paragraph 39 of Schedule 11 in the Act also requires that returns must:

 be sent to the Licensing Authority no later than three months after the date of the lottery draw, or 
in the case of ‘instant lotteries’ (scratchcards) within three months of the last date on which tickets 
were on sale



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 23

 be signed (electronic signatures are acceptable if the return is sent electronically) by two members 
of the society, who must be aged 18 or older, are appointed for the purpose in writing by the 
society or, if it has one, its governing body, and be accompanied by a copy of their letter or letters 
of appointment.

The Gambling Commission may inspect a society’s returns, although it will not routinely do so. The 
Licensing Authority is required to retain returns for a minimum period of three years from the date of the 
lottery draw. They must also make them available for inspection by the general public for a minimum 
period of 18 months following the date of the lottery draw. Returns can be viewed at the Dartford Borough 
Council Offices.

The Licensing Authority will monitor the cumulative totals of returns to ensure that societies do not breach 
the annual monetary limit of £250,000 on ticket sales. The Licensing Authority must notify the Commission 
if returns reveal that a society’s lotteries have exceeded the values permissible, and such notifications will 
be copied to the society in question. The Gambling Commission will contact the society to determine if they 
are going to apply for a lottery operator’s licence, thereby enabling them to run large society lotteries 
lawfully, and will inform the Licensing Authority of the outcome of its exchanges with the society.



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 24

Appendix 2
2. Premises Licences

(i) Decision making - general: Premises Licences will be subject to the permissions/restrictions 
set-out in the Gambling Act 2005 and regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default 
conditions which will be detailed in regulations issued by the Secretary of State.  The Licensing 
Authority is able to exclude default conditions and also attach others, where it is believed to be 
appropriate and evidence supports the need for additional conditions.

The Licensing Authority is aware that in making decisions about Premises Licences, it should aim 
to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it:

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission
 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 
 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and
 in accordance with its Gambling Policy Statement.

“Conditions imposed by the licensing authority must be proportionate to the circumstances which 
they are seeking to address.  In particular, licensing authorities should ensure that the premises 
licence conditions:

 are relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a
     gambling facility;
 are directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for;
 are fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises: and
 are reasonable in all other respects.” 

Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, although there will be a 
number of measures the Licensing Authority will consider utilising should there be a perceived 
need, such as the use of supervisors, appropriate signage for adult only areas etc. There are 
specific comments made in this regard under some of the licence types that follow. The Licensing 
Authority will also expect the licence applicant to offer his/her own suggestions as to the way in 
which the licensing objectives can be met effectively.

The Licensing Authority will also consider specific measures which may be required for buildings 
which are subject to multiple Premises Licences. Such measures may include the supervision of 
entrances; segregation of gambling from non-gambling areas frequented by children; and the 
supervision of gaming machines in a non-adult gambling specific premises in order to pursue the 
licensing objectives.  

The Licensing Authority will also ensure that where category C or above machines are on offer in 
premises to which children are admitted:

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is separated from the 
remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent access other 
than through a designated entrance;

 only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located;
 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised;
 the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed by the 

staff or the licence holder;
 at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently displayed notices 

indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18 years;
 at the entrance to and inside any such areas overt advertising is not displayed;
 to operate with doors closed.



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 25

These conditions will apply to premises including buildings where multiple Premises Licences are 
applicable.

There are also conditions which the Licensing Authority cannot attach to Premises Licences which 
are:

 any condition on the Premises Licence which makes it impossible to comply with an operating 
licence condition 

 conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of operation;
 conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the Gambling Act  

2005 specifically removes the membership requirement for casino and bingo clubs and this 
provision prevents it being reinstated ) and

 conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes

The Gambling Commission has also emphasised to local authorities, that ‘demand’ cannot be a 
factor in decisions.  

(ii) “Premises”: Premises is defined in the Act as “any place”.  It is for the Licensing Authority to 
decide whether different parts of a building can be properly regarded as being separate premises 
and as the Gambling Commission Guidance states, it “will always be a question of fact in the 
circumstances.”  The Gambling Commission does not however consider that areas of a building 
that are artificially or temporarily separate can be properly regarded as different premises.

The Licensing Authority will have regard to the following:

“In considering applications for multiple licences for a building or those for a specific part of the 
building to be licensed, licensing authorities “should be aware that:

 the third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed by gambling.  In 
practice that means not only preventing them from taking part in gambling, but also that they 
are not permitted to be in close proximity to gambling.  Therefore premises should be 
configured so that children are not invited to; participate in, have accidental access to, or 
closely observe gambling where they are prohibited from participating; 

 entrances and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more licences should be 
separate and identifiable so that the separation of different premises is not compromised and 
that people do not ‘drift’ into a gambling area.”.  In this context it should normally be possible to 
access the premises without going through another licensed premises or premises with a 
permit.

 Customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the premises licence”.(7.18)

“Licensing authorities should pay particular attention to applications where access to the licensed 
premises is through other premises (which themselves may be licensed or unlicensed).  Clearly, 
there will be specific issues that authorities should consider before granting such applications, for 
example, whether children can gain access; compatibility of the two establishments; and ability to 
comply with the requirements of the Act.   But, in addition an overriding consideration should be 
whether, taken as a whole, the co-location of the licensed premises with other facilities has the 
effect of creating an arrangement that otherwise would, or should, be prohibited under the Act.” 

It should be noted that an applicant cannot obtain a full Premises Licence until the premises in 
which it is proposed to offer the gambling are constructed. The Gambling Commission has advised 
that references to "the premises" are to the premises in which gambling may now take place. Thus 
a licence to use premises for gambling will only be issued in relation to premises that are ready to 
be used for gambling. The Licensing Authority agrees with the Gambling Commission that it is a 
question of fact and degree whether premises are finished to a degree that they can be considered 
for a Premises Licence. The Gambling Commission emphasises that requiring the building to be 



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 26

complete ensures that the authority can, if necessary, inspect it fully, as can other Responsible 
Authorities with inspection rights.

Split Premises

The Gambling Commission’s Guidance states that a building can, in principle, be divided into more than one 
premises and be subject to more than one Premises Licence provided they are for different parts of the 
building, and the different parts of the building can reasonably be regarded as being different premises.  An 
example is given of units within a shopping mall, where each unit is separate self-contained premises 
contained within one building.  It is also possible for licensed premises to be located next to each other.  

The Gambling Commission state they do ‘not consider that areas of a building that are artificially separated, 
for example by ropes or moveable partitions, can properly be regarded as separate premises’.

Whether different parts of a building can be reasonably regarded as different premises will depend on the 
circumstances of the individual building and how any division is proposed. To agree to accept applications 
to grant or vary a licence for a building which has been divided, the Licensing Authority will need to be 
satisfied the premises are genuinely separate premises, and not an artificially created additional part of 
single premises. 

In considering whether different areas of a building are genuinely separate premises the Licensing 
Authority will take into account factors which will include:

 whether there are separate registrations for business rates in place for each premises;
 whether separate sets of staff work in the individual premises;
 whether there is a separate cash desk/reception for each of the premises;
 whether each premises has its own postal address;
 whether the premises are owned or operated by the same person;
 whether each of the premises can be accessed from a street or public passageway;
 whether the premises can only be accessed from any other gambling premises.

When considering proposals to divide a building into separate premises, the Licensing Authority will also 
need to be satisfied that the form of separation between the premises is appropriate.

The separation between one premises and another must be clearly defined.  Any barrier used to separate 
one premises from another must be permanent and constructed so the public cannot go from one 
premises to another. 

It may be acceptable for staff working in adjacent premises to have access through barriers between 
premises. The applicant must demonstrate that in providing staff access there are suitable control 
measures in place that will ensure the safety and security of staff and will prevent the public from using the 
same access point to enter the other premises.

The Gambling Act 2005 (Mandatory and Default Conditions) Regulations 2007 restrict access to different 
types of licensed gambling premises.  In considering proposals to divide a building into different premises, 
the Licensing Authority will have to be satisfied that proposals to divide buildings are compatible with the 
mandatory conditions relating to access between premises.

The Guidance at paragraph 7.22 states “There is no definition of ‘direct access’ in the Act or Regulations, 
but Licensing Authorities may consider that there should be an area separating the premises concerned (for 



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 27

example a street or café), which the public go to for purposes other than gambling, for there to be shown 
to be no direct access.” 

It is the Licensing Authority’s opinion that any area which separates licensed premises, and from which 
those premises can be accessed, must be genuinely separate premises which are habitually and actually 
used by members of the public other than those using the licensed premises. 

The Licensing Authority does not consider that provisions which prohibit direct access between licensed 
premises are satisfied where licensed premises are separated by an area created artificially within a 
building principally for members of the public attending the licensed premises, irrespective of whether this 
area is unlicensed or provides non-gambling facilities, for example refreshments or cashpoint machines.

Where the Licensing Authority is satisfied that a building can be divided into separate premises it will 
expect applicants to ensure that:

 the premises are configured so that children are not invited to participate in, have accidental access to, 
or closely observe gambling to which they are prohibited from taking part;

 the premises are not configured so children are likely to enter an adult only area to join a parent 
gambling in that adult only area,

 entrances and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more Premises Licences are separate 
and identifiable so the separation of different premises is not compromised and people do not ‘drift’ 
into a gambling area.  In this context it should be possible to access the premises without going 
through another licensed premises or premises with a permit;

 customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the Premises Licence.
 

This is not an exhaustive list and the Licensing Authority will consider other aspects based on the merits of the 
application.

(iii) Location: The Licensing Authority will have regard to the following:

“Licensing authorities will need to consider the location of premises within the context of this6 
licensing objective.  If an application for a licence or permit is received in relation to premises that 
are in an area noted for particular problems with organised crime, for example, licensing authorities 
should think about what (if any) controls might be appropriate to prevent those premises becoming 
a source of crime.  These might include conditions being put on the licence." 

“For example, a licensing authority statement of policy could and should, set out the general 
principles that the licensing authority will apply when determining whether the location of proposed 
gambling premises is acceptable (with or without conditions) in light of the licensing objectives. For 
example, a licensing authority statement of policy might set out that the authority will consider very 
carefully whether applications for premises licence in respect of certain gambling premises located 
very close to a school, or a centre for gambling addicts should be granted in light of the third 
licensing objective.  Any such policy must, however, come with the qualification that each case will 
be decided on its merits, and will depend to a large extent on the type of gambling that it is 
proposed will be offered on the premises.  If an applicant for a premises licence can show how 
licensing objective concerns can be overcome, that will have to be taken into account.”  (6.12) 

6 Preventing gambling being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime.



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 28

(iv) Planning: Planning and licensing are different regulatory systems and will be dealt with 
separately.  

“When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, the licensing authority 
should not take into account whether those building have or comply with the necessary planning or 
building consents.  Those matters should be dealt with under relevant planning control and building 
regulation powers, and not form part of the consideration for the premises licence.  Section 210 of 
the 2005 Act prevents licensing authorities taking into account the likelihood of the proposal by the 
applicant obtaining planning or building consent when considering a premises licence application.  
Equally the grant of a gambling premises licence does not prejudice or prevent any action that may 
be appropriate under the law relating to planning or building.”  

The Licensing Authority will listen to, and consider carefully, any concerns about conditions which 
are not able to be met by licensees due to planning restrictions such as the primary use of the 
premises and/or the permitted hours of operation.

(v) Duplication: The Licensing Authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory 
regimes so far as possible.  

(vi) Door Supervisors:

“Licensing authorities may require persons operating premises in which gambling takes place to 
take measures such as the supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling from non-gambling 
areas frequented by children (assuming such non-gambling areas are compatible with 
requirements of the Act); and the supervision of gaming machines in non-adult gambling specific 
premises in order to pursue the licensing objectives.” 

“Any person employed to fulfil a condition on a premises licence that requires door supervision 
should hold a relevant licence issued by the Security Industry Authority (SIA).”

Door supervisors at licensed casino or bingo premises are exempt from the requirements of the 
Private Security Industry Act 2001. Where the Licensing Authority has imposed door supervision 
requirements on such licences, the personnel will not need licensing under the 2001 Act.  However 
where a casino or bingo premises are licensed for the sale of alcohol under the Licensing Act 2003 
then Door Supervisors employed are required to be licensed by the SIA under the PSIA Act 2001 
to enable them to perform their functions under that Act. In all other instances, the Door 
Supervisors must, as a minimum, be trained to the Level 2 National Standard for Door Supervision.

There is no evidence that the operation of betting offices or adult gaming centres has required door 
supervisors for the protection of the public. The Licensing Authority will make a door supervision 
requirement only if there is clear evidence from the history of trading at the premises that the 
premises cannot be adequately supervised from the counter and that door supervision is both 
necessary and proportionate.

(viii) Reviews: Interested parties or Responsible Authorities can make requests for a review of a 
Premises Licence; however, it is for the Licensing Authority to decide whether the review is to be 
carried-out.  This will be on the basis of whether the request for the review is relevant to the 
following matters:

 it is in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission
 it is in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 
 it is reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and
 it is in accordance with the Licensing Authority’s  Gambling Policy Statement 



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 29

as well as consideration as to whether the request is frivolous, vexatious, or would certainly not 
cause this authority to wish alter/revoke/suspend the licence, or whether it is substantially the 
same as previous representations or requests for review.

The Licensing Authority can also initiate a review of a licence on the basis of any reason that it 
thinks is appropriate.

(ix) Provisional Statements: The Licensing Authority will have regard to the following:

“As the Court has held in a 2008 case, operators can apply for a premises licence in respect of 
premises which have still to be constructed or altered, and licensing authorities are required to 
determine any such applications on their merits. Such cases should be considered in a two stage 
process; first, licensing authorities must decide whether, as a matter of substance after applying 
the principles in section 153 of the Act, the premises ought to be permitted to be used for 
gambling; second, in deciding whether or not to grant the application a licensing authority will need 
to consider if appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater for the situation that the premises 
are not yet in the state in which they ought to be before gambling takes place. An authority is 
entitled to decide that it is appropriate to grant a licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged 
to grant such a licence.” (7.61)

“If a provisional statement has been granted, the licensing authority is constrained in the matters it 
can consider when an application for a premise is made subsequently in relation to the same 
premises.  No further representations from relevant authorities or interested parties can be taken 
into account unless they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the provisional 
statement stage, or they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances.  In addition, the 
authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms different to those attached to the 
provisional statement) only by reference to matters:

(a) which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional licence stage; or
(b) which, in the authority’s opinion, reflect a change in the operator’s circumstances 
(c) Where the premises has not been constructed in accordance with the plan and information 

submitted with the provisional statement application. This must be a substantial change to the 
plan and licensing authorities should discuss any concerns they have with the applicant 
before making a decision”. (11.7,11.8 and 11.9)

“A licensing authority must not have regard to whether or not a proposal by the applicant is likely to 
be permitted in accordance with planning or building law.” 

(x) Adult Gaming Centres (AGC):

“No-one under the age of 18 is permitted to enter an AGC.  Licensing authorities will wish to have 
particular regard to the location of an entry to AGC's to minimise the opportunities for children to 
gain access.  This may be of particular importance in areas where young people may be 
unsupervised and an AGC is in a complex, such as a shopping centre or airport.”

The Licensing Authority will have regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons 
from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that 
there will be sufficient measures to, for example, ensure that under 18 year olds do not have 
access to the premises.

The Licensing Authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to meet the licensing 
objectives. However appropriate measures/licence conditions may cover issues such as:

 Proof of age schemes;
 CCTV;



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 30

 Supervision of entrances/machine areas;
 Physical separation of areas;
 Location of entry;
 Notices/signage;
 Specific opening hours;
 Self-barring schemes;
 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare.

This list is neither mandatory, nor exhaustive and is merely indicative of example measures. 

(xi) (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres:

Family Entertainment Centres are wholly or mainly used for having gaming machines available for 
use.

The Licensing Authority will have regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons 
from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority, for 
example, that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have 
access to the 'adult only' gaming machine areas.

The Licensing Authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to meet the licensing 
objectives however appropriate measures/licence conditions may cover issues such as:

 CCTV;
 Supervision of entrances;
 Physical separation of areas;
 Location of entry;
 Notices/signage;
 Specific opening hours;
 Self-barring schemes;
 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare;
 Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school children on the 

premises.

This list is neither mandatory, nor exhaustive and is merely indicative of example measures.

The Licensing Authority will refer to the Gambling Commission’s website to see any conditions that 
apply to operator licences covering the way in which the area containing the category C machines 
should be delineated.  The Licensing Authority will also make itself aware of any mandatory or 
default conditions applying to Premises Licences.
  
(xii) Tracks: Although there are currently no tracks within the Licensing Authority's area, for 
completeness of this Gambling Policy Statement, the Licensing Authority will have regard to: 

 “Only one premises licence may be issued for any particular premises at any time….There is 
one exception to this rule, namely a track (i.e. a horse race course, dog track or other premises 
where races or sporting events take place), which may be subject to more than one premises 
licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track…  The Act set out that 
there will be a main (betting premises) licence for the track, and in addition subsidiary premises 
licences for other gambling activities may be issued.  The normal limitations in terms of access 
by children and young persons will apply, although in relation to a premises licence in respect 
of a track, children and young persons will be permitted to enter track areas where facilities for 
betting are provided on days when dog-racing and/or horse racing takes place.  This is subject 
to the rule that children and young persons may not enter any areas where gaming machines 
(other than category D machines) are provided…In principle there is no reason why all types of 



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 31

gambling should not co-exist upon a track, but authorities will want to think about how a third 
licensing objective is delivered by the co-location of premises.  As with the granting of multiple 
licence in a single building, licensing authorities will need to ensure that entrances to each type 
of premises are distinct and that children are excluded from gambling areas where they are not 
permitted to enter.” 

 “Premises licences in relation to tracks are unusual in that, because the track operator does not 
need to have an operating licence (although may have one), the premises licence will need to 
contain requirements on the premises licence holder about his responsibilities in relation to the 
proper conduct of betting.  The conduct of the betting on tracks will be regulated primarily 
through the operating licences that the persons offering betting on the track will need to hold 
(whether a general betting operating licence, or a pool betting operating licence). But the track 
operator will have a role to play in ensuring, for example, that the betting areas are properly 
administered, and licensing authorities will have an important role in regulating tracks, because 
of the particular rules surrounding on-course betting, and the sub-division of the track into 
different areas.” 

 “Special rules apply to applicants for a premises licence in relation to a track.  Most importantly, 
as noted above, the applicant need not hold an operating licence.  That is because, unless the 
occupier of the track wishes to offer pool betting (or general betting) facilities himself (for which 
he will need a licence), the betting that is provided upon the track will not be provided by him, 
but will be provided by other operators who come on-course.  Since those people will require 
the necessary operating licences, the Act allows the track operator to obtain a premises licence 
without also having to hold an operating licence.  This track premises licences (sic) then 
authorises anyone upon the premises with an operating licence to offer betting facilities.” 

 “The secondary aspect to this rule is that each individual operator who comes onto the track on 
race days does not need to hold a premises licence.  Instead, he will be covered by the 
umbrella of the premises licence held by the track operator.” 

The Licensing Authority will consider the location of gaming machines at tracks. There is no 
minimum age for players of category D gaming machines. The holder of any permit or Premises 
Licence has to comply with the codes of practice issued by the Gambling Commission on the 
location of and access to gaming machines by children and young persons, and the separation 
from category C and B machines where those are also located on the same premises.

 “applications for track premises licences will need to demonstrate that, where the applicant 
holds a pool betting operating licence and is going to use his entitlement to four gaming 
machines, these machines are located in areas from which children are excluded.”  

The Licensing Authority has the power under the Gambling Act 2005, to restrict the number of 
betting machines, their nature and the circumstances in which they are made available, by 
attaching a licence condition to a betting Premises Licence.  

 “In relation to betting premises away from tracks, the Commission is proposing that licensing 
authorities should take into account the size of the premises and the ability of staff to monitor 
the use of the machines by vulnerable people when determining the number of machines 
permitted.  Similar considerations apply in relation to tracks, where the potential space for 
such machines may be considerable, bringing with it significant problems in relation to the 
proliferation of such machines, the ability of track staff to supervise them if they are scattered 
around the track and the ability of the track operator to comply with the law and prevent 
children betting on the machine.  Licensing authorities will want to consider restricting the 
number and location of betting machines, in the light of the circumstances of each application 
for a track betting premises licence.”

 “In the Commission’s view, it would be preferable for all self-contained premises operated by 
off-course betting operators on track to be the subject of separate premises licences.  This 
would ensure that there was clarity between the respective responsibilities of the track operator 
and the off-course betting operator running a self-contained unit on the premises” 



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 32

 “Section 151 of the Act requires applicants for premises licences to submit plans for the 
premises.  To ensure that licensing authorities gain a proper understanding of what they are 
being asked to license the should, in their licensing policies, set out the information that they 
will require, which should include detailed plans for the racetrack itself and the area that will be 
used for temporary “on-course” betting facilities (often known as the “betting ring”) and in the 
case of dog tracks and horse racecourses fixed and mobile pool betting facilities operated by 
the Tote or track operator, as well as any  other proposed gambling facilities. 

 “…licensing authorities should attach a condition to track premises licences requiring the track 
operator to ensure that the rules are prominently displayed in or near the betting areas, or that 
other measures are taken to ensure that they are made available to the public.  For example, 
the rules could be printed in the race-card or made available in leaflet form from the track 
office.” 

(xiii) Casinos

Casinos and Competitive Bidding – The Licensing Authority is aware that where its area is 
enabled to grant a Premises Licence for a new style casino (i.e. regulations under Section 175 of 
the Gambling Act 2005) there are likely to be a number of operators which will want to run the 
casino.  In such situations, the Licensing authority will run a ‘competition’ under Schedule 9 of the 
Gambling Act 2005.  

Betting Machines in Casinos – The Licensing Authority will have regard to the following:

“Section 181 contains an express power for licensing authorities to restrict the number of betting 
machines, their nature and the circumstances in which they are made available by attaching a 
licence condition to a betting premises licence or to a casino premises licence (where betting is 
permitted in the casino).  When considering whether to impose a condition to restrict the number of 
betting machines in particular premises, the licensing authority, amongst other things, should take 
into account the size of the premises, the number of counter positions available for person-to-
person transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and 
young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable persons.” 

Credit: The Licensing Authority will have regard to the following:

“Section 177 does not prevent the licensee from permitting the installation of cash dispensers 
(ATMs) on the premises.  Such machines may accept credit cards (and debit cards) and the 
arrangement is subject to a requirement that the licensee has no other commercial connection in 
relation to gambling (aside from the agreement to site the machines) with the service-provider and 
does not profit from the arrangement, not make any payment in connection with the machines.  
Guidance on the further conditions that may apply in relation to such machines will be included in 
the next version of this guidance”

(xiv) Bingo - The Licensing Authority will have regard to the following:

“It is important that if children are allowed to enter premises licensed for bingo that they do not 
participate in gambling, other than on category D machines. Where category B3, B4 or C machines 
are available in premises to which children are admitted licensing authorities should ensure that:

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises separate from the remainder of 
the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent access other than through a 
designated entrance;

 only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located;
 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised;
 the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed by staff of 

the operator or the licence holder; and



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 33

 at the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently displayed notices 
indicating that access is prohibited to persons under 18 years.”

(xv) Temporary Use Notices: There are a number of statutory limits as regards Temporary Use 
Notices.  The Licensing Authority will decide what constitutes a ‘set of premises’ where Temporary 
Use Notices are received relating to the same building/site.

(xvi) Occasional Use Notices: - The Licensing Authority has very little discretion as regards these 
notices aside from ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded.  
The Licensing Authority will consider the definition of a ‘track’ and whether the applicant is 
permitted to avail him/herself of the notice.  

(xvii) Travelling Fairs: The Licensing Authority will decide whether, where category D machines 
and/or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made available for use at travelling 
fairs, the statutory requirement that the facilities for gambling amount to no more than an ancillary 
amusement at the fair is met and there is sufficient supervision of gaming machines in order to 
pursue the licensing objectives, i.e. the protection of children.

The Licensing Authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the statutory definition 
of a travelling fair.

The 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used as a fair, is per calendar year, and applies 
to the piece of land on which the fairs are held, regardless of whether it is the same or different 
travelling fairs occupying the land.  The Licensing Authority will work with its neighbouring licensing 
authorities to ensure that land which crosses shared boundaries is monitored so that the statutory 
limits are not exceeded.

(xviii) Betting Premises (Bookmakers): The Licensing Authority will have regard to the following:

Betting Machines – “Section 181 contains an express power for licensing authorities to restrict the 
number of betting machines, their nature and the circumstances in which they are made available 
by attaching a licence condition to a betting premises licence or to a casino premises licence 
(where betting is permitted in the casino).  When considering whether to impose a condition to 
restrict the number of betting machines in particular premises, the licensing authority, amongst 
other things, should take into account the size of the premises, the number of counter positions 
available for person-to-person transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the 
machines by children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by 
vulnerable persons.”

Credit -“Section 177 does not prevent the licensee from contracting a third-party to install cash 
dispensers (ATMs) on their premises, which may accept both credit and debit cards. Such an 
arrangement is subject to requirements that the premises licence holder has no other commercial 
connection in relation to gambling with the provider of the ATMs (aside from the agreement to site 
the machines), does not profit from the arrangement, and does not make any payment in 
connection with the machines. All premises licences also include a mandatory condition which 
requires that any ATM made available for use on the premises must be located in a place that 
requires any customer who wishes to use it to cease gambling in order to do so.” (9.12)

Information Exchange: The Licensing Authority will have regard to the following:

 “As applicants for premises licences (except occupiers of tracks who do not propose to offer 
gambling themselves) will have to hold an operating licence from the Commission before the 
premises licence can be issued, licensing authorities will not need to investigate the suitability 
of the applicant.  If during the course of considering a premises licence application, or at any 
other tie, the licensing authority receives information that causes it to question the suitability of 



GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 34

the applicant to hold an operating licence, these concerns should be brought to the attention of 
the Commission without delay” (5.10)”

 “Regulatory issues rising from the prevention of disorder are likely to focus almost exclusively 
on premises licensing, rather than on operating licences.  (Though if there are persistent or 
serious disorder problems that an operator could or should do more to prevent, the licensing 
authority should bring this to the attention of the Commission so that it can consider the 
continuing suitability of the operator to hold an operating licence.)” (5.13)

 “If it comes to the attention of licensing authorities that Alcohol-licensed premises or clubs or 
institutes are playing bingo during the course of a week which involves significant stakes and 
prizes and makes it possible that the £2,000 in seven days is being exceeded, authorities 
should inform the Commission.” (18.18)

GAMCARE:

(National Association for Gambling Care, Educational Resources and Training)

GamCare provides confidential counselling, advice and information for those affected by a 
gambling problem.

HELPLINE:  Speak to an adviser on Freephone 0808 8020 133, 8am to midnight, 7 days a 
week.

WEBSITE:  www.gamcare.org.uk

file:///C:/Users/jphilpott/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.IE5/5FNZGLYU/www.gamcare.org.uk


GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 35

Appendix 3
Responsible Authorities Contact details:

Licensing Authority:

Dartford Borough Licensing Authority
Licensing Section
Civic Centre
Home Gardens
Dartford
DA1 1DR
www.dartford.gov.uk
licensing@dartford.gov.uk
Tel: 01322 343024

Gambling Commission:

Victoria Square House
Victoria Square
Birmingham
B2 4BP
www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk
Tel: 0121 230 6500

HM Revenue & Customs;

Medvale House
Moat Road
Maidstone
Kent
ME15 6AE
www.gov.uk

Kent Fire & Rescue Service:

Fire Safety Office
Dartford Fire Station 
Watling Street
Dartford
DA2 6EG
Dartford.firesafety@kent.fire-uk.org
Tel: 01322 224229

Local Planning Authority:

Dartford Borough Licensing Authority
Planning Department
Civic Centre
Home Gardens
Dartford
DA1 1DR
Planning.admin@dartford.gov.uk
Tel: 01322 343434

Environmental Protection/ H&S:

Dartford Borough Licensing Authority
Environmental Health
Civic Centre
Home Gardens
Dartford
DA1 1DR
Environmental.admin@dartford.gov.uk
Tel: 01322 343434

Child Protection Service:

o social.services@kent.gov.uk
o Tel: 03000 411111

Chief Officer of Police for the area in which 
the premises is wholly or partially situated:

Police Licensing 
Medway Police Station
Purser Way
Gillingham
Kent
ME7 1NE
Licensing.north.division@kent.pnn.police.uk
Tel: 01634 792733

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:licensing@dartford.gov.uk
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/
http://www.hmrc.gov.uk/
mailto:Dartford.firesafety@kent.fire-uk.org
mailto:Planning.admin@dartford.gov.uk
mailto:Environmental.admin@dartford.gov.uk
mailto:social.services@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Licensing.north.division@kent.pnn.police.uk


GAMBLING POLICY STATEMENT

Page 36

Appendix 4

Summary of Licensing Authority’s delegations under the Gambling Act 2005

Matter to be dealt with Full Licensing 
Authority

Sub-Committee of 
licensing 

committee

Officers

Final approval of three year 
licensing policy X

Policy not to permit casinos X
Fee setting
(where appropriate)

X

Application for Premises 
Licences

Where 
representations have 

been received and 
not withdrawn

Where no 
representations 

received or 
representations have 

been withdrawn
Application for a variation 
to a licence

Where 
representations have 

been received and 
not withdrawn

Where no 
representations 

received or 
representations have 

been withdrawn
Application for a transfer of 
a licence

Where 
representations have 

been received 

Where no 
representations have 

been received 
Application for a 
provisional statement

Where 
representations have 

been received and 
not withdrawn

Where no 
representations 

received or 
representations have 

been withdrawn
Review of a Premises 
Licence

X

Application for a club 
gaming/club machine 
permits

Where objections 
have been made 

(and not withdrawn)

Where no objections 
made / objections 

withdrawn
Cancellation of a club 
gaming/club machine 
permits

X

Applications for other 
permits

X

Cancellation of a licensed 
premises gaming machines 
permits

X

Consideration of temporary 
use notice

X

Decision to give a counter 
notice to a temporary use 
notice

X



              
CABINET

6 DECEMBER 2018

MD1

LOCAL SCHEME OF SUPPORT FOR COUNCIL TAX – 2019/20

1. Summary

1.1 This is a Key Decision as it is significant in terms of its effects on communities 
living or working in an area of the Borough comprising two or more wards.

1.2   This report provides Members with the detailed results from the recent Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme consultation process and the findings from the revised 
Customer Access Review, and then presents revisions to the current scheme for 
Members’ approval, to be effective from 1 April 2019.

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

         To Cabinet

2.1 That Cabinet recommends to the General Assembly of the Council, the adoption of  
the new Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20, with effect 1 April 2019.

To the General Assembly of the Council

2.2 That the Customer Access Review, shown at Appendix B to the report, be 
approved.

2.3 That the new Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 at Appendix C to the report, 
be adopted, with effect 1 April 2019.

2.4    That, for the reasons outlined in para. 1.12 of the report, the amendment to the 
Exceptional Hardship Policy to allow an applicant to apply for exceptional hardship 
where they have been in receipt of Council Tax Support within the last 6 weeks, be 
approved.

1. Background and Discussion

1.1. The Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) replaced Council Tax Benefit 
from 1 April 2013.

1.2. Under the CTRS’ provisions, the scheme for pensioners is determined by 
Central Government, and the scheme for working-age applicants is 
determined by the Council. Pensioners broadly receive the same level of 
support that was previously available under the Council Tax Benefit 
scheme. 

1.3. The current scheme for working-age applicants is a means tested one. The 
main components of the current scheme are:



              
CABINET

6 DECEMBER 2018

MD2

    All working-age applicants, irrespective of their financial 
circumstances, are required to pay a minimum of 20% towards their 
Council Tax liability;

   If a person is self-employed, a minimum income floor may be 
imposed where a person’s income is less than expected after two 
years of trading. The floor is primarily based on 35 hours x National 
Living Wage. There are some exceptions to this.
 

1.4. The scheme has been amended each year for general changes in 
applicable amounts (primarily in relation to disability premiums) and for non-
dependant deductions.
 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme and the Full Roll Out of Universal 
Credit 

1.5. The introduction of Universal Credit Full Service (UCFS) within Dartford 
Borough will, as experienced in other areas, bring a number of challenges to 
both the administration of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme and also to 
the collection of Council Tax generally. Sites within the full service areas 
have experienced the following:

   The reluctance of Universal Credit (UC) claimants to make a prompt 
claim for Council Tax Reduction leading to a loss of entitlement;

   A high number of changes to UC cases are received from the 
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) requiring a change to 
Council Tax Reduction entitlement. On average, 40% of UC 
claimants have between eight and twelve changes in entitlement per 
annum. These changes result in amendments to Council Tax liability, 
the re-calculation of instalments, delays and a demonstrable loss in 
collection; and

   An increase in costs of administration through multiple changes to 
entitlement, with significant additional staff and staff time being 
needed to deal with these changes.

1.6. It is therefore clear that the existing means tested CTRS, which is 
completely reactive to any change, will not be viable once UC has been 
rolled out fully within the Borough. A move to a new, more efficient scheme 
from April 2019 is now imperative.
 
Proposed Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

1.7. In view of the problems being experienced with UC, the CTRS for Dartford 
has been fundamentally redesigned to address:



              
CABINET

6 DECEMBER 2018

MD3

   The problems with the introduction of full service UC; and

   The inevitable increase in administration costs due to the high level of 
changes received in respect of UC.

1.8. Work has now been completed on designing a new scheme to be 
implemented from 2019/20. The new scheme has a number of features as 
follows:

   The overall cost of the scheme will remain broadly as at present;

   The changes will only be made to the working-age scheme as the 
current scheme for pensioners is prescribed by Central Government;

   The current means-tested scheme will be replaced by a simple 
income grid model as shown below. The ranges in the draft model 
presented to Cabinet in July 2018 (minute number 39) were found to 
be too low and have therefore been widened to be as inclusive as 
possible and to minimise any impacts on applicants.

Weekly Income levels
Band Discount 

%
Single person Couple with no 

children
Couple or Lone 
Parent with 
one child  

Couple or 
Lone Parent 
with two or 
more children

1 80 Passported Benefit
1 80 £0 - £79.99 £0 - £119.99 £0 - £179.99 £0 - £239.99
2 60 £80 - £129.99 £120- £169.99 £180 - £229.99 £240 - £299.99
3 40 £130 - £179.99 £170 - £219.99 £230 - £279.99 £300 - £349.99
4 20 £180 - £259.99 £220 - £299.99 £280 - £379.99 £350 - £449.99
5 0 £260+ £300+ £380+ £450+

For the sake of clarity, all incomes shown within the table above are 
weekly in accordance with the scheme requirements and definitions.

 It is recommended that the highest level of discount will be set at the 
current maximum level of liability (80%) and all current applicants that 
are in receipt of a ‘Passported Benefit’ such as Income Support, 
Jobseeker’s Allowance (Income Based) and Employment and Support 
Allowance (Income Related) receive maximum discount;

 All other discount levels are based on the applicant’s (and partner’s 
where applicable) net income;



              
CABINET

6 DECEMBER 2018

MD4

 The scheme allows for variation in household size with the levels of 
income per band increasing where an applicant has a partner and/or 
dependants;

 The number of children used in the calculation of support will be limited 
to two for all working-age applicants. This will bring the scheme in line 
with Universal Credit;

 Where an applicant has non-dependants living with them, no deduction 
shall be made from any entitlement. This is a significant change and will 
protect low income families where adult sons and daughters remain at 
home, as well as making the administration of the scheme more 
straightforward;

 The new scheme will remove Second Adult Rebate. This is an anomaly 
within the scheme and dates from the original Council Tax Benefit 
provisions. It is based not on the income of the applicant or partner, but 
on the income of any second adult residing with them such as an adult 
son or daughter. A reduction under these provisions would be received 
irrespective of the applicant’s level of income or capital. Removing this 
provision will make the scheme simpler and fairer;

 The new scheme will encourage work by providing a standard £25 per 
week disregard against all earnings for all applicant types. This will take 
the place of the current standard disregards and additional earnings 
disregards. Where a family also receives a child care disregard (for 
child care costs not paid for by Central Government schemes), this has 
been allowed for within the income levels in the ‘grid scheme’;

 Disability benefits such as Disability Living Allowance and Personal 
Independence Allowance will continue to be disregarded and, in 
addition, the Support Component of Employment and Support 
Allowance and Carer’s Allowance will also be disregarded, again 
providing additional protection within the scheme;

 Where an applicant is disabled or have a disabled child or receive the 
Support Component of the Employment and Support Allowance, the 
amount they receive as a premium under the existing scheme will be 
replaced by an equivalent income disregard (in addition to the disregard 
of disability benefits as outline above);

 The total disregard on war pensions and war disablement pensions will 
continue;

 The capital limit under the new scheme will be £6,000. This is a 
reduction from the current level of £16,000. Any capital below this level 



              
CABINET

6 DECEMBER 2018

MD5

will not have any effect on the applicant’s entitlement to Council Tax 
Reduction;

 The new scheme removes the conditions that prevent certain students 
from claiming Council Tax Reduction;

 It will remove extended payment provision;

 The CTRS claiming process for all applicants who receive UC will be 
simplified (see paragraph 1.9 below);

 All changes in circumstances which change any entitlement to Council 
Tax Reduction will be made on a daily basis rather than the current 
weekly basis;

 Where a request is made to backdate entitlement, the current scheme 
requires the applicant to prove ‘good cause’. The new scheme will  
replace ‘good cause’ with a general discretion to backdate; and

 The scheme will have a minimum award of £1.00 per week.

How the new scheme will address the problems of  Universal Credit 
Full Service

1.9. Due to the simplicity of the proposed new scheme, and by taking a more 
‘Council Tax discount approach’, the problems associated with UC will be 
addressed as follows:

   The scheme will require a simplified claiming process – In the case of 
UC applicants any UC data received from the Department for Work 
and Pensions (DWP) will be treated as a claim for Council Tax 
Reduction. Where information is received from the DWP, the 
entitlement to Council Tax Reduction will be processed automatically 
without the need to request further information from the taxpayer. 
This will have the following distinct advantages:

o Speed of processing – claims will be able to be calculated 
automatically and promptly without the need to request further 
information which inevitably leads to delays;

o Maximising entitlement to every applicant – as there will be no 
requirement for UC applicants to apply, entitlement to Council 
Tax Reduction will be maximised with a reduced risk of loss of 
discount or the need for backdating;

o Maintenance of collection rates – the new scheme will avoid 
constant changes in discount, the need for multiple changes in 
instalments and therefore assist in maintaining the high 
collection rates currently achieved.



              
CABINET

6 DECEMBER 2018

MD6

   The income bands are sufficiently wide to avoid constant changes in 
discount. The current Council Tax Reduction scheme is very reactive 
and will alter even if the overall change to the person’s liability is 
small. This is leading to constant changes in Council Tax liability, the 
need to recalculate monthly instalments and the requirement to issue 
a large number of Council Tax demands. The effect of this is that 
Council Tax collection is reduced. The new scheme, with its simplified 
income banding approach, will have the following advantages:

o Only significant changes in income will affect the level of 
discount awarded;

o Council Taxpayers who receive Council Tax Reduction will not 
receive multiple Council Tax demands and adjustments to their 
instalments.

Transition to the new scheme and the Council’s Exceptional Hardship 
Policy

1.10. The Council is mindful that any changes in scheme or a transition to a new 
scheme may result in a change to the entitlement of certain applicants.

1.11. Whilst the new scheme has been designed to protect vulnerable groups and 
to, where possible, minimise any reductions in entitlement, it is proposed 
that the new scheme will contain additional provisions to protect individuals 
who experience exceptional hardship. Where any applicant is likely to 
experience exceptional hardship, they will be encouraged to apply for an 
exceptional hardship payment. The Council will consider all applications for 
exceptional hardship on an individual basis, taking into account available 
income and essential outgoings.

1.12. The current policy only allows the applicant to apply for exceptional hardship 
whilst they are in receipt of Council Tax Reduction. An amendment to the 
policy is recommended to allow an applicant to apply for exceptional 
hardship where they have been in receipt of Council Tax Reduction within 
the last six weeks. This will allow applicants who no longer qualify to apply 
for exceptional hardship. This change will enable individual applicants to be 
dealt with in a fair and equitable manner.

Public Consultation
 

1.13. To effect changes to the CTRS, the Council has a legal duty to carry out 
public consultation and assess the impacts of the proposed changes with 
regard to equalities. The Council has undertaken a full public consultation 
over an eight week period, which ended on 30 September 2018.



              
CABINET

6 DECEMBER 2018

MD7

1.14. An on-line questionnaire was available on the Council’s website over the 
eight week period. A letter was sent to all working-age claimants advising 
them of the web link and also giving them an option to request a hard copy 
of the questionnaire. Registered Social Landlords and third sector 
organisations were also advised of the consultation and encouraged to 
respond.

1.15. The Council should have regard to the responses shown at Appendix A. It 
should be noted that overall the responses were favourable to the changes 
proposed.

1.16. In addition to a full public consultation, the Council also consulted with the 
major preceptors, namely Kent County Council, Kent Fire and Rescue 
Service and the Police and Crime commissioner for Kent. The preceptors 
have agreed the proposed changes and are happy with the approach taken 
by the Council. The response from Kent County Council stated:

‘Based on the stated aims (no detrimental impact on tax base or material 
change in benefit discounts) we are happy to support this and encourage 
schemes to be kept up to date with welfare reforms.’

The new scheme

1.17 The proposed new scheme document is attached at Appendix C.

4 Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Statutory requirement.

5 Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications The annual cost of the current CTRS is 
£5.088m of which £3.007m relates to working-
age claimants. A large proportion of this cost is 
borne by the major preceptors. Dartford’s pro-
rata share is approximately £540k (of which 
£320k relates to working age discounts). It is 
anticipated that the overall cost of the new 
scheme will remain broadly as at present. Final 
costs will be calculated once the Council Tax 
levels for 2019/20 have been set by the 
General Assembly of the Council.

There will be no significant financial impact to 
the Major Precepting Authorities (Kent County 



              
CABINET

6 DECEMBER 2018

MD8

Council, Kent Fire and Rescue and the Kent 
Police and Crime Commissioner).

The new scheme will look to minimise the 
implications for individual Council Tax 
Reduction applicants. Where an individual may 
suffer exceptional hardship, the scheme will 
include an exceptional hardship provision 
which will be met by the collection fund in the 
same way as Council Tax Reduction.
 

Legal Implications

Public Sector Equality Duty

Schedule 1A(5) of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992, as amended, requires local 
authorities to consider the following:

For each financial year, each billing authority 
must consider whether to revise its scheme or 
replace it with another scheme.

The authority must make any revision to its 
scheme, or any replacement scheme, no later 
than 11th March in the financial year preceding 
that for which the revision or replacement 
scheme is to have effect.

In addition, under Schedule 1A (5) (4), if any 
revision to a scheme, or any replacement 
scheme, has the effect of reducing or removing 
a reduction to which any class of persons is 
entitled, the revision or replacement must 
include such transitional provision relating to 
that reduction or removal as the authority 
thinks fit. 

The new scheme will inevitably change the 
amount of entitlement for some applicants. The 
exceptional hardship provision will provide a 
mechanism enabling the Council to award 
additional support where it is felt that any 
applicant may suffer exceptional hardship 
under the new provisions.

A full Customer Access Review covering the 
implications of amending the current scheme 
and introducing a revised scheme from 1 April 
2019 is detailed in Appendix B.



              
CABINET

6 DECEMBER 2018

MD9

Crime and Disorder Duty

This concludes that it would be considered 
reasonable to continue with the implementation 
of the new scheme. The income grid proposed 
ensures that overall spending on Council Tax 
Reduction to support residents will remain in 
line with the amount spent under the current 
scheme.

Alongside this, measures to ensure that all 
passported benefit claimants maintain the 
highest level of discount and simplifying the 
claiming process will ensure that the objectives 
of the new scheme are being met.

It is recognised that within this proposal there 
will be applicants that will receive more 
discount as a result of the new scheme and 
there will be applicants that will either receive 
less discount or no discount at all. The 
principles on which the scheme are designed 
ensure that those with the least income and the 
least amount of savings (capital) are entitled to 
greater levels of discount.

Reasonable adjustments have been proposed 
to the scheme to support those that would be 
worse affected. Firstly, the income grid bands 
have been revised post-consultation to ensure 
the scheme delivers on its aim to maintain 
current spending and to support those on 
lowest income more greatly. Secondly, it is 
proposed to amend the Exceptional Hardship 
Policy ensuring it remains accessible to 
claimants who have been in receipt of discount 
within the last six weeks. The current Policy is 
only open to applicants currently in receipt of a 
discount and it is recognised that this could be 
insufficient when introducing new scheme 
rules. 

There are no Crime and Disorder implications.

Staffing Implications Resources will need to be monitored to ensure 
collection is maximised

Administrative Implications See staffing implications above



              
CABINET

6 DECEMBER 2018

MD10

Risk Assessment The scheme could be open to challenge if it 
were considered that the consultation had not 
been undertaken properly. The Council 
consulted fully on its proposals for an eight 
week period and therefore can evidence that a 
robust process has been followed.

6 Appendices

Appendix A – Summary of Consultation Responses
Appendix B – Customer Access Review
Appendix C – The New Scheme

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File
 Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Sarah Martin
01322 343402

Internal Services N/A



Appendix A
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

Page 1 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20 
Consultation Results

Background

Each year the Council has to decide whether to change its Council Tax Reduction 
scheme for working age applicants in its area. This year the Council is 
recommending significant change to the Council Tax Reduction scheme due to the 
introduction of Universal Credit Full Service within the Kent area and to simplify the 
scheme for all claimants. 

The Council is not proposing to make any reductions on its overall spending on 
Council Tax Reduction claims from the changes it is suggesting. Before any 
changes can be implemented, they must be subject to public consultation.

Consultation dates

The consultation ran for 8 weeks. It started on 6 August 2018 and finished on 30 
September 2018.

Consultation Results

In total 35 people responded to the Council’s consultation on the Council Tax 
Reduction scheme for 2019/20.

30 of the respondents confirmed that they had read the background information 
that accompanied the consultation and informed them of the proposals before they 
completed the questionnaire.



Appendix A
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

Page 2 

Demographics

35 people provided responses to the equalities monitoring questions and told us 
about their employment status.

Age

2.86%

5.71%

28.57%

31.43%

20.00%

0.00%

11.43%

18 - 24 25 - 34 35 - 44 45 - 54 55 - 64 over 65 prefer not to 
say  

Disability

28.57%

51.43%

14.29%

5.71%

yes no prefer not to say Not answered



Appendix A
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

Page 3 

Gender

60.00%

25.71%

8.58%
5.71%

Female Male Prefer not to say Not answered

Race

74.29%

5.71%

14.29%

5.71%

British/English/Northe... Other Prefer not to say Not answered



Appendix A
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

Page 4 

Option 1

To introduce an Income Based Grid scheme to replace the current 
scheme for all applicants of working age 

Do you think Option 1 should be introduced into the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2019/20?

54.29%

28.57%

17.14%

Yes No Don’t know

Comments provided in response to Option 1

How on earth can someone living on less than £75 per week afford to contribute 20% 
of the council tax for their property?

Recommend Simplifying further, as there is too many options i.e. Having a high rate, 
and low rate (averaging out the discount levels to 70% and 30%).  Also removing 
distinction between single person and couples, and +1 / +2 children. so it just has 2 
options Singles/Couples, and those with Children.

Not easy to understand

To be fairer to all people

It appears to be the most straight forward option

Seems to be a sensible option but there should a cap

Those in the support group of ESA will be paying more tax as their income is above 
£114 as a couple, which means they will go into the higher band



Appendix A
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

Page 5 

Option 2

To limit the number of dependant children within the calculation 
for Council Tax Reduction to a maximum of two for all applicants

Do you think Option 2 should be introduced into the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2019/20?

45.71%

31.43%

22.86%

Yes No Don’t know

Comments provided in response to Option 2

However Go further, go along the lines of doesn't matter how many children.  will reduce 
admin.  Exceptional Hardship scheme (good idea).

Yes ok but your not looking after disabled people who have to pay somebody to just 
change a light bulb

I have two children so it would not effect me, If they are using more facilities then they 
should be paying for their share of council tax

Yes again this is a sensible way as you should only raised what you can afford to care 
for them



Appendix A
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

Page 6 

Option 3

To remove Non-Dependant Deductions from the scheme

Do you think Option 3 should be introduced into the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2019/20?

34.29%

25.71%

40.00%

Yes No Don’t know

Comments provided in response to Option 3

Some of these non-dependants will be earning fairly high wages and will be contributing 
significant amounts to the household.  I do not agree that non-dependant deductions 
should be removed from this scheme.

If you have an adult living in the property, regardless of receiving a wage or not, should 
experience a deduction.  This would encourage to seek employment, and the applicant 
to seek financial help from the non dependant.  However in circumstances such as if 
that person was a carer or themselves disabled they should not experience a deduction.

I don’t know about this and want more clarification before answering



Appendix A
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

Page 7 

Option 4

To remove the Second Adult Rebate provisions 

Do you think Option 4 should be introduced into the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2019/20?

25.71%

40.00%

34.29%

Yes No Don’t know

Comments provided in response to Option 4

This will affect many households on a low income.

Did not understand this as you have really complicated things

Again I don’t know and need more information



Appendix A
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

Page 8 

Option 5

To remove the current earnings disregards and replace them with 
a standard £25 per week disregard irrespective of a person’s 
circumstances 

Do you think Option 5 should be introduced into the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2019/20?

28.57%

42.86%

28.57%

Yes No Don’t know

Comments provided in response to Option 5

If you simplified the grid to 70% and 30% discount for instance recommend upping the 
disregard to further encourage employment.  Those who are caring or have disabilities 
should be covered by exceptional circumstances though.

Yes ok but your not looking after disabled people who have to pay somebody to just 
change a light bulb

As a single parent I cannot afford to pay the full council tax amount regardless of my 
earnings with rent



Appendix A
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

Page 9 

Option 6 

To disregard Carer’s Allowance which is currently taken into 
account as income

Do you think Option 6 should be introduced into the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2019/20?

65.72%

17.14% 17.14%

Yes No Don’t know

Comments provided in response to Option 6

Definitely they have a difficult job. and may be covered by simplifying the grid as 
previous mentioned.

But my wife looks after my son and myself who are both very disabled and only gets 
£66 a week that just pays for about milk and bread

An allowance is an extra benefit

Yes I totally agree as CA is not an income. If CA is as same as a Carers wage then it 
should be but it lot less that what a career earns



Appendix A
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

Page 10 

Option 7

To replace the current disabled premiums under the existing 
scheme with an equivalent income disregard.

Do you think Option 7 should be introduced into the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2019/20?

48.57%

28.57%

22.86%

Yes No Don’t know

Comments provided in response to Option 7

You have not got a clue about being disabled , not everybody can play sports in a 
wheelchair . When your a paraplegic every piece of equipment you need costs so much 
money . Don’t know why Dartford council is against disabled people . The government 
don’t like us . My bed / chair I have to keep me alive costs £10000 pounds and I have 
to insure it and keep it working . Yes the NHS help but all equipment  cost so much . 
For me to go in a home would cost £2000 a week what is over 100k a year . If I can not 
afford to live in my home . Dartford will cause a bigger bill . Also the food banks that 
people are using to keep them selfs alive .

We are concerned that this may leave us worse off than we already are. Please can 
you be more specific about this option. Thank you



Appendix A
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

Page 11 

Option 8

To simplify the capital/savings rules and reduce the capital limit 
to £6,000

Do you think Option 8 should be introduced into the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2019/20?

45.72%

28.57%
25.71%

Yes No Don’t know

Comments provided in response to Option 8

£6,000 is far too low, how can you justify this?  You should be looking at a minimum of 
£10,000.

Where did £6k come from? why not £5k.

Picking on the disabled again there is big large writing on the DWP web site you can 
not use our DLA or PIP as earnings so is Dartford going to fight this one in court and 
cost the tax payers money ?

If I had that much in savings i would not need any extra help in paying council tax

The savings rules should be the same as for Universal Credit.

SHOULD BE HIGHER, MAYBE £10,000



Appendix A
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

Page 12 

Option 9

To remove the restriction on claiming Council Tax Reduction for 
certain students  

Do you think Option 9 should be introduced into the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2019/20?

45.71%

31.43%

22.86%

Yes No Don’t know

Comments provided in response to Option 9

We need students in Dartford, they are a source of growth.

So that reads if you are a millionaire your still get discount?



Appendix A
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

Page 13 

Option 10

To remove the Extended Payment provisions

Do you think Option 10 should be introduced into the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2019/20?

31.43%

37.14%

31.43%

Yes No Don’t know

Comments provided in response to Option 10

When people start a new job and have to wait for their first pay check, they need this 
support more than ever.  To withdraw this will cause distress and will encourage people 
to carry on claiming benefits rather than getting paid work and supporting themselves.

What good will this do

I'm not aware of what this is



Appendix A
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

Page 14 

Option 11

To change the claiming process for all applicants who receive 
Universal Credit

Do you think Option 11 should be introduced into the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2019/20?

60.00%

14.29%

25.71%

Yes No Don’t know

Comments provided in response to Option 11

What about those people who are not eligible for UC but who still may be eligible for 
CT support?  What do they do?

I can not bath or clean myself or cook I have to have meds every few hours and need 
life saving equipment to keep me a live but you all think we will go back to work . When 
will you start looking after the sick disabled ? Because your not doing a very good job . 
Adolf hiltler who killed millions of Jews is remeber but the sick and disabled were also 
gassed and murderd I wonder if this is something the government is thinking of bringing 
back .

I am currently changing over to UC, It is such a mine field and difficult to find information. 
If it was automatic process once UC claim was completed straight to DC it would be so 
much easier for the public.

Could be helpful to completely refresh the system



Appendix A
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

Page 15 

Option 12

To recalculate Council Tax Reduction entitlement from the actual 
date on which the change occurs, rather than on a weekly basis, 
usually being the Monday following

Do you think Option 12 should be introduced into the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2019/20?

62.86%

11.43%

25.71%

Yes No Don’t know

Comments provided in response to Option 12

Agree in principal but cannot see how this would reduce the number of changes that 
affect entitlements?

As long as back payments do not take 6 weeks to be paid



Appendix A
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

Page 16 

Option 13

To remove the need for the applicant to prove ‘good cause’ and 
replace with a general discretion of the Council to allow claims to 
be backdated

Do you think Option 13 should be introduced into the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2019/20?

65.71%

20.00%
14.29%

Yes No Don’t know

Comments provided in response to Option 13

As long as you don't set complicated criteria for the eligibility of backdated claims!

who are we to state legislation is to be ignored?  Ignore it and we could be in trouble.  
Enhance it, we could be in trouble.

It’s taking up to 12 weeks to get anypayment at the moment under the new changes so 
I know many councils have had to give people some time to pay there bills of . 3 months 
is a long time but don’t forget they will have to feed them selfs . Your a Tory run council 
and there party has made this problem there selfs . Yes when the councils pay there 
bills they are always 3 months late now your going to give the humans the same 
payment dates . I can not see how you will over come this also if you try and get blood 
from a stone in the courts your going to lose every case . Fact if you read where 
universal creadit has been in place

To replace legislation with council discretion, mmm that's a tough one

A set time period for back dating regardless of reasoning to be fair to all. If you didn't 
know you could claim then should not get back dated. Not fair when you cannot speak 
directly to an assessor for them to use their discretion, all claims are different



Appendix A
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

Page 17 

Option 14

To change the minimum award of Council Tax Reduction to £1 per 
week.

Do you think Option 14 should be introduced into the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2019/20?

34.29%

28.57%

37.14%

Yes No Don’t know

Comments provided in response to Option 14

When you are a pensioner on a limited income every little helps, even 50p a week 
would help some people.

Why £1. where did £1 come from? what about 5p?  -  These figures feel very 
plucked out of air.

I am not sure how this works , it all about the council then the humans

What help is that to a person who is already struggling



Appendix A
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

Page 18 

Opinion on changing the scheme

Should the Council change the existing Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme from 1 April 2019 based on the proposed options detailed 
above?

40.00%

28.57% 28.57%

2.86%

Yes No Don’t know Not answered

Comments provided in response to the proposals for the Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019-20

See all the individual comments made against each point above.  I do not agree that 
these changes should be introduced carte blanche.

I'm assuming that the reason is to reduce down admin costs primarily, and to encourage 
employment, it appears that the changes are still too complex, complexity results in 
higher costs.

Just think you all sat around a big table of 12 people and did not have a clue what to 
do as a disabled person only a few councils make them pay council tax , I think when 
your spending £40000 pounds a year for mr kites friend mr Johnson to play cricket the 
people around the the table need a life changing operation . Charles dickens wrote 
about the fat bloke who made rules and had a full tummy day and night that he did not 
care about the dying sick and poor . What’s changed ? As a person who worked hard 
all his life then became sick and lost every thing you realise that family and love is the 
only thing you need . But I wonder if the fat cats could live on £66 a week . Also the sick 
and poor can not have a say because they can’t afford a computer or if housebound 
how do they get to one computer miles away ?  I think you all need to get real people 
around the table that are real . My wife would be good as she invites people to live with 
us to see what the real world is like .



Appendix A
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

Page 19 

This system is far to complicated. If people are on they should not pay any money.

As a separated single parent who works, I do not want to be claiming any benefits but 
it is a necessity for me to do so. It seems the changes will not effect any persons that 
are on the dole and never intend to work. I feel the 25% single discount should remain 
at least.

Yes you should but people on esa, etc it’ll really stress them out during the change as 
arrears will Incure . Ideally I wouldn’t any waiting times and for it to be paid when it 
usually is

If I understand this, it appears these proposals, whilst helping the Council to reduce 
their administrive costs, is generally a fairer system. In our case of being disabled and 
in receipt of Carers Allowance, it appears that this new option will go a long way,  to at 
least partially protect us, from the onslaught of destitution from Universal Credit. We 
can only pray and hope that we will not lose our home. Overall it appears to be a fairer 
y.

wont make any difference to me cant afford it now and still wont

I think they should help people that are earning under £36,000 as some of the tax bands 
are ridiculous. they are unrealistic and the money isn't been shown to be going towards 
the roads or anywhere we can see.

Not all of them but some

BECAUSE IT AFFECTS THOSE ON THE LOWEST INCOMES AND THE SICK AND 
DISABLED.

Designed to take from those who already have very little or nothing.

You need to rethink it again food banks have so many people they can not cope now .   
People are dying just think if that was your son daughter or Mum and Dad . I never did 
anything to make my self paraplegic and we lost everything I do feel sometimes that 
not being here would help my family get on with the stress of my wife not eating so she 
can save for nappies for me ( yes you don’t get them free ) I do wonder if it’s worth 
carrying on .  Think what you are doing go to the worse place you can go . Then think 
what can we do to make these people more poor .

If property is empty tax more.Tax higher band's more. Leave the poor people only.lf 
people not paying tax just take it out of salary,by adding it into income tax.

The council should not have the huge reserves it has and be proposing changes like 
these, use those reserves to help the public of your borough. The council is bloated, fat 
and under performs in most areas and to ask the public to pay more for less of the 
crappy service you currently provide is insulting. I would be surprised if anybody other 
than the council are in favour of making the system easier for you to charge us more.  



Appendix A
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

Page 20 

This entire format is open to huge misinterpretation, you should be engaging on a face 
to face basis to calm suspicions and fear, answer questions and reassure instead of 
holding the public at arms length behind an online questionnaire.

Thank you for keeping us in the loop, in a very difficult time for all of us....... through no 
fault of our own.

what do we get from council tax anyway just paying for the unemployed

The scheme is a good scheme right now it just needs to be exsplained simpler in words 
for all candidates.

ANY INCREASE IN ADMIN COSTS COULD BE RECOUPED FROM OTHER 
SERVICES WHERE THERE IS WASTED RESOURCES. MANY HOUSEHOLDS NO 
LONGER NEED A WEEKLY GREEN BIN WASTE COLLECTION. FORTNIGHTLY 
WOULD SUFFICE. THAT WOULD SAVE A LOT !



Appendix A
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

Page 21 

Alternatives to changing the Council Tax Reduction Scheme

If we do not make any changes to our Council Tax Reduction Scheme, it will be 
administratively more complex and it will cost taxpayers more. If this happens we 
will need to find savings from other services to help meet the increase in costs. The 
proposals set out in this consultation will deliver administration savings. The 
alternatives include continuing with the current scheme, reducing funding to other 
Council services to pay for additional administration costs and using the Council’s 
reserves (savings) to keep the Council Tax Reduction scheme.

How do you think we should meet the increased costs?

Yes,  20.00%

Yes,  34.29%

Yes,  51.43%

No
  65.71% No

  51.43%
No

  37.14%

Don’t know, 8.57% Don’t know, 8.57% Don’t know, 8.57%Not answered,  
5.72%

Not answered,  
5.71%

Not answered,  
2.86%

Incre
ase

 th
e le

ve
l o

f C
ouncil 

Tax
 to

 co
ve

r t
he ad

ditio
nal 

ad
minist

rat
ive

 co
sts

Fin
d th

e ad
ditio

nal 

ad
minist

rat
ion co

sts
 by 

cu
tti

ng o
ther C

ouncil 

servi
ce

s

Use th
e Council'

s r
eserve

s 

(Sa
vin

gs)

Based on your answers above, please rank your order of preference

First, 17.14%

First, 37.14%
First, 42.86%Second, 17.14%

Second, 37.14%

Second, 28.57%

Third, 60.00%

Third, 20.00%
Third, 25.71%

Not answered, 
5.72%

Not answered, 
5.72%

Not answered, 
2.86%

Increase the level of Council Tax 
to cover the additional 

administrative costs

Find the additional administration 
costs by cutting other Council 

services

Use the Council's reserves 
(Savings)



Appendix A
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20

Page 22 

Comments about other options the Council should consider as 
alternatives to changing the scheme

Try working smarter with the staff you already have!

The cuts under the proposals are not deep enough.

How much do you pay for 10 rich kids to play cricket ? When your taking food from a 
child’s hand ?   Don’t need to do the sums . Perhaps we should grow food where they 
are and ask Mr Johnson to play cricket in his garden .   I watching how much they are 
going to spend to save a duck on a pond in Southfleet but across the road the rich drive 
and shot the duck for thousands a day . That’s the real world that is life .

No one who works for the public service should be paid over 1 hundred thousand 
pounds a year.lf this does not save enough cut their money to 90 thousand a year.

we dont get a service so nothing to cut

Further comments made regarding the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme that respondents hadn't had the opportunity to raise 
elsewhere

Start looking after the sick , poor , disabled and old ones .   Don’t rob the poor anymore 
.

The government could get you more money by Taxing Big companies more,or at least 
collecting the money they are supposed to pay. You should also get Maintenance 
companies to do their jobs correct. We have rubbish all over the place here, wall's that 
are collapsing and many other problems.Caxtons are our Maintenance company,they 
do very little just say that's the council job. You should look at the Danish Maintenance 
System,and Council tax system. Where if people don't pay they just take the money out 
of their salaries. You should not charge people for taking their old cookers etc because 
some people just dump them.You have to pay money to people for recycling there 
Rubbish. If you want to contact me l can you more details. Many thanks hope to hear 
from you soon. (name provided).

Again the scheme in introductory in a way that causes in arrears

A MORE EFFICIENT REVENUES AND BENEFITS SECTION WOULD HELP



Appendix B

Customer Access Review – Full Assessment

October 2018

Assessment details

Assessment area Local Scheme for Support for Council Tax 2019-20
Date of assessment October 2018
Directorate and Service Strategic (Internal) / Revenues and Benefits
Manager Heather Gaynor
Officer conducting assessment Sarah Martin
Step 1: Scoping the assessment

1 What are the aims and objectives of the activity or proposal? The Council Tax Reduction scheme replaced Council Tax Benefit with effect 
from 1 April 2013. Under the Council Tax Reduction provisions, the scheme 
for pensioners is determined by Central Government and the scheme for 
working age applicants is determined by the Council. Pensioners broadly 
receive the same level of support that was previously available under the 
Council Tax Benefit scheme.

The current scheme (2018/19) for working age applicants is based on the 
previous Council Tax Benefit means test, but has been amended since 2013. 
The following rules currently apply to working age applicants only:

a) All working age applicants are required to pay a minimum of 20% 
towards their Council Tax liability;

b) If a person is self-employed, a minimum income floor may be imposed 
where a person’s income is less than expected after two years of 
trading, this could be based on 35 hours x National Living Wage. 
There are some exemptions to this.

The scheme has been amended each year for general changes in applicable 
amounts (primarily in relation to disability premiums) and for non-dependant 
deductions.

In view of the problems being experienced with Universal Credit, the Council 



Appendix B

Customer Access Review – Full Assessment

October 2018

Tax Reduction scheme for Dartford has been fundamentally redesigned to:
a) Address the problems posed by full service Universal Credit and the  

inevitable increase in administration costs due to the high level of 
changes received in respect of Universal Credit;

b) Simplify the claiming process for all applicants;
c) Improve the speed of processing;
d) Maximise entitlement to every applicant, and
e) Maintain council tax collection rates.

Work has been undertaken since January 2018 on a new scheme which is 
now completed and been subject to consultation. If accepted by Council, the 
new scheme will be implemented from 2019/20. The new scheme has a 
number of features as follows:

a) The overall expenditure (cost) of the scheme will remain broadly as at 
present;

b) The changes can only be made to the working age schemes as the 
current scheme for pensioners is prescribed by Central Government;

c) The current means tested scheme will be replaced by a simple income 
grid model;

d) It is recommended that the highest level of discount will be set at the 
current maximum level of liability (80%) and all current applicants that 
are in receipt of a ‘Passported Benefit’ such as Income Support, 
Jobseeker’s Allowance (Income Based) and Employment and Support 
Allowance (Income Related) receive maximum discount;

e) All other discount levels are based on the applicant’s (and partner’s, 
where they have one) net income;

f) The scheme allows for variation in household size with the levels of 
income per band increasing where an applicant has a partner, and / or 
dependants;

g) Limiting the number of children used in the calculation of support to 
two for all working age applicants. This will bring the scheme in line 
with Universal Credit;

h) Where an applicant had non-dependants living with them, no 
deduction shall be made from any entitlement. This is a significant 



Appendix B

Customer Access Review – Full Assessment

October 2018

change and means that the administration of the scheme will be more 
straightforward whilst also protecting low income families where adult 
sons and daughters for example remain at home;

i) To remove Second Adult Rebate;
j) To encourage work, a standard £25 per week disregard will be 

provided against all earnings for all applicant types. This will take the 
place of the current standard disregards and additional earnings 
disregards. Where a family also receives a child care disregard (for 
child care costs not paid for by Central Government schemes), this 
has been allowed for within the income levels in the ‘grid scheme’;

k) Disability benefits such as Disability Living Allowance and Personal 
Independence Allowance will continue to be disregarded and, in 
addition, the Support Component of Employment and Support 
Allowance and Carer’s Allowance will also be disregarded, again 
providing additional protection with the scheme;

l) Where an applicant is disabled, they have a disabled child or receive 
the Support Component of the Employment and Support Allowance, 
the amount they receive as a premium under the existing scheme will 
be replaced by an equivalent income disregard (in addition to the 
disregard of disability benefits as outlined in  k. above);

m) The total disregard on war pensions and war disablement pensions 
will continue;

n) The capital limit under the new scheme will be £6,000. This is a 
reduction from the current level of £16,000. Any capital below this 
level will not have any effect on the applicant’s entitlement to Council 
Tax Reduction;

o) To remove the conditions that prevent certain students from claiming 
Council Tax Reduction;

p) To remove extended payment provision;
q) To change the CTRS claiming process for all applicants who receive 

Universal Credit; 
r) Make all changes in circumstances which change any entitlement to 

Council Tax Reduction on a daily basis rather than the current (benefit 
based) weekly basis;

s) Where a request is made to backdate entitlement, the current scheme 



Appendix B

Customer Access Review – Full Assessment

October 2018

requires the applicant to prove ‘good cause’. The new scheme will 
replace ‘good cause’ with a general discretion to backdate, and

t) The scheme will have a minimum award of £1.00 per week.

The impact assessment considers the cumulative effect of these changes, as 
the new scheme, on all working age applicants for a reduction in their council 
tax. The impact assessment is modelled on data from existing customers in 
receipt of a council tax reduction.

2 Who will be affected? Changes to the Council Tax Reduction scheme will affect eligible working age 
applicants. 

The principles on which the scheme is designed ensure that those with the 
least income and the least amount of savings (capital) are entitled to greater 
levels of discount. Working age applicants on ‘passported benefits’ will see 
their entitlement to discount protected at Band 1.

Of the current 3537 working age applicants 71.3% will not see their 
entitlement change, 18% will receive more discount, 8.3% will receive less 
discount and 2.4% will receive no discount.

Pension age applicants will not be affected because they are protected from 
any reduction in support as the level they receive is set by Central 
Government.

3 How does the activity or proposal contribute to:
a) any key performance indicators?
b) policies, values or objectives of Dartford Borough Council?

a) The Council monitors the Council Tax Support caseload and the 
percentage of Council Tax collected  

b) The Council Tax Reduction Scheme relates to the Corporate Plan 2014-
17 theme of ‘A Council Performing Strongly’ which has a strategic aim to 
‘provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and 
demonstrate improvement’. Under this theme, the strategic objectives are 
to ‘deliver high quality services, offering value for money and 
demonstrating a culture of continuous improvement’ and ‘inform and 
consult residents and stakeholders about Council services’.



Appendix B

Customer Access Review – Full Assessment

October 2018

4 Which aspects of the activity or proposal are dictated by 
legislation/regulation and where do we have discretion in how 
they are delivered?

The Local Government Finance Act 2012 contains provisions to require local 
authorities to put in place their own localised council tax reduction scheme 
from April 2013. The Council has discretion in the ability to determine the level 
of support to working age applicants. The scheme for pension age applicants 
is determined by Central Government.

In making local schemes, the Council must give consideration to the effects of 
the options on working age applicants, in particular vulnerable groups. In 
considering this, the Council has existing responsibilities under the Equality 
Act 2010, Disabled Persons Act 1986, Housing Act 1996 and the Welfare 
Reform Act 2016.

Step 2: Information collection  
Note: Equality and Diversity information for Dartford can be found at http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/Facts-and-figures-about-Kent/equality-and-diversity-data   

5 What do you know about the groups of people who will be 
affected? i.e. demographic information in relation to the protected 
characteristic groups (age, disability, pregnancy and maternity, religion or 
belief, race, sex, sexual orientation, gender reassignment)

It is not required for council tax purposes to collate data relating to protected 
characteristics (other than disabled claimants and pensioners) and therefore 
only limited data is available.
The current split between working age claimants and pensioner age 
claimants is 3,537 and 1,969 respectively

6 What consultation has taken place with affected groups? Please 
describe who was consulted and the key findings

An on-line questionnaire was available on the Council’s website over the 
eight week period. A letter was sent to all working-age claimants advising 
them of the web link and also giving them an option to request a hard copy of 
the questionnaire. Registered Social Landlords and third sector organisations 
were also advised of the consultation and encouraged to respond.  Overall 
the responses were favourable to the changes proposed. 

In addition to a full public consultation, the Council also has consulted with 
the major preceptors namely the Kent County Council, Kent Fire and Rescue 
Service and the Police and Crime Commissioner for Kent.  The preceptors 
have agreed with the changes proposed and are happy with the approach 
taken by the Council.

http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/Facts-and-figures-about-Kent/equality-and-diversity-data


Appendix B

Customer Access Review – Full Assessment

October 2018

7 Are there any gaps in information? If so, what additional research 
and/or consultation is needed to ensure that affected groups 
needs and views are taken into account? 

Some data is available on the protected characteristic groups. The changes 
proposed to the scheme would have no specific impact on the individual 
groups other than that for working age claimants generally. 

Step 3: Assessing the equality impact 

8 Consider whether the activity or proposal has or will have any positive or negative equality impacts on the protected characteristic groups in 
relation to the following aims of the General Equality Duty:

 

a) tackling unlawful discrimination
b) promoting equality of opportunity
c) promoting good relations

NOTES:
 The Initial Screening will have identified which aims of the Public Sector Equality Duty are relevant to the activity or proposal for consideration 
 For existing activities, consider how they are working in practice for each relevant protected group
 For new proposals, consider whether there is anything that could give rise to positive and negative equality impacts for each relevant protected group
 If there is no identified equality impact, please tick the ‘No Impact’ box and explain why in question 9 
 If the equality impact is unclear, please tick the ‘Unknown’ box and explain why in question 9

POSITIVE IMPACTS NEGATIVE IMPACTS NO IMPACT UNKNOWN
a Age Pension age claimants will be 

protected from the changes.

Currently 64% of applicants are on 
‘passported benefits’ and under the 
proposed new scheme will see their 
entitlement to discount protected at 
Band 1.

The data that follows evaluates the 
impact on the remaining 36% of 
current applicants that apply directly 

The number of applicants that are 
currently entitled to a reduction in their 
council tax that would not qualify for a 
discount under the new scheme are 
shown by age band below, with the 
current average amount they receive 
in council tax discount. 

18-24: 2 applicants, average discount 
£658.98
25-34: 26 applicants, average 
discount £445.93

☐ ☐



Appendix B

Customer Access Review – Full Assessment

October 2018

to the council for a discount in their 
council tax.

Under the current scheme the 
average council tax reduction 
payable by age band is shown 
below:
18-24: £578.72
25-34: £648.10
35-44: £671.75
45-54: £709.09
55-65: £718.72

Under the new scheme the average 
council tax reduction payable by age 
band, and the average change from 
the existing scheme is estimated to 
be:
18-24: £659.58 (+ £80.86/year or 
£1.56/week)
25-34: £639.69 (- £8.41/year or 
£0.16/week
35-44: £670.59 (- £1.16/year or 
£0.02/week)
45-54: £753.45 (+ £44.36/year or 
£0.85/week)
55-65: £810.60 (+ £91.89/year or 
£1.77/week)

The age of the claimant is not a 
material consideration in the 
calculation of council tax discount. 
The variation in the amounts payable 
is linked directly to individual 
circumstances rather than a 

35-44: 28 applicants, average 
discount £469.54
45-54: 14 applicants, average 
discount £538.92
55-65: 15 applicants, average 
discount £794.61

In the 18-24 age group one applicant 
would not qualify for a discount as a 
direct result of their capital exceeding 
the proposed limit of £6,000 and one 
applicant would not qualify for a 
discount as a direct result of the 
removal of the second adult rebate.

The majority of those in age groups 
from 25 to 44 would not qualify for a 
discount as a direct result of their 
income exceeding the levels set out 
for Band 5 of the income grid model.

The majority of those in age groups 
from 45 to 65 would not qualify for a 
discount as a direct result of their 
capital exceeding the proposed limit of 
£6,000.

Certain applicants may experience a 
reduction in overall support (as with 
other working age claimants) due to 
the proposed changes to the scheme.



Appendix B

Customer Access Review – Full Assessment

October 2018

particular feature or aspect of the 
scheme. For example a single 
female aged 25 with the same costs, 
income and capital as a single 
female applicant aged 57 would 
receive exactly the same level of 
discount. This would equally be the 
case if the applicants had children of 
the same age.

All applicants will have access to the 
exceptional hardship policy should 
they experience exceptional financial 
hardship.

b Disability Pension age claimants will be 
protected from the changes.

Currently 64% of current applicants 
are on ‘passported benefits’ and 
under the proposed new scheme will 
see their entitlement to discount 
protected at Band 1.

The data that follows evaluates the 
impact on the remaining 36% of 
current applicants that apply directly 
to the council for a discount in their 
council tax.

Under the current scheme the 
average council tax reduction 
payable to those with a disability is 
£760.77 per year. Under the new 
scheme this would increase to 

It is estimated that 13 applicants that 
are currently entitled to a reduction in 
their council tax would not qualify for a 
discount under the new scheme. 
These claimants currently receive on 
average £836.25 in council tax 
discount. This is as a direct result of 
the proposal to reduce the capital limit 
to £6,000.

Certain disabled applicants may 
experience a reduction in overall 
support (as with other working age 
claimants) due to the proposed 
changes to the scheme.

☐ ☐



Appendix B

Customer Access Review – Full Assessment

October 2018

£790.99 per year. This is an 
increase of £30.22 per year, the 
equivalent of £0.58 per week.

Under the current scheme the 
average council tax reduction 
payable to those without a disability 
is £669.98 per year.  Under the new 
scheme this would increase to 
£693.97 per year.  This is an 
increase of £23.99 per year, the 
equivalent of £0.46 per week.

All applicants will have access to the 
exceptional hardship policy should 
they experience exceptional financial 
hardship.

c Gender (including reassignment) Pension age claimants will be 
protected from the changes.

Currently 64% of current applicants 
are on ‘passported benefits’ and 
under the proposed new scheme will 
see their entitlement to discount 
protected at Band 1.

The data that follows evaluates the 
impact on the remaining 36% of 
current applicants that apply directly 
to the council for a discount in their 
council tax.

Under the current scheme the 
average council tax reduction 

It is estimated that 58 female 
applicants currently entitled would not 
qualify for a discount under the new 
scheme. These claimants currently 
receive on average £504.64/year in 
council tax discount. This is as a 
direct result of their capital exceeding 
the proposed limit of £6,000, the 
removal of the second adult rebate or 
their income exceeding the levels set 
out for Band 5 of the income grid 
model.

It is estimated that 27 male applicants 
currently entitled would not qualify for 
a discount under the new scheme. 
These claimants currently receive on 

☐ ☐



Appendix B

Customer Access Review – Full Assessment

October 2018

payable to female applicants is 
£653.88 per year. Under the new 
scheme this would increase to 
£694.40 per year. This is an 
increase of £40.52 per year, the 
equivalent of £0.78 per week.

Under the current scheme the 
average council tax reduction 
payable males is £740.96 per year. 
Under the new scheme this would 
decrease to £721.25 per year. This 
is a decrease of £19.71 per year, the 
equivalent of £0.38 per week.  

The proposals under the scheme 
would reduce the average existing 
variance between male and female 
claimants from £84.16 per year to 
£26.85 per year.

The sex of the claimant is not a 
material consideration in the 
calculation of council tax discount. 
The variation in the amounts payable 
is linked directly to individual 
circumstances rather than a 
particular feature or aspect of the 
scheme. For example a single male 
with the same costs, income and 
capital as a single female applicant 
would receive exactly the same level 
of discount. This would equally be 
the case if the applicants had 
children of the same age.

average £602.00 in council tax 
discount. This is as a direct result of 
their capital exceeding the proposed 
limit of £6,000 or their income 
exceeding the levels set out for Band 
5 of the income grid model.

Certain applicants may experience a 
reduction in overall support (as with 
other working age claimants) due to 
the proposed changes to the scheme.



Appendix B

Customer Access Review – Full Assessment

October 2018

All applicants will have access to the 
exceptional hardship policy should 
they experience exceptional financial 
hardship.

d Race All applicants will have access to the 
exceptional hardship policy should 
they experience exceptional financial 
hardship

This information is not collected from 
claimants as it is not relevant to the 
calculation of council tax reduction. 
Same impact as that for working age 
claimants generally

☐ ☐

e Religion/Belief All applicants will have access to the 
exceptional hardship policy should 
they experience exceptional financial 
hardship

This information is not collected from 
claimants as it is not relevant to the 
calculation of council tax reduction. 
Same impact as that for working age 
claimants generally

☐ ☐

f Sexual Orientation All applicants will have access to the 
exceptional hardship policy should 
they experience exceptional financial 
hardship

This information is not collected from 
claimants as it is not relevant to the 
calculation of council tax reduction. 
Same impact as that for working age 
claimants generally

☐ ☐

g Pregnancy/Maternity All applicants will have access to the 
exceptional hardship policy should 
they experience exceptional financial 
hardship

This information is not collected from 
claimants as it is not relevant to the 
calculation of council tax reduction. 
Same impact as that for working age 
claimants generally

☐ ☐

9 If ‘no impact’ or ‘unknown’ was selected, 
please explain

There is no identified impact on the protected characteristic groups other than if they were of working 
age generally.   

10 If Dartford Borough Council works with 
partners to deliver the activity or proposal, 
please describe any circumstances that 
could give rise to positive or negative 
equality impacts between different groups

The Revenues and Benefits service is a shared partnership with Sevenoaks District Council. 

11 Any other comments The income grid model has been re-evaluated and the income levels applied to each band amended 



Appendix B

Customer Access Review – Full Assessment

October 2018

between the pre-consultation and post-consultation phase.  This is to ensure that the overall impact 
on all claimants is minimised whilst keeping the amount spent in line with the current scheme.

The Council also makes available an Exceptional Hardship Policy which applicants can apply to 
should the new scheme impact them significantly. To ensure the scheme remains accessible to 
claimants who may no longer qualify as a result of capital, second adult rebate or income rules the 
Policy is proposed to be amended to include those that were in receipt of a reduction within the last 
six weeks.

Step 4: Action plan  

11. Based on the information in Steps 1 to 3, please list the actions that will be taken to address:

a)  any gaps in information and consultation
b)  how any negative impacts on equality will be mitigated or eradicated 

a) If additional information and/or consultation is required or the impact is still unclear, what actions will you put in place to gather the information 
you need?

Information needs Action Intended outcome Date for completion How this will be 
monitored

Responsible officer

                                                                                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                                                                                                                                            
b) If any negative impacts on equality were found, what actions will you put in place to mitigate or eradicate these impacts?  

Identified impacts (and 
who is affected)

Action Intended outcome Date for completion How this will be 
monitored

Responsible officer

Potential financial 
impact 

Encourage applications 
for the exceptional 

To provide additional 
support to any 

31 December 2018 Use of the exceptional 
hardship scheme will 

Sarah Martin
Strategic Director 



Appendix B

Customer Access Review – Full Assessment

October 2018

hardship scheme claimants suffering 
exceptional hardship as 
a result of the changes

be monitored by 
officers

(Internal Services)

                                                                                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                                                                                                          
                                                                                                                                                                                                            

Step 5: Decision making and future monitoring

13 Which decision making process does this Customer Access Review 
need to go through? i.e. who does this need to be approved by?

Strategic Director (Internal)

Cabinet will be asked to consider this Customer Access Review assessment 
alongside the Local Scheme of Support for Council Tax report on 6 
December. This will then go to the General Assembly of the Council on 10 
December 2018.

14 How will you continue to monitor the impact of the activity or 
proposal on the equality groups?

Annual review of scheme and impact

15 When will you review this Customer Access Review? On an annual basis

Step 6: Final steps

16 Once this Customer Access Review has been approved, send this assessment to the Policy & Projects Officer 
17 If the subject of the Customer Access Review is going to committee, summarise your findings in the committee report
18 Implement the actions identified from this Customer Access Review and ensure progress is monitored and recorded 





Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 1

Dartford Borough Council
Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

S13A and Schedule 1a of the Local Government Finance Act 1992



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 2

1.0 Introduction to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme........................................................................

2.0 Interpretation – an explanation of the terms used within this scheme.............................................

3.0 Definition of non-dependant............................................................................................................

4.0 Requirement to provide a National Insurance Number ...................................................................

5.0 Persons who have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit ...........................................

6.0 Persons treated as not being in Great Britain and Persons Subject to Immigration Control ...........
  Persons subject to immigration control ........................................................................................... 

7.0     Transitional provision .......................................................................................................................

8.0 Temporary Absence (period of absence) .........................................................................................

The family for Council Tax Reduction purposes........................................................................................

9.0 Membership of a family...................................................................................................................

10.0 Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible (or not responsible) for a child or 
young person....................................................................................................................................

11.0 Circumstances in which a child or young person is to be treated as being or not being a member 
of the household...............................................................................................................................

12.0 Calculation of income and capital of members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous 
marriage ...........................................................................................................................................

13.0 Calculation of income and capital: who have an award of universal credit ....................................

14.0 Calculation of income on a weekly basis ........................................................................................

15.0 Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners ........................................................................

16.0 Calculation of weekly income .........................................................................................................

17.0 Earnings of employed earners .........................................................................................................

18.0 Calculation of net earnings of employed earners ............................................................................

19.0 Earning Disregard for Employed and Self Employed Earners ........................................................

20.0 Earnings of self-employed earners ..................................................................................................

21.0 Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners ..........................................................................

22.0 Deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners.........................................................

23.0 Minimum Income Floor...................................................................................................................

24.0 Calculation of income other than earnings ......................................................................................

25.0 Capital treated as income.................................................................................................................

26.0 Notional income...............................................................................................................................

Definition and the treatment of capital for Council Tax Reduction purposes ............................................

27.0 Capital limit .....................................................................................................................................

28.0 Calculation of capital .......................................................................................................................

29.0 Disregard of capital of child and young person...............................................................................

30.0 Income treated as capital .................................................................................................................

31.0 Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom.................................................................................

32.0 Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom ........................................................................

33.0 Notional capital................................................................................................................................

34.0 Capital jointly held ..........................................................................................................................

Definition and the treatment of students for Council Tax Reduction purposes..........................................



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 3

35.0 Student related definitions ...............................................................................................................

36.0 Calculation of grant income.............................................................................................................

37.0 Treatment of student loans...............................................................................................................

38.0 Treatment of payments from access funds ......................................................................................

The calculation and amount of Council Tax Reduction .............................................................................

39.0 Maximum Council Tax for the calcultion of the Reduction and minimum Council Tax Eeduction 
award................................................................................................................................................

40.0 Extended reductions: movers into the authority’s area .Dates on which entitlement and changes 
of 

circumstances are to take effect ..................................................................................................................

41.0 Date on which entitlement is to begin .............................................................................................

42.0 Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect ................................................................

Claiming and the treatment of claims for Council Tax Reduction purposes ..............................................

43.0 Making an application .....................................................................................................................
44.0 Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under the authority’s scheme ....

45.0 Date on which an application is made .............................................................................................

46.0 Submission of evidence electronically ............................................................................................

47. 0 Use of telephone provided evidence................................................................................................
48.0 Information and evidence ...................................................................................................
49.0 Amendment and withdrawal of application........................................................................

50.0 Duty to notify changes of circumstances.........................................................................................

Decisions, decision notices and awards of Council Tax Reduction ...........................................................

51.0 Decisions by the council ..................................................................................................................

52.0 Notification of decision ...................................................................................................................

53.0 Time and manner of granting Council Tax Reduction ....................................................................

54.0 Persons to whom support is to be paid ...........................................................................................

55.0 Shortfall in support / reduction ........................................................................................................

56.0 Payment on the death of the person entitled....................................................................................

57.0 Offsetting .........................................................................................................................................
58 .0 Payment where there is joint and several liability ..............................................................

Collection, holding and forwarding of information for Council Tax Reduction purposes.........................

59.0 Use of information from and to the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) and Her 
Majesty’sRevenues and Customs (HMRC).....................................................................................

60.0 Collection of information ................................................................................................................

61.0 Recording and holding information.................................................................................................

62.0 Forwarding of information ..............................................................................................................

Revisions, Written Statements, Termination of Council Tax Reduction....................................................

63.0 Persons affected by Decisions .........................................................................................................

64.0 Revisions of Decisions ....................................................................................................................

65.0 Written Statements...........................................................................................................................

66.0 Terminations ....................................................................................................................................

Appeals against the council’s decisions......................................................................................................



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 4

67.0 Procedure by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the 
council

Procedure for applying for a discretionary reduction .................................................................................
68.0 Procedure for an application to the council for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of 
the 1992 Act ......................................................................................................................................
69.0 Procedure for an application to the council for an Exceptional Hardship Reduction 
under section 13A(1)(A) of the 1992 Act .....................................................................................51

Electronic Communication .........................................................................................................................

70.0 Interpretation....................................................................................................................................

71.0 Conditions for the use of electronic communication .......................................................................

72.0 Use of intermediaries .......................................................................................................................

73.0 Effect of delivering information by means of electronic communication.......................................

74.0 Proof of identity of sender or recipient of information....................................................................

75.0 Proof of delivery of information......................................................................................................

76.0 Proof of content of information .......................................................................................................

Counter Fraud and Compliance ..................................................................................................................

77.0 Counter Fraud and compliance ...........................................................................................................

Schedule 1 ...................................................................................................................................................

Calculation of the amount of Council Tax Reduction in accordance with the Discount Scheme. .............

Schedule 2 ...................................................................................................................................................

Sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings ..................................................

Schedule 3 ...................................................................................................................................................

Capital to be disregarded.............................................................................................................................



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 5

1.0 Introduction to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

1.1 The following has been adopted by the Council and details the Council Tax Reduction scheme 
for the period from 1st April 2019.

1.2 This document details how the scheme will operate for both pension credit age and working age 
applicants and in accordance with Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
specifies the classes of person who are to be entitled to a reduction under the scheme and is 
effective from 1st April 2019 for a period of one financial year. 

1.3 The scheme in respect of pension age applicants is defined by Central Government within the 
following:
 Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012;
 Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements and Default Scheme) 

(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012;
 Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Transitional Provision) (England) Regulations 2013;
 Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) 

Regulations 2013; 
 Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2013; 
 The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

(No. 2) Regulations 2014;
 The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2015;
 The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2016 
 The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2017;
  The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2018; and
 Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended by the Local Government Finance Act 

2012).

The scheme for pension age applicants – Central Government’s scheme as defined by the 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012

1.4 There are three main classes under the prescribed pension credit age scheme, for each of which 
there are a number of qualifying criteria. In all cases individuals must not be of a prescribed class 
exempted from reduction, such as a person subject to immigration control with limited leave to 
remain. The definition of a pension credit age person is a person who;

a. has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; and 
b. is not, or, if he has a partner, his partner is not;

i. a person on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or on an 
income-related employment and support allowance; or

ii. a person with an award of universal credit

The three prescribed classes are as follows;

Class A: pensioners whose income is less than the applicable amount. 

On any day Class A consists of any person who is a pensioner: 
a. who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident; 
b. who, subject to paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 

Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the 
day; in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be calculated; 

c. who does not fall within a class of persons prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of 
Schedule 1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and excluded from the authority’s 
scheme; 

d. whose income (if any) for the relevant week does not exceed his applicable amount calculated 



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 6

in accordance with paragraph 9 and Schedule 2 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 
e. not have capital savings above £16,000; and 
f. who has made an application for a reduction under the authority’s scheme. 

Class B: pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount. 

On any day class B consists of any person who is a pensioner:
a. who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident; 
b. who, subject to paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 

Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the 
day; in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be calculated; 

c. who does not fall within a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of 
Schedule 1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and excluded from the authority’s 
scheme; 

d. whose income for the relevant week is greater than his applicable amount calculated in 
accordance with paragraph 9 and Schedule 2 to the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 

e. in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where;
(i) amount A is the maximum Council Tax Reduction in respect of the day in the 
applicant’s case; and  
(ii) amount B is 2 6/7 per cent of the difference between his income for the relevant 
week and his applicable amount; 

g. not have capital savings above £16,000; and 
h. who has made an application for a reduction under the authority’s scheme. 

Class C: alternative maximum Council Tax Reduction

On any day class C consists of any person who is a pensioner:
a. who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident;
b. who, subject to paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 

Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the 
day; 

c. in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be calculated; 
d. who does not fall within a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of 

Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act and excluded from the authority’s scheme; 
e. who has made an application for a reduction under the authority’s scheme; and 
f. in relation to whom the condition below is met. 

The condition referred to in sub-paragraph f. is that no other resident of the dwelling is liable to pay 
rent to the applicant in respect of the dwelling and there is an alternative maximum Council Tax 
Reduction in respect of the day in the case of that person which is derived from the income, or 
aggregate income, of one or more residents to whom this sub-paragraph applies.

The above applies to any other resident of the dwelling who:
a. is not a person who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be disregarded for 

the purposes of discount; 
b. is not a person who is liable for council tax solely in consequence of the provisions of section 

9 of the 1992 Act (spouse’s or civil partner’s joint and several liability for tax); 
c. is not a person who is residing with a couple or with the members of a polygamous marriage 

where the applicant is a member of that couple or of that marriage and— 
(i)  in the case of a couple, neither member of that couple is a person who, in 
accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be disregarded for the purposes 
of discount; or 
(ii)  in the case of a polygamous marriage, two or more members of that marriage are 
not persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be disregarded 
for the purposes of discount; 

d. is not a person who, jointly with the applicant, falls within the same paragraph of section 6(2)(a) 
to (e) of the 1992 Act (persons liable to pay council tax) as applies in the case of the applicant; 
or 

e. is not a person who is residing with two or more persons both or all of whom fall within the 
same paragraph of section 6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act where two or more of those persons 



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 7

are not persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be disregarded for 
the purposes of discount. 

Disregard of certain incomes

1.5 For those who have reached the qualifying age for state pension credit, the Council has resolved 
to enhance the government scheme (as defined by the Council Tax Reduction Scheme (Prescribed 
Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 to disregard in full the following:
a. a war disablement pension;
b. a war widow’s pension or war widower’s pension;
c. a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under any power 

of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision about pensions for or 
in respect of persons who have been disabled or have died in consequence of service as 
members of the armed forces of the Crown;

d. a guaranteed income payment;
e. a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment as is 

mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs;
f. a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is analogous to 

any of the pensions or payments mentioned in sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) above;
g. pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special provision made 

by the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or of the Republic of Austria.

The provisions outlined above, enhance the Central Government’s scheme.

THE SCHEME FOR WORKING AGE APPLICANTS – THE COUNCIL’S LOCAL 
SCHEME

1.6 The adopted scheme for working age applicants is an income banded / grid scheme means test, 
which compares income against a range of discounts available. Full details of the working age 
scheme of the council are contained within this document from section 2 onwards. The council 
is required to specify a scheme for working age and therefore this scheme only applies to a person 
who;
a. has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or
b. has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit if he, and his partner, is a person 

on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, on an income-related 
employment and support allowance or on universal credit.

1.7 The Council has resolved that there will be one class of persons who will receive a reduction in 
line with adopted scheme. The scheme has qualifying criteria. In all cases individuals must not 
be of a prescribed class exempted from reduction as specified within section 6 of this scheme.

Class D
To obtain reduction the individual (or partner) must: 
a. have not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or
b. he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and he, or if he has a partner, his 

partner, is a person on income support, on income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an 
income-related employment and support allowance; or a person with an award of 
universal credit.

c. be liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling in which he is solely or mainly resident;
d. is not deemed to be absent from the dwelling;
e. not fall within a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9) of Schedule 

1A to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and excluded from the authority’s scheme;
f. be somebody in respect of whom a maximum Council Tax Reduction amount can be 

calculated;
g. not have capital savings above £6,000;
h. not have income above the levels specified within the scheme;
i. be a person in respect of whom a day in which s/he is liable to pay council tax falls within 



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 8

a week in respect of which the person’s income1  is within a range of incomes specified; 
and

j. has made a valid application for reduction.

1 Sections 15 to 32 and Schedules 3 and 4 of this scheme



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 9

Council Tax Reduction Scheme

Details of support to be given for working age applicants for the financial year 
2019/20



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 10

Definitions and interpretation

2.0 Interpretation – an explanation of the terms used within this scheme
2.1  In this scheme–

‘the Act’ means the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992;
‘the Administration Act’ means the Social Security Administration Act 1992;
‘the 1973 Act’ means of Employment and Training Act 1973;
‘the 1992 Act’ means the Local Government Finance Act 1992;
‘the 2000 Act’ means the Electronic Communications Act 2000;
‘Abbeyfield Home’ means an establishment run by the Abbeyfield Society including all bodies 
corporate or incorporate which are affiliated to that Society;
‘adoption leave’ means a period of absence from work on ordinary or additional adoption leave 
by virtue of section 75A or 75B of the Employment Rights Act 1996;
‘an AFIP’ means an armed forces independence payment payable in accordance with an armed 
and reserve forces compensation scheme established under section 1(2) of the Armed
Forces (Pensions and Compensation) Act 2004
‘applicant’ means a person who the authority designates as able to claim Council tax reduction 
– for the purposes of this scheme all references are in the masculine gender but apply equally to 
male and female;
‘application’ means an application for a reduction under this scheme:
‘appropriate DWP office’ means an office of the Department for Work and Pensions dealing 
with state pension credit or office which is normally open to the public for the receipt of claims 
for income support, a jobseeker’s allowance or an employment and support allowance;
‘assessment period’ means such period as is prescribed in sections 19 to 21 over which income 
falls to be calculated;
 ‘attendance allowance’ means–
(a) an attendance allowance under Part 3 of the Act;
(b) an increase of disablement pension under section 104 or 105 of the Act;
(c) a payment under regulations made in exercise of the power conferred by paragraph 7(2)(b) of 

Part 2 of Schedule 8 to the Act;
(d) an increase of an allowance which is payable in respect of constant attendance under 
paragraph 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 8 to the Act;
(e) a payment by virtue of article 14, 15, 16, 43 or 44 of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 
1983or any analogous payment; or

(f) any payment based on need for attendance which is paid as part of a war disablement 
pension;
‘the authority’ means a billing authority in relation to whose area this scheme has effect by 
virtue of paragraph 4(6) of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act;
‘Back to Work scheme(s)’ means any scheme defined within the Jobseekers (Back to Work 
Schemes) Act 2013 or Jobseeker’s Allowance (Schemes for Assisting Persons to Obtain 
Employment) Regulations 2013;
‘basic rate’, where it relates to the rate of tax, has the same meaning as in the Income Tax Act 
2007 (see section 989 of that Act).
‘the benefit Acts’ means the Act (SSBA) and the Jobseekers Act 1995 and the Welfare Reform 
Act 2007;
‘board and lodging accommodation’ means accommodation provided to a family, for a charge 
which is inclusive of the provision of that accommodation and at least some cooked or prepared 
meals which both are cooked or prepared (by a person other than the person to whom the 
accommodation is provided or a member of his family) and are consumed in that accommodation 
or associated premises; 
‘care home’ has the meaning given by section 3 of the Care Standards Act 2000 and in 
Scotland means a care home service within the meaning given by section 2(3) of the 
Regulation of Care (Scotland) Act 2001 and in Northern Ireland means a nursing home 
within the meaning of Article 11 of the Health and Personal Social Services (Quality, 
Improvement and Regulation) (Northern Ireland) Order 2003 or a residential care home 
within the meaning of Article 10 of that Order;
 ‘the Caxton Foundation’ means the charitable trust of that name established on 28th March 
2011 out of funds provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit of certain persons suffering 
from hepatitis C and other persons eligible for payment in accordance with its provisions;



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 11

‘child’ means a person under the age of 16;
‘child benefit’ has the meaning given by section 141 of the SSCBA as amended by The Child 
Benefit (General), Child Tax Credit (Amendment) Regulations 2014 and The Child Benefit 
(General) (Amendment) Regulations 2015;
‘the Children Order’ means the Children (Northern Ireland) Order 1995;
‘child tax credit’ means a child tax credit under section 8 of the Tax Credits Act 2002; 
 ‘claim’ means a claim for council tax reduction; 
‘close relative’ means a parent, parent-in-law, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter- in-law, step-
parent, step-son, step-daughter, brother, sister, or if any of the preceding persons is one member 
of a couple, the other member of that couple; 
‘concessionary payment’ means a payment made under arrangements made by the Secretary of 
State with the consent of the Treasury which is charged either to the National Insurance Fund or 
to a Departmental Expenditure Vote to which payments of benefit or tax credits under the benefit 
Acts or the Tax Credits Act are charged;
‘the Consequential Provisions Regulations’ means the Housing Benefit and Council tax 
reduction (Consequential Provisions) Regulations 2006;
‘contributory employment and support allowance” means an allowance under Part 1 of the 
Welfare Reform Act 2007 as amended by the provisions of Schedule 3, and Part 1 of Schedule 
14, to the Welfare Reform Act 2012 that remove references to an income-related allowance and 
a contributory allowance under Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 as that Part has effect 
apart from those provisions;
‘converted employment and support allowance’ means an employment and support allowance 
which is not income-related and to which a person is entitled as a result of a conversion decision 
within the meaning of the Employment and Support Allowance (Existing Awards) Regulations 
2008;
‘council tax benefit’ means council tax benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA; 
‘council tax reduction scheme’ has the same meaning as ‘council tax reduction or reduction’
‘council tax reduction ’ means council tax reduction as defined by S13a Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 (as amended); 
‘couple’ means;

(a)  two people who are married to, or civil partners of, each other and are members of the same 
household; or
(b)  two people who are not married to, or civil partners of, each other but are living together 
as a married couple,
Two people of the same sex are to be treated as living together as if they were civil partners if, 
and only if, they would be treated as living together as husband and wife were they of opposite 
sexes. The above includes the Marriage (Same Sex Couples) Act 2013 and The Marriage (Same 
Sex Couples) Act 2013 (Commencement No. 3) Order 2014;

‘date of claim’ means the date on which the application or claim is made, or treated as made, for 
the purposes of this scheme
‘designated authority’ means any of the following;
the local authority; or a person providing services to, or authorised to exercise any function of, 
any such authority;
‘designated office’ means the office designated by the authority for the receipt of claims for 
council tax reduction;
(a) by notice upon or with a form approved by it for the purpose of claiming council tax 

reduction; or
(b) by reference upon or with such a form to some other document available from it and sent by 

electronic means or otherwise on application; or 
(c) by any combination of the provisions set out in sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) above;
‘disability living allowance’ means a disability living allowance under section 71 of the Act;
‘dwelling’ has the same meaning in section 3 or 72 of the 1992 Act;
‘earnings’ has the meaning prescribed in section 25 or, as the case may be, 27;
‘the Eileen Trust’ means the charitable trust of that name established on 29th March 1993 out 
of funds provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit of persons eligible for payment in 
accordance with its provisions;
‘electronic communication’ has the same meaning as in section 15(1) of the Electronic 
Communications Act 2000 ;
‘employed earner’ is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(a) of the Act and also 
includes a person who is in receipt of a payment which is payable under any enactment having 



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 12

effect in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay or statutory maternity pay;
‘Employment and Support Allowance Regulations’ means the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations 2008 and the Employment and Support Regulations 2013 as appropriate;
 ‘Employment and Support Allowance (Existing Awards) Regulations’ means the 
Employment and Support Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit and Council Tax 
Benefit) (Existing Awards) Regulations 2010;
‘the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme’ means a scheme under section 17A (schemes 
for assisting persons to obtain employment; ‘work for your benefit’ schemes etc.) of the 
Jobseekers Act 1995 known by that name and provided pursuant to arrangements made by the 
Secretary of State that is designed to assist applicants to obtain employment, including self-
employment, and which may include for any individual work-related activity (including work 
experience or job search). This also includes schemes covered by The Jobseekers Allowance 
(Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme) Regulations 2011 as amended by the Jobseekers 
(Back to Work Schemes) Act 2013 – see ‘Back to Work Schemes’;
‘employment zone’ means an area within Great Britain designated for the purposes of section 
60 of the Welfare Reform and Pensions Act 1999 and 2014 and an ‘employment zone 
programme’ means a programme established for such an area or areas designed to assist 
applicants for a jobseeker’s allowance to obtain sustainable employment;
‘employment zone contractor’ means a person who is undertaking the provision of facilities in 
respect of an employment zone programme on behalf of the Secretary of State for Work and 
Pensions;
‘enactment’ includes an enactment comprised in, or in an instrument made under, an Act of the 
Scottish Parliament;
‘extended reduction’ means a payment of council tax reduction payable pursuant to section 60;
‘extended reduction period’ means the period for which an extended reduction is payable in 
accordance with section 60A or 61A of this scheme;
‘extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits)’ means a payment of council tax 
reduction payable pursuant to section 61;
‘family’ has the meaning assigned to it by section 137(1) of the Act and Section 9 of this 
scheme;
‘the Fund’ means moneys made available from time to time by the Secretary of State for the 
benefit of persons eligible for payment in accordance with the provisions of a scheme established 
by him on 24th April 1992 or, in Scotland, on 10th April 1992;
‘a guaranteed income payment’ means a payment made under article 15(1)(c) (injury benefits) 
or 29(1)(a) (death benefits) of the Armed Forces and Reserve Forces (Compensation Scheme) 
Order 2011;
‘he, him, his’ also refers to the feminine within this scheme
‘housing benefit’ means housing benefit under Part 7 of the Act; ‘the Housing Benefit 
Regulations’ means the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006;
‘Immigration and Asylum Act’ means the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999;
‘an income-based jobseeker’s allowance’ and ‘a joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance’ have the 
meanings given by section 1(4) of the Jobseekers Act 1995;
‘income-related employment and support allowance’ means an income-related allowance 
under Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007;
‘Income Support Regulations’ means the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987(a); 
‘independent hospital’– 

(a) in England, means a hospital as defined by section 275 of the National Health Service Act 
2006 that is not a health service hospital as defined by that section;
(b) in Wales, has the meaning assigned to it by section 2 of the Care Standards Act 2000; and
(c) in Scotland means an independent health care service as defined by section 10F of the 
National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978;

‘the Independent Living Fund (2006)’ means the Trust of that name established by a deed dated 
10th April 2006 and made between the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions of the one part 
and Margaret Rosemary Cooper, Michael Beresford Boyall and Marie Theresa Martin of the 
other part;
‘invalid carriage or other vehicle’ means a vehicle propelled by a petrol engine or by electric 
power supplied for use on the road and to be controlled by the occupant;
‘Jobseekers Act’ means the Jobseekers Act 1995; ‘Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations’ means 
the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996 and Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 2013 as 
appropriate; 



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 13

 ‘limited capability for work’ has the meaning given in section 1(4) of the Welfare Reform Act; 

‘limited capability for work-related activity’ has the meaning given in section 2(5) of the 
Welfare Reform Act 2007;
‘the London Bombing Relief Charitable Fund’ means the company limited by guarantee 
(number 5505072), and registered charity of that name established on 11th July 2005 for the 
purpose of (amongst other things) relieving sickness, disability or financial need of victims 
(including families or dependants of victims) of the terrorist attacks carried out in London on 7th 
July 2005;
‘lone parent’ means a person who has no partner and who is responsible for and a member of 
the same household as a child or young person;
‘the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust’ means the trust of that name, established on 29th 
January 1990 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the benefit of certain 
persons suffering from haemophilia;
‘the Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No.2) Trust’ means the trust of that name, established on 
3rd May 1991 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the benefit of certain 
persons suffering from haemophilia and other beneficiaries;
‘the Macfarlane Trust’ means the charitable trust, established partly out of funds provided by 
the Secretary of State to the Haemophilia Society, for the relief of poverty or distress among those 
suffering from haemophilia;
‘main phase employment and support allowance’ means an employment and support 
allowance where the calculation of the amount payable in respect of the applicant includes a 
component under section 2(1)(b) or 4(2)(b) of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 except in Part 1 of 
Schedule 1;
‘the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme’ means a scheme within section 17A (schemes for 
assisting persons to obtain employment; ‘work for your benefit’ schemes etc.) of the Jobseekers 
Act 1995 known by that name and provided pursuant to arrangements made by the Secretary of 
State that is designed to provide work or work related activity for up to 30 hours per week over 
a period of four consecutive weeks with a view to assisting applicants to improve their prospect 
of obtaining employment;
‘maternity leave’ means a period during which a woman is absent from work because she is 
pregnant or has given birth to a child, and at the end of which she has a right to return to work 
either under the terms of her contract of employment or under Part 8 of the Employment Rights 
Act 1996;
‘member of a couple’ means a member of a married or unmarried couple;
‘MFET Limited’ means the company limited by guarantee (number 7121661) of that name, 
established for the purpose in particular of making payments in accordance with arrangements 
made with the Secretary of State to persons who have acquired HIV as a result of treatment by 
the NHS with blood or blood products;
‘mobility supplement’ means a supplement to which paragraph 9 of Schedule 4 refers;
‘mover’ means a applicant who changes the dwelling in which the applicant is resident and in 
respect of which the applicant liable to pay council tax from a dwelling in the area of the 
appropriate authority to a dwelling in the area of the second authority;
‘net earnings’ means such earnings as are calculated in accordance with section 26;
‘net profit’ means such profit as is calculated in accordance with section 28;
‘the New Deal options’ means the employment programmes specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) 
of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996 and the training scheme specified in regulation 
75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations;
‘new dwelling’ means, for the purposes of the definition of ‘second authority’ and sections 60C, 
and 61C the dwelling to which a applicant has moved, or is about to move, in which the applicant 
is or will be resident;
‘non-dependant’ has the meaning prescribed in section 3;
‘non-dependant deduction’ means a deduction that is to be made under section 58;
‘occasional assistance’ means any payment or provision made by a local authority, the 
Welsh Ministers or the Scottish Ministers for the purposes of:
(a) meeting, or helping to meet an immediate short-term need;

(i) arising out of an exceptional event or exceptional circumstances, or 
(ii) that needs to be met to avoid a risk to the well-being of an individual, and

(b) enabling qualifying individuals to establish or maintain a settled home, and—
(i) ‘local authority’ has the meaning given by section 270(1) of the Local 



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 14

Government Act 1972 ;and
 (ii) ‘qualifying individuals’ means individuals who have been, or without the 
assistance might otherwise be:
(aa) in prison, hospital, an establishment providing residential care or other 
institution, or
(bb) homeless or otherwise living an unsettled way of life;  and ’local authority’ 
means a local authority in England within the meaning of the Local Government 
Act 1972;

‘occupational pension’ means any pension or other periodical payment under an occupational 
pension scheme but does not include any discretionary payment out of a fund established for 
relieving hardship in particular cases;
‘occupational pension scheme’ has the same meaning as in section 1 of the Pension Schemes 
Act 1993
‘ordinary clothing or footwear’ means clothing or footwear for normal daily use, but does not 
include school uniforms, or clothing or footwear used solely for sporting activities;
‘partner’ in relation to a person, means
(a) where that person is a member of a couple, the other member of that couple;
(b) subject to paragraph (c), where that person is polygamously married to two or more 
members of his household, any such member to whom he is married; or 
(c) where that person is polygamously married and has an award of universal credit with 
the other party to the earliest marriage that still subsists, that other party to the earliest 
marriage; 
‘paternity leave’ means a period of absence from work on leave by virtue of section 80A 
or 80B of the Employment Rights Act 1996;
‘payment’ includes part of a payment;
‘pensionable age’ has the meaning given by the rules in paragraph 1 of Schedule 4 to the 
Pensions Act 1995 as amended by the Public Services Pension Act 2013 and Pensions Act 2014;
‘pension fund holder’ means with respect to a personal pension scheme or an occupational 
pension scheme, the trustees, managers or scheme administrators, as the case may be, of the 
scheme concerned;
‘pensioner’ a person who has attained the age at which pension credit can be claimed;
‘person affected’ shall be construed as a person to whom the authority decides is affected by any 
decision made by the council;
‘person on income support’ means a person in receipt of income support; 
‘personal independence payment’ has the meaning given by Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 
2012 and the Social Security (Personal Independence Payments) 2013;
 ‘person treated as not being in Great Britain’ has the meaning given by section 7;
’personal pension scheme’ means–
a. a personal pension scheme as defined by section 1 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 as 

amended by the Public Service Pension Act 2013;
b. an annuity contractor trust scheme approved under section 620 or 621of the Income and 

Corporation Taxes Act 1988 or a substituted contract within the meaning of section 622(3) 
or that Act which is treated as having become a registered pension scheme by virtue of 
paragraph 1(1)(f) of Schedule 36 of the Finance Act 20042;

c. a personal pension scheme approved under Chapter 4 of Part 14 of the Income and 
Corporation Taxes Act 1988 which is treated as having become a registered pension scheme 
by virtue of paragraph 1(1)(g) of Schedule 36 to the Finance Act 2004;

d. a scheme prescribed in regulation 3 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance (Schemes for Assisting 
Persons to Obtain Employment) Regulations 2013;

e. Back to Work scheme;
‘policy of life insurance’ means any instrument by which the payment of money is assured on 
death (except death by accident only) or the happening of any contingency dependent on human 
life, or any instrument evidencing a contract which is subject to payment of premiums for a term 
dependent on human life;
‘polygamous marriage’ means a marriage to which section 133(1) of the Act refers namely;
(a) a person is a husband or wife by virtue of a marriage entered into under a law which 
permits polygamy; and
(b) either party to the marriage has for the time being any spouse additional to the other 

2 As amended by the Finance Act 2014



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 15

party.
’public authority’ includes any person certain of whose functions are functions of a public 
nature;
‘qualifying age for state pension credit’ means (in accordance with section 1(2)(b) and (6) of 
the State Pension Credit Act 2002)–
(a) in the case of a woman, pensionable age; or
(b) in the case of a man, the age which is pensionable age in the case of a woman born on the 
same day as the man;
’qualifying contributory benefit’ means;
(a) severe disablement allowance; 
(b) incapacity benefit;
(c) contributory employment and support allowance;
‘qualifying course’ means a qualifying course as defined for the purposes of Parts 2 and 4 of the 
Job Seeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996
‘qualifying income-related benefit’ means
(a) income support;
(b) income-based jobseeker’s allowance;
(c) income-related employment and support allowance;
‘qualifying person’ means a person in respect of whom payment has been made from the Fund, 
the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the London 
Bombings Relief Charitable Fund;
‘reduction week’ means a period of seven consecutive days beginning with a Monday and 
ending with a Sunday; 
‘relative’ means a close relative, grandparent, grandchild, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece;
‘relevant authority’ means an authority administering council tax reduction;
‘relevant week’ In relation to any particular day, means the week within which the day in 
question falls;
‘remunerative work’ has the meaning prescribed in section 6;
‘rent’ means ‘eligible rent’ to which regulation 12 of the Housing Benefit Regulations refers less 
any deductions in respect of non-dependants which fall to be made under regulation 74 (non-
dependant deductions) of those Regulations;
‘resident’ has the meaning it has in Part 1 or 2 of the 1992 Act;
‘Scottish basic rate’ means  the  rate  of  income  tax  of  that  name  calculated  in accordance 
with section 6A of the Income Tax Act 2007;
‘Scottish taxpayer’ has the same meaning as in Chapter 2 of 
’second authority’ means the authority to which a mover is liable to make payments for the new 
dwelling;
‘self-employed earner’ is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(b) of the Act;
‘self-employment route’ means assistance in pursuing self-employed earner’s employment 
whilst participating in–
(a) an employment zone programme; 
(b) a programme provided or other arrangements made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act 

(functions of the Secretary of State) or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) 
Act 1990 (functions in relation to training for employment, etc.); or

(c) the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme;
‘Service User’ references in this scheme to an applicant participating as a service user are 
to 
a. a person who is being consulted by or on behalf of—

(i) the Secretary of State in relation to any of the Secretary of State’s functions in
the field of social security or child support or under section 2 of the Employment and 
Training Act 1973; or
(ii) a body which conducts research or undertakes monitoring for the purpose of
planning or improving such functions in their capacity as a person affected or potentially 
affected by the exercise of those functions or the carer of such a person; or

b. the carer of a person consulted as described in sub-paragraph (a) where the carer is not being 
consulted as described in that sub-paragraph

‘single applicant’ means an applicant who neither has a partner nor is a lone parent;
‘the Skipton Fund’ means the ex-gratia payment scheme administered by the Skipton Fund 
Limited, incorporated on 25th March 2004, for the benefit of certain persons suffering from 



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 16

hepatitis C and other persons eligible for payment in accordance with the scheme’s provisions.
’special account’ means an account as defined for the purposes of Chapter 4A of Part 8 of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations or Chapter 5 of Part 10 of the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations;
‘sports award’ means an award made by one of the Sports Councils named in section 23(2) of 
the National Lottery etc Act 1993 out of sums allocated to it for distribution under that section;
‘the SSCBA’ means the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992
‘State Pension Credit Act’ means the State Pension Credit Act 2002; 
‘student’ has the meaning prescribed in section 43;
‘subsistence allowance’ means an allowance which an employment zone contractor has agreed 
to pay to a person who is participating in an employment zone programme;
‘support or reduction week’ means a period of 7 consecutive days commencing upon a Monday 
and ending on a Sunday;
‘the Tax Credits Act’ means the Tax Credits Act 2002; 
‘tax year’ means a period beginning with 6th April in one year and ending with 5th April in the 

next;
‘training allowance’ means an allowance (whether by way of periodical grants or otherwise) 
payable–
(a) out of public funds by a Government department or by or on behalf of the Secretary of State, 

Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands Enterprise, the 
Young People’s Learning Agency for England, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or 
Welsh Ministers;

(b) to a person for his maintenance or in respect of a member of his family; and
(c) for the period, or part of the period, during which he is following a course of training or 

instruction provided by, or in pursuance of arrangements made with, the department or 
approved by the department in relation to him or so provided or approved by or on behalf of 
the Secretary of State, Skills Development Scotland Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and 
Islands Enterprise or the Welsh Ministers.

It does not include an allowance paid by any Government department to or in respect of a person 
by reason of the fact that he is following a course of full-time education, other than under 
arrangements made under section 2 of the 1973 Actor is training as a teacher;
‘the Trusts’ means the Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust and the 
Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust;
‘Universal Credit’ means any payment of Universal Credit payable under the Welfare Reform 
Act 2012, the Universal Credit Regulations 2013, The Universal Credit (Consequential, 
Supplementary, Incidental and Miscellaneous Provisions) Regulations 2013, Universal Credit 
(Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2013 and the Universal Credit (Transitional 
Provisions) Regulations 2014;
‘Uprating Act’ means the Welfare Benefit Up-rating Act 2013, the Welfare Benefits Up-rating 
Order 2014 and the Welfare Benefits Up-rating Order 2015;
 ‘voluntary organisation’ means a body, other than a public or local authority, the activities of 
which are carried on otherwise than for profit;
’war disablement pension’ means any retired pay or pension or allowance payable in respect of 
disablement under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and 
Pensions) Act 2003;
‘war pension’ means a war disablement pension, a war widow’s pension or a war widower’s 
pension;
‘war widow’s pension’ means any pension or allowance payable to a woman as a widow under 
an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 
in respect of the death or disablement of any person;
‘war widower’s pension’ means any pension or allowance payable to a man as a widower or to 
a surviving civil partner under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax 
(Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in respect of the death or disablement of any person;
‘water charges’ means;
(a) as respects England and Wales, any water and sewerage charges under Chapter 1 of Part 5 of 
the Water Industry Act 1991,
(b) as respects Scotland, any water and sewerage charges established by Scottish Water under a 
charges scheme made under section 29A of the Water Industry (Scotland) Act 2002, in so far as 
such charges are in respect of the dwelling which a person occupies as his home;
‘week’ means a period of seven days beginning with a Monday; 



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 17

‘Working Tax Credit Regulations’ means the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum 
Rate) Regulations 2002 as amended3; and
‘young person’ has the meaning prescribed in section 9(1) and in section 142 of the SSCBA.

 
2.2 In this policy, references to an applicant occupying a dwelling or premises as his home shall be 

construed in accordance with regulation 7 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006.

2.3 In this policy, where an amount is to be rounded to the nearest penny, a fraction of a penny shall 
be disregarded if it is less than half a penny and shall otherwise be treated as a whole penny.

2.4 For the purpose of this policy, a person is on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance on any day 
in respect of which an income-based jobseeker’s allowance is payable to him and on any day;
(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income- based 

jobseeker’s allowance but where the allowance is not paid in accordance with regulation 
27A of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations or section 19 or 20A or regulations made 
under section 17A of the Jobseekers Act (circumstances in which a jobseeker’s allowance 
is not payable); or

(b) which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to that Act and which 
falls immediately before a day in respect of which an income- based jobseeker’s allowance 
is payable to him or would be payable to him but for regulation 27A of the Jobseeker’s 
Allowance Regulations or section 19 or 20A or regulations made under section 17A of 
that Act;

(c) in respect of which he is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the 
Jobseekers Act and no joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance is payable in respect of that 
couple as a consequence of either member of that couple being subject to sanctions for the 
purposes of section 20A of that Act;

(d) in respect of which an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or a joint-claim jobseeker’s 
allowance would be payable but for a restriction imposed pursuant to section 6B, 7, 8 or 9 
of the Social Security Fraud Act 2001 (loss of benefit provisions).

2.4A For the purposes of this policy, a person is on an income-related employment and support 
allowance on any day in respect of which an income-related employment and support allowance 
is payable to him and on any day;
(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income- related 

employment and support allowance but where the allowance is not paid in accordance 
with section 18 of the Welfare Reform Act disqualification; or

(b) which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to that Act and which 
falls immediately before a day in respect of which an income- related employment and 
support allowance is payable to him or would be payable to him but for section 18 of that 
Act.

2.5 For the purposes of this policy, two persons shall be taken to be estranged only if their 
estrangement constitutes a breakdown of the relationship between them.

2.6 In this policy, references to any person in receipt of state pension credit includes a person who 
would be in receipt of state pension credit but for regulation 13 of the State Pension Credit 
Regulations 2002 (small amounts of state pension credit).

2.7 Any references to receipt of a legacy benefit should be taken to include receipt of Universal Credit 
where that replaces the legacy benefit.

3.0 Definition of non-dependant

3.1 In this policy, ‘non-dependant’ means any person, except someone to whom paragraph 3.2 
applies, who normally resides with an applicant or with whom an applicant normally resides.

3.2 This paragraph applies to;

3 The Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) (Amendment) Regulations 2013; The Working Tax Credit 
(Entitlement and Maximum Rate) (Amendment) Regulations 2015

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1736/contents/made


Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 18

a.  any member of the applicant’s family;
b. if the applicant is polygamously married, any partner of his and any child or young person 

who is a member of his household and for whom he or one of his partners is responsible;
c. a child or young person who is living with the applicant but who is not a member of his 

household by virtue of section 11(membership of the same household);
d. subject to paragraph 3.3, any person who, with the applicant, is jointly and severally liable 

to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling for any day under sections 6, 7 or 75 of the 
1992 Act (persons liable to pay council tax);

e. subject to paragraph 3.3, any person who is liable to make payments on a commercial 
basis to the applicant or the applicant’s partner in respect of the occupation of the 
dwelling;

f. a person who lives with the applicant in order to care for him or a partner of his and who 
is engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation which makes a charge to the applicant 
or his partner for the services provided by that person.

3.3 Excepting persons to whom paragraph 3.2 a) to c) and f) refer, a person to whom any of the 
following sub-paragraphs applies shall be a non-dependant–
a. a person who resides with the person to whom he is liable to make payments in respect of 

the dwelling and either;
i. that person is a close relative of his or her partner; or 

ii. the tenancy or other agreement between them is other than on a commercial 
basis;

b. a person whose liability to make payments in respect of the dwelling appears to the 
authority to have been created to take advantage of the Council Tax Reduction scheme 
except someone who was, for any period within the eight weeks prior to the creation of 
the agreement giving rise to the liability to make such payments, otherwise liable to make 
payments of rent in respect of the same dwelling;

c. a person who becomes jointly and severally liable with the applicant for council tax in 
respect of a dwelling and who was, at any time during the period of eight weeks prior to 
his becoming so liable, a non-dependant of one or more of the other residents in that 
dwelling who are so liable for the tax, unless the authority is satisfied that the change 
giving rise to the new liability was not made to take advantage of the support scheme.

4.0 Requirement to provide a National Insurance Number4

4.1 No person shall be entitled to support unless the criteria below in 4.2 is satisfied in relation both 
to the person making the claim and to any other person in respect of whom he is claiming support.

4.2 This subsection is satisfied in relation to a person if–
a. the claim for support is accompanied by;

i. a statement of the person’s national insurance number and information or evidence 
establishing that that number has been allocated to the person; or

ii. information or evidence enabling the national insurance number that has been 
allocated to the person to be ascertained; or

b. the person makes an application for a national insurance number to be allocated to him which 
is accompanied by information or evidence enabling such a number to be so allocated and the 
application for reduction is accompanied by evidence of the application and information to 
enable it to be allocated.

4.3 Paragraph 4.2 shall not apply–
a. in the case of a child or young person in respect of whom Council Tax Reduction is claimed;
b. to a person who;

i. is a person in respect of whom a claim for Council Tax Reduction is made;
ii. is subject to immigration control within the meaning of section 115(9)(a) of the 

Immigration and Asylum Act;
iii. is a person from abroad for the purposes of this scheme; and

4 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 19

iv. has not previously been allocated a national insurance number.

5.0 Persons who have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit 

5.1 This scheme applies to a person if:
(i) he has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or 
(ii) he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and he, or if he has a 

partner, his partner, is;
(a) a person on income support, on income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an 

income-related employment and support allowance; or  
(b) a person with an award of universal credit.

6.0 Persons treated as not being in Great Britain and Persons Subject to Immigration Control

Persons treated as not being in Great Britain
6.1  Persons treated as not being in Great Britain are a class of person prescribed for the purposes 

of paragraph 2(9)(b) of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act and which must not be included in an 
authority’s scheme. 

6.2 Except where a person falls within paragraph (5) or (6), a person is to be treated as not being 
in Great Britain if the person is not habitually resident in the United Kingdom, the Channel 
Islands, the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland. 

6.3 A person must not be treated as habitually resident in the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands, 
the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland unless the person has a right to reside in one of those 
places. 

6.4 For the purposes of paragraph (3), a right to reside does not include a right, which exists by 
virtue of, or in accordance with— 
(a) regulation 13 of the EEA Regulations or Article 6 of Council Directive 2004/38/EC; 
(aa) regulation 14 of the EEA Regulations, but only in a case where the right exists under 

that regulation because the person is—
(i) a jobseeker for the purpose of the definition of “qualified person” in 

regulation 6(1) of those Regulations, or
(ii) a family member (within the meaning of regulation 7 of those Regulations) 

of such a jobseeker;
(ab) Article 45 of the Treaty on the functioning of the European Union (in a case where 

the person is seeking work in the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands, the Isle of 
Man or the Republic of Ireland); or

(b) regulation 15A(1) of the EEA Regulations, but only in a case where the right exists 
under that regulation because the applicant satisfies the criteria in paragraph (4A) of 
that regulation or Article 20 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union 
(in a case where the right to reside arises because a British citizen would otherwise be 
deprived of the genuine enjoyment of their rights as a European Union citizen).

6.5 A person falls within this paragraph if the person is— 
(a) a qualified person for the purposes of regulation 6 of the EEA Regulations as a worker 

or a self-employed person;
(b) a family member of a person referred to in sub-paragraph (a) within the meaning of 

regulation 7(1)(a), (b) or (c) of the EEA Regulations;
(c) a person who has a right to reside permanently in the United Kingdom by virtue of 

regulation 15(1)(c), (d) or (e) of the EEA Regulations;
(d) a person recorded by the Secretary of State as a refugee within the definition in Article 

1 of the Convention relating to the Status of Refugees done at Geneva on 28th July 
1951, as extended by Article 1(2) of the Protocol relating to the Status of Refugees 
done at New York on 31st January 1967;

(e) a person who has been granted, or who is deemed to have been granted, leave outside 
the rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 19715 where that leave is—
(i) discretionary leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom,
(ii) leave to remain under the Destitution Domestic Violence concession which 

came into effect on 1st April 2012, or

5 As amended by the Immigration Act 2014 and the Immigration Act 2014 (Commencement No. 2) Order 2014

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/european/directive/2004/0038


Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 20

(iii) leave deemed to have been granted by virtue of regulation 3 of the Displaced 
Persons (Temporary Protection) Regulations 2005.

(f) a person who has humanitarian protection granted under those rules; 
(g) a person who is not a person subject to immigration control within the meaning of 

section 115(9) of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 and who is in the United 
Kingdom as a result of his deportation, expulsion or other removal by compulsion of 
law from another country to the United Kingdom;

(h) in receipt of income support or on an income-related employment and support 
allowance; 

(ha) in receipt of an income-based jobseeker’s allowance and has a right to reside other 
than a right to reside falling within paragraph (4) or

(i) a person who is treated as a worker for the purpose of the definition of “qualified 
person” in regulation 6(1) of the EEA Regulations pursuant to regulation 5 of the 
Accession of Croatia (Immigration and Worker Authorisation) Regulations 
2013 (right of residence of a Croatian who is an “accession State national subject to 
worker authorisation”)

6.6 A person falls within this paragraph if the person is a Crown servant or member of Her 
Majesty’s forces posted overseas. 

6.7 A person mentioned in sub-paragraph (6) is posted overseas if the person is performing 
overseas the duties of a Crown servant or member of Her Majesty’s forces and was, 
immediately before the posting or the first of consecutive postings, habitually resident in the 
United Kingdom. 

6.8 In this regulation— 
“claim for asylum” has the same meaning as in section 94(1) of the Immigration and Asylum 
Act 1999; 
“Crown servant” means a person holding an office or employment under the Crown; 
“EEA Regulations” means the Immigration (European Economic Area) Regulations 2006; 
and and the The Immigration (European Economic Area) (Amendment) (No. 2) Regulations 
2014; and 
“Her Majesty’s forces” has the same meaning as in the Armed Forces Act 2006. 

Persons subject to immigration control
6.9 Persons subject to immigration control are a class of person prescribed for the purposes of 

paragraph 2(9)(b) of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act and which must not be included in an 
authority’s scheme.

6.10 A person who is a national of a state which has ratified the European Convention on Social and 
Medical Assistance (done in Paris on 11th December 1953) or a state which has ratified the 
Council of Europe Social Charter (signed in Turin on 18th October 1961) and who is lawfully 
present in the United Kingdom is not a person subject to immigration control for the purpose 
of paragraph 7.9

6.11 “Person subject to immigration control” has the same meaning as in section 115(9) of the 
Immigration and Asylum Act 1999.

7.0 Transitional provision

7.1 The above does not apply to a person who, on 31st March 2015—
(a) is liable to pay council tax at a reduced rate by virtue of a council tax reduction under an 

authority’s scheme established under section 13A(2) of the Act; and
(b) is entitled to an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, until the first of the events in paragraph 

7A.2 occurs.
7.2 The events are—

(a) the  person  makes  a  new  application  for  a  reduction  under  an  council’s  scheme 
established under section 13A(2) of the Act; or

(b) the person ceases to be entitled to an income-based jobseeker’s allowance.
7.3 In this section “the Act” means the Local Government Finance Act 1992.



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 21

8.0 Temporary Absence (period of absence)
8.1 A person is not absent from a dwelling in relation to any day which falls within a period 

of temporary absence from that dwelling.
8.2   In sub-paragraph (1), a “period of temporary absence” means:

(a) a period of absence not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the first whole day on 
which a person resides in residential accommodation where and for so long as:

(i) the person resides in that accommodation in Great Britain;
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; and
(iii) that period of absence does not form part of a longer period of absence from 
the dwelling of more than 52 weeks,

where he has entered the accommodation for the purpose of ascertaining whether it suits 
his needs and with the intention of returning to the dwelling if it proves not to suit his 
needs;
(b) a period of absence within Great Britain not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the 
first whole day of absence from the dwelling, where and for so long as:

(i) the person intends to return to the dwelling;
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; 
(iii) that period is unlikely to exceed 13 weeks; and

(c) a period of absence within Great Britain not exceeding 52 weeks, beginning with 
the first whole day of that absence, where and for so long as:
(i) the person intends to return to the dwelling;
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let;
(iii) the person is a person to whom sub-paragraph (3) applies; and
(iv) the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 52 weeks or, in exceptional 
circumstances, is unlikely substantially to exceed that period and

(d)subject to sub-paragraphs (2F), (3C), (3E) and (3G) and where sub-paragraph (2E) applies, a period 
of absence outside Great Britain not exceeding 4 weeks, beginning with the first day of that 
absence from Great Britain where and for so long as:
(i) the person intends to return to the dwelling;
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resides is not let or sub-let; and 
(iii) the period of absence from Great Britain is unlikely to exceed 4 weeks.

8.2A The period of 13 weeks referred to in sub-paragraph (2)(b) shall run or continue to run during 
any period of absence from Great Britain.

8.2B Where:
(a)a person returns to Great Britain after a period of absence from Great Britain (period A);
(b) that person has been absent from the dwelling, including any absence within Great Britain, 
for less than 13 weeks beginning with the first day of absence from that dwelling; and
(c)at the outset of, or during, period A, period A ceased to be treated as a period of temporary 
absence,
then any day that follows period A and precedes the person’s return to the dwelling, shall not 
be treated as a period of temporary absence under sub-paragraph (2)(b).

8.2C The period of 52 weeks referred to in sub-paragraph (2)(c) shall run or continue to run during 
any period of absence from Great Britain.

8.2D Where:
(a)a person returns to Great Britain after a period of absence from Great Britain (period A);
(b)that person has been absent from the dwelling, including any absence within Great Britain, 
for less than 52 weeks beginning with the first day of absence from that dwelling; and
(c)at the outset of, or during, period A, period A ceased to be treated as a period of temporary 
absence,



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 22

then, any day that follows period A and precedes the person’s return to the dwelling, shall not 
be treated as a period of temporary absence under sub-paragraph (2)(c).

8.2E This sub-paragraph applies where:
(a)a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain;
(b) immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not absent 
from the dwelling.

8.2F  If the temporary absence referred to in sub-paragraph (2)(d) is in connection with the death of:
(a) the person’s partner or a child or young person for whom the person or the person’s partner 
is responsible;
(b)the person’s close relative;
(c)the close relative of the person’s partner; or
(d) the close relative of a child or young person for whom the person or the person’s partner is 
responsible,
then the period of 4 weeks in the opening words of sub-paragraph (2)(d) may be extended by 
up to 4 further weeks if the relevant authority considers it unreasonable to expect the person to 
return to Great Britain within the first 4 weeks (and the reference in sub-paragraph (iii) of that 
paragraph to a period of 4 weeks shall, where the period is extended, be taken as referring to 
the period as so extended).

8.3 This sub-paragraph applies to a person who—
(a) is detained in custody on remand pending trial or required, as a condition of bail, to 
reside—
(i) in a dwelling, other than the dwelling referred to in sub-paragraph (1), or
(ii) in premises approved under section 13 of the Offender Management Act 2007, or 
is detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction;
(b) is resident in a hospital or similar institution as a patient;
(c) is undergoing, or whose partner or dependent child is undergoing, medical treatment, 
or medically approved convalescence, in accommodation other than residential 
accommodation;
(d) is following, a training course;
(e) is undertaking medically approved care of a person;
(f) is undertaking the care of a child whose parent or guardian is temporarily absent 
from the dwelling normally occupied by that parent or guardian for the purpose of 
receiving medically approved care or medical treatment;
(g) is receiving medically approved care provided in accommodation other than 
residential accommodation;
(h) is a student;
(i) is receiving care provided in residential accommodation and is not a person to whom 
sub-paragraph (2)(a) applies; or
(j) has left the dwelling he resides in through fear of violence, in that dwelling, or by a 
person who was formerly a member of the family of the person first mentioned.

8.3A This sub-paragraph applies to a person (“P”) who is:
(a)detained in custody on remand pending trial;
(b)detained pending sentence upon conviction; or
(c)as a condition of bail required to reside—
(i)in a dwelling, other than a dwelling P occupies as P’s home; or
(ii)in premises approved under section 13 of the Offender Management Act 2007,
and who is not also detained in custody following sentence upon conviction.

8.3B This sub-paragraph applies where:
(a)a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain;



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 23

(b) the person is a member of Her Majesty’s forces posted overseas, a mariner or a continental 
shelf worker;
(c) immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not absent 
from the dwelling.

8.3C Where sub-paragraph (3B) applies, a period of absence from Great Britain not exceeding 26 
weeks, beginning with the first day of absence from Great Britain, shall be treated as a period 
of temporary absence where and for so long as:
(a) the person intends to return to the dwelling;
(b)the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let;
(c)the period of absence from Great Britain is unlikely to exceed 26 weeks.

8.3D This sub-paragraph applies where—
(a) a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain;
(b) the person is a person described in any of paragraphs (b), (c), (g) or (j) of sub-paragraph 
(3);
(c) immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not absent 
from the dwelling.

8.3E Where sub-paragraph (3D) applies, a period of absence from Great Britain not exceeding 26 
weeks, beginning with the first day of absence from Great Britain, shall be treated as a period 
of temporary absence where and for so long as:
(a) the person intends to return to the dwelling;
(b) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let;
(c) the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 26 weeks, or in exceptional circumstances, is 
unlikely substantially to exceed that period.

8.3F This sub-paragraph applies where:
(a) a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain;
(b) the person is a person described in any of paragraphs (a), (d), (e), (f), (h) or (i) of sub-
paragraph (3);
(c)immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not absent 
from the dwelling.

8.3G Where sub-paragraph (3F) applies, a period of absence from Great Britain not exceeding 4 
weeks, beginning with the first day of absence from Great Britain, shall be treated as a period 
of temporary absence where and for so long as:
(a) the person intends to return to the dwelling;
(b) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let;
(c) the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 4 weeks, or in exceptional circumstances, is 
unlikely substantially to exceed that period.”;

8.4 This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is—
(a) detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction or under a sentence imposed by a 
court (other than a person who is detained in hospital under the provisions of the Mental Health 
Act 1983, or, in Scotland, under the provisions of the Mental Health (Care and Treatment) 
(Scotland) Act 2003 or the Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995 or, in Northern Ireland, 
under Article 4 or 12 of the Mental Health (Northern Ireland) Order 1986); and
(b) on temporary release from detention in accordance with Rules made under the provisions 
of the Prison Act 1952 or the Prisons (Scotland) Act 1989.

8.5 Where sub-paragraph (4) applies to a person, then, for any day when he is on temporary 
release—
(a) if such temporary release was immediately preceded by a period of temporary absence 
under sub-paragraph (2)(b) or (c), he must be treated, for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), 
as if he continues to be absent from the dwelling, despite any return to the dwelling;
(b) for the purposes of sub-paragraph (3A), he must be treated as if he remains in detention;
(c) if he does not fall within paragraph (a), he is not to be considered to be a person who is 



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 24

liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident.
8.6 In this paragraph—

“continental shelf worker” means a person who is employed, whether under a contract of 
service or not, in a designated area or a prescribed area in connection with any of the 
activities mentioned in section 11(2) of the Petroleum Act 1998;
“designated area” means any area which may from time to time be designated by Order in 
Council under the Continental Shelf Act 1964 as an area within which the rights of the United 
Kingdom with respect to the seabed and subsoil and their natural resources may be exercised;
“mariner” means a person who is employed under a contract of service either as a master or 
member of the crew of any ship or vessel, or in any other capacity on board any ship or vessel, 
where—
(a) the employment in that capacity is for the purposes of that ship or vessel or its crew or any 
passengers or cargo or mails carried by the ship or vessel; and
(b) the contract is entered into in the United Kingdom with a view to its performance (in 
whole or in part) while the ship or vessel is on its voyage;”;
“medically approved” means certified by a medical practitioner;
“member of Her Majesty’s forces posted overseas” means a person who is a member of the 
regular forces or the reserve forces (within the meaning of section 374 of the Armed Forces 
Act 2006), who is absent from the main dwelling because the person has been posted outside 
of Great Britain to perform the duties of a member of Her Majesty’s regular forces or reserve 
forces;
“patient” means a person who is undergoing medical or other treatment as an in-patient in 
any hospital or similar institution;
“prescribed area” means any area over which Norway or any member State (other than the 
United Kingdom) exercises sovereign rights for the purpose of exploring the seabed and subsoil 
and exploiting their natural resources, being an area outside the territorial seas of Norway or 
such member State, or any other area which is from time to time specified under section 10(8) 
of the Petroleum Act 1998;”
“residential accommodation” means accommodation which is provided in:
(a) a care home;
(b) an independent hospital;
(c) an Abbeyfield Home; or
(d) an establishment managed or provided by a body incorporated by Royal Charter or 
constituted by Act of Parliament other than a local social services authority;

“training course” means a course of training or instruction provided wholly or partly by or on 
behalf of or in pursuance of arrangements made with, or approved by or on behalf of, Skills 
Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise, Highlands and Islands Enterprise, a government 
department or the Secretary of State.

The family for Council Tax Reduction purposes

9.0 Membership of a family

9.1 Within the support scheme adopted by the Council ‘family’ means;
a. a married or unmarried couple;
b. married or unmarried couple and a member of the same household for whom one of them 

is or both are responsible and who is a child or a young person;
c. two people of the same sex who are civil partners of each other and are members of the 

same household (with or without children); 
d. two people of the same sex who are not civil partners of each other but are living together 

as if they were civil partners (with or without children),
e. and for the purposes of sub-paragraph (d) two people of the same sex are to be regarded as 

living together as if they were civil partners if, but only if, they would be regarded as living 
together as husband and wife were they instead two people of the opposite sex;

f. except in prescribed circumstances, a person who is not a member of a married or 



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 25

unmarried couple and a member of the same household for whom that person is responsible 
and who is a child or a young person;

For the purposes of the scheme a child is further defined as a ‘child or young person’
A ‘child’ means a person under the age of 16 and a ‘Young Person’ is someone aged 16 or over 
but under 20 and who satisfies other conditions. These conditions are:

 they are aged 16, have left 'relevant education' or training, and 31 August following 
the sixteenth birthday has not yet been passed;

 they are aged 16 or 17, have left education or training, are registered for work, 
education or training, are not in remunerative work and are still within their 'extension 
period';

 they are on a course of full-time non-advanced education, or are doing 'approved 
training', and they began that education or training before reaching the age of 19;

 they have finished a course of full-time non-advanced education, but are enrolled on 
another such course (other than one provided as a result of their employment);

 they have left 'relevant education' or 'approved training' but have not yet passed their 
'terminal date'.

9.2 Paragraph 9.1 the definition of child or young person shall not apply to a person who is;
a. on income support ;
b. an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income related employment and support 

allowance; or be entitled to an award of Universal Credit; or
c. a person to whom section 6 of the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 applies.

9.3 The definition also includes a child or young person in respect of whom there is an entitlement 
to child benefit but only for the period that Child Benefit is payable

.
10.0 Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible (or not responsible) for a 

child or young person.

10.1 Subject to the following paragraphs a person shall be treated as responsible for a child or young 
person who is normally living with him and this includes a child or young person to whom 
paragraph 9.3 applies

10.2 Where a child or young person spends equal amounts of time in different households, or where 
there is a question as to which household he is living in, the child or young person shall be treated 
for the purposes of paragraph 9.1 as normally living with;
a. the person who is receiving child benefit in respect of him; or 
b. if there is no such person;

i. where only one claim for child benefit has been made in respect of him, the person 
who made that claim; or

ii. in any other case the person who has the primary responsibility for him.

10.3 For the purposes of this scheme a child or young person shall be the responsibility of only one 
person in any reduction week and any person other than the one treated as responsible for the 
child or young person under this section shall be treated as not so responsible.

11.0 Circumstances in which a child or young person is to be treated as being or not being a 
member of the household

11.1 Subject to paragraphs 11.2 and 11.3, the applicant and any partner and, where the applicant or 
his partner is treated as responsible by virtue of section 10 (circumstances in which a person is to 
be treated as responsible or not responsible for a child or young person) for a child or young 
person, that child or young person and any child of that child or young person, shall be treated as 
members of the same household notwithstanding that any of them is temporarily absent from that 
household.

11.2 A child or young person shall not be treated as a member of the applicant’s household where he 



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 26

is;
a. placed with the applicant or his partner by a local authority under section 23(2)(a) of the 

Children Act 1989 or by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of that Act, or in 
Scotland boarded out with the applicant or his partner under a relevant enactment; or

b. placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with the applicant or his partner prior to adoption; or
c. placed for adoption with the applicant or his partner in accordance with the Adoption and 

Children Act 20026 or the Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 2009.

11.3 Subject to paragraph 11.4, paragraph 11.1 shall not apply to a child or young person who is not 
living with the applicant and he–

a. is being looked after by, or in Scotland is in the care of, a local authority under a relevant 
enactment; or

b. has been placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with a person other than the applicant prior to 
adoption; or

c. has been placed for adoption in accordance with the Adoption and Children Act 2002 or 
the Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 2009; or in accordance with an adoption 
allowance scheme made under section 71 of the Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 
2007 (adoption allowances schemes).

11.4 The authority shall treat a child or young person to whom paragraph 11.3 a) applies as being a 
member of the applicant’s household in any reduction week where;

a. that child or young person lives with the applicant for part or all of that reduction week; 
and

b. the authority considers that it is responsible to do so taking into account the nature and 
frequency of that child’s or young person’s visits.

11.5 In this paragraph ‘relevant enactment’ means the Army Act 1955, the Air Force Act 1955, the 
Naval Discipline Act 1957, the Matrimonial Proceedings (Children) Act 1958, the Social Work 
(Scotland) Act 1968, the Family Law Reform Act 1969, the Children and Young Persons Act 
1969, the Matrimonial Causes Act 1973, the Children Act 1975, the Domestic Proceedings and 
Magistrates’ Courts Act 1978, the Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 1978, the Family Law 
Act 1986, the Children Act 1989, the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 and the Legal Aid, Sentencing 
and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012.

Definition and the treatment of income for Council Tax Reduction purposes 

12.0 Calculation of income and capital of members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous 
marriage

12.1 The income and capital of an applicant’s partner within this scheme and for the purposes of 
claiming council tax reduction is to be treated as income and capital of the applicant and shall be 
calculated or estimated in accordance with the following provisions in like manner as for the 
applicant; and any reference to the ‘ applicant’ shall, except where the context otherwise requires 
be construed for the purposes of this scheme as if it were a reference to his partner.

12.2 Where an applicant or the partner of is married polygamously to two or more members of his 
household–

a. the applicant shall be treated as possessing capital and income belonging to each such 
member; and

b. the income and capital of that member shall be calculated in accordance with the following 
provisions of this scheme in like manner as for the applicant.

12.3 The income and capital of a child or young person shall not be treated as the income and capital 
of the applicant.

13.0 Calculation of income and capital: persons  who have an award of universal credit

13.1 In determining the income of an applicant
6 The Adoption and Children Act 2002 (Commencement No. 12) Order 2014



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 27

a. who has, or
b. who (jointly with his partner) has,

an award of universal credit the authority may, subject to the following provisions of this
paragraph, use the calculation or estimate of the income of the applicant, or the applicant and his 
partner jointly (as the case may be), made by the Secretary of State for the purpose of determining 
the award of universal credit.

13.2 The authority may adjust the amount referred to in sub-paragraph (1) to take account of income 
consisting of the award of universal credit, determined in accordance with subparagraph (3) and 
housing costs

13.3 The amount for the award of universal credit is to be determined by multiplying the amount of 
the award by 12 and dividing the product by 52.

13.4 In determining the capital of an applicant;
(a) who has, or
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has,
an award of universal credit, the authority may use the calculation or estimate of the capital of 
the applicant, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as the case may be), made by the Secretary 
of State for the purpose of determining that award

14.0 Calculation of income on a weekly basis
14.1 For the purposes of this scheme the income of an applicant shall be calculated on a weekly basis 

by estimating the amount which is likely to be his average weekly income.

15.0 Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners

15.1 Where an applicant’s income consists of earnings from employment as a self-employed earner 
his average weekly earnings shall be estimated by reference to his earnings from that employment 
over such period as is appropriate by the authority.

16.0 Calculation of weekly income

16.1 For the purposes of this scheme, where the period in respect of which a payment is made;
a. does not exceed a week, the weekly amount shall be the amount of that payment;
b. exceeds a week, the weekly amount shall be determined–

i. in a case where that period is a month, by multiplying the amount of the payment 
by 12 and dividing the product by 52;

ii. in any other case, by dividing the amount of the payment by the number equal to 
the number of days in the period to which it relates and multiplying the quotient 
by 7.

16.2 For the purpose of self-employed earners the weekly amount of earnings of an applicant shall be 
determined by dividing his earnings over the assessment period by the number equal to the 
number of days in that period and multiplying the quotient by 7.

17.0 Earnings of employed earners
17.1 Subject to paragraph 17.2, ‘earnings’ means in the case of employment as an employed earner, 

any remuneration or profit derived from that employment and includes–
a. any bonus or commission;
b. any payment in lieu of remuneration;
c. any payment in lieu of notice or any lump sum payment intended as compensation for the 

loss of employment;
d. any holiday;
e. any payment by way of a retainer;
f. any payment made by the applicant’s employer in respect of expenses not wholly, 

exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment;
g. any award of compensation made under section 112(4) or 117(3)(a) of the Employment 

Rights Act 1996 (remedies and compensation for unfair dismissal);



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 28

h. any payment or remuneration made under section 28, 34, 64, 68 or 70 of the Employment 
Rights Act 1996 (right to guarantee payments, remuneration on suspension on medical or 
maternity grounds, complaints to employment tribunals);

i. any such sum as is referred to in section 112 of the Act (certain sums to be earnings for 
social security purposes);

j. any statutory sick pay, statutory maternity pay, statutory paternity pay or statutory 
adoption pay, or a corresponding payment under any enactment having effect in Northern 
Ireland;

k. any remuneration paid by or on behalf of an employer to the applicant who for the time 
being is on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave or is absent from work 
because he is ill;

l. the amount of any payment by way of a non-cash voucher which has been taken into 
account in the computation of a person’s earnings in accordance with Part 5 of Schedule 
3 to the Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001 as amended7.

18.0 Calculation of net earnings of employed earners

18.1 For the purposes of this scheme the earnings of an applicant derived or likely to be derived from 
employment as an employed earner to be taken into account shall, be his net earnings.

18.2 For the purposes of paragraph 18.1 net earnings shall, , be calculated by taking into account the 
gross earnings of the applicant from that employment over the assessment period, less;
a. any amount deducted from those earnings by way of

i) income tax;
ii) primary Class 1 contributions under the Act;

b. one-half of any sum paid by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an 
occupational pension scheme;

c. one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph 26.5 in respect of any 
qualifying contribution payable by the applicant; and

18.3 In this section ‘qualifying contribution’ means any sum which is payable periodically as a 
contribution towards a personal pension scheme.

18.4 The amount in respect of any qualifying contribution shall be calculated by multiplying the daily 
amount of the qualifying contribution by the number equal to the number of days in the 
assessment period; and for the purposes of this section the daily amount of the qualifying 
contribution shall be determined–
a. where the qualifying contribution is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the 

qualifying contribution by 12 and dividing the product by 365;
b. in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying contribution by the number 

equal to the number of days in the period to which the qualifying contribution relates.

18.5 Where the earnings of an applicant are estimated his net earnings shall be calculated by taking 
into account those earnings over the assessment period, less–
a. an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying to 

those earnings the basic rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate 
of tax applicable to the assessment period less only the personal relief to which the 
applicant is entitled under sections 257(1) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 
1988(personal allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances but, if the assessment 
period is less than a year, the earnings to which the basic rate or in the case of a Scottish 
taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal relief 
deductible under this sub-paragraph shall be calculated on a pro rata basis;

b. an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that would be 
payable by him under the Act in respect of those earnings if such contributions were payable; 
and

c. one-half of any sum which would be payable by the applicant by way of a contribution 
towards an occupational or personal pension scheme, if the earnings so estimated were actual 

7 Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment) Regulations 2013, Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment No.2) Regulations 
2013 and Social Security (Contributions)(Amendment No.2) Regulations 2013



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 29

earnings.

19.0 Earning Disregard for Employed and Self Employed Earners

19.1 There shall be disregarded from an applicant’s net earnings, £25 per week (the standard earnings 
disregard). This shall apply irrespective of the applicant’s household and only one disregard shall 
be applied per claim.

20.0 Earnings of self-employed earners
20.1 Subject to paragraph 20.2, ‘earnings’, in the case of employment as a self-employed earner, 

means the gross income of the employment plus any allowance paid under section 2 of the 1973 
Act or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 to the applicant for the 
purpose of assisting him in carrying on his business unless at the date of claim the allowance has 
been terminated.

20.2 ‘Earnings’ shall not include any payment in respect of a person accommodated with the applicant 
under arrangements made by a local authority or voluntary organisation and payments made to 
the applicant by a health authority, local authority or voluntary organisation in respect of persons 
temporarily in the applicant’s care) nor shall it include any sports award.

20.3 This paragraph applies to–
a. royalties or other sums paid as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any 

copyright, design, patent or trade mark; or
b. any payment in respect of any–

(i) book registered under the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; or
(ii) work made under any international public lending right scheme that is analogous to 
the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982, where the applicant is the first owner of the 
copyright, design, patent or trade mark, or an original contributor to the book of work 
concerned.

21.0 Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners 

21.1  For the purposes of the average weekly earnings of self- employed earners) the earnings of an 
applicant to be taken into account shall be
a. in the case of a self-employed earner who is engaged in employment on his own account, 

the net profit derived from that employment;
b. in the case of a self-employed earner whose employment is carried on in partnership or is 

that of a share fisherman within the meaning of the Social Security (Mariners’ Benefits) 
Regulations 1975, his share of the net profit derived from that employment, less–

i. an amount in respect of income tax and of national insurance contributions payable 
under the Act; and

ii. one-half of the amount calculated in respect of any qualifying premium; and
iii. £25, this deduction shall apply once only irrespective of whether a person is also 

employed or slef employed in a number of occupations. For the avoidance of doubt 
a single £25 per week disregard shall be granted to any claim. Irrespective of the 
household composition, the number of employed persons within the household or 
the type or number of employment (s) or self employment (s).

21.2 The net profit of the employment shall be calculated by taking into account the earnings of the 
employment over the assessment period less any expenses wholly and exclusively incurred in 
that period for the purposes of the employment.

21.3 Subject to paragraph 21.4 no deduction shall be made, in respect of–
a. any capital expenditure;
b. the depreciation of any capital asset;
c. any sum employed or intended to be employed in the setting up or expansion of the 

employment;
d. any loss incurred before the beginning of the assessment period;



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 30

e. the repayment of capital on any loan taken out for the purposes of the employment;
f. any expenses incurred in providing business entertainment, and
g. any debts, except bad debts proved to be such, but this sub-paragraph shall not apply to 

any expenses incurred in the recovery of a debt.

21.4 The authority shall refuse to make deduction in respect of any expenses where it is not satisfied 
given the nature and the amount of the expense that it has been reasonably incurred.

21.5 For the avoidance of doubt deduction shall not be made in respect of any sum unless it has been 
expended for the purposes of the business;

21.6 Where an applicant is engaged in employment, as a child minder the net profit of the employment 
shall be one-third of the earnings of that employment, less an amount in respect of

a. income tax; and
b. national insurance contributions payable under the Act,; and
c. one-half of the amount in respect of any qualifying contribution; and
d. £25, this deduction shall apply once only irrespective of whether a person is also 

employed or self employed in a number of occupations. For the avoidance of doubt a 
single £25 per week disregard shall be granted to any claim. Irrespective of the 
household composition, the number of employed persons within the household or the 
type or number of employments or self employments.

21.7 For the avoidance of doubt where an applicant is engaged in employment as a self-employed 
earner and he is also engaged in one or more other employments as a self-employed or employed 
earner any loss incurred in any one of his employments shall not be offset against his earnings in 
any other of his employments.

21.8 The amount in respect of any qualifying premium shall be calculated by multiplying the daily 
amount of the qualifying premium by the number equal to the number of days in the assessment 
period; and for the purposes of this section the daily amount of the qualifying premium shall be 
determined
a. where the qualifying premium is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the 

qualifying premium by 12 and divided the product by 365;
b. in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying premium by the number equal 

to the number of days in the period to which the qualifying premium relates.

21.9 In this section, ‘qualifying premium’ means any premium which is payable periodically in respect 
of a personal pension scheme and is so payable on or after the date of claim.

22.0 Deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners

22.1 The amount to be deducted in respect of income tax under these sections shall be calculated on 
the basis of the amount of chargeable income and as if that income were assessable to income tax 
at the basic rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax applicable to 
the assessment period less only the personal relief to which the applicant is entitled under section 
257(1) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988(personal allowances) as is appropriate to 
his circumstances; but, if the assessment period is less than a year, the earnings to which the basic 
rate or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax is to be applied and the 
amount of the personal reliefs deductible under this paragraph shall be calculated on a pro rata 
basis.

22.2 The amount to be deducted in respect of national insurance contributions under this part  shall be 
the amount of Class 4 contributions (if any) which would be payable under section 15 of the Act 
(Class 4 contributions recoverable under the Income Tax Acts) at the percentage rate applicable 
to the assessment period on so much of the chargeable income as exceeds the lower limit but 
does not exceed the upper limit of profits and gains applicable for the tax year applicable to the 
assessment period; but if the assessment period is less than a year, those limits shall be reduced 
pro rata.

22.3 In this section ‘chargeable income’ means–



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 31

a. except where sub-paragraph (b) applies, the earnings derived from the employment less 
any expenses deducted; or

b. in the case of employment as a child minder, one-third of the earnings of that employment.



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 32

23.0 Minimum Income Floor

23.1 Subject to paragraph 23.7. where no start up period (as defined within 23.2) applies to the 
applicant and the income from self-employment of the applicant or partner is less 
than the appropriate amount, the income used by the Council in the calculation of their award 
will be substituted to that appropriate amount. This amount shall be 35 x the hourly minimum 
wage for an ordinarily employed worker. From that the Council will deduct only an estimate 
for tax, national insurance and half a pension contribution (where a pension contribution is 
being made), as if estimating the income of an ordinarily employed worker. 

23.2 . The Council shall determine an appropriate start up period for the employment activity being 
conducted by the applicant or partner. This will normally be two years from the date of claim, 
or two years from the date of commencement of the employment activity, whichever is sooner. 
During this period no Minimum Income Floor shall be applied. The start-up period ends where 
the person is no longer in gainful self-employment (as defined within 23.6).

23.3 Where a applicant or partner holds a position in a company that is analogous to that of a sole 
owner or partner in the business of that company, he shall be treated as if he were such sole owner or 
partner and in such a case be subject to the Minimum Income Floor where appropriate. 
23.4 Ordinarily, no start-up period may be applied in relation to a applicant where a start-up period 

has previously been applied, whether in relation to a current or previous award of a Council 
Tax Reduction. The Council may allow a subsequent employment to qualify for a start-up 
period based on the previous history of the applicant and an assessment of such evidence that 
would support a decision to allow for a subsequent start up period. 

23.5 In order to establish whether to award a start-up period, or at its discretion a subsequent start 
up period, the applicant must satisfy the Council that the employment is
 Genuine and effective. The Coucnil must be satisfied that the employment activity is being 

conducted. 
 Taking up at least 35 hours per week
 Being conducted with the intention of increasing the income received to the level that 

would be conducive with that form of employment. 

23.6 For the purposes of determining whether a applicant is in gainful self-employment or meets 
the conditions for a start-up-period, the Council will require the applicant to provide such 
evidence or information that it reasonably requires to make that decision, the Council may 
also require the self-employed person to attend an interview for the purpose of establishing 
whether the employment is gainful or whether the conditions for a start-up period are met.

23.7 Exemptions to the Minimum Income Floor are
(a) Where the applicant is a lone parent of a child under 5 the applicant will be exempt from 
paragraph 23.1.
(b) Where the applicant is self employed and is in receipt of Personal Independent Payment – 
standard or enhanced daily living component, Disability Living 
Allowance – the middle or high care rate or Armed Forces Independence Payment will be 
exempt from paragraph 23.1
(c) Where the partner is self employed and is in receipt of Personal Independence Allowance, 
- standard or enhanced daily living component, Disability Living Allowance – the middle or 
high care rate or Armed Forces Independence Payment will be exempt from paragraph 23.1
(d) Where the applicant is self employed and the applicant is in receipt of carer’s allowance 
or has an underlying entitlement to carer’s allowance the applicant will be exempt from 
paragraph 23.1.
(e) Where the partner is self employed and the partner is in receipt of carer’s allowance or has 
an underlying entitlement to carer’s allowance the partner will be exempt from paragraph 
23.1.
(f) Where the applicant and the partner are self employed and both are in receipt of carer’s 
allowance or have an underlying entitlement to carer’s allowance both applicant and partner 
will be exempt from paragraph 23.1.



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 33

24.0 Calculation of income other than earnings

24.1 For the purposes of calculating the average weekly income other than earnings, the income of an 
applicant which does not consist of earnings to be taken into account shall, be his gross income 
and any capital treated as income by the authority.

24.2  Where the payment of any benefit under the benefit Acts is subject to any deduction by way of 
recovery the amount to be taken into account shall be the gross amount payable.

24.3 Where the applicant or, where he is a member of a couple, his partner is receiving a contributory 
employment and support allowance and that benefit has been reduced under regulation 63 of the 
Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 or 2013 as appropriate, the amount of 
that benefit to be taken into account is the amount as if it had not been reduced.

24.4 For the avoidance of doubt there shall be included as income to be taken into account any other 
income no specifically disregarded.

25.0 Capital treated as income

25.1 Any payment received under an annuity shall be treated as income.

26.0 Notional income

26.1 An applicant shall be treated as possessing income of which he has deprived himself for the 
purpose of securing entitlement of support or increasing the amount of that support. This shall 
include any benefits or credits not applied for but for which the applicant could be entitled, if 
applied for.

26.2 Any other payment of income.

26.3 Paragraph 26.2 shall not apply in respect of a payment of income made under the Macfarlane 
Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No. 2) 
Trust, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the 
Scottish Infected Blood Support Scheme, an approved blood scheme, the London Emergencies 
Trust, the We Love Manchester Emergency Fund or the Independent Living Fund (2006);

26.4 Where an applicant is treated as possessing any income under any of paragraphs within this 
section, the foregoing provisions of this scheme shall apply for the purposes of calculating the 
amount of that income as if a payment has actually been made and as if it were actual income 
which he does possess.

Definition and the treatment of capital for Council Tax Reduction purposes

27.0 Capital limit
27.1 For the purposes of this scheme, the prescribed amount is £6,000 and no support shall be granted 

when the applicant has an amount greater that this level

28.0 Calculation of capital
28.1 For the purposes of this scheme, the capital of an applicant to be taken into account shall, be the 

whole of his capital calculated in accordance with this scheme and any income treated as capital 
under section 32 (income treated as capital).

29.0 Disregard of capital of child and young person

 29.1 The capital of a child or young person who is a member of the applicant’s family shall not be 
treated as capital of the applicant.



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 34

30.0 Income treated as capital
30.1 Any arrears of working tax credit or child tax credit shall be treated as capital. 

31.0 Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom
31.1 Capital which an applicant possesses in the United Kingdom shall be calculated at its current 

market or surrender value less–
a. where there would be expenses attributable to the sale, 10 per cent.; and 
b. the amount of any encumbrance secured on it;

32.0 Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom

 32.1 Capital which an applicant possesses in a country outside the United Kingdom shall be calculated
a. in a case where there is no prohibition in that country against the transfer to the United 

Kingdom of an amount equal to its current market or surrender value in that country, at 
that value.

b. in a case where there is such a prohibition, at the price which it would realise if sold in the 
United Kingdom to a willing buyer,

less, where there would be expenses attributable to sale, 10 per cent. and the amount of any 
encumbrances secured on it.

33.0 Notional capital
33.1 An applicant shall be treated as possessing capital of which he has deprived himself for the 

purpose of securing entitlement to Council Tax Reduction or increasing the amount of that 
support.

33.2 Any capital which would become available to the applicant upon application being made, but 
which has not been acquired by him, shall be treated as possessed by him but only from the date 
on which it could be expected to be acquired were an application made.

33.3 Any payment of capital, other than a payment of capital specified in paragraph (33.4), made
(a) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or a member of the family (but not a member 

of the third party’s family) shall, where that payment is a payment of an occupational 
pension, a pension or other periodical payment made under a personal pension scheme or a 
payment made by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund, be treated as possessed by that 
single applicant or, as the case may be, by that member;

(b) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or in respect of a member of the family (but 
not a member of the third party’s family) shall, where it is not a payment referred to in sub-
paragraph (a), be treated as possessed by that single applicant or by that member to the extent 
that it is used for the food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of that single 
applicant or, as the case may be, of any member of that family or is used for any council tax 
or water charges for which that applicant or member is liable;

(c) to a single applicant or a member of the family in respect of a third party (but not in respect 
of another member of that family) shall be treated as possessed by that single applicant or, 
as the case may be, that member of the family to the extent that it is kept or used by him or 
used by or on behalf of any member of the family.

33.4 Paragraph 33.3 shall not apply in respect of a payment of capital made
(a) under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Independent 

Living Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the Scottish Infected Blood 
Support Scheme, an approved blood scheme, the London Emergencies Trust, the We Love 
Manchester Emergency Fund or the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund;

33.5 Where an applicant stands in relation to a company in a position analogous to that of a sole owner 
or partner in the business of that company, he may be treated as if he were such sole owner or 
partner and in such a case

a. the value of his holding in that company shall be disregarded; and
b. he shall, subject to paragraph 34.6, be treated as possessing an amount of capital equal to 

the value or, as the case may be, his share of the value of the capital of that company and 
the foregoing provisions of this Section shall apply for the purposes of calculating that 



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 35

amount as if it were actual capital which he does possess.

33.6  For so long as the applicant undertakes activities in the course of the business of the company, 
the amount which, he is treated as possessing under paragraph 34.5 shall be disregarded.

33.7 Where an applicant is treated as possessing capital under any of paragraphs 35.1 to 35.2 the 
foregoing provisions of this Section shall apply for the purposes of calculating its amount as if it 
were actual capital, which he does possess.

34.0 Capital jointly held

34.1 Where an applicant and one or more persons are beneficially entitled in possession to any capital 
asset they shall be treated as if each of them were entitled in possession to the whole beneficial 
interest therein in an equal share and the foregoing provisions of this section shall apply for the 
purposes of calculating the amount of capital which the applicant is treated as possessing as if it 
were actual capital which the applicant does possess

Definition and the treatment of students for Council Tax Reduction purposes

35.0 Student related definitions

35.1 In this scheme the following definitions apply;
 ‘academic year’ means the period of twelve months beginning on 1st January, 1st April, 1st 
July or 1st September according to whether the course in question begins in the winter, the spring, 
the summer or the autumn respectively but if students are required to begin attending the course 
during August or September and to continue attending through the autumn, the academic year of 
the course shall be considered to begin in the autumn rather than the summer; 
‘access funds’ means;
a. grants made under section 68 of the Further and Higher Education Act 1992 for the 

purpose of providing funds on a discretionary basis to be paid to students;
b. grants made under section 73(a) and (c) and 74(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980;
c. grants made under Article 30 of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) Order 

1993 or grants, loans or other payments made under Article 5 of the Further Education 
(Northern Ireland) Order 1997in each case being grants, or grants, loans or other payments 
as the case may be, for the purpose of assisting students in financial difficulties;

d. discretionary payments, known as “learner support funds”, which are made available to 
students in further education by institutions out of funds provided by the Secretary of State 
under section 14 of the Education Act 2002 or the Chief Executive of Skills Funding under 
sections 100 and 101 of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009; or

e Financial Contingency Funds made available by the Welsh Ministers; 
‘college of further education’ means a college of further education within the meaning of Part 
1 of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 
’contribution’ means;
a. any contribution in respect of the income of a student or any person which the Secretary 

of State, the Scottish Ministers or an education authority takes into account in ascertaining 
the amount of a student’s grant or student loan; or

b. any sums, which in determining the amount of a student’s allowance or bursary in 
Scotland under the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, the Scottish Ministers or education 
authority takes into account being sums which the Scottish Ministers or education 
authority consider that it is reasonable for the following person to contribute towards the 
holder’s expenses;
(i) the holder of the allowance or bursary; 
(ii) the holder’s parents;
(iii) the holders parent’s spouse, civil partner or a person ordinarily living with the 

holder’s parent as if he or she were the spouse or civil partner of that parent; or
(iv) the holder’s spouse or civil partner; 

‘course of study’ means any course of study, whether or not it is a sandwich course and whether 
or not a grant is made for attending or undertaking it;
‘covenant income’ means the gross income payable to a full-time student under a Deed of 



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 36

Covenant by his parent;
‘education authority’ means a government department, a local education authority as defined 
in section 12 of the Education Act 1996 (interpretation), a local education authority as defined in 
section 123 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 an education and library board 
established under Article 3 of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) Order 1986, any 
body which is a research council for the purposes of the Science and Technology Act 1965 or 
any analogous government department, authority, board or body of the Channel Island, Isle of 
Man or any other country outside Great Britain;
‘full-time course of study’ means a full time course of study which;
a. is not funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the

Education Act 2002, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or by the Welsh Ministers or a 
full-time course of study which is not funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers 
at a college of further education or a full-time course of study which is a course of higher 
education and is funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers;;

b. is funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the Education 
Act 2002, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or by the Welsh Ministers if it involves 
more than 16 guided learning hours per week for the student in question, according to the 
number of guided learning hours per week for that student set out—
(i) in the case of a course funded by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the Education 
Act 2002 or the Chief Executive of Skills Funding, in the student’s learning agreement 
signed on behalf of the establishment which is funded by either
of those persons for the delivery of that course; or
(ii) in the case of a course funded by the Welsh Ministers, in a document signed on
behalf of the establishment which is funded by that Council for the delivery of that course; 
or

c. is not higher education and is funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers at a 
college of further education and involves—
(i) more than 16 hours per week of classroom-based or workshop-based programmed 
learning under the direct guidance of teaching staff according to the number of hours set 
out in a document signed on behalf of the college; or
(ii) 16 hours or less per week of classroom-based or workshop-based programmed
learning under the direct guidance of teaching staff and additional hours using structured 
learning packages supported by the teaching staff where the combined total of hours 
exceeds 21 hours per week, according to the number of hours set out in a document signed 
on behalf of the college;

‘full-time student’ means a person attending or undertaking a full-time course of study and 
includes a student on a sandwich course;
‘grant’ (except in the definition of ‘access funds’) means any kind of educational grant or 
award and includes any scholarship, studentship, exhibition allowance or bursary but does not 
include a payment from access funds or any payment to which paragraph 12 of Schedule 4 or 
paragraph 53 of Schedule 5 applies; 
‘grant income’ means

(a) any income by way of a grant;
(b) any contribution whether or not it is paid; 

‘higher education’ means higher education within the meaning of Part 2 of the Further and 
Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; ‘last day of the course’ means;
a. in the case of a qualifying course, the date on which the last day of that course falls or the 

date on which the final examination relating to that course is completed, whichever is the 
later;

b. in any other case, the date on which the last day of the final academic term falls in respect 
of the course in which the student is enrolled;

‘period of study’ means–
a. in the case of a course of study for one year or less, the period beginning with the start of 

the course and ending with the last day of the course;
b. in the case of a course of study for more than one year, in the first or, as the case may be, 

any subsequent year of the course, other than the final year of the course, the period 
beginning with the start of the course or, as the case may be, the year’s start and ending 
with either–
(i) the day before the start of the next year of the course in a case where the student’s grant 
or loan is assessed at a rate appropriate to his studying throughout the year, or, if he does 



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 37

not have a grant or loan, where a loan would have been assessed at such a rate had he had 
one; or
(ii) in any other case, the day before the start of the normal summer vacation appropriate 
to his course;

c. in the final year of a course of study of more than one year, the period beginning with 
that year’s start and ending with the last day of the course;

‘periods of experience’ means periods of work experience which form part of a
sandwich course;
‘qualifying course’ means a qualifying course as defined for the purposes of Parts 2 and 4 of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations;
‘modular course’ means a course of study which consists of two or more modules, the successful 
completion of a specified number of which is required before a person is considered by the 
educational establishment to have completed the course.
’sandwich course’ has the meaning prescribed in regulation 2(9) of the Education (Student  
Support) Regulations 2008, regulation 4(2) of the Education (Student Loans), (Scotland), 
Regulations 2007 or regulation 2(8) of the Education (Student Support) Regulations (Northern 
Ireland) 2007, as the case may be;
‘standard maintenance grant’ means–
a. except where paragraph (b) or (c) applies, in the case of a student attending or undertaking a 

course of study at the University of London or an establishment within the area comprising 
the City of London and the Metropolitan Police District, the amount specified for the time 
being in paragraph 2(2)(a) of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 
2003 (‘the 2003 Regulations’) for such a student;

b. except where paragraph (c) applies, in the case of a student residing at his parent’s home, the 
amount specified in paragraph 3 thereof; 

c. in the case of a student receiving an allowance or bursary under the Education (Scotland) 
Act 1980, the amount of money specified as ‘standard maintenance allowance’ for the 
relevant year appropriate for the student set out in the Student Support in Scotland Guide 
issued by the student Awards Agency for Scotland, or its nearest equivalent in the case of a 
bursary provided by a college of further education or a local education authority;

d. in any other case, the amount specified in paragraph 2(2) of Schedule 2 to the 2003 
Regulations other than in sub-paragraph (a) or (b) thereof;

‘student’ means a person, other than a person in receipt of a training allowance, who is attending 
or undertaking–
a. a course of study at an educational establishment; or
b. a qualifying course; 
‘student’ loan’ means a loan towards a student’s maintenance pursuant to any regulations made 

under section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, section 73 of the 
Education (Scotland) Act 1980 or Article 3 of the Education (Student Support) (Northern 
Ireland) Order 1998 and shall include, in Scotland, a young student’s bursary paid under 
regulation 4(1)(c) of the Student’s Allowances (Scotland) Regulations 2007

35.2 For the purposes of the definition of ‘full-time student’, a person shall be regarded as attending 
or, as the case may be, undertaking a full-time course of study or as being on a sandwich course
a. in the case of a person attending or undertaking a part of a modular course which would 

be a full-time course of study for the purposes of this Part, for the period beginning on the 
day on which that part of the course starts and ending;
(i) on the last day on which he is registered with the educational establishment as attending 
or undertaking that part as a full-time course of study; or
(ii) on such earlier date (if any) as he finally abandons the course or is dismissed from it;

b. in any other case, throughout the period beginning on the date on which he starts attending 
or undertaking the course and ending on the last day of the course or on such earlier date 
(if any) as he finally abandons it or is dismissed from it.

35.3 For the purposes of sub-paragraph (a) of paragraph 36.2, the period referred to in that sub-
paragraph shall include;
a. where a person has failed examinations or has failed to successfully complete a module 

relating to a period when he was attending or undertaking a part of the course as a full-
time course of study, any period in respect of which he attends or undertakes the course 
for the purpose of retaking those examinations or that module;



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 38

b. any period of vacation within the period specified in that paragraph or immediately 
following that period except where the person has registered with the educational 
establishment to attend or undertake the final module in the course and the vacation 
immediately follows the last day on which he is required to attend or undertake the course.

36.0 Calculation of grant income 

36.1 The amount of a student’s grant income to be taken into account shall, subject to paragraphs 36.2 
and 36.3, be the whole of his grant income.

36.2 There shall be excluded from a student’s grant income any payment;

(a) intended to meet tuition fees or examination fees;
(b) in respect of the student’s disability;
(c) intended to meet additional expenditure connected with term time residential study away 

from the student’s educational establishment;
(d) on account of the student maintaining a home at a place other than that at which he resides 

during his course;
(e) on account of any other person but only if that person is residing outside of the United 

Kingdom and there is no applicable amount in respect of him;
(f) intended to meet the cost of books and equipment;
(g) intended to meet travel expenses incurred as a result of his attendance on the course; 
(h) intended for the child care costs of a child dependant.
(i) of higher education bursary for care leavers made under Part III of the Children Act 1989.

36.3  Where a student does not have a student loan and is not treated as possessing such a loan, there 
shall be excluded from the student’s grant income;
(a) the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and 
(b)the sum of £390 per academic year towards the costs of books and equipment, whether or not 
any such costs are incurred.
The above figures will be increased annually in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 
(as amended).

36.4  There shall also be excluded from a student’s grant income the grant for dependants known as 
the parents’ learning allowance paid pursuant to regulations made under Article 3 of the 
Education (Student Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998 or section 22 of the Teaching and 
Higher Education Act 1998.

36.5 Subject to paragraphs 36.6 and 36.7, a student’s grant income shall be apportioned;

(a) subject to paragraph 36.8, in a case where it is attributable to the period of study, equally 
between the weeks in that period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of which 
coincides with, or immediately follows the first day of the period of study and ending with 
the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last 
day of the period of study;

(b) in any other case, equally between the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction 
week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the 
period for which it is payable and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which 
coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last day of the period for which it is payable.

36.6 Any grant in respect of dependants paid under section 63(6) of the Health Services and Public 
Health Act 1968 (grants in respect of the provision of instruction to officers of hospital 
authorities) and any amount intended for the maintenance of dependants under Part 3 of Schedule 
2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2004 shall be apportioned equally over the 
period of 52 weeks or, if there are 53 reduction weeks (including part-weeks) in the year, 53.

36.7 In a case where a student is in receipt of a student loan or where he could have acquired a student 
loan by taking reasonable steps but had not done so, any amount intended for the maintenance of 
dependants shall be apportioned over the same period as the student’s loan is apportioned or, as 
the case may be, would have been apportioned. 

36.8  In the case if a student on a sandwich course, any periods of experience within the period of 



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 39

study shall be excluded and the student’s grant income shall be apportioned equally between the 
weeks in the period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of which immediately 
follows the last day of the period of experience and ending with the reduction week, the last day 
of which coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last day of the period of study.

37.0 Treatment of student loans 

37.1 A student loan shall be treated as income. 

37.2 In calculating the weekly amount of the loan to be taken into account as income
(a) in respect of a course that is of a single academic year’s duration or less, a loan which is 

payable in respect of that period shall be apportioned equally between the weeks in the 
period beginning with;
(i) except in a case where (ii) applies, the reduction week ,the first day of which coincides 

with, or immediately follows, the first day of the single academic year; 
(ii) where the student is required to start attending the course in August or where the course 

is less than an academic year’s duration, the reduction week, the first day of which 
coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the course, and ending with 
the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately precedes with 
last day of the course, 

(b) in respect of an academic year of a course which starts other than on 1st September, a loan 
which is payable in respect of that academic year shall be apportioned equally between 
the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of which coincides 
with or immediately follows, the first day of that academic year and ending with the 
reduction week, the last day of which coincides with or immediately precedes, the last day 
of that academic year but excluding any reduction weeks falling entirely within the quarter 
during which, in the opinion of the Secretary of State, the longest of any vacation is taken 
and for the purposes of this sub-paragraph, ‘quarter’ shall have the same meaning as for 
the purposes of the Education (Student Support) Regulations 2005;

(c) in respect of the final academic year of a course (not being a course of a single year’s 
duration), a loan which is payable in respect of that final academic year shall be 
apportioned equally between the weeks in the period beginning with;
(i) except in a case where (ii) applies, the reduction week, the first day of which coincides 

with or immediately follows, the first day of that academic year;
(ii) where the final academic year starts on 1st September, the reduction week, the first 

day of which coincide with, or immediately follows, the earlier of 1st September or 
the first day of the autumn term,

and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of the course;

(d) in any other case, the loan shall be apportioned equally between the weeks in the period 
beginning with the earlier of;
(i) the first day of the first reduction week in September; or
(ii) the reduction week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows the 

first day of the autumn term,
and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of the course;

and, in all cases, from the weekly amount so apportioned there shall be disregarded £10.

37.3 A student shall be treated as possessing a student loan in respect of an academic year where;
(a) a student loan has been made to him in respect of that year; or
(b) he could acquire such a loan in respect of that year by taking reasonable steps to do so.

37.4 Where a student is treated as possessing a student loan under paragraph 37.3, the amount of the 
student loan to be taken into account as income shall be, subject to paragraph 37.5
(a) in the case of a student to whom a student loan is made in respect of an academic year, a sum 

equal to



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 40

(i) the maximum student loan he is able to acquire in respect of that year by taking 
reasonable steps to do so; and 
(ii) any contribution whether or not it has been paid to him;

(b) in the case of a student to whom a student loan is not made in respect of an academic year, 
the maximum student loan that would be made to the student if;

(i) he took all reasonable steps to obtain the maximum student loan he is able to acquire 
in respect of that year; and
(ii) no deduction in that loan was made by virtue of the application of a means test.

37.5 There shall be deducted from the amount of income taken into account under paragraph 37.4
(a) the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and 
(b) the sum of £390 per academic year towards the cost of books and equipment, whether or 

not any such costs are incurred.
The above figures will be increased annually in line with the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 
(as amended).

38.0 Treatment of payments from access funds 

38.1 A payment from access funds shall be disregarded as income.

38.2 Any amount paid from access funds as a single lump sum shall be treated as capital.

The calculation and amount of Council Tax Reduction

39.0 Maximum  Council Tax for the Calculation of the Reduction and minimum Coucnbil Tax 
Reduction award

39.1 Subject to paragraphs 39.2 to 39.4, the amount of a person’s maximum Council Tax for the 
calculation of the reduction in respect of a day for which he is liable to pay council tax, shall be 
100 per cent, of the amount A divided by B where;
(a) A is the amount set by the appropriate authority as the council tax for the relevant financial 

year in respect of the dwelling in which he is a resident and for which he is liable, subject 
to any discount which may be appropriate to that dwelling under the 1992 Act; and

(b) B is the number of days in that financial year.

39.2 In calculating a person’s maximum Council Tax Reduction any reduction in the amount that 
person is liable to pay in respect of council tax, which is made in consequence of any enactment 
in, or made under, the 1992 Act, shall be taken into account.

39.3 Subject to paragraph 39.4, where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in 
respect of a dwelling in which he is resident with one or more other persons in determining the 
maximum Council Tax Reduction in his case in accordance with paragraph 39.1, the amount A 
shall be divided by the number of persons who are jointly and severally liable for that tax.

39.4 Where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in respect of a dwelling with 
only his partner, paragraph 39.3 shall not apply in his case.

39.5 Where any reduction is calculated and the award is less than £1 per week, no reduction 
whatsoever will be granted.

40.0 Extended reductions: movers into the authority’s area8

40.1 Where;
(a) an application is made to the authority  for a reduction under its scheme, and
(b) the applicant or the partner of the applicant, is in receipt of an extended reduction from;

8 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 41

(i)another billing authority in England; or
(ii) a billing authority in Wales, 
the current authority must reduce any reduction to which the applicant is entitled under its 
scheme by the amount of that extended reduction. 

Dates on which entitlement and changes of circumstances are to take effect

41.0 Date on which entitlement is to begin
41.1 Any person to whom or in respect of whom a claim for Council Tax Reduction is made and who 

is otherwise entitled to that support shall be so entitled from the date on which that claim is made 
or is treated as made.

42.0 Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect

42.1 A change of circumstances which affects entitlement to, or the amount of, a reduction under the 
authority’s scheme (“change of circumstances”), takes effect from the day on which the change 
actually occurs.

42.2 Where the change of circumstances is a change in the amount of council tax payable, it takes 
effect from the day on which it actually occurs.

42.3 Where the change of circumstances is a change in the amount a person is liable to pay in respect 
of council tax in consequence of regulations under section 13 of the 1992 Act (reduced amounts 
of council tax) or changes in the discount to which a dwelling may be subject under sections 11 
or 12 of that Act, it shall take effect from the day on which the change in amount has effect.

42.4 Where the change of circumstances is the applicant's acquisition of a partner, the change takes 
effect on the day on which the acquisition takes place.

42.5 Where the change of circumstances is the death of an applicant's partner or their separation, it 
takes effect on the day the death or separation occurs.

42.6 Where the change of circumstances is that income, or an increase in the amount of income, the 
change of circumstances shall take effect from the first day on which such income, had it been 
paid in that period at intervals appropriate to that income, would have fallen to be taken into 
account for the purposes of this scheme

Claiming and the treatment of claims for Council Tax Reduction purposes

43.0 Making an application9

43.1 In the case of a couple or members of a polygamous marriage an application is to be made by 
whichever one of them they agree should so apply or, in default of agreement, by such one of 
them as the authority determines.

43.2 Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is unable for the time 
being to act, and;
(a)a deputy has been appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as the case 
may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or 
(b)in Scotland, his estate is being administered by a judicial factor or any guardian acting or 
appointed under the Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 who has power to apply or, as 
the case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or
(c)an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may be, receive benefit, 
has been appointed by that person under the Powers of Attorney Act 1971, the Enduring Powers 
of Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise, that deputy, judicial factor, 
guardian or attorney, as the case may be, may make an application on behalf of that person.

9 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 42

43.3 Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is unable for the time 
being to act and sub-paragraph (2) does not apply to him, the authority may, upon written 
application made to them by a person who, if a natural person, is over the age of 18, appoint 
that person to exercise on behalf of the person who is unable to act, any right to which that 
person might be entitled under the authority’s scheme and to receive and deal on his behalf 
with any sums payable to him.

43.4 Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is for the time being 
unable to act and the Secretary of State has appointed a person to act on his behalf 

under regulation 33 of the Social Security (Claims and Payments) Regulations 1987 (persons 
unable to act), the authority may if that person agrees, treat him as if he had been appointed by 
them under sub-paragraph (3).

43.5 Where the authority has made an appointment under sub-paragraph (3) or treated a person as 
an appointee under sub-paragraph (4);
(a) it may at any time revoke the appointment;
(b) the person appointed may resign his office after having given 4 weeks notice in writing 

to the authority of his intention to do so; 
(c) any such appointment terminates when the authority is notified of the appointment of 

a person mentioned in sub-paragraph (2).

43.6 Anything required by the authority’s scheme to be done by or to any person who is for the time 
being unable to act may be done by or to the persons mentioned in sub-paragraph (2) above or 
by or to the person appointed or treated as appointed under this paragraph and the receipt of 
any such person so appointed shall be a good discharge to the authority for any sum paid.

43.7 The authority must;
(a) inform any person making an application of the duty imposed by paragraph 9(1)(a);
(b) explain the possible consequences (including prosecution) of failing to comply with 

that duty; and 
(c) set out the circumstances a change in which might affect entitlement to the 

reduction or its amount.

44.0 Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under the authority’s scheme10

44.1.  Paragraphs 2 to 7 apply to an application made under the authority’s scheme.

44.2.   An application may be made;

(a) in writing,
(b) by means of an electronic communication in accordance with Part 4 of this Schedule, or
(c) where the authority has published a telephone number for the purpose of receiving such 

applications, by telephone.

44.3 (1) An application which is made in writing must be made to the designated office on a 
properly completed form.

(2) The form must be provided free of charge by the authority for the purpose.

44.4 (1) Where an application made in writing is defective because—
(a) it was made on the form supplied for the purpose but that form is not accepted by 

the authority as being properly completed; or
(b) it was made in writing but not on the form approved for the purpose and the authority 

does not accept the application as being in a written form which is sufficient in the 
circumstances of the case having regard to the sufficiency of the written information 
and evidence, 

the authority may, in a case to which sub-paragraph (a) applies, request the applicant to 
complete the defective application or, in the case to which sub-paragraph (b) applies, supply 
the applicant with the approved form or request further information and evidence.

10 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 43

(2) An application made on a form provided by the authority is properly completed if it is 
completed in accordance with the instructions on the form, including any instructions to provide 
information and evidence in connection with the application.

44.5. (1) If an application made by electronic communication is defective the authority must  
provide the person making the application with an opportunity to correct the 

defect.

(2) An application made by electronic communication is defective if the applicant does 
not provide all the information the authority requires.

44.6.  In a particular case the authority may determine that an application made by telephone is only 
valid if the person making the application approves a written statement of his circumstances 
provided by the authority.

44.7 (1) If an application made by telephone is defective the authority must provide the person 
making the application with an opportunity to correct the defect.

(2) An application made by telephone is defective if the applicant does not provide all the 
information the authority requests during the telephone call.

44.8 Notwithstanding other paragraphs within this section, the authority will determine the method by 
which claims are to be made as well as where claims should be sent or delivered.

45.0 Date on which an application is made
45.1 the date on which an application is made is;

(a) in a case where;
(i) an award of income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance or an award of universal credit has been 
made to the applicant or his partner, and
(ii) the application is made within one month of the date on which the claim for that 
income support, jobseeker’s allowance, employment and support allowance or 
universal credit was received,
the first day of entitlement to income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, 
an income-related employment and support allowance or universal credit arising from 
that claim;

(b) in all other cases, the date the application is received by the authority at the designated 
office.

45.2 Where there is a defect in an applications and that defect ;
(a) is corrected within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers 

reasonable) of the date the authority last drew attention to it, the authority must treat 
the application as if it had been duly made in the first instance;
(b) is not corrected within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers 
reasonable) of the date the authority last drew attention to it, the authority must treat the 
application as if it had been duly made in the first instance where it considers it has sufficient 
information to decide the application.

45.3 The authority is to treat a defective application as if it had been validly made in the first instance 
if, in any particular case, the conditions specified in sub-paragraph (4)(a), (b) or (c) are satisfied.

45.4 The conditions are that—
(a)  where the authority receives the properly completed application or the information 
requested to complete it or the evidence within one month of the request, or such longer period 
as the authority may consider reasonable; or 
(b)  where an application is not on approved form or further information requested by authority 
applies;
(i) the approved form sent to the applicant is received at the offices of the authority properly 
completed within one month of it having been sent to him; or, as the case may be;
(ii) the applicant supplies whatever information or evidence was requested within one month 



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 44

of the request; or, 
in either case, within such longer period as the authority may consider reasonable; or 
(c)  where the authority has requested further information, the authority receives at its offices 
the properly completed application or the information requested to complete it within one 
month of the request or within such longer period as the authority considers reasonable. 

45.6 Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in Great Britain, 
where a person has not become liable for council tax to the authority but it is anticipated that 
he will become so liable within the period of 8 weeks (the relevant period), he may apply for a 
reduction under that authority’s scheme at any time in that period in respect of that tax and, 
provided that liability arises within the relevant period, the authority must treat the application 
as having been made on the day on which the liability for the tax arises.

45.7 In this paragraph “appropriate DWP office” means an office of the Department for Work and 
Pensions dealing with state pension credit or an office which is normally open to the public for 
the receipt of claims of income support, a job seekers allowance or an employment and support 
allowance.

46.0 Submission of evidence electronically

46.1 The authority may accept such evidence, documents and certificates to support the claim 
electronically where it feels that this would be acceptable given the nature of the claim

47. 0 Use of telephone provided evidence
47.1 The authority may accept such evidence to support the claim by telephone where it feels that 

this would be acceptable given the nature of the claim

48.0 Information and evidence11

48.1 Subject to sub-paragraph (3), a person who makes an application for a reduction under an 
authority’s scheme must satisfy sub-paragraph (2) in relation both to himself and to any other 
person in respect of whom he is making the application.

48.2 This sub-paragraph is satisfied in relation to a person if—
(a) the application is accompanied by;

(i) a statement of the person’s national insurance number and information or evidence 
establishing that that number has been allocated to the person; or
(ii) information or evidence enabling the authority to ascertain the national insurance 
number that has been allocated to the person; or

(b) the person has made an application for a national insurance number to be allocated to him 
and the application for the reduction is accompanied by;

(i) evidence of the application for a national insurance number to be so allocated; 
and

(ii) the information or evidence enabling it to be so allocated.

48.3 Sub-paragraph (2) does not apply;
(a) in the case of a child or young person in respect of whom an application for a reduction is 
made;
(b) to a person who;

(i) is a person treated as not being in Great Britain for the purposes of this scheme;
(ii) is subject to immigration control within the meaning of section 115(9)(a) of the 
Immigration and Asylum Act 1999; and
(iii) has not previously been allocated a national insurance number.

48.4 Subject to sub-paragraph (5), a person who makes an application, or a person to whom a 
reduction under the authority’s scheme has been awarded, must furnish such certificates, 
documents, information and evidence in connection with the application or the award, or any 
question arising out of the application or the award, as may reasonably be required by that 

11 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 45

authority in order to determine that person’s entitlement to, or continuing entitlement to a 
reduction under its scheme and must do so within one month of the authority requiring him to 
do so or such longer period as the authority may consider reasonable.

48.5 Where the authority makes a request under sub-paragraph (4), it must;
(a) inform the applicant or the person to whom a reduction under its scheme has been awarded 
of his duty to notify the authority of any change of circumstances; and
(b) indicate to him either orally or by notice or by reference to some other document available 

to him on application and without charge, the kind of change of circumstances which must be 
notified.

48.6 This sub-paragraph applies to any of the following payments;
(a) a payment which is made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, 
the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the London Emergencies Trust, the We Love 
Manchester Emergency Fund, or the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund;
(b) a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 24 of Schedule 5, other than a payment 
under the Independent Living Fund (2006);

49.0 Amendment and withdrawal of application12

49.1 A person who has made an application may amend it at any time before a decision has been
made on it by a notice in writing delivered or sent to the designated office.

49.2 Where the application was made by telephone the amendment may also be made by telephone.

49.3 Any application amended is to be treated as if it had been amended in the first instance.

49.4 A person who has made an application may withdraw it by notice to the designated office at 
any time before a decision has been made on it.

49.5 Where the application was made by telephone, the withdrawal may also be made by telephone.

49.6 Any notice of withdrawal given in accordance with sub-paragraph (4) or (5) has effect when it 
is received.

49.7 Where a person, by telephone, amends or withdraws an application the person must (if required 
to do so by the authority) confirm the amendment or withdrawal by a notice in writing delivered 
or sent to the designated office.

50.0 Duty to notify changes of circumstances13

50.1 Subject to sub-paragraphs (3), (6) and (7), an applicant (or any person acting on his behalf) 
must comply with sub-paragraph (2) if there is a relevant change of circumstances at any time; 

(a) between the making of an application and a decision being made on it, or 
(b) after the decision is made (where the decision is that the applicant is entitled to a reduction 
under the authority’s scheme) including at any time while the applicant is in receipt of such a 
reduction.

50.2 The applicant (or any person acting on his behalf) must notify any change of circumstances 
which the applicant (or that person) might reasonably be expected to know might affect his 

entitlement to, or the amount of, a reduction under the authority’s scheme (a “relevant 
change of circumstances”) by giving notice to the authority;
(a) in writing; or
(b) by telephone—

(i) where the authority has published a telephone number for that purpose unless 
the authority determines that in any particular case or class of case 

12 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012
13 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 46

notification may not be given by telephone; or
(ii) in any case or class of case where the authority determines that notice may be 
given by telephone; or

(c) by any other means which the authority agrees to accept in any particular case,
within a period of 21 days beginning with the day on which the change occurs, or as soon as 

reasonably practicable after the change occurs, whichever is later.

50.3 The duty imposed on a person by sub-paragraph (1) does not extend to notifying
(a) changes in the amount of council tax payable to the authority;
(b) changes in the age of the applicant or that of any member of his family;
(c) in the case of an applicant in receipt of a relevant benefit, changes in circumstances 
which affect the amount of the benefit but not the amount of the reduction under the authority’s 
scheme to which he is entitled, other than the cessation of that entitlement to the benefit.

50.4 For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(c) “relevant benefit” means income support, an income-
based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance or 
universal credit.

50.5 Notwithstanding sub-paragraph (3)(b) or (c) an applicant is required by sub-paragraph (1) to 
notify the authority of any change in the composition of his family arising from the fact that 

a person who was a member of his family is now no longer such a person because he 
has ceased to be a child or young person.

50.6 All changes in circumstances should be notified to the authority in writing (or by whatever format 
agreed by the authority) within twenty one days of the happening of the event or change in 
circumstance. This timescale may be extended at the discretion of the authority. Where such a 
change is not received within that timescale and where the change would increase the level of 
reduction payable, the authority may use a date later that the actual change of circumstances



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 47

Decisions, decision notices and awards of Council Tax Reduction

51.0 Decisions by the authority14

51.1 The authority must make a decision on a completed application under its scheme within 14 
days or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter. 

52.0 Notification of decision15

52.1 The authority must notify in writing any person affected by a decision made by it under its 
scheme;

(a) in the case of a decision on an application, forthwith or as soon as reasonably practicable 
thereafter;

(b) in any other case, within 14 days of that decision or as soon as reasonably practicable 
thereafter.

52.2 Where the decision is to award a reduction, the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must 
include a statement;
(a) informing the person affected of the duty imposed by Council Tax Reduction Schemes 
(Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012
(b) explaining the possible consequences (including prosecution) of failing to comply with that 

duty; and
(c) setting out the circumstances a change in which might affect entitlement to the 
reduction or its amount.

52.3 Where the decision is to award a reduction, the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must 
include a statement as to how that entitlement is to be discharged.

52.4 In any case, the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must inform the person affected of the 
procedure by which an appeal may be made and must refer the person to the provisions 

in the authority’s scheme relating to the procedure for making an appeal.

52.5 A person affected to whom the authority sends or delivers a notification of decision may, within 
one month of the date of the notification of that decision request in writing the authority to 
provide a written statement setting out the reasons for its decision on any matter set out in the 
notice.

52.6 The written statement referred to in sub-paragraph (5) must be sent to the person 
requesting it within 14 days or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter.

52.7 For the purposes of this paragraph a person is to be treated as a person affected by a decision 
of the authority under its scheme where the rights, duties or obligations of that person are 
affected by that decision and the person falls within sub-paragraph (8).

52.8 This sub-paragraph applies to—
(a) the applicant;
(b) in the case of a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling and is unable 
for the time being to act;

(i) a deputy appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as the case 
may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or
(ii) in Scotland, a judicial factor or any guardian acting or appointed under the Adults 
with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 who has power to apply or, as the case may be, 
receive benefit on the person’s behalf; or
(iii) an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may be, 
receive benefit, has been appointed by that person under the Powers of Attorney Act 
1971, the Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or 
otherwise,

14 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012
15 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 48

(c) a person appointed by the authority to act for a  person unable to act.

53.0 Time and manner of granting Council Tax Reduction16

53.1 Where a person is entitled to a reduction under this authority’s scheme in respect of his 
liability for the authority's council tax as it has effect in respect of a chargeable financial year 
(“the chargeable year”), the authority must discharge his entitlement;
(a) by reducing, so far as possible, the amount of his liability to which regulation 20(2) 

of the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992 refers; or
(b) where;

(i) such a reduction is not possible; or 
(ii) such a reduction would be insufficient to discharge the entitlement to a reduction 
under the authority’s scheme; or 
(iii) the person entitled to the reduction is jointly and severally liable for the council 
tax and the authority determines that such a reduction would be inappropriate, by 
making payment to him of the amount of reduction to which he is entitled, rounded 
where necessary to the nearest penny.

53.2 The authority must notify the person entitled to a reduction under this scheme of the amount 
of that reduction and how his entitlement is to be discharged in pursuance of paragraph (1).

53.3 In a case to which paragraph (1)(b) refers;
(a) if the amount of the council tax for which he remains liable in respect of the 

chargeable year, after any reduction to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) refers has been 
made, is insufficient to enable his entitlement to a reduction under the authority’s 
scheme in respect thereof to be discharged, upon the final instalment of that tax 
becoming due any outstanding reduction;
(i) must be paid to that person if he so requires; or
(ii) in any other case must (as the authority determines) either be repaid or credited 
against any subsequent liability of the person to make a payment in respect of the 
authority's council tax as it has effect for any subsequent year;

(b) if that person has ceased to be liable for the authority's council tax and has discharged 
the liability for that tax, the outstanding balance (if any) of the reduction under the 
authority’s scheme in respect thereof must be paid within 14 days or, if that is not 
reasonably practicable, as soon as practicable thereafter

(c) in any other case, the reduction under the authority’s scheme must be paid within 14 
days of the receipt of the application at the offices of the authority or, if that is not 
reasonably practicable, as soon as practicable thereafter.

53.4 For the purposes of this paragraph “instalment” means any instalment of the authority's 
council tax to which regulation 19 of the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) 
Regulations 1992 refers (council tax payments).

54.0 Persons to whom support is to be paid 17

54.1 Subject to paragraph (2), any payment of the amount of a reduction must be made to that 
person.

54.2 Where a person other than a person who is entitled to a reduction under this authority’s 
scheme made the application for the reduction and that first person is a person acting 
pursuant to an appointment or is treated as having been so appointed, the amount of the 
reduction may be paid to that person.

16 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012
17 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 49

55.0 Shortfall in support / reduction18

55.1 Where, on the revision of a decision allowing a reduction under the authority’s scheme to a 
person, it is determined that the amount allowed was less than the amount to which that person 
was entitled, the authority must either;
(a) make good any shortfall in reduction which is due to that person, by reducing so far as 

possible the next and any subsequent payments he is liable to make in respect of the 
council tax of the authority as it has effect for the chargeable financial year until that 
shortfall is made good; or

(b) where this is not possible or the person concerned so requests, pay the amount of 
any shortfall in reduction due to that person within 14 days of the revision of the 
decision being made or if that is not reasonable practicable, as soon as possible 
afterwards.

56.0 Payment on the death of the person entitled19

56.1 Where the person entitled to any reduction under this scheme has died and it is not possible 
to award the reduction which is due in the form of a reduction of the council tax for which 
he was liable, the authority must make payment of the amount of the reduction to his executor 
or administrator in accordance with regulation 58(4) of the Council Tax (Administration and 
Enforcement) Regulations 1992.

57.0 Offsetting

57.1 Where a person has been allowed or paid a sum of Council Tax Reduction under a decision which 
is subsequently revised or further revised, any sum allowed or paid in respect of a period covered 
by the subsequent decision shall be offset against arrears of entitlement under the subsequent 
decision except to the extent that the sum exceeds the arrears and shall be treated as properly 
awarded or paid on account of them.

58 .0 Payment where there is joint and several liability20

58.1 Where;
(a) a person is entitled to a reduction under the authority’s scheme in respect of his liability for 
the authority’s council tax as it has effect in respect of a chargeable financial year;
(b) the person entitled to the reduction is jointly and severally liable for the council tax; and
(c) the authority determines that discharging his entitlement by reducing the amount of his 
liability to which regulation 20(2) of the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) 
Regulations 1992 refers would be inappropriate,
it may make a payment to him of the amount of the reduction to which he is entitled, rounded 
where necessary to the nearest penny.

58.2 Subject to sub-paragraph (3) any payment made under sub-paragraph (1) must be made to the 
person who is entitled to the reduction.

Collection, holding and forwarding of information for Council Tax Reduction purposes

59.0 Use of information from and to the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) and Her 
Majesty’s Revenues and Customs (HMRC)

59.1 The authority will use information provided by the DWP and HMRC for the purposes of Council 
Tax Reduction, council tax liability, billing, administration and enforcement as outlined within 

18 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012
19 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012
20 Inserted by Schedule 8 of the Council Tax Reductions Scheme (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 50

Schedule 2 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 as amended by the Local Government 
Finance Act 2012 and the Social Security (Information-sharing in relation to Welfare Services 
etc.) (Amendment) Regulations 2013

59.2 Where required by the relevant department and where required by law, the authority will share 
information obtained for Council Tax Reduction with the DWP or HMRC as appropriate and in 
accordance with Data Protections requirements21.

60.0 Collection of information 

60.1 The authority may receive and obtain information and evidence relating to claims for Council 
Tax Reduction, the council may receive or obtain the information or evidence from–
(a) persons making claims for Council Tax Reduction; 
(b) other persons in connection with such claims; 
(c) other local authorities; or
(d) central government departments including the DWP and HMRC

60.2 The authority may verify relevant information supplied to, or obtained.

61.0 Recording and holding information

61.1 The authority may
(a) may make a record of such information; and
(b) may hold that information, whether as supplied or obtained or recorded, for the purpose 
of forwarding it to the person or authority for the time being administering Council Tax 
Reduction.

62.0 Forwarding of information

62.1 The authority may forward it to the person or authority for the time being administering claims 
to or awards of Council Tax Reduction to which the relevant information relates, being
(i) a local authority; 
(ii) a person providing services to a local authority; or
(iii) a person authorised to exercise any function of a local authority relating to Council Tax 
Reduction.

21 Data Retention and Investigatory Powers Act 2014 and Data Retention Regulations 2014



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 51

Revisions, Written Statements, Termination of Council Tax Reduction 

63.0 Persons affected by Decisions
63.1 A person is to be treated as a person affected by a relevant decision of the authority where that 

person is;
a. an applicant;
b. in the case of a person who is liable to make payments in respect of a dwelling and is unable 

for the time being to act
(i) a Deputy appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as the case may 
be, receive benefit or support on his behalf,
(ii) in Scotland, a tutor, curator, judicial factor or other guardian acting or appointed in terms 
of law administering that person’s estate, or 
(iii) an attorney with a general power or a power to receive benefit or support appointed by 
the person liable to make those payments under the Powers of Attorney Act 1971, the 
Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise;

c. a person appointed by the authority under this scheme;

64.0 Revisions of Decisions
64.1 Subject to the provisions in this scheme, a relevant decision (‘the original decision) may be 

revised or further revised by the authority, which made the decision where the person affected 
makes an application for a revision within;

(i) one month of the date of notification of the original decision; or
(ii) such extended time as the authority may allow.

64.2 The authority may revise or further revise that original decision at any time. Where further 
information is required from the person affected, the authority shall request such information and 
evidence as it feels is reasonable. Such information must be supplied within;

i) one month of the date of notification of the additional information; or
(ii) such extended time as the authority may allow

65.0 Written Statements
65.1 Subject to the provisions in the scheme, the authority may upon a written request issue a written 

statement to a person affected to further explain the decision of the authority in relation to Council 
Tax Reduction. The request must be received within one month of the date of the notification 
being issued by the authority.

66.0 Terminations
66.1 The authority may terminate support in whole or in part the Council Tax Reduction where it 

appears to the authority that an issue arises whether;
a. the conditions for entitlement to Council Tax Reduction are or were fulfilled; or
b. a decision as to an award of such a support should be revised or superseded.

66.2 The authority may terminate, in whole or in part the Council Tax Reduction where it appears to 
the authority that an issue arises whether;
a. the conditions for entitlement to Council Tax Reduction are or were fulfilled; or
b. a decision as to an award of such a support should be revised or superseded.
Where the person fails to provide information to the authority as requested in relation to any 
matter relating to their liability for Council Tax



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 52

Appeals against the authority’s decisions

67.0 Procedure by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the 
authority22

67.1 A person who is aggrieved by a decision of the authority, which affects;
(a) the person’s entitlement to a reduction under its scheme, or 
(b) the amount of any reduction to which that person is entitled,
may serve a written notice on the authority stating the matter by which, and the grounds on 
which, he is aggrieved.

67.2 The authority must
(a) consider the matter to which the notice relates; 
(b) notify the aggrieved person in writing;

(i) that the ground is not well founded, giving reasons for that belief; or 
(ii) that steps have been taken to deal with the grievance, stating the steps taken.

67.3 Where, following notification under sub-paragraph (2)(b)(i) or (ii), the person is still aggrieved, 
or if the authority fails to notify the person aggrieved in accordance with sub-paragraph (2)(b) 
within two months of the service of his notice, he may appeal to the valuation tribunal under 
section 16 of the 1992 Act23.

Procedure for applying for a discretionary reduction

68.0 Procedure for an application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of 
the 1992 Act24

68.1 An application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 Act may be 
made;

(a) in writing,
(b) by means of an electronic communication in accordance this scheme or
(c) where the authority has published a telephone number for the purpose of receiving 

such applications, by telephone.

68.2 Where;
(a) the authority has made a determination under section 13A(1)(c) in relation to a class 
of case in which liability is to be reduced; and 
(b) a person in that class would otherwise be entitled to a reduction under its scheme, 

that person’s application for a reduction under the authority’s scheme may also be 
treated as an application for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c).

69.0 Procedure for an application to the authority for an Exceptional Hardship Reduction 
under section 13A(1)(A) of the 1992 Act25

69.1 An application to the authority for an Exceptional Hardship Reduction under this scheme may 
be made;

(a) in writing,
(b) by means of an electronic communication in accordance this scheme or
(c) where the authority has published a telephone number for the purpose of receiving 

such applications, by telephone.

Electronic Communication

70.0 Interpretation
70.1 In this Part;

“information” includes an application, a certificate, notice or other evidence; and
“official computer system” means a computer system maintained by or on behalf of an 

22 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012
23 As amended by the Tribunal Procedure (Amendment No 3 ) Rules 2014
24 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012
25 Inserted by Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 53

authority for sending, receiving, processing or storing of any information.

71.0 Conditions for the use of electronic communication

71.1 The authority may use an electronic communication in connection with applications for, and 
awards of, reductions under its scheme.

71.2 A person other than the authority may use an electronic communication in connection with the 
matters referred to in sub-paragraph (1) if the conditions specified in sub-paragraphs (3) to (6) 
are satisfied.

71.3 The first condition is that the person is for the time being permitted to use an electronic 
communication by an authorisation given by means of a direction of the Chief Executive of the 

authority.

71.4 The second condition is that the person uses an approved method of;
(a) authenticating the identity of the sender of the communication;
(b) electronic communication;
(c) authenticating any application or notice delivered by means of an electronic 

communication; and
(d) subject to sub-paragraph (7), submitting to the authority any information.

71.5 The third condition is that any information sent by means of an electronic communication is in 
a form approved for the purposes.

71.6 The fourth condition is that the person maintains such records in written or electronic form as 
may be specified in a direction given by the Chief Executive of the authority.

71.7 Where the person uses any method other than the method approved of submitting any 
information, that information is to be treated as not having been submitted.

71.8 In this paragraph “approved” means approved by means of a direction given by the Chief 
Executive of the authority for the purposes of this section.

72.0 Use of intermediaries

72.1 The authority may use intermediaries in connection with;
(a) the delivery of any information by means of an electronic communication; and 
(b) the authentication or security of anything transmitted by such means,
and may require other persons to use intermediaries in connection with those matters.

73.0 Effect of delivering information by means of electronic communication

73.1 Any information which is delivered by means of an electronic communication is to be treated 
as having been delivered in the manner or form required by any provision of an authority’s 
scheme on the day the conditions imposed;
(a) by this section; and
(b) by or under an enactment,
are satisfied.

73.2 The authority may determine that any information is to be treated as delivered on a different 
day (whether earlier or later) from the day provided for in sub-paragraph (1).

73.3 Information may not be taken to have been delivered to an official computer system by means 
of an electronic communication unless it is accepted by the system to which it is delivered.

74.0 Proof of identity of sender or recipient of information



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 54

74.1  If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the identity of—
(a) the sender of any information delivered by means of an electronic communication to an 
official computer system; or
(b) the recipient of any such information delivered by means of an electronic communication 
from an official computer system,
the sender or recipient, as the case may be, is to be presumed to be the person whose name 

is recorded as such on that official computer system.

75.0 Proof of delivery of information

75.1 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use of an electronic 
communication has resulted in the delivery of any information this is presumed to 

have been the case where;
(a) any such information has been delivered to the relevant authority, if the delivery of that 
information has been recorded on an official computer system; or
(b) any such information has been delivered by the relevant authority, if the delivery of that 
information has been recorded on an official computer system.

75.2 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use of an electronic 
communication has resulted in the delivery of any such information, this is presumed not to be 
the case, if that information delivered to the relevant authority has not been recorded on an 
official computer system.

75.3 If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, when any such 
information sent by means of an electronic communication has been received, the time 

and date of receipt is presumed to be that recorded on an official computer system.

76.0 Proof of content of information

76.1  If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the content of any 
information sent by means of an electronic communication, the content is presumed to be that 
recorded on an official computer system.



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 55

Counter Fraud and Compliance

77.0 Counter Fraud and compliance

77.1 In order to protect the finances of the authority and also in the interests of all council taxpayers, 
the authority will undertake such actions as allowed by law to;

a. Prevent and detect fraudulent claims and actions in respect of Council Tax Reduction;
b. Carry out investigations fairly, professionally and in accordance with the law; and
c. Ensure that sanctions are applied in appropriate cases

77.2 The authority believes that it is important to minimise the opportunity for fraud and;
a. will implement rigorous procedures for the verification of claims for Council Tax 

Reduction;
b. will employ sufficient Officers to fulfil the authority’s commitment to combat fraud;
c. will actively tackle fraud where it occurs in accordance with this scheme;
d. will co-operate with the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP), Her Majesty’s 

Revenues and Customs and take part in joint working including prosecutions; and
e. will in all cases seek to recover all outstanding council tax.

77.3 The authority shall put into place such administrative policies, procedures and processes as are 
necessary to ensure that the actions outlined within paragraph 77.1 and 77.2 can be carried out 
successfully. In particular the authority shall undertake actions provided by the Council Tax 
Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) Regulations 2013.



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 56

Schedule 1

Calculation of the amount of Council Tax Reduction in accordance with the Discount Scheme.

1 The authority’s Council Tax Reduction scheme from 2019/20 shall be calculated on the basis 
of the following Banded Discount Scheme:

Weekly Income levels

Band Discount 
%

Single person Couple with no 
children or 

young person

Couple or Lone 
Parent with one 

child / young 
person 

Couple or Lone 
Parent with two or 

more children / 
young persons

Relevant benefit (Passported)
1 80 £0 - £79.99 £0 - £119.99 £0 - £179.99 £0 - £239.99
2 60 £80 - £129.99 £120- £169.99 £180 - £229.99 £240 - £299.99
3 40 £130 - £179.99 £170 - £219.99 £230 - £279.99 £300 - £349.99
4 20 £180 - £259.99 £220 - £299.99 £280 - £379.99 £350 - £449.99
5 0 £260+ £300+ £380+ £450+

2 The amount of discount to be granted is to be based on the following factors:

a. The maximum Council Tax Reduction as defined within this scheme;
b. The Council Tax family as defined within this scheme
c. The income of the applicant as defined within this scheme;
d. The capital of the applicant as defined within this scheme.

4 For the sake of clarity all incomes shown within the table above are weekly in accordance with 
the scheme requirements and definitions.

5 Discount bands vary depending on both weekly income and the household (family as defined 
within this scheme). For the sake of clarity, It should be noted that in any application for 
reduction is limited to a maximum of two dependant children or young persons. 

6 Any applicant who capital is greater than £6,000 shall not be entitled to any Council Tax 
Reductions whatsoever.

7. The authority may increase the level of incomes within the grid specified in paragraph 1 on an 
annual basis by the appropriate level of inflation measured by the Consumer Price Index (CPI) 
at 1st October preceding the effective financial year, rounded to the nearest pound.

8. Where an applicant or partner is in receipt of  a relevant benefit namely Income Support, 
Income Related Employment and Support Allowance or Income Based Jobseeker’s Allowance, 
discount will be award at Band 1 level (80%)



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 57

Schedule 2

Sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings

1. Any amount paid by way of tax on income, which is to be taken into account under paragraph 24 
(calculation of income other than earnings).

2. Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance the whole of his income.

3. Any disability living allowance or personal independence payment or AFIP
4. Any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 

(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a supplement by virtue of 
any other scheme or order) or under article 25A of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 
1983or any payment intended to compensate for the non-payment of such a supplement.

5. Any attendance allowance. 
6. Any payment to the applicant as holder of the Victoria Cross or of the George Cross or any 

analogous payment. 

7. 100% of any of the following, namely
(a) a war disablement pension (except insofar as such a pension falls to be disregarded under 

paragraph 9 or 10);
(b) a war widow’s pension or war widower’s pension;
(c) a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under any 

power of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision about 
pensions for or in respect of persons who have been disabled or have died in consequence 
of service as members of the armed forces of the Crown;

(d) a guaranteed income payment; 
(e) a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment as is 

mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs;
(f) a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is analogous 

to any of the pensions or payments mentioned in sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) above;
(g) pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special provision made 

by the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or of the Republic of 
Austria.

8. (1) Any payment made to the applicant in respect of a person who is a member of his family–
(a)pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and Children 

Act 2002 or in accordance or with a scheme approved by the Scottish 
Ministers under section 51A of the Adoption (Scotland) Act 1978(b) 
(schemes for payments of allowances to adopters); or in accordance with an 
Adoption Allowance Scheme made under section 71 of the Adoption and 
Children (Scotland) Act 2007 (Adoption Allowances Schemes)

(b)not used
(ba) which is a payment made by a local authority in pursuance of section 15(1) 

of, and paragraph 15 of Schedule 1 to, the Children Act 1989 (local authority 
contribution to a child’s maintenance where the child is living with a person 
as a result of a residence order) or in Scotland section 50 of the Children Act 
1975 (payments towards maintenance of children);

(c)which is a payment made by an authority, as defined in Article 2 of the Children 
Order, in pursuance of Article 15 of, and paragraph 17 of Schedule 1 to, that 
Order (contribution by an authority to child’s maintenance);

(d)in accordance with regulations made pursuant to section 14F of the Children Act 
1989(c) (special guardianship support services);

(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) applies, made
to the applicant pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and 
Children Act 2002.

9. Any payment made to the applicant with whom a person is accommodated by virtue of 
arrangements made
(a) by a local authority under–



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 58

(i) section 23(2)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision of accommodation and 
maintenance for a child whom they are looking after),
(ii) section 26 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (manner of provision of 
accommodation to child looked after by local authority), or
(iii) regulations 33 or 51 of the Looked After Children (Scotland)Regulations 2009 
(fostering and kinship care allowances and fostering allowances); or

(b) by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision of 
accommodation by voluntary organisations).

10. Any payment made to the applicant or his partner for a person (‘the person concerned’), who is 
not normally a member of the applicant’s household but is temporarily in his care, by–
(a) a health authority;
(b) a local authority but excluding payments of housing benefit made in respect of the person 

concerned;
(c) a voluntary organisation; 
(d) the person concerned pursuant to section 26(3A) of the National Assistance Act 1948;
(e) a primary care trust established under section 16A of the National Health Service Act 1977 

or established by an order made under section 18(2)(c) of the National Health Service Act 
2006; or

(f) a Local Health Board established under section 16BA of the National Health Service Act 
1977 or established by an order made under section 11 of the National Health Service 
(Wales) Act 2006

11. Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C or 24A of the 
Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968

or section 22, 29 or 30 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (provision of services for 
children and their families and advice and assistance to certain children).

12. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by a local authority 
in accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989(e) or section 29 of the Children 
(Scotland) Act 1995(local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of children and powers to grant 
financial assistance to persons in, or formerly in, their care) to a person (‘A’) which A passes on 
to the applicant.
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A;

(a) was formerly in the applicant’s care, and 
(b)is aged 18 or over, and 
(c)continues to live with the applicant.

13. Any payment of income which, by virtue of paragraph 30 (income treated as capital) is to be 
treated as capital.

14. Where a payment of income is made in a currency other than sterling, any banking charge or 
commission payable in converting that payment into sterling.

15. (1) Any payment made under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET 
Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the Scottish Infected Blood Support Scheme, 
an approved blood scheme, the London Emergencies Trust, the We Love Manchester Emergency 
Fund or the Independent Living Fund (2006).
(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia 
or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made under or by any of the 
Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of–

(a) that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that person 
has died was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership 
that has not been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not been dissolved at the 
time of that person’s death;
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant’s family; or
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the applicant’s family.



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 59

(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering 
or who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person provided that the partner 
or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were not, estranged or 
divorced or, where the partner or former partner and that person have formed a civil partnership, 
the civil partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, had not been dissolved 
at the time of the death, which derives from a payment made under or by any of the Trusts to 
which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of;

(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person;
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant’s family; or
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the applicant’s family.

(4) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, 
which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers, 
where;

(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or 
divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor 
any child or young person who is or had been a member of that person’s family; and
(b) the payment is made either;

(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent, or 
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child, a young person or a 

student who has not completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, to 
his guardian,

but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that
person’s death.
(5) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a 
qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-
paragraph (1) refers, where;

(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former partner 
from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil 
partnership that has not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was or had 
been a member of his family; and 
(b) the payment is made either

(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent, or 
(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student 
who had not completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, to 
his guardian,

but only for a period of two years from the relevant date.

(6) In the case of a person to whom or for whose support payment referred to in this paragraph is 
made, any income which derives from any payment of income or capital made under or deriving 
from any of the Trusts.
(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts shall be construed 
as including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the 
Caxton Foundation, the Scottish Infected Blood Support Scheme, an approved blood scheme, the 
London Emergencies Trust, the We Love Manchester Emergency Fund and the London 
Bombings Relief Charitable Fund.

16. Any housing benefit.

17. Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 or section 80 of the 
1992 Act (reduction of liability for council tax). 

18. Any guardian’s allowance.

19. Any supplementary pension under article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (pensions to surviving spouses and 
surviving civil partners) and any analogous payment made by the Secretary of State for Defence 
to any person who is not a person entitled under that Order.



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 60

20. Any Council Tax Reduction or council tax benefit to which the applicant is entitled.

21. Any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the Discretionary 
Financial Assistance Regulations 2001 as amended by the Welfare Reform Act 2012 
(Consequential Amendments) Regulations 2013.

22. Any payment of child benefit.
23. Any payment of child maintenance made or derived from a liable relative where the child or 

young person in respect of whom the payment is made is a member of the applicant’s family, 
except where the person making the payment is the applicant or the applicant’s partner.
(2) In sub-paragraph (1)—
“child maintenance” means any payment towards the maintenance of a child or young person, 
including any payment made voluntarily and payments made under—
(a) the Child Support Act 1991;
(b) the Child Support (Northern Ireland) Order 1991;
(c) a court order;
(d) a consent order;
(e) a maintenance agreement registered for execution in the Books of Council and Session or 
the sheriff court books;
“liable relative” means a person listed in regulation 54 (interpretation) of the Income Support 
(General) Regulations 1987, other than a person falling within sub-paragraph (d) of that 
definition.

24. Any Carer’s Allowance

25. Any support component of Employment and Support Allowance

26 Any Bereavement Support payments made under the Bereavement Support Payment Regulations 
2017.

27. Any payments disregarded for Housing Benefits under the Social Security (Emergency Funds) 
Amendment) Regulations 2017.

28. Where the applicant would have been entitled to any disability premium, enhanced disability 
premium or severe disability premium under any previous scheme, the amount equivalent to the 
value of the premium (as determined under the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006) shall be 
disregarded from the applicant’s total income.



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 61

Schedule 3

Capital to be disregarded

1. The dwelling together with any garage, garden and outbuildings, normally occupied by the 
applicant as his home including any premises not so occupied which it is impracticable or 
unreasonable to sell separately.

2. (1) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant and for the purposes of 
which he is engaged as a self-employed earner, or if he has ceased to be so engaged, for such 
period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of any such asset.
(2) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant where–

(a) he is not engaged as a self-employed earner in that business by reason of some disease 
or bodily or mental disablement; but
(b) he intends to become engaged or, as the case may be, re-engaged as a self- 
employed earner in that business as soon as he recovers or is able to become engaged or 
re-engaged in that business;

for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which the claim for Council Tax Reduction is 
made, or is treated as made, or, if it is unreasonable to expect him to become engaged or 
re-engaged in that business within that period, for such longer period as is reasonable in 
the circumstances to enable him to become so engaged or re-engaged.

(3) In the case of a person who is receiving assistance under the self-employment route, the assets 
acquired by that person for the purpose of establishing or carrying on the commercial activity in 
respect of which such assistance is being received.

(3) In the case of a person who has ceased carrying on the commercial activity in respect of 
which assistance was received as specified in sub-paragraph (3), the assets relating to that 
activity for such period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of 
any such asset.

3. Any personal possessions except those which have been acquired by the applicant with the 
intention of reducing his capital in order to secure entitlement to Council Tax Reduction or to 
increase the amount of that support.

4. The value of the right to receive any income under an annuity or the surrender value (if any) of 
such an annuity.

5. The surrender value of any policy of life insurance. 

6. Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C or 24A of the 
Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 or 
sections 22, 29 or 30 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (provision of services for children and 
their families and advice and assistance to certain children).

7. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by a local authority 
in accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989 or section 29 of the Children (Scotland) 
Act 1995 (local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of children and powers to grant financial 
assistance to persons in, or formerly in, their care) to a person (‘A’) which A passes on to the 
applicant.

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A;
(a) was formerly in the applicant’s care, and 
(b) is aged 18 or over, and 
(c) continues to live with the applicant.

8. (1) Any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the 
Independent Living Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the Scottish Infected 



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 62

Blood Support Scheme, an approved blood scheme, the London Emergencies Trust, the We Love 
Manchester Emergency Fund or the Charitable Fund.

(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia 
or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made under or by any of the 
Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of–

(a) that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that person 
has died was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership 
that has not been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not been dissolved at the 
time of that person’s death;
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant’s family; or
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the applicant’s family.

(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering or 
who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person provided that the partner or 
former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were not, estranged or 
divorced or, where the partner or former partner and that person have formed a civil partnership, 
the civil partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, had not been dissolved 
at the time of the death, which derives from a payment made under or by any of the Trusts to 
which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of–

(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person;
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant’s family; or
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the applicant’s family.

(4) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, 
which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers, 
where–

(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or 
divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, 
nor any child or young person who is or had been a member of that person’s family; and
(b) the payment is made either;

 (i) to that person’s parent or step-parent; or
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child ,a young person or a student 
who has not completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, to his 
guardian,
but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that 
person’s death.

(5) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a 
qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or any of the Trusts to which sub-
paragraph (1) refers, where

(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former partner 
from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he had formed a civil 
partnership that had not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was or had 
been a member of his family; and
(b) the payment is made either;

(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent; or 
(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student 
who had not completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, to 
his guardian,

but only for a period of two years from the relevant date.

(6) In the case of a person to whom or for whose support payment referred to in this paragraph is 
made, any capital resource which derives from any payment of income or capital made under or 
deriving from any of the Trusts.



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 63

(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts shall be construed 
as including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited the Skipton Fund , the 
Caxton Foundation, the Scottish Infected Blood Support Scheme, an approved blood scheme, the 
London Emergencies Trust, the We Love Manchester Emergency Fund and the London 
Bombings Relief Charitable Fund.

9. The value of the right to receive an occupational or personal pension.

10. The value of any funds held under a personal pension scheme 

11. Any payment in kind made by a charity or under or by the Trusts, the Fund, MFET Limited, the 
Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the Scottish Infected Blood Support Scheme, an approved 
blood scheme, the London Emergencies Trust, the We Love Manchester Emergency Fund or the 
Independent Living Fund (2006).

12. Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 or, as the case may 
be, section 80 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (reduction of liability for council tax), 
but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of the payment.

13. Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of State or any 
other person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944 to assist disabled persons to 
obtain or retain employment despite their disability.

14. Any payment made by a local authority under section 3 of the Disabled Persons 
(Employment) Act 1958 to homeworkers assisted under the Blind Homeworkers’ Scheme.

15. Any sum of capital administered on behalf of a person in accordance with an order made under 
section 13 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995, or under Rule 36.14 of the Ordinary Cause Rules 
1993 or under Rule 128 of those Rules, where such sum derives from
(a) award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or
(b) compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned is under the 

age of 18.

16. Any payment to the applicant as holder of the Victoria Cross or George Cross. 

17. Where an ex-gratia payment of £10,000 has been made by the Secretary of State on or after 1st 
February 2001 in consequence of the imprisonment or interment of–

(a) the applicant;
(b) the applicant’s partner; 
(c) the applicant’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner; or 
(d) the applicant’s partner’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner,

by the Japanese during the Second World War, £10,000.

18. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amount of any trust payment made to an applicant or a 
member of an applicant’s family who is

(a) a diagnosed person; 
(b) the diagnosed person’s partner or the person who was the diagnosed person’s 

partner at the date of the diagnosed person’s death;
(c) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person’s 

parents or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; 
or

(d) a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) or a person who 
was a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) at the date 
of the diagnosed person’s death.

(2) Where a trust payment is made to;
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (b), that sub-paragraph shall 
apply for the period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made 
and ending on the date on which that person dies;
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and 



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 64

ending two years after that date;
(c) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(d), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and 
ending–
(i) two years after that date; or 
(ii) on the day before the day on which that person–
(aa) ceases receiving full-time education; or 
(bb) attains the age of 20,
whichever is the latest.

(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), the amount of any payment by a person to whom a trust 
payment has been made or of any payment out of the estate of a person to whom a trust 
payment has been made, which is made to an applicant or a member of an applicant’s 
family who is–

(a) the diagnosed person’s partner or the person who was the diagnosed 
person’s partner at the date of the diagnosed person’s death;
(b) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed 
person’s parents or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed 
person’s death; or
(c) a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) or a 
person who was a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his 
partner) at the date of the diagnosed person’s death,
but only to the extent that such payments do not exceed the total amount of any 
trust payments made to that person.

(4) Where a payment as referred to in sub-paragraph (3) is made to–
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(a), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending 
on the date on which that person dies;
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(b), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending 
two years after that date; or
(c) person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(c), that sub-paragraph shall apply 
for the period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending–

(i) two years after that date; or 
(ii) on the day before the day on which that person

(aa) ceases receiving full-time education; or 
(bb) attains the age of 20,

whichever is the latest. 
(5) In this paragraph, a reference to a person–

(a)being the diagnosed person’s partner; 
(b)being a member of a diagnosed person’s family; 
(c)acting in place of the diagnosed person’s parents,

at the date of the diagnosed person’s death shall include a person who would have been 
such a person or a person who would have been so acting, but for the diagnosed person 
residing in a care home, an Abbeyfield Home or an independent hospital on that date.

(6) In this paragraph– ‘diagnosed person’ means a person who has been diagnosed as 
suffering from, or who, after his death, has been diagnosed as having suffered from, 
variant Creutzfeld- Jakob disease; 
‘relevant trust’ means a trust established out of funds provided by the Secretary of State 
in respect of persons who suffered, or who are suffering, from variant Creutzfeld-Jakob 
disease for the benefit of persons eligible for payments in accordance with its provisions;
‘trust payment’ means a payment under a relevant trust.

19. The amount of any payment, other than a war pension, to compensate for the fact that the 
applicant, the applicant’s partner, the applicant’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner or the 
applicant’s partner’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner

(a) was a slave labourer or a forced labourer; 
(b) had suffered property loss or had suffered personal injury; or 
(c) was a parent of a child who had died,

during the Second World War.



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 65

20. Any payment made under regulations made under section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 
2001 or under section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968, or under section 12A to 12D 
of the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for health care).

21. Any payment made to the applicant pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the 
Adoption and Children Act 2002.

22. Any payment made to the applicant in accordance with regulations made pursuant to section 14F 
of the Children Act 1989 (special guardianship support services).

23. Any payments to a applicant made under section 49 of the Children and Families Act 2014 
(personal budgets and direct payments)

24 Any Bereavement Support payments made under the Bereavement Support Payment Regulations 
2017.

25. Any payments disregarded for Housing Benefits under the Social Security (Emergency Funds) 
Amendment) Regulations 2017

26. Any premises acquired for occupation by the applicant which he intends to occupy as his home 
within 26 weeks of the date of acquisition or such longer period as is 
reasonable in the circumstances to enable the applicant to obtain possession and commence 
occupation of the premises

27. Any sum directly attributable to the proceeds of sale of any premises formerly occupied by the 
applicant as his home which is to be used for the purchase of other premises intended for such 
occupation within 26 weeks of the date of sale or such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable the applicant to complete the purchase.

28. Any premises occupied in whole or in part—
(a) by a partner or relative of a single applicant or any member of the family as his home where 
that person has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or is

incapacitated;
(b) by the former partner of the applicant as his home; but this provision does not apply where 
the former partner is a person from whom the applicant is estranged or divorced or with whom 
he had formed a civil partnership that has been dissolved.

29. Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance, the whole of his capital. Or where the applicant is a 
member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the Jobseekers Act 1995 and his partner is on 
income-based jobseeker’s allowance, the whole of the applicant’s capital

30. Any sum—
(a) paid to the applicant in consequence of damage to, or loss of the home or any personal possession 
and intended for its repair or replacement; or
(b) acquired by the applicant (whether as a loan or otherwise) on the express condition that it is to be 

used for effecting essential repairs or improvement to the home, which is to be used for the 
intended purpose, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which it was so paid or acquired or 
such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to effect the repairs, replacement or 
improvement

31. Any sum—
(a) deposited with a housing association as defined in section 1(1) of the Housing
Associations Act 1985 as a condition of occupying the home;
(b) which was so deposited and which is to be used for the purchase of another home, for the period of 
26 weeks or such longer period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to enable the applicant to 
complete the purchase.



Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019/20
Appendix C

Dartford Borough Council Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019 66

32. Where the funds of a trust are derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal 
injury to the applicant or applicant’s partner, the value of the trust fund and the value of the right to 
receive any payment under that trust

33. (1) Any payment made to the applicant or the applicant’s partner in consequence of any 
personal injury to the applicant or, as the case may be, the applicant’s partner.
(2) But sub-paragraph (1)—
(a) applies only for the period of 52 weeks beginning with the day on which the applicant first receives 
any payment in consequence of that personal injury;
(b) does not apply to any subsequent payment made to him in consequence of that injury (whether it is 
made by the same person or another);
(c) ceases to apply to the payment or any part of the payment from the day on which the applicant no 
longer possesses it;
(d) does not apply to any payment from a trust where the funds of the trust are derived from a payment 
made in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant.
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(c), the circumstances in which an applicant no longer 
possesses a payment or a part of it include where the applicant has used a payment or part of it to 
purchase an asset.
(4) References in sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) to the applicant are to be construed as including references 
to his partner (where applicable).

34. Any payment made under, or by, a trust which is approved by the Secretary of
State and which is established for the purpose of giving relief and assistance to a disabled person whose 
disabilities were caused by their mother having taken a preparation containing the drug known as 
Thalidomide during her pregnancy

35. (1) Where an applicant has ceased to occupy what was formerly the dwelling occupied as the 
home following his estrangement or divorce from, or dissolution of his civil partnership with, his former 
partner, that dwelling for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he ceased to occupy that dwelling 
or, where the dwelling is occupied as the home by the former partner who is a lone parent, for so long 
as it is so occupied.
(2) In this paragraph “dwelling” includes any garage, garden and outbuildings, which were formerly 
occupied by the applicant as his home and any premises not so occupied which it is impracticable or 
unreasonable to sell separately, in particular, in Scotland, any croft land on which the dwelling is 
situated.

36. Any premises where the applicant is taking reasonable steps to dispose of those premises, for 
a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first took such steps, or such longer period as is 
reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to dispose of those premises.

37. Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home, and in respect of which he is 
taking steps to obtain possession and has sought legal advice, or has commenced legal proceedings, with 
a view to obtaining possession, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first sought such 
advice or first commenced such proceedings whichever is the earlier, or such longer period as is 
reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to obtain possession and
commence occupation of those premises

38 Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home to which essential repairs or 
alterations are required in order to render them fit for such occupation, for a period of 26 weeks from 
the date on which the applicant first takes steps to effect those repairs or alterations, or such longer 
period as is necessary to enable those repairs or alterations to be carried out



CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING POINTS ADVICE NOTE

1. Summary

1.1 On 8 November 2018 the Development Control Board considered a Development 
Management Advice Note on Electric Vehicle Charging Points.  The report is 
included as Appendix A and the advice note is included as Appendix C.

1.2 Development Control Board resolved to advise Cabinet of its support for the 
Development Management Advice Note on Electric Vehicle Charging Points and 
its treatment as a material consideration for development management purposes 
when considering any relevant planning applications, subject to the inclusion of 
large householder extensions within the advice note.  It was also agreed that 
Cabinet be asked to request the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation to treat the 
Development Management Advice Note as a material consideration for 
development management purposes when considering any relevant planning 
applications within Dartford Borough.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the Advice Note at Appendix C to the report, be amended to include the 
text set out in paragraph 3.2 of the report.

2.2 That the Development Management Advice Note on Electric Vehicle Charging 
Points at Appendix C to the report (as amended) be treated as a material 
consideration for development management purposes when considering any 
relevant planning applications.

2.3 That the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation be requested to treat the 
Development Management Advice Note (as amended) as a material 
consideration for development management purposes when considering any 
relevant planning applications within Dartford Borough.

3. Background and Proposed Development Management Advice Note

3.1. At its meeting on 8 November 2018, the Development Control Board 
considered the introduction of a Development Management Advice Note 
on Electric Vehicle Charging Points (Minute No 64).  The report is 
included at Appendix A and the proposed Advice Note is included at 
Appendix C.  Appendix B shows the four Air Quality Management Areas 
within Dartford Borough.

3.2. The Development Control Board were supportive of the proposed Advice 
Note though they considered that the requirement for electric vehicle 
charging points should be extended to householders submitting 
applications for large extensions.  This goes beyond the policy contained 
in the adopted Vehicle Parking Standards SPD which has been subject 
to formal consultation and adoption procedures.  However, it is 
recommended that the following new paragraph is included before 



CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

paragraph 3.2.3 of the Advice Note and the remaining paragraphs 
amended accordingly:

“Householders with garages and / or driveway parking who 
submit applications for large extensions will be encouraged to 
provide an electric vehicle charging point prior to the occupation 
of the extension.”

3.3. Subject to the inclusion of large householder extensions within the 
Advice Note, the Development Control Board agreed that the 
Development Management Advice Note on Electric Vehicle Charging 
Points at Appendix C should be treated as a material consideration for 
development management purposes when considering any relevant 
planning applications.  The Board also agreed that Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation be requested to treat the Development 
Management Advice Note as a material consideration for development 
management purposes when considering any relevant planning 
applications within Dartford Borough.

3.4. It is recommended that Cabinet endorses the recommendations of the 
Development Control Board set out in paragraph 3.3 above with the 
amended text to the Advice Note as set out in paragraph 3.2 above.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 The Council’s Corporate Plan recognises the need to improve air 
quality and the following strategic objective is relevant:

ET 1. Reduce carbon emissions and improve air quality in the 
Borough

The following key actions are included to meet this objective:
 Work with developers to agree standards of design, layout and 

energy efficiency on proposed developments
 Continue to monitor air quality in the Borough in accordance with 

national requirements and seek to identify and implement 
measures within our control which have a positive impact upon 
air quality and/or reduce the potential health impact of pollution 
incidents

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications None.

Legal Implications None.

Staffing Implications None.

Administrative 
Implications

None.

Risk Assessment None.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable



CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Report to Development Control Board on 8 November 
2018
Appendix B – Dartford’s Air Quality Management Areas
Appendix C – Electric Vehicle Charging Points – Guidance Note for 
Developers

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

 Land-use Planning & Development 
Control: Planning for Air Quality 2017

 National Planning Policy Framework 
2018

 Air Quality Plan for Nitrogen Dioxide 
in the UK 2017

 The Road to Zero: Next steps towards 
cleaner road transport and delivering 
our Industrial Strategy

 Dartford Parking Standards 
Supplementary Planning Document 
2012

 Kent and Medway Air Quality 
Planning Guidance (Mitigation Option 
A)

 Report to Kent County Council 
Environment and Transport Cabinet 
Committee on Kent Environment 
Strategy Progress, Energy and Air 
Quality – 31 January 2018

Andrea Wright
(01322) 343060

Planning Policy, 
Regeneration 

N/A





Development Control Board
8 November 2018

Appendix A
ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING POINTS ADVICE NOTE

1. Summary

1.1 Dartford Borough has a number of Air Quality Management Areas that are 
affected by pollution from road traffic.  Air pollution affects people’s health and 
can cause premature deaths.  The government’s policy is to move towards 
vehicles with lower emissions, including electric vehicles, with an end to the sale 
of new conventional diesel cars and vans by 2040.  National planning policies 
support the provision of electric vehicle charging infrastructure and the Council’s 
Parking Standards SPD includes requirements for the provision of electric vehicle 
charging points in new development.

1.2 Given the increasing importance of electric vehicle charging infrastructure, it is 
considered helpful to publish a development management advice note to set out 
how the requirements for electric vehicle charging points in the Parking Standards 
SPD will be applied in the Borough.  This includes technical information on the 
different types of charging systems currently available and which ones are most 
appropriate for different types of development.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the Development Management Advice Note on Electric Vehicle Charging 
Points at Appendix B to the report, be treated as a material consideration for 
development management purposes when considering any relevant planning 
applications.

2.2 That the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation be requested to treat the 
Development Management Advice Note as a material consideration for 
development management purposes when considering any relevant planning 
applications within Dartford Borough.

3. Background – Air Pollution and Health Impacts

3.1. Dartford Borough has four Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) – 
A282 Tunnel Approach Road; Dartford Town Centre and Approach 
Roads; London Road; and Bean Interchange.  These are shown in the 
map at Appendix A to the report.  These are designated as they exceed 
national air quality objectives.  In Dartford, all four AQMAs exceed the 
objectives for nitrogen dioxide (NO2) levels.  The A282 and London Road 
AQMAs also exceed the objectives for particulate levels (PM10).  The 
major source of these pollutants within the AQMAs is road traffic.

3.2. Air pollution affects people’s health and can cause premature deaths.  
Nitrogen dioxide is attributed to human health conditions such as 
exacerbating asthma, bronchial symptoms, lung inflammation and 
reduced lung function (Land-use Planning & Development Control: 
Planning for Air Quality 2017).



Development Control Board
8 November 2018

3.3. Clearly, air pollution is one of the key issues facing Dartford Borough 
and measures to address this should be considered as a priority.  As set 
out in the section below, the government’s policy is to move towards 
vehicles with lower emissions.  This includes zero emission vehicles that 
have no greenhouse gas or air pollutant tailpipe emissions, e.g. electric 
vehicles.

4. National Policy

4.1 National planning policy states that local parking policies should take into 
account “the need to ensure an adequate provision of spaces for 
charging plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles” (paragraph 105 
of the NPPF).  It requires applications for development to “be designed 
to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles in 
safe, accessible and convenient locations” (paragraph 110 of the NPPF).  
It also requires planning decisions to “sustain and contribute towards 
compliance with relevant limit values or national objectives for pollution, 
taking into account the presence of Air Quality Management Areas” and 
the need to identify “opportunities to improve air quality or mitigate 
impacts” (paragraph 181 of the NPPF).

4.2 The Government’s Air Quality Plan for Nitrogen Dioxide in the UK 2017 
recognises the importance of tackling the unacceptable levels of air 
pollution which affect some parts of the country.  It sets out the 
government’s intention to end the sale of new conventional petrol and 
diesel cars and vans by 2040, and for almost every car and van on the 
road to be a zero emission vehicle by 2050.

4.3 Further to the Air Quality Plan, the government produced “The Road to 
Zero: Next steps towards cleaner road transport and delivering our 
Industrial Strategy 2018.”  It sets out a number of policies to enable a 
comprehensive electric vehicle infrastructure network to be provided in 
the UK including:
 new street lighting columns to include charging points, where 

appropriately located, in areas with current on-street parking 
provision

 consulting on amending the Building Regulations to require relevant 
charging provision in new non-residential buildings

Whilst it wishes to ensure that local planning policies incorporate 
facilities for charging electric vehicles via the National Planning Policy 
Framework, the government states that it will consider how to best 
ensure all types of residential property owners are able to access a 
chargepoint for their electric vehicle.  They plan to consult on introducing 
a requirement for chargepoint infrastructure for new dwellings in 
England, where appropriate.

4.4 Clearly, electric vehicles are going to become more prevalent in the 
future and the government is planning for the infrastructure to 
accommodate these.  However, this will take time.  The scale of 
development currently taking place in Dartford Borough and the air 



Development Control Board
8 November 2018

pollution occurring in parts of the area mean that the Council should 
maximise the opportunities to ensure that appropriate electric vehicle 
charging infrastructure is put in place as part of new development now.

5. Local Policy

5.1 The Council already recognises the importance of providing electric 
vehicle charging points and requirements for the provision of these is set 
out in the Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), 
which was adopted in July 2012.  This states that residential dwellings 
with on-plot parking should provide electrical charging points or, where 
this is unviable, to enable provision to be made as an optional extra or 
at a later date.  For residential dwellings which do not have parking within 
their curtilage, it requires consideration to be given to providing charging 
points on-street or within communal parking areas, including designing 
the development to minimise the cost and disturbance of retrofitting 
charging points at a later date.  For industrial/warehousing, retail and 
leisure developments, the SPD requires development to be designed to 
enable the provision of charging points from the outset or to enable retro-
fitting at a later date.

5.2 The Kent and Medway Air Quality Partnership have produced Air Quality 
Planning Guidance 2015 to provide clarity and consistency of approach 
for developers and local planning authorities in response to national 
planning policy.  Mitigation option A applies to all developments whereas 
mitigation option B applies to all major developments and all 
developments within or close to an AQMA.  Given that all developments 
within Dartford Borough could have an impact on AQMAs (by reason of 
increasing traffic on the A282 Tunnel Approach Road and Dartford Town 
Centre and Approach Roads, for example), it is considered that 
mitigation option A should apply.  This sets out the following mitigation 
for developments:
Residential: 1 electric vehicle charging point* per dwelling with 

dedicated parking or 1 charging point per 10 spaces 
(unallocated parking)

Commercial/ 
Retail/ 
Industrial:

10% of parking spaces to be provided with electric 
vehicle charge points* which may be phased with 5% 
initial provision and the remainder at an agreed 
trigger level

* This shall be the best technology available at the time of planning approval

5.3 In terms of wider actions to address the impacts of emissions on air 
quality, members may wish to note that Kent County Council is in the 
process of developing an Energy and Low Emissions Strategy and 
Action Plan as part of the Kent Environment Strategy.  This will identify 
priorities for targeted partnership action across the county with the aim 
of improving health outcomes by reducing air pollutants.  A draft Strategy 
is currently being developed and will be subject to public consultation in 
due course.



Development Control Board
8 November 2018

6. Proposed Development Management Advice Note

6.1. Given the increasing importance of electric vehicle charging 
infrastructure, it is considered helpful to publish further advice for 
developers to set out how the requirements for electric vehicle charging 
points in the Parking Standards SPD will be applied to relevant types of 
development in the Borough.  A Development Management Advice Note 
on Electric Vehicle Charging Points is included as Appendix B.  It is 
recommended that the Development Control Board endorses this advice 
note as a material consideration for development management 
purposes.

6.2. The advice note sets out some background, the planning policy context 
and lists the minimum requirements for different types of development.  
For example, it requires all dwellings to be provided with electric vehicle 
charging points ready for the first occupation of the dwellings unless 
there are good reasons that this cannot be achieved.  In the case of 
commercial, retail and industrial development, it sets out the optimum 
requirement for a double parking bay to be marked out for use by electric 
vehicles only for every 10 spaces.  Guidance is also provided on the 
technical requirements, and standards that will be taken into account in 
making decisions on planning applications to ensure the provision of 
useable electric vehicle charging points.

6.3. Appendix 1 of the advice note sets out technical information on the 
different types of charging systems currently available and which ones 
are most appropriate for different types of development.  For example, 
the most common slower 7kW chargers usually take between 3-4 hours 
to charge an electric vehicle and may be more appropriate for residential 
properties with dedicated parking and at workplaces.  Rapid chargers 
(50kW) are suitable for places where drivers might need a quick top-up 
for their onward journey and would be appropriate at large retail/leisure 
facilities, for example.

6.4. The Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC) is also the local planning 
authority for its area and must consider planning applications made to 
them against the Council’s planning policy where these fall within the 
Borough.  Therefore, it is recommended that Members agree that the 
EDC be advised of the advice note and requested to endorse it as a 
material consideration for development management purposes within 
Dartford Borough.

7. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

7.1 The Council’s Corporate Plan recognises the need to improve air quality 
and the following strategic objective is relevant:

ET 1. Reduce carbon emissions and improve air quality in the 
Borough

The following key actions are included to meet this objective:
 Work with developers to agree standards of design, layout and 

energy efficiency on proposed developments



Development Control Board
8 November 2018

 Continue to monitor air quality in the Borough in accordance with 
national requirements and seek to identify and implement 
measures within our control which have a positive impact upon 
air quality and/or reduce the potential health impact of pollution 
incidents

8. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments*

Financial Implications None.

Legal Implications None.

Staffing Implications None.   

Administrative 
Implications

None.

Risk Assessment None.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Dartford’s Air Quality Management Areas
Appendix B – Electric Vehicle Charging Points – Guidance Note for 
Developers

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

 Land-use Planning & Development 
Control: Planning for Air Quality 2017

 National Planning Policy Framework 
2018

 Air Quality Plan for Nitrogen Dioxide 
in the UK 2017

 The Road to Zero: Next steps towards 
cleaner road transport and delivering 
our Industrial Strategy

 Dartford Parking Standards 
Supplementary Planning Document 
2012

 Kent and Medway Air Quality 
Planning Guidance (Mitigation Option 
A)

 Report to Kent County Council 
Environment and Transport Cabinet 
Committee on Kent Environment 
Strategy Progress, Energy and Air 

Andrea Wright
(01322) 343060

Planning Policy, 
Regeneration 

N/A



Development Control Board
8 November 2018

Quality – 31 January 2018



° 1:40,000

© 
Da

rtfo
rd 

Bo
rou

gh
 C

ou
nc

il 1
00

02
58

70
  2

01
8, 

Ma
p P

rod
uc

ed
 B

y T
he

 Pl
an

nin
g P

oli
cy

 Te
am

, 

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey 
map with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office
© Crown Copyright 2018
Unauthorised reproduction 
Infringes Crown Copyright and 
May lead to prosecution or civil
Proceedings
Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2018

0 10.5 Kilometers

Dartford Air Quality Management Areas
Appendix B





1

Appendix C

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT ADVICE NOTE
ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING POINTS

November 2018

https://www.google.co.uk/imgres?imgurl=http://www.rodcollins.com/images/ecps1.jpg&imgrefurl=http://www.rodcollins.com/wordpress/electric-car-charging-points-in-grimsby&docid=xP4nW8t9giWr_M&tbnid=MwwurEbzWDsCaM:&vet=10ahUKEwisuduxs7rcAhWFb1AKHTPRDQ0QMwh8KEMwQw..i&w=641&h=424&bih=735&biw=1536&q=electric%20car%20charging%20points&ved=0ahUKEwisuduxs7rcAhWFb1AKHTPRDQ0QMwh8KEMwQw&iact=mrc&uact=8
https://www.google.co.uk/imgres?imgurl=https://cdn.images.express.co.uk/img/dynamic/24/590x/Electric-car-charging-points-UK-neighbour-car-share-740869.jpg&imgrefurl=https://www.express.co.uk/life-style/cars/740869/Electric-cars-UK-charging-points-battery-powered-technology&docid=pckGdgIrlto2TM&tbnid=aqD7YedbZ0kQ0M:&vet=10ahUKEwisuduxs7rcAhWFb1AKHTPRDQ0QMwhSKBkwGQ..i&w=590&h=350&bih=735&biw=1536&q=electric%20car%20charging%20points&ved=0ahUKEwisuduxs7rcAhWFb1AKHTPRDQ0QMwhSKBkwGQ&iact=mrc&uact=8


2

1. Introduction
1.1 Background

1.1.1 Dartford has four Air Quality Management Areas – Tunnel Approach; Dartford Town Centre 
and Approach Roads; London Road; and Bean Interchange. https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-
category/environment-and-planning2/Environmental-Health-Homepage/pollution/air-quality. 
They are located within some of the urban parts of the Borough along the strategic roads where 
congestion is a key concern.  Congestion is directly linked to air pollution with the most 
polluting vehicles being those with older diesel engines.  These contribute to increases in 
Nitrogen dioxide in the atmosphere.

1.1.2 Air pollution and specifically high levels of Nitrogen dioxide is attributed to human health 
conditions such as exacerbating asthma, bronchial symptoms, lung inflammation and reduced 
lung function.(Land-use Planning & Development Control: Planning for Air Quality (January 
2017)).

1.1.3 Clearly, air pollution is one of the key issues facing Dartford Borough and measures to address 
this should be considered as a priority.  One way of tackling air pollution is by encouraging the 
use of electric vehicles and by securing the necessary infrastructure to facilitate the use of 
electric vehicles.  New development should seek to deliver high standards of sustainability in 
accordance with local and national planning policy.  Addressing air pollution through 
development within the Borough will be key to securing a sustainable from of development.

1.1.4 The UK Government has confirmed that it will end the sale of all new conventional petrol and 
diesel cars and vans by 2040 as part of the plan to tackle air pollution and by 2050 there will be 
zero emissions by vehicles in the UK.  As such, any measures that can be taken now to 
facilitate this change will help to future-proof development in the Borough.

1.1.5 The purpose of this guidance note is to provide information and advice to developers on how 
the Local Planning Authority will seek to secure the provision of necessary electric vehicle 
charging point infrastructure as part of residential and commercial development in all parts of 
the Borough.  This document has not been formally adopted by the Council.  However, it has 
been considered and agreed to by Members of the Development Control Board for 
Development Management purposes and it is the intention to refer to it when considering any 
future planning applications.

1.2 Electric Vehicle benefits

1.2.1 Electric vehicles produce zero emissions, helping to improve air quality and reduce greenhouse 
gases.

1.2.2 Electric vehicles also have many benefits for owners including lower fuel costs, no road tax and 
no congestion charge.

1.2.3 The benefits of passive electric vehicles charging point provision (i.e. provision of cabling and 
infrastructure in the ground) should not be underestimated as it not only future-proofs the 
development by avoiding unnecessary post-construction/retro-fitting costs and making it easier 
for people to own electric cars but it also allows flexibility to respond to rapid changes in 

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/environment-and-planning2/Environmental-Health-Homepage/pollution/air-quality
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/environment-and-planning2/Environmental-Health-Homepage/pollution/air-quality


3

technology and changing political and policy requirements.  Active charging points (i.e. cabling 
and charging point provided) have the added benefit of encouraging the uptake of electric 
vehicles as well as making it easy for use upon first occupation/use of the development with an 
immediate mitigation benefit. 

2. Planning Policy Context
2.1 National Policy

2.1.1 Paragraph 105 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2018) (NPPF) states:
“If setting local parking standards for residential and non-residential development, 
policies should take into account:

a) The accessibility of the development;
b) The type, mix and use of development;
c) The availability of an opportunities for public transport;
d) Local car ownership levels; and
e) The need to ensure an adequate provision of spaces for charging 

plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles.”

2.1.2 Paragraph 181 of the NPPF states:
“Planning policies and decisions should sustain and contribute towards compliance 
with relevant limit values or national objectives for pollution, taking into account the 
presence of Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones, and the cumulative 
impacts from individual sites in local areas.  Opportunities to improve air quality or 
mitigate impacts should be identified, such as through traffic and travel management, 
and green infrastructure provision and enhancement.  So far as possible these 
opportunities should be considered at the plan-making stage, to ensure a strategic 
approach and limit the need for issues to be reconsidered when determining individual 
applications.  Planning decisions should ensure that any new development in Air 
Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones is consistent with the local air quality 
action plan”

2.1.3 The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted development) (Amendment) (England) 
Order 2015 has introduced permitted development rights for electric vehicle charging points in 
off-street public and private car parking areas.

2.2 Local Policy

2.2.1 Policy CS23 of the Dartford Core Strategy (2011) seeks to minimise carbon emissions through 
the design of development.  Policy DP5 of the Dartford Development Policies Plan (2017) 
seeks to ensure that development is only permitted where it does not result in unacceptable 
material impacts on the Borough’s environment or public health.  Particular consideration 
should be given to air quality among other matters.  Both adopted plans contain policies to 
secure highway and transport improvements.

2.2.2 Policy DP3 of the Dartford Development Policies Plan (2017) states that: 
“Development will not be permitted where the localised residual impacts from the 
development on its own, or in combination with other planned developments in the 
area, result in severe impacts on….road traffic and air quality.”



4

2.2.3 Dartford has a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) for parking standards which was 
adopted in 2012.  Paragraph 20 of this document states:

“Residential dwellings with on-plot parking should provide electrical charging points.  
Where is it considered unviable to do so, dwellings should be designed to enable the 
provision of an electrical charging point either as an optional extra or at a later date.  
Where residential dwellings do not have parking within their curtilage, consideration 
should be given to providing charging points on-street or within communal parking 
areas, including designing the development so as to minimise the cost and disturbance 
of retrofitting charging points at a later date.”

2.2.4 Paragraph 28 of the Parking Standards SPD states:
“Non-residential developments should demonstrate that consideration has been given 
to the provision of electrical charging points, including demand for such facility and 
impact on development viability.  Industrial and warehousing units, retail and leisure 
developments should be designed to enable the provision of electrical charging points 
from the outset of the development or for retro-fitting at a later date.”

2.2.5 This guidance note is intended to set out how the requirement within the aforementioned SPD 
will be applied.

3. Supporting the Electric Vehicle Charge Network
3.1 General Requirements

3.1.1 There are a number of options available in the UK for the charging of electric vehicles. 
Consideration needs to be given to location and purpose, vehicle type, required speed of 
charge, future proof and long-term interoperability and UK wiring regulations. Appendix 1 
provides an overview of available Electric Vehicle Charge Point technology and requirements.

3.1.2 It is expected that all electric vehicle charging point installations comply with the ‘Code of 
Practice for Electric Vehicle Charging Equipment Installation’ written by IET Standards 
(http://www.theiet.org/resources/standards/ev-cop.cfm) or with the equivalent most up to date 
guidance note.

3.1.3 The following two guidance documents are relevant to developers:
 ‘A Guide to Electric Vehicle Infrastructure’ by BEAMA (2015), or the equivalent most up to 

date copy (www.beama.org.uk)
 ‘Making the right connections general procurement guidance for electric vehicle charge 

points’ by the UK Electric Vehicle Supply Equipment Association (www.ukevse.org.uk)

3.2 Recommended standard for Dartford

3.2.1 Using the guidance available, the following has been developed as recommended standards 
for electric vehicle provision in Dartford Borough.

3.2.2 Table 1 below details the requirements expected of developers regarding provision of electric 
vehicle charging infrastructure.  The requirements will apply to development of all types and 
scale and in all areas of the Borough.  This is justified because of the acute air quality issues 
within the Dartford Borough with reference to the four AQMAs and its geographical context.  

http://www.theiet.org/resources/standards/ev-cop.cfm
http://www.beama.org.uk/
http://www.ukevse.org.uk/


5

Dartford is a geographically small Borough with very busy strategic road such as the A2 and 
M25, passing through it as well as busy local roads which often become congested.  The road 
network is such that traffic generation by new development within the Dartford Borough, there 
is a strong likelihood that journeys will pass through at least one of the four identified AQMAs.  
The cumulative impact of development at any size on air quality is therefore a key concern 
across the Borough.

Table 1. Minimum Electric Vehicle (EV) charging requirements for different types of 
development

Type of Development Requirement

Residential

Houses with garages and / or 
driveway parking

Dwellings with private 
allocated off curtilage parking

Dwellings with unallocated 
parking

EV charging points to be provided for all dwellings, 
fitted ready for first occupation of the dwelling.

An EV charging point* to be provided for all spaces, 
including visitor spaces, ready for first occupation of 
the dwellings.  If unviable to provide 100% active 
EV charging points, a reduced percentage might be 
agreed if passive provision (cabling laid out to 
enable future provision) is provided for the 
remainder of the spaces.**

An EV charging point* to be provided for all spaces, 
including visitor spaces, ready for first occupation of 
the dwellings.  If unviable to provide 100% active 
EV charging points, a reduced percentage might be 
agreed if passive provision (cabling laid out to 
enable future provision) is provided for the 
remainder of the spaces.**

Commercial/ Retail/ Industrial Double parking bay marked out for use by EVs (might be 
possible to share these spaces with visitor spaces to 
promote the efficient use of spaces) per 10 spaces 
together with the provision of an EV double charge 
point* (this may be phased with 5% provision initially and 
the remainder at an agreed trigger level).

Type of charging equipment provided to be agreed 
with the Local Planning Authority and is dependent 
on end use requirement.

Mixed Use Combination of above requirements depending on 
proportion of uses to be agreed with Local Authority.

*Good practice to install a double charge point.  See appendix 1 for further information.
**Allocated spaces prevents the most efficient use of the EV charging points if some, and not all, 
spaces are provided with EV charging points.

3.2.3 All technology used shall be the best available at the time of planning approval and to be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority, see Appendix 1 for further information.



6

3.2.4 Information regarding EV charging provision, capacity and future-proofing cabling/ducting, 
including opportunities for network upgrades to accommodate increased demand shall be 
included in all marketing material e.g. ‘Welcome packs’ and Travel Plans.

3.2.5 Charge point equipment and the management/maintenance shall remain the responsibility of 
the developer and/or the facilities management company/owners of the site.

3.3 Considerations before making a decision

3.3.1 The provision of EV charging points is not the only measure that can be taken to help reduce 
emissions.  Developers should refer to the Borough Council’s Air Quality Action Plans as well 
as the Kent and Medway Air Quality Partnership Air Quality Planning Guidance (Mitigation 
Option A) December 2015.

3.3.2 Planning applications for development (other than householder development) within and close 
to AQMAs will be expected to be accompanied by an Air Quality Assessment (see adopted 
Local List for Validation) which will identify the air quality impact of the development and 
suggest suitable on and off-site mitigation measure to address any harm identified.  It is likely 
that if harm to air quality is identified, the provision of EV charging points will be one of a 
number of mitigation measures required to address this harm.

3.3.3 The location of EV charging points should be marked on the parking plan as part of the 
planning submission.

3.4 Planning Conditions

3.4.1 We will use planning conditions to require the provision, retention and where appropriate 
maintenance of electric vehicle charging points or cabling laid out to enable future provision.



7

Appendix 1: Charging Requirements
May 2017 information1

Residential development with dedicated parking

Requirement: Standard Mode 3 with a type 2 outlet.

General Information

Mode 3 (AC) dedicated EV charging system with dedicated outlet is the most beneficial option for home 
charging of EVs as it is future proof and can incorporate future ‘smart’ capabilities.  A single phase 
Mode 3 system will usually operate at 3.7kW (16A) or 7.4kW (32A). 

For example:
 EV HomeCharge – low-cost, entry level home charging units, competitively priced, are 

available from many manufacturers, and are designed to offer full Mode 3 fast charging to 
every Electric Vehicle on the market.  Available in both 16amp (3.6kW) or 32amp (7.2kW) 
charging options.  OLEV approved and a popular domestic EV charging unit.  Some units also 
provide an IP65 rated 13amp domestic socket, ideal for home/garden maintenance.

Residential parking with unallocated spaces

Requirement: Standard Mode 3 with type 2 outlet and communications facility. 

General Information 

Mode 3 (AC) dedicated EV charging system with dedicated outlet as a minimum requirement is 
recommended, along with 7.4kW (32A) or 3 phase 11kW or the preferred 22kW charging.  
It is expected that double charge points are provided.
The developer is advised to discuss options with the LPA. 

Commercial parking with unallocated spaces:

Requirement: Standard Mode 3 with type 2 outlet and communications facility. 

General information

Mode 3 (AC) dedicated EV charging system with dedicated outlet as a minimum requirement is 
recommended along with a single phase Mode 3 system will usually operate at 7.4kW (32A) or 3 phase 
11kW or 22kW charging.  Type of charging provision dependent on expected use, with double charge 
points installed.  The developer is advised to discuss options with the Local Planning Authority.

UK standard Charge Point Hardware & Firmware specifications:
 7/11 kW or 22 kW three phase
 Standalone single or preferred three phase power supply, dedicated circuit, RCD type 

protection & earth

1 This technology is progressing rapidly and therefore the developer will be required to ensure the most up to date suitable 
technology is incorporated into the development.



8

 Mode 3 charging through Type 2 (EN62196-2) sockets
 Driver access via RFID cards & APP 
 Communication via GPRS/Wireless or LAN Connection
 Firmware compliance with Open Charge Point Protocol (OCPPP)
 Enabled to connect to Charge Point Management System (CPMS) – facilitating access control, 

remote support, PAYG, billing for usage and provision of data
 Currently Kent & South East CPMS is fulfilled by Charge Your Car (CYC) via OCPP compliant 

charge points (See attached CYC guidance note).

Location/siting is critical to ensure ease of use.  Please note underground car parking may impact on 
phone signal and therefore may not be considered a suitable location.  The developer is advised to 
discuss options with the LPA and parking services.

Important information:

It should be noted that not all electric cars can charge at 22kW but most can still use them to charge at 
a lower speed.  Therefore, at present, installation of 7kW charging may be the appropriate technology.  
However, sufficient power supply should be incorporated into the development to enable future upgrade 
of EV charging equipment.

Mode 4 (rapid charging)

Requirement: A network of 50kW and higher power charge points are found around major road 
networks and other places where drivers might need a quick top-up for their onward journey (e.g. 
service stations, large retail/leisure facilities, science parks etc. by key arterial routes). Rapid Chargers 
are a minimum 50 Kw, DC, with dedicated 3 phase 100 amp power supply.

General information

Mode 4 charge points can be substantial pieces of equipment, providing high power output capable of 
charging a car to 80% in as little as 15 minutes. Requirement:

 1.5 m2 available space
 OCPP compliance etc. as above for public charge point requirements
 CHadeMO, CCS and Type 2 (EN62196-2) outlet sockets

Average indicative charging times for different types of Chargers

3.7kW Charger 7kW Charger 22kW Charger

Charging Speed (up 
to):

15 miles of range 
per hour

30 miles of range per hour 80 miles of range 
per hour

Required Power 
Supply:

Single phase Single phase Three phase

Typically Found in: Homes Homes, Workplaces, Public 
Places

Public Places



CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

NEW BUILD COUNCIL HOUSING PROJECT UPDATE

1. Summary

1.1. This report provides an update on the progress made towards the Council’s 
current and future new build housing projects.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That Cabinet note the contents of this report.

2.2   That Cabinet approve the progression of the proposed new build sites, as 
detailed in this report.

2.3   That delegated authority be granted to the Managing Director, in consultation 
with the Housing Portfolio Holder, to award a contract to a successful tenderer 
and progress the construction phase of the projects.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. On 8 December 2016, Cabinet was presented with a report regarding progress 
with the Council’s new council house building project and agreed that delegated 
authority be granted to the Managing Director, in consultation with the Housing 
Portfolio Holder, to award a contract to the successful tenderer(s) (Minute No 83 
refers). 

Update on Existing Schemes
3.2. Planning permission for these schemes was previously granted in March 2015 and 

the first phase of the project at Temple Hill Square (Hill View) was completed in 
2017; providing 25 new homes for rent for local people.  A Lettings Plan for the 
site was approved by Cabinet on 26 January 2017 (Minute No, 197 refers). 

3.3. The second phase of the project at Coleridge Road is progressing well and is 
scheduled for full completion in 2019.  The first phase of this project (8 units) will 
be handed over in December 2018, followed by the remaining units in January and 
March/April 2019.  This scheme will provide 51 houses and apartments for rent to 
local people.  As before, a local Lettings Plan was approved by Cabinet on 6th 
September 2018 (Minute No. 54 refers).  As part of a drive to make the one 
bedroom units appealing to existing tenants wishing to downsize, one unit will be 
presented as a ‘show home’ for potential tenants to view prior to occupation.  This 
will be available for prospective tenants to inspect in early December 2018.

3.4. Planning permission was also granted in July 2016 to develop six one bedroom 
units for rent on the site of the disused cash office at Temple Hill Square.  The 
scheme is due for completion by the summer of 2019.

3.5. Future New Build Projects
As part of an ongoing process, four potential new build sites have been identified 
to take forward to phase 3.  These are detailed below:

3.6. Gilbert Close Garage site
This site, located in Swanscombe, has been identified as having development 
potential for 18 units.  The majority of the garages have now been demolished as 



CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

they were in a poor state of repair and, historically, there were a number of 
complaints about litter dumping in the area, anti-social behaviour and vandalism. 
 

3.7. Milton Road Garage site.
This site, located in Swanscombe, has been identified as having potential for 8 
units.  All of the garages on this site are unlet, providing an ideal opportunity to 
redevelop the area.

3.8. Mead Crescent.
This site, located on the Tree Estate, is a small redundant site with potential for 3 
units, possibly bungalows, to accommodate older persons in need of this type of 
housing, e.g. wheelchair adapted etc. although site access is problematic.

3.9. Keary Road Garage site.
This site, also located in Swanscombe, has been identified as having potential for 
6 units.  Redevelopment of this site with a new access road, would present an 
opportunity for access to rubbish bins from a hardstanding area rather than dotted 
about the development on grassed areas.

3.10. All of the above sites and the potential number of units identified, are purely for 
guidance, and could be subject to change as part of the detailed design required 
in order to make a formal planning application; but the aim is to provide all units 
with a minimum of two bedrooms.

3.11. In order to expediently progress the above, in light of the Council’s policy of 
utilising new build monies obtained from Right to Buy receipts within three years, a 
waiver under Contract Standing Order 7.4 was agreed by the Strategic Director for 
External Services to enable the Council to contract with an Employers’ Agent and 
for design and architectural services.

3.12. To this end, Ridge and Partners, the Council’s agents throughout the whole of the 
new build project have been appointed as Employers’ Agent and OSG 
Architecture Limited has been appointed as architect.  Both companies will be 
responsible for providing services for all four sites and both have a proven track 
record of delivering quality services.

3.13. Subject to Members’ approval the next stage of the process will be to undertake 
detailed design of the sites and seek planning permission.  It is expected that 
submission of proposed plans will be early 2019.

3.14. The following stages will be to: 
 Undertake a procurement process through the OJEU in early 2019 for the four 

schemes.  An OJEU is necessary as the scheme’s build costs will exceed 
OJEU financial thresholds.

 Receive tenders and award a contract to the successful tenderer late 2019. 
 Start on site, anticipated winter 2019/Spring 2019.

3.15. A further report will be presented to Cabinet in 2019, to provide an update on the 
progress of the schemes. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan



CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

4.1. This report relates to the Corporate Plan strategic aim ‘to facilitate quality, choice 
and diversity in the housing market, to create strong and self-reliant communities 
and deliver high quality services to service users’.

5. Financial, legal, staffing & other administrative implications & risk assessments;

Financial 
Implications

The 2018/2019 to 2020/2021 Capital programme includes 
£13.557m for new build housing. Schemes already being 
progressed are expected to account for £5.5m leaving £8.057m 
for future schemes.
The ongoing programme is factored into the Housing Revenue 
Account Business Plan but other ways of match funding may 
also be considered. 

The Council is holding £4.3m in 1-4-1 receipts. Under the terms 
of the 1-4-1, in order to avoid repayment of retained receipts 
with interest, further total spend (including 70% match funding) 
is required by the end of each financial year as below:
2018/19 £1m
2019/20 £6.6m
2020/21 £5.3m
At this early stage these schemes are estimated at £6.6m. 
Further sites and other methods of achieving the total spend are 
being considered and will be presented to Cabinet once 
proposals are in place.

Legal 
Implications

None as a direct result of the report.

Staffing 
Implications

None as a direct result of the report.

Admin 
Implications

None as a direct result of the report.

Risk 
Assessment

There is a risk that the Council is unable to spend sufficient      
1-4-1 receipts before the end of the rolling 3 year period. To 
mitigate this risk, a waiver under Contract Standing Order 7.4. 
has been agreed, as detailed in this report. 

6. Appendices
None

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author

          

Section and
Directorate 

Exempt
Information 
Category



CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

Peter Dosad
Jackie Pye

Housing Services,
Strategic

Yes



CABINET 
6 DECEMBER 2018

D:\apps\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\6\4\AI00030468\$qro5dxlq.doc

JOYDENS WOOD COMMUNITY CENTRE – LEASE SURRENDER, 
GRANT OF A NEW LEASE AND GRANT FUNDING

Ward: Joydens Wood

1. Summary

1.1 To seek approval to grant fund the Joydens Wood Residents’ Community 
Association on the terms outlined in the body of the report and to agree to the 
surrender of the current lease and the granting of a new 20-year lease.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That, subject to the Joydens Wood Residents’ Community Association agreeing to 
entering into a Service level Agreement with the Council, on terms to be agreed by 
the Consultant Valuer, the Council grant funds the Association the sum of £7,300 
(seven thousand three hundred pounds) per annum, reviewable annually, in 
accordance with the Service Level Agreement. 

2.2 That, subject to para. 2.1 and for the reasons outlined in the body of the report, the 
Council agrees to the surrender of the current lease to the Joydens Wood 
Residents’ Community Association and that a new 20 year lease be granted, at an 
annual rent of £8,800 (eight thousand eight hundred pounds), on terms to be agreed 
by the Consultant Valuer in consultation with the Head of Legal Services.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The current lease to the Joydens Wood Residents’ Community Association (a 
registered charity No. 291737) (the ‘Association’) dated 29th Dec 1995 expires 
in December 2025, with a rent of £100 pa. In order to secure funding for future 
plans, the Association has approached the Council with a request to extend its 
current lease by 13 years, to provide a term of 20 years. 

The Consultant Valuer advises that the best way forward is to surrender the 
current lease and to grant a 20-year lease on new terms.

The Asociation’s charitable aims & activities are ‘…to benefit local residents 
and …. responsible for the maintenance and management of the local 
Community Centre which is used by voluntary groups and organisations.’

3.2 The Consultant Valuer inspected the premises and noted that the Association 
has ensured that the premises are well maintained and that there are plans in 
place, to further improve the building with a program of internal and external 
decorations.



CABINET 
6 DECEMBER 2018

Joydens Wood Community Centre

3.3 The Community Centre is used for and by numerous clubs and associations,  
Gardening Club, Reading Group, Badminton, Baldwyns Park, Joydens Wood 
Support Group, Scouts, Women’s institute etc.

3.4 A rent valuation was undertaken, using comparable evidence from the VOA 
that provided a rateable value of £8,800 per annum. 

3.5 The Association’s treasurer submitted the Community Centre’s accounts for 
inspection by the Council. Following analysis of the accounts, the Financial 
Services Manager suggested a rental of £7000.00 per annum.

3.6 The Association’s financial data is a matter of public record published on the 
Charity Commission’s website. Appendix A to the report sets out the 
Association’s explanation as to why it is unable to proceed with a new lease at 
£7000 per annum and have counter offered a rental of £1500 per annum.

3.7 When the Council is disposing of land e.g. the granting of a lease for a period 
greater than 7 years, there is a statutory requirement (Section 123 Local 
Government Act 1972) to obtain ‘best consideration’.

‘Best consideration’ means achieving maximum ‘value’ from the disposal, not 
just maximum price.  Disposal at less than market value must contribute to the 
‘promotion or improvement of the economic, social or environmental wellbeing 
of the area’.

3.8 In justifying a disposal of land/property at undervalue, the Council will have 
regard to the following:

• what community benefits will be realised by the disposal;
• how the interests of local people will be better served by the disposal;
• the financial viability of the Council’s plans for the land;
• the State Aid implications of the disposal;
• the Council’s future plans for the land;
• the market value of the land and the difference between that and the 

proposed disposal value. 

Each of these issues is addressed below:

• Benefits- The Community Centre was originally formed in January 1959, 
moving into its current purpose built accommodation in the Spring of 1971. The 
Association became a registered charity in 1985;

• Interests of local people- The Community Centre supports a large number of 
active clubs and associations either directly or indirectly, providing for a wide 
range of interests for the local community. A new lease will secure the 
continued use of this valued facility;

• Financial Viability- the Association has historically paid a peppercorn rent for 
the premises but has picked up all other costs associated with the premises. 



CABINET 
6 DECEMBER 2018

Joydens Wood Community Centre

On a recent inspection, the building was found to be in good repair with 
evidence of a program of decoration/maintenance. 
The Council’s requirements with regards rent have been reviewed and all new 
leases are required to be at a market rent. The Association is a registered 
charity and as such, cannot make a profit. As a result, the charges made to 
clubs/associations using the building are maintained at a realistic level. Whilst a 
market rent can be included in the lease, the clubs’/associations’ finances 
would only be able to support a lower figure without an unsustainable increase 
in fees charged to users.

• State Aid- the deminimis regulation allows small amounts of aid – less than 
Euros 200,000 over a rolling three year period to be given to an undertaking for 
a wide range of purposes;

• Future Plans- the Council has no current or future plans for the land;
• Value of land- If the land were sold for residential development based on a pair 

of semi-detached houses on the site, the land value with the benefit of planning 
would be c. £250,000. The value of the rental income to the Council, based on 
a market value of £8,800 pa over a 20-year period, is £176,000.

3.9 The Consultant certifies that the rental valuation of £8,800 p.a. is based on the 
use of the premises as a community asset, on a non-for profit basis.  

3.10 The Community Centre plays a significant role in the life of the local community 
and is a place where people can socialise, carry out activities, take up learning 
opportunities and volunteer.  As such, the Community Centre supports the 
economic and social well-being of the area and its local residents. 

3.11 Based on the Association’s inability to meet the full annual rental of £8,800, it is 
recommended that the Council grant funds the Association in the sum of 
£7,300 to enable it to continue to provide a valuable community resource. The 
grant funding is subject to the Association entering into a Service Level 
Agreement with the Council requiring inter alia, a detailed annual report and 
accounts to be submitted to the Council to show that the grant is being used as 
originally intended. This is simply ‘good housekeeping’ to ensure the correct 
use of the grant funding1 and to determine whether the Association can 
increase its annual rental payments.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all of the 
Council’s communities.

11 Hillingdon Legal Resource Centre (LON/90/12Y) & Wolverhampton Citizens Advice Bureau (MAN/96/1145)



CABINET 
6 DECEMBER 2018

Joydens Wood Community Centre

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications The use of the well-being powers 
pursuant to the Local Government Act 
2000 (as amended) to assist a charity to 
provide a public service on a non for 
profit basis 

Legal Implications As discussed in the body of the report.
Public Sector Equality Duty Not relevant 
Crime & Disorder Duty Not relevant 
Staffing Implications None
A administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment As discussed in the body of the report

6. Appendix

Appendix A – Letter from Joydens Wood Residents’ Community Association

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Marie Kelly-Stone – 
Head of Legal 
Services

Legal Services 
& Valuation 
Services

N/A 



Dear Duncan 
Many thanks for your e-mail outlining the proposed rent for a new 20 year 
lease at £7,000 p.a. 

Unfortunately the Trustees are not prepared to go forward with the new 
lease at that rental. 

The major factor that we have taken into consideration is the effect that 
such a rise in rental would have on the clubs using the centre. Most of 
the clubs are small in membership, so a £6 - £7 an hour rise in hire rates 
to cover the proposed rental, would cause many to cease running. This in 
itself would cause a domino effect with the couple of larger clubs bearing 
the brunt. This in turn would likely cause their demise, or possible cause 
them to take their membership elsewhere. 

We are cognisant of the fact employees wages have to rise due to 
Government legislation, namely the Caretaker, Weekend caretaker, 
Holiday Cover Caretaker, Cleaner and the Centre Booking Clerk. We do 
have to have money in reserve to cover redundancy and any unforeseen 
expenditure, such as leaking roof or replacement boiler etc. so we are not 
as well off as maybe the DBC think we are, as last year was the first time 
in eight years that the Centre made a profit. 

My wife and I painted the Small Function Room at the rear of the Centre 
and installed a new dado rail etc. to save us around £1000 of costs. Even 
so, the total cost of the SFR refurbishment came to £4000. Rather than 
digging into our reserves, we have held events to raise monies to cover 
the cost of that refurbishment, and by the time our New Years Eve Event 
is over, we will have just about covered the cost of that refurbishment. 

It is necessary that we keep the Centre in good order, as it is part of our 
contractual obligation under the terms of the current lease. With that in 
mind, we have a volunteer group of people to paint and decorate the 

Joydens Wood 
Residents' 
Community Association 
Registered Charity 291737

�

Appendix A



passageway leading to the rear fire doors, and this will save us another 
£900 in costs to would be contractors. 

If we were to enter into a new 20 year lease with yourselves, the absolute 
maximum that we could afford would be £1500 p.a. Even then we would 
have to go a long way to placate the clubs who currently enjoy the 
facilities at the Centre. 

Running the Centre is a full time job for the Trustees and other committee 
members, who do all of this work voluntarily, some of whom have been 
doing so for over forty years, so I believe it would be a very sad day for 
the Joydens Wood Community if the DBC chose not to take on board the 
contents of this letter. 

Many thanks in anticipation. Kindest regards 
Roger Doucy Chairman JWRCA. 



JOINT TRANSPORTION BOARD
4 DECEMBER 2018 

CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

DARTFORD TOWN CENTRE TRANSPORT AND PUBLIC REALM 
IMPROVEMENTS

Town, Princes and Brent Wards

1 Summary

1.1 This report provides an update to the previous report dated 12 April 2018, sets 
out the finalised outline design for Market St, summarises activities completed 
and sets out the planned progression of the scheme design, consultation and 
engagement and installation Works.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS:

Joint Transportation Board

2.1 That this report is considered and comments passed to Cabinet.

Cabinet

2.2 That the finalised Outline design for Market St, as shown at Appendix A, be 
agreed as the basis for developing the detailed design for the Market St scheme, 
with delegated authority granted to the Managing Director in liaison with the 
Leader of the Council to agree the detailed design.

2.3 That Officers continue liaison with bus operators to identify the most appropriate 
arrangement for bus stop provision.

2.4    That Cabinet note the proposed appointment of Amey via the KCC Framework 
to carry out the construction Works for the Market St scheme.

2.5 That the High Street area be added to the scope of the project, with Officers 
seeking to identify appropriate funding to this additional element. In the event 
that insufficient funding is identified, delegated authority is granted to the 
Managing Director in consultation with the Leader of the Council to meet any 
funding shortfall from the Council’s earmarked reserves.

3. Background and Discussion

Funding

3.1. The project funding Agreement was completed on 17 August 2018. The 
total project budget value of £12M is split as £7.7M funded by Homes 
England (HE) and £4.3M funded by the Local Growth Fund (LGF). 



JOINT TRANSPORTION BOARD
4 DECEMBER 2018 

CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

3.2. Kent CC Highways are fulfilling the role of Accountable Authority under 
the Agreement. A positive working relationship has been developed, and 
regular contact maintained.

Phasing and Programme

3.3. Initial Phasing proposals were prepared by the Council’s design 
consultants and these formed part of the Business Case submission 
from which project funding was secured.

3.4. This has been subsequently reviewed to seek to follow a logical flow of 
work, whilst also accelerating to better meet the project spend profile 
requirements. The high level programme Roadmap for the project is 
included at Appendix B of this report.

3.5. Proposed phasing is as follows:

 Phase 1: Market Street (including Market Place, part of the High 
Street and part of Lowfield Street).

 Phase 2: Junction improvements at the junctions of Lowfield 
Street/Instone Road, Instone Road/Highfield Road, Highfield 
Road/West Hill/Spital Street, along with urban realm 
improvements for the extents between each junction and adjacent 
Highway.

 Phase 3: Hythe Street.
 Phase 4: Junction improvements at the junctions of Hythe 

Street/Home Gardens and Home Gardens/East Hill/Overy 
Liberty.

3.6. The Outline design has been completed for Phase 1 and was submitted 
to Kent CC Highways on 2-11-18 to commence the Technical Audit 
process.

3.7. The Detailed design stage for Phase 1 has now commenced, scheduled 
to be complete in late January 2019.

3.8. It is intended to award the Works contract in February 2019, ahead of a 
commencement on site in late May 2019. 

3.9. The Outline design stage for Phase 2 is scheduled to commence in 
January 2019.

3.10. It is proposed to add the High Street area to the scope of the project as 
Phase 1a. It may be possible to be incorporated within the current project 
budget. However, if sufficient funding cannot be made available from 
existing funds, the Council may be required to fund any potential 
shortfall. Any decision as to proceed with the inclusion will be subject to 
a review following assessment of the budget once further detail is 
available for the estimated cost of Phase 2 (the 4 no. junctions).



JOINT TRANSPORTION BOARD
4 DECEMBER 2018 

CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

Scheme Design

3.11. The scheme design shall follow the phasing as set out above. 

3.12. The first phase, Phase 1: Market Street will incorporate the following key 
features (see Appendix A):

 The establishment of a new urban square entitled Brewery Square, 
predominantly by the provision of 4 No. pocket parks, to introduce 
pleasant green urban realm areas. The use of this name seeks to 
make reference to the rich history of brewing in the Market Street 
area and to introduce a link to the historic past of Dartford.

 Narrowing of the carriageway to calm traffic and improve 
pedestrian movement between the town centre and Central 
Park/Brewery Square.

 Relocation of the TfL bus services to Home Gardens (westbound 
only – eastbound stops are already located at Home Gardens).

 The use of high quality and long lasting natural stone materials. 
Examples of these can be viewed in the small Test Area in the 
southwest corner of Market St that was installed as part of an 
engagement exercise in late October 2018 which remains in-situ.

 Retention of all short term parking, by reallocation of spaces to 
bays at the side of the Highway and including some use of the 
existing small car parking area to the rear of the Iceland store.

Engagement

3.13. By way of a furtherance of the previous Consultation activities already 
completed, new letter drops were made to all business and frontages in 
Market Street, Lowfield Street, Market Place and the High Street. 

3.14. The letter drops were then followed up with individual short meetings 
(c95 No.), where, in addition to providing a detailed explanation of the 
Phase 1 scheme proposals, contact details and loading and access 
arrangements were captured – and have been incorporated in an 
engagement schedule, to track and provide continuity in contact and 
interaction with correspondents.

3.15. Through this in depth consultation exercise, from feedback and 
observations that arose, it was decided to revise the Outline design to 
incorporate improved loading facilities.

3.16. Feedback was generally very positive.

3.17. A small Test Area has been installed to the southwest corner of the 
Market Street area. The intention of this was mutli-faceted : to provide 
updated imagery and information regarding the scheme proposals, 
examples of the actual types of materials and construction quality to be 
expected with the project; and to provide ongoing engagement with the 
public on the scheme and continue to receive feedback as the detailed 
design of the scheme progresses.  



JOINT TRANSPORTION BOARD
4 DECEMBER 2018 

CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

Management Arrangements

3.18. The project is being managed by a dedicated Programme Manager, who 
has specific experience of urban realm regeneration projects. 

Procurement

3.19. The scheme has been progressed through the Concept Design stages 
by the consultant Project Centre Limited (PCL). PCL have also carried 
out the design for the Outline stage, and have been commissioned to 
progress the Detailed stage, for Phase 1 Market Street. Discussions are 
now ongoing as to the procurement of design consultancy services for 
the Outline Design stage for Phase 2.

3.20. In the previous report dated 12 April 2018, reference was made to the 
intention to appoint the major contractor Balfour Beaty via the Scape 
Procurement Framework for the installation phase of the project. 
However, through development of the project, this has been subject to 
review and it is now considered that it would be more advantageous to 
use a contractor and supply chain with a more local knowledge and who 
has greater familiarity with the requirements of gaining approvals and 
carrying out work in Kent.

3.21. Accordingly, it is intended that the Works phase will be carried out by the 
Kent CC framework contractor Amey, procured under agreement/licence 
with Kent CC.

3.22. Other smaller items of service shall be procured as required.

Reporting

3.23. It is recognised that a project of this type has many stakeholders and 
interested parties within the Council and within the Council’s partner 
organisations, such as Kent CC Highways. 

3.24. A project Steering Group consisting of the project leads from the Council, 
Kent CC Highways and the Council’s design consultant has been 
convened and progress update meetings are held at monthly intervals.

3.25. In addition, a Project Board has been established, incorporating the 
senior management of the Council and Kent CC Highways. The Board 
is to meet on a quarterly basis.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

ED 3. Improve the economic performance of the Town Centre
ED 4. Ensure the delivery of timely transport infrastructure
ET 4. Ensure a high quality street scene

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments*



JOINT TRANSPORTION BOARD
4 DECEMBER 2018 

CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

Financial Implications The project is fully funded by external sources 
and there is no planned financial impact to the 
Council. 
However, as noted in item 2.4 and 3.10 of this 
report, it is proposed to introduce the High Street 
area to the scope of the project.

Legal Implications

Public Sector Equality 
Duty 

Crime and Disorder duty 

None

N/A

N/A

Staffing Implications The Council has secured an independent 
specialist consultant to act as Programme 
Manager for the project. The role is fully funded 
by the project and costed within the budget for 
the full programme duration.

Administrative 
Implications

None 

Risk Assessment Some reputational risk in terms of delivery.
Also refer to item 2.1 and the financial 
implications section of this report.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A - Market St Scheme Design [Drawing 1000004700-3-SK37, 
Plan image, CGI image]
Appendix B - High Level Programme Roadmap [Rev 1, 1-11-18]

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author

Keith Longley, 
Dartford Town Centre 
Scheme Programme 
Manager

Section and
Directorate

Regeneration

Exempt
Information 
Category

N/A



JOINT TRANSPORTION BOARD
4 DECEMBER 2018 

CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018



Appendix A





R12.00

M
A

R
K

E
T

 S
T

R
E

E
T

(A
2
2
6
)

ONLY BUS

L
O

O
K

 R
IG

H
T

L
O

O
K

 R
IG

H
T

L
O

O
K

 L
E

F
T

SL
OW

AL
DI

SH
OP

S

AL
DI

SH
OPS

ALDISHOPS

LO
ADING

 O
NLY

LOADING ONLY

DISABLED

DISABLED

DISABLED

LO
AD

IN
G 

ON
LY

LO
AD

IN
G 

ON
LY

LOADING ONLY DISABLED

OVERY LIBERTY(A226)

MARKET STREET(A226)

LO
W

F
IE

LD
 S

T
R

E
E

T
 (

A
22

6)

H
O

M
E

 G
A

R
D

E
N

S
 (A

226)

EAST HILL (A226)

SCHEME EXTENTS

SCHEME EXTENTS

SC
H

EM
E EXTEN

TS

SCHEME EXTENTS

BELLWAY
DEVELOPMENT

DARTFORD
BOROUGH
MUSEUM

ACACIA
DEVELOPMENT

ICELAND

HOLY
TRINITY
CHURCH

PRIORY
CENTRE

ORCHARDS
SHOPPING
CENTRE

THE
ORCHARD

CENTRAL
PARK

O
V

E
R

Y
 S

T
R

E
E

T

M
A

R
K

E
T

 P
L
A

C
E

B

B

4.10

B
B B

B B
B B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

B

STOP
BUS

STOP
BUS

STO
PBUS

STO
P

BUS

TA
XI

S

TA
XI

S

DI
SA

BL
ED

DI
SA

BL
ED

DI
SA

BL
ED

DI
SA

BL
ED

DI
SA

BL
ED

DI
SA

BL
ED

LOADING ONLY

3.00

3.
00

2.
00

0.
30

2.
70

F-P

LEGEND

New footway paving slabs, granite
Mixed sizes and colours - 400 x 300/400/600mm

New granite kerb, 300 x 200 mm

New footway block paving, granite
Mixed sizes and colours - 100 x 100/200/400mm

New 300mm wide granite setts strip adjacent
to building frontage - 100 x 100 mm

New parking bay block paving, granite
150 x 300 x 180 mm

New granite paving at crossings,
150 x 300 x 180 mm

New granite paving raised table,
150 x 300 x 180 mm

New carriageway resurfacing

New Porphory setts, granite -  Fan pattern
100 x 100 mm

New block paving ramps, granite
150 x 300 x 180 mm

NOTES

1. For section details refer to drawing
1000004700-3-01-015.

2. Material palette is currently under development, further
details to be provided.

3. All units are in metres unless otherwise specified.

New granite edge kerb - 500 mm wide

New granite kerb, 150 x 200 mm

Highway Boundary

New grass area

New planting area, details TBC

New Magma blister tactile paving for
uncontrolled crossing. (Dimensions TBC)

New tree species and details TBC

New Sheffield cycle stands.

New lighting column. Locations based on
design using KCC standard lighting
specification

New seating units

Land acquisition boundary by DBC

New red tactile paving for controlled crossing.
400 x 400mm

New traffic signals

Rev DescriptionDate

A1

Chk
This drawing has been specifically prepared to meet the requirements of the named client and may
contain design and innovative features which differ from conventional design standards.

Client

Project

Drawing Title

Drawing Status

Drawing No.

Size

Rev

Drn App

DateDrawn ScaleDesigned

Office Registered in England No. 02625312   |   Unit 2 Holford Yard, London, WC1X 9HD   |   www.projectcentre.co.uk

05/11/2018 12:46:23 | G:\Project Centre\CAD\00-PROJECT\1000004700\Sketches\1000004700-3-SK37.dwg | NPatel | ----PLOT DATE: CAD REFERENCE:

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. (100032379) (2018)     |    Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right (2018)

Unit 2 Holford Yard
London
WC1X 9HD
Tel. 0330 0080 855
Mail. info@projectcentre.co.uk
Web. www.projectcentre.co.uk

DARTFORD TOWN CENTRE
PHASE 1

OVERVIEW PROPOSED LAYOUT

FOR INFORMATION

NP NP NOV 2018 N.T.S

1000004700-3-SK37-00 -

- 26/10/2018 ORIGINAL ISSUE JLB LL KL

DRAWING ISSUE DISCLAIMER
THIS DRAWING HAS BEEN PRODUCED FOR INFORMATION AND OR

DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY AND IS UNCONTROLLED.
 IT DOES NOT FORM ANY PART OF THE CONTRACTUAL DRAWING

SET AND IS NOT FOR PUBLICATION.

UNCONTROLLED DOCUMENT

DRAFT

AutoCAD SHX Text
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
L.BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
L.BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
L.BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
L.BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
BUS STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
BUS STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
RE

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
SHEFFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
STANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
CYCLE STANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
RAMP

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
KO

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
CCTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
CCTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
MK

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
FLAG

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
FLAG

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
FLAG

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
FLAG

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
FLAG

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
TL

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
STEP

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
P.BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
BIKE

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
RACKS

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
BIKE RACKS

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
SEAT





Dartford Town Centre Regeneration
Project Timeline Roadmap

* Subject to funding agreement

Printed 05/11/2018

Sheet 1

Revision: Rev 1   1‐11‐18 KJL

STATUS

PHASE 1
Market 
Street

PHASE 2
Instone Rd/ 
Highfield 

Rd/ 
Spital St

PR
O
G
RA

M
M
E

BU
DG

ET

PR
O
G
RA

M
M
E

BU
DG

ET

June 
2019

July 
2019

August 
2019

September
2019

October 
2019

September 
2018

October 
2018

November 
2018

December 
2018

January 
2019

March 
2019

April 
2019

May 
2019

February 
2019

November 
2019

December 
2019

January 
2020

February 
2020

March 
2020

April 
2020

May 
2020

Detailed Design (RIBA Stage 4) 
c12 wks

Contract mobilisation/ordering c12 wks

Construction phase c38 weeks

Detailed Design 
Freeze (RIBA Stage 4)

25‐1‐19

Commencement 
20‐5‐19

Completion 
21‐2‐20

Contractor ECI

Contract Award
8‐2‐19

Contract Price Rev 
(if req’d) 
19‐4‐19

Tech Approval 
Stage1 

16‐11‐18 7‐12‐18

Tech Audit & 
RSA1 c5 wks

Tech Approval 
Stage2 
12‐4‐19

Technical Audit & RSA2 c10 wks

Confirm revised 
budget
30‐11‐18

Detailed Design (RIBA Stage 4) c18 weeksOutline Design (RIBA St 3) c12 weeksCompletion of Concept 
Design (RIBA 2) c5 wks

Tech Audit & RSA1 c10 wks

Contractor ECI

Tech Audit & RSA2 c12 weeks

Contractor pricing Contract mobilisation/ordering c12 wks

Contractor 
pricing

PHASE 4
Hythe St/ 
Home 

Gardens/ 
Wesgate
Road PR

O
G
RA

M
M
E

BU
DG

ET

Detailed Design (RIBA Stage 4) c12 wksOutline Design (RIBA Stage 3) c10 wks

Tech Audit & RSA1 c12 wks

Contractor ECI

Tech Audit & RSA2 
c12 weeks

• Construction completes early December 2020 Construction phase c40 weeks

• Tech Audit & RSA2 completes late July 2020 
• Contractor pricing completes Late July 2020
• Contract mobilisation/ordering, starts August 2020
• Construction commences January 2021
• Construction phase c20 weeks
• Construction completes late May 2021 

PHASE 5
PHASE 6
West Hill
Home 

Gardens PR
O
G
RA

M
M
E

BU
DG

ET

Outline Design (RIBA Stage 3) c10 wksCompletion of Concept Design 
(RIBA Stage 2) c4 wks

• Tech Audit & RSA1 completes late July 2020
• Detailed Design (RIBA Stage 4) completes November 2020
• Tech Audit & RSA2 completes  February 2021
• Contract mobilisation/ordering, starts February 2021
• Construction commences June 2021
• Construction phase c16 weeks
• Construction completes late October 2021  Tech Audit & RSA1 

c12 weeks

Bellway 
Development

Muse
Development

PROGRAMME

PROGRAMME

Outline Design 
Freeze (RIBA Stage 3)
1‐10‐18 2‐11‐18

PHASE 1a*
High Street

PR
O
G
RA

M
M
E

BU
DG

ET

Detailed Design (RIBA 
Stage 4) c8 wks

Outline Design 
(RIBA St 3) c4 wks

Tech Audit & RSA1 
c6 wks

Contractor pricing

Outline Design 
Freeze (RIBA Stage 3)

8‐2‐19

DBC propose inclusion in project 
scope at Project Board meeting

29‐11‐18

Tech Approval 
Stage1 
22‐3‐19

Technical Audit & RSA2 
c8 wks

Tech Approval 
Stage2 28‐6‐19

Detailed Design 
Freeze (RIBA Stage 4)

3‐5‐19

Commencement 
9‐9‐19

Construction phase c24 weeks

Completion 
21‐2‐20

Contract mob/ordering c12 wksContractor ECI

Contract Award
9‐6‐19

Contract Price Rev 
(if req’d) 
19‐7‐19

Completion of Concept 
Design (RIBA 2) c5 wks

Completion of Concept 
Design (RIBA 2) c5 wks

Appendix B





CABINET
 6 DECEMBER 2018

LOCAL PLAN REVIEW PROGRESS

1. Summary

1.1 Local Plan work is progressing based on feedback from the first consultation 
for a revised Local Plan, the implications of changes in national planning policy, 
and by commencing the technical evidence required for the next stage of public 
engagement for a Local Plan.  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 That the responses to the Strategic Issues Local Plan consultation, including 
summaries at paragraphs 4.2 and 4.3 and Appendix A, be used to inform the 
next stage in the preparation of the Local Plan. 

2.2 That the Local Plan evidence base position,  summarised at paragraphs 5.1 to 
6.5, including ongoing technical work for the Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment (SHLAA) refresh, be used to inform the next stage in the 
preparation of the Local Plan.

2.3 That the Council’s Five Year Housing Land Supply at Appendix B, be approved 
for publication.

3. National and local planning policy updates  

3.1 The Council completed the first stage in preparing a revised Local Plan for the 
Borough in July 2018. This was the ‘Strategic Issues’ consultation, which 
followed Cabinet approval on 24 May 2018. This report considers the outcomes 
of this consultation, and associated developments that will impact on how the 
Local Plan and further consultations are taken forward.

3.2 Several important new government policies relating to the development of the 
Borough have been published in since the report in May. Most significantly, the 
government issued the final revised 2018 National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF). The final content of the NPPF largely mirrors policy in the draft NPPF 
(reported to Cabinet 12 April 2018 [Min.No.130). In relation to Local Plans, 
requirements include: 

● The presumption in favour of sustainable development. For plan-making this 
entails positively meeting development needs and being flexible (paragraph 
11).

● Strategic policies should plan 15 years ahead from when they come into force 
(paragraph 22).

● Statements of Common Ground to be agreed with public bodies such as other 
local authorities, in order to justify Local Plans that cover an individual local 
authority. These will set out how cross boundary matters such as housing 
needs will be addressed in the wider area through cooperation (paragraph 27).

3.3 The NPPF will be a central consideration in preparing a Local Plan for Dartford, 
including when the final draft is subject to examination by the Planning 
Inspectorate. 



CABINET
 6 DECEMBER 2018

3.4 Positively, the Council has adopted the ‘Framework’ Supplementary Planning 
Document for Dartford Town Centre since the Local Plan consultation. This will 
help achieve the full aspirations of current Local Plan policies and stimulate 
further opportunities for investment in the town. 

3.5 This summer also saw the Thames Estuary Growth Commission, set up by 
government, report with its “2050 Vision”. The main recommendations feature 
a medical campus at central Ebbsfleet and the extension of the Crossrail 1 
‘Elizabeth Line’ eastwards from Abbey Wood (see www.c2ecampaign.com), 
which are seen as “transformative”. 

3.6 Regarding the proposed Crossrail extension, the Council and its partners 
(including London Borough of Bexley and the Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation) have now prepared a Strategic Outline Business Case. This is in 
support of resources from government for a full examination of the potential of 
Crossrail extension to Dartford/Ebbsfleet. The government are due to respond 
to the Thames Estuary Commission by the close of 2018; expected to include 
feedback on the Crossrail extension.

4. Local Plan ‘Strategic Issues’ Consultation Outcomes

4.1 The Strategic Issues document was used to present local information and invite 
responses to open questions. The purposes of the consultation were to:

● Take views on the implications of past and forthcoming changes in national 
planning policy for Dartford.

● Enable feedback to be given on the Core Strategy and its implementation.
● Gather comments on priority actions for future local planning strategy.
● Sets out to infrastructure providers, landowners and other local planning 

authorities, the Council’s current priorities and likely future Borough needs/ 
requirements, focusing on the ‘big picture’ long-term development matters.

Next stage consultation (likely summer 2019) will include options and actions which 
will facilitate additional participation of the general public.

4.2  The consultation gathered a set of extensive comments from the public and 
private sector, with most making well-considered and informative responses. 
Matters of general consensus to emerge include:

● The high level strategy for overall distribution of development in Dartford is 
accepted by many of those who responded. There was strong support for 
continuing a focus on the north of the Borough in order to protect the Green 
Belt and support the regeneration of the urban area including Dartford Town 
Centre (with the exception of those representing land interests in the south of 
the Borough).

● The rate of economic and local changes since the Core Strategy started 
preparation over ten years ago, and the implications for existing evidence. 
Many state more up to date local evidence is now required to better inform 
decisions on future development needs and demand. This includes in response 
to: specific groups in housing need and new housing types, changes in retail 
and leisure expenditure habitats, and economic restructuring and new growth 
sectors. There was support for the principle of aligning job growth locations with 
areas well served by public transport.

● The pressing requirement to plan for a range of transport improvements: 
highways, public transport and walking/ cycling. Peak capacity/ overcrowding 
was the primary rail user issue identified. Notably, some interest was also 
expressed in the upgrade or potential local relocation or rebuilding of railway 

http://www.c2ecampaign.com/


CABINET
 6 DECEMBER 2018

stations. There was clear support for an extension of the Crossrail 1 ‘Elizabeth 
Line’ eastwards to Dartford/Ebbsfleet.

4.3.   The consultation suggests there is a particular need to confirm the future 
approach to the following major themes, in order to meet development, 
infrastructure and environmental needs:

● The scope of Local Plan content. The 2018 NPPF introduced changes to allow 
planning policy updates to focus on strategic matters i.e. infrastructure and the 
long-term supply of major housing/ mixed use sites. (In terms of non-strategic 
matters some comments were made, but the Dartford Development Policies 
Local Plan was adopted only last year. This is performing well in upholding 
development management decisions challenged on appeal). To this end, the 
government is encouraging joint Local Plans.

● Parts of the north of the Borough where development has not occurred as 
expected or where new proposals may be emerging e.g. Ebbsfleet Central and 
Swanscombe Peninsula, and some locations near the Thames. 

● Taking infrastructure local funding and delivery further. The Borough has 
introduced a Community Infrastructure Levy, but this should be seen as an 
ongoing process given infrastructure needs and changing economic conditions. 
There is also the option alongside the Local Plan to revisit the rate at which the 
Levy is charged for applicable new floorspace. However the government are 
reviewing the national developer contributions/ CIL regime.

● How the Council will continue to work in partnership with infrastructure 
providers and neighbouring planning authorities, in response to increasing 
government expectations of collaboration to sustainably meet development 
needs.

● Achieving efficient use of land in the local context and under new national 
policy. This includes both maintaining a supply of brownfield land, and ensuring 
the amount of housing achieved (density) on sites in sustainable locations is 
optimised.

● Representations received from landowners suggest various updates, with a 
number highlighting a need to confirm how the long-term needs of the ageing 
population or individual villages will be met locally in future.

4.4 Irrespective of potential additional revisions to national policy, any review of the 
contribution made by local developers to infrastructure funding will necessitate 
technical evidence on the economic viability of development, informed by the 
cost implications of updated planning policy requirements. This is therefore part 
of the ongoing programming by officers of technical studies to inform the Local 
Plan.

4.5 Regarding the points raised in relation to cooperation and infrastructure/ 
strategic matters, adjoining local authorities are also engaging over their own 
plans:

● The London Borough of Bexley will be consulting on a planning framework to 
deliver their non-statutory growth strategy for major regeneration in the north 
of Bexley Borough. As with the Council, this approach is consistent with Green 
Belt protection and locating development where it is best placed to support 
substantial enhancements in public transport (most prominently, the potential 
Crossrail extension). Bexley is required to operate under the London Plan, a 
new version of which is commencing examination by the Planning Inspectorate.

● Sevenoaks District Council has an ambitious programme to get a new Local 
Plan in place in 2019. In its reply to the Council’s consultation this year, 
Sevenoaks were supportive of the Council’s approach but stated that they may 
not be able to meet their housing need in full and would engage in further 
cooperation with the aim of resolving this issue. A final draft Sevenoaks Local 



CABINET
 6 DECEMBER 2018

Plan is expected shortly and the Council’s response to this will be reported to 
Cabinet.

● Gravesham Borough undertook its first consultation on its Local Plan this year. 
In reply to the Council’s consultation this year, Gravesham highlight the 
Thames Estuary Commission’s findings (see paragraph 3.6 above) and in 
particular its suggestion of joint Local Plans within the Estuary. Gravesham 
moreover confirms it is likely to look towards the Council and other authorities 
to meet some of its unmet development need in line with government policy on 
the Green Belt.

4.6 As required under the legal Duty to Cooperate for Local Plans, further dialogue 
with authorities and infrastructure providers is being taken forward to inform the 
next stage of consultation on the Local Plan for Dartford, and the role of 
applicable organisations in meeting the needs of residents, community groups 
and businesses in the Borough.

4.7 A summary of the responses to the first consultation on the Local Plan is set 
out in Appendix A. This also includes lists of the varied landowner/ developer 
representations and other subsequent submissions i.e. sites too late for current 
SHLAA work. Full copies of the public responses can be seen online. Members 
are invited to formally note the responses received.  

 
5. Emerging Local Plan Evidence Base

5.1 As highlighted by several consultee respondents, Local Plans have to be 
justified by up to date technical evidence (in addition to being supported by 
appropriate public involvement). 

5.2 In particular, the development strategy for the Borough is being taken forward 
through working up technical information and considering the alternative 
development options that can reasonably meet sustainable development 
needs:

● To set a framework to test options and alternatives, and to meet environmental 
legislation, the first engagement has been occurring with Natural England, the 
Environment Agency and Historic England on a Sustainability Appraisal 
Scoping Report. 

● Other prospective technical studies on individual topics are under review by 
officers. Wherever possible work will be conducted in-house. The direct input 
of partners is being sought in all instances, for example Kent County Council/ 
Highways England in relation to highways, and the Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation. 

● In addition to infrastructure and environmental matters, studies will be 
necessary to guide the form of future developments. Evidence from businesses 
and to quantify their future accommodation (for example retail and leisure uses 
at Bluewater and Dartford Town Centre) is required to reflect the changing 
economy. On the nature of residential accommodation needs of different 
groups in the Borough, assessments will be necessary to break down overall 
housing requirements into component parts e.g. types of affordable housing 
and more specialist market housing; a very important part of the background 
information supporting the Local Plan.

5.3 To ensure the Local Plan aims will be successfully achieved - for instance that 
residential development is sustainably located in the context of Dartford’s own 
characteristics and environment - the Council is refreshing both its Brownfield 

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/environment-and-planning2/new-planning-homepage/planning-policy/new-local-plan/2018-regulation-18-representations
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/634630/FINAL-Dartford-SA-Scoping-Report-.pdf
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/634630/FINAL-Dartford-SA-Scoping-Report-.pdf


CABINET
 6 DECEMBER 2018

Land Register and its Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 
(SHLAA), as explained in the next section. 

5.4 The statutory requirement for a Brownfield Land Register was introduced last 
year, and the Council’s first Register agreed by Cabinet in December 2017 
[Min.No.83]. A user friendly version to promote the uptake of suitable brownfield 
sites was also produced for the public online.  The Council has an obligation by 
the end of 2018 to update its Brownfield Land Register. This will simply occur 
through a factual refresh limited to removing those sites where development 
has been completed. However in future years, once SHLAA outputs are 
available, this can be used to more widely to top up the Council’s Brownfield 
Land Register.

6. Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA)

6.1 A SHLAA was produced in 2010 as one of the technical considerations 
informing the Council’s Core Strategy. It helps maintain the Five Year Housing 
Supply over time, and once complete, a SHLAA informs public consultation of 
the realistic development options for the new Local Plan.

6.2 A refreshed version of the SHLAA will eventually identify a pool of possible 
future housing land/ broad locations looking 15 years ahead, from which 
choices can be made.

6.3 Only a partial picture of the current SHLAA refresh is available at present. A 
number of pivotal stages of assessment have yet to commence e.g. closely 
examining the physical constraints, availability and achievability of any land. 
First outputs from the SHLAA are expected in mid-2019 and, with further 
Member consideration, can inform Local Plan next steps 

6.4 Potential future housing land, including existing planning permissions, are 
identified for consideration in the SHLAA by the council and by external parties. 
It must be noted this is work in progress still. 

6.5 Land for potential assessment has been suggested from a range of private and 
public sector organisations and individuals, in locations across the Borough. 
This includes greenfield and brownfield Green Belt land. To confirm, the 
SHLAA cannot change the Green Belt status of land. Also, a large proportion 
of this land is expected to be directly discounted via the SHLAA as 
unsustainable due to a remote location /inaccessibility to key facilities.

7. Five Year Housing Supply 

7.1 Draft documents in support of the Dartford Strategic Issues consultation, 
namely the Core Strategy: Review Policy Monitoring and 2018 Five Year 
Supply, were reported to Cabinet in May. As a result of the publication of the 
new NPPF in July, and subsequent proposed technical amendments, these 
have been subject to further consideration. 

7.2 Central parts of the revised Five Year Housing Supply methodology under the 
2018 NPPF are outlined below:

● A new definition of what constitutes a “deliverable” has tightened the 
circumstances for when a site is allowed to count towards the Five Year 
Supply. 

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/563531/Dartfords-Brownfield-Sites-2017-18.pdf


CABINET
 6 DECEMBER 2018

● A new standardised national housing need methodology is being introduced 
in order to change how housing targets are quantified and applied. 

● A new Housing Delivery Test, based on the level of residential development 
achieved in the past three years, has been introduced to objectively indicate 
the level of additional “buffer” required on top of housing targets for the Five 
Year Supply. Due to the Council’s good housing delivery performance, only 
the lowest buffer is applied (5%). 

7.3 This has all taken account of the technical refinements proposed by 
government for consultation in October 2018, whereby the standard 
methodology is derived from 2014 (not 2016) based household projections, and 
non-major developments with outline permission are ordinarily regarded as 
deliverable.

7.4 It is therefore recommended  that, with Core Strategy Review: Policy Monitoring 
published June 2018 remaining as a draft document, that the Five Year Supply 
at Appendix B (applying the current standard method housing need level) be 
approved demonstrating a 6.4 year supply of deliverable housing land as 
defined by the NPPF 2018.

8. Next Steps

8.1 The Strategic Issues consultation held this summer found support for many of 
the key aspects of the existing approach to development and infrastructure in 
the current Core Strategy Local Plan. It is recognised that the spatial approach 
of protecting the Green Belt and focusing on the regeneration of the northern 
part of the Borough is achieving significant reuse of brownfield land, supporting 
development at sustainable locations such as Ebbsfleet and Dartford Town 
Centre. 

8.2 Importantly, the Council’s long term strategy of encouraging regeneration 
through the development of previously-used, degraded and despoiled sites 
primarily in the urban area is consistent with the thrust of national policy. 
Similarly, the increasing emphasis on enhancing infrastructure, particularly 
transport, and ensuring efficient use of scarce land suitable for development, 
are seen as themes to be further brought out in the Council’s future strategy.

8.3 Cabinet approved a formal programme (Local Development Scheme) in May 
2018 to have a new Local Plan in place by 2021:

● It is expected this will require further public consultation in summer 2019.
● This enables final consultation on a draft Plan in early 2020.
● The Plan and consultation would then be submitted to government for 

Examination in late 2020.

Therefore in order to present meaningful strategic options/ alternatives for discussion, 
substantial further technical evidence is now required (including the Dartford SHLAA 
refresh). 

8.4 Before being able to submit a Plan, the Council will need to have a clear 
proposal as to how it can demonstrate it has discharged the Duty to Co-operate 
on meeting development and infrastructure needs in the wider area, by 
appropriate working with other authorities.

9.
Relationship to the Corporate Plan



CABINET
 6 DECEMBER 2018

9.1 To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to 
all of our communities. 

9.2 To facilitate quality, choice and diversity in the housing market, to create 
strong and self- reliant communities and deliver high quality services to 
service users. 

10.
Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments*

Financial Implications No new implications. 

Legal Implications Key legal requirements addressed in report.

Staffing Implications No new implications.

Administrative 
Implications

No new implications.

Risk Assessment Key risks addressed in report.

Details of Exempt Information Category
Not applicable

11. Appendices

Appendix A: Strategic Issues Consultation – Main Issue Arising 
Appendix B: Dartford Borough Council Five Year Housing Supply

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Mark Aplin 
(01322) 343202

Planning 
Policy, 
Regenerati
on Services

N/A





1

Appendix A
Strategic Issues Consultation – Main Issues Arising 

Contents
Introduction ..............................................................................................................................3
Section B: Dartford’s Strategic Development Objectives and Issues ..............................3

Strategy and Scope of the Plan (Questions 1-2c and 4a) ....................................................3
Strategy ............................................................................................................................3
Scope of the Local Plan....................................................................................................4
Important Long-term Topics for Future Strategic Policies ................................................4
New Policy Guidance........................................................................................................5

Cross Boundary Issues and Duty to Co-operate (Questions 3a-b) ......................................7
Main Cross Boundary Planning/Infrastructure Issues.......................................................7
Protocol for Action and Communication ...........................................................................7

Section C: Features of the Development Strategy for the Borough .................................8
Homes (Questions 5 part, 6a-c, 7a-b and 25a-c) .................................................................8

Policy Approach/Housing Numbers (see also Strategy section above)............................8
Housing Types..................................................................................................................8
Affordable Housing ...........................................................................................................8
Accessible/Adaptable Dwellings .......................................................................................9
Windfall Development.......................................................................................................9
Efficiency of Land Use/Brownfield Land ...........................................................................9

Employment .......................................................................................................................10
Retail and Leisure (Questions 9a and 9b)..........................................................................10

Policy Approach..............................................................................................................10
Dartford Town Centre .....................................................................................................10
Bluewater........................................................................................................................11

Transport, Infrastructure and Developer Contributions (Questions 3c and 10-14b)...........11
Transport General Comments ........................................................................................11
Highways/Parking ...........................................................................................................11
Buses/Fastrack ...............................................................................................................12
Cycling/Walking ..............................................................................................................12
Railway Services/Stations ..............................................................................................12
River Transport ...............................................................................................................13
Other Infrastructure.........................................................................................................13
Infrastructure Delivery Plan ............................................................................................13
Infrastructure Funding.....................................................................................................14

Natural Environment (Questions 15 and 16) ......................................................................14



2

Open Space (Questions 26a-c)..........................................................................................14
Climate Change, Energy and Air Quality (Questions 17a-c) ..............................................15

Flood Risk.......................................................................................................................15
Water Resources ............................................................................................................15
Emissions/Air Quality......................................................................................................16
Energy/Technology.........................................................................................................16

Design and Conservation (Questions 18a-b) .....................................................................16
Section D: Main Areas and Types of Future Development ..............................................17

Pattern of Development (Question 19)...............................................................................17
Stone, Greenhithe, Swanscombe and Thames Riverside (Questions 20-23)....................17

Ebbsfleet to Stone Priority Area......................................................................................17
Stone and Greenhithe Former Landfill Sites...................................................................17
Swanscombe Regeneration............................................................................................17
Thames Waterfront Priority Area ....................................................................................17

Ebbsfleet Garden City (Questions 24a-c)...........................................................................18
General ...........................................................................................................................18
Swanscombe Peninsula .................................................................................................18
Ebbsfleet Central ............................................................................................................19
Other Sites......................................................................................................................19

Green Belt (Questions 27a-b) ............................................................................................19
Local Priorities (Questions 28a-c) ......................................................................................20

Area Needs.....................................................................................................................20
Small or Brownfield Sites................................................................................................20
Specialist and Alternative Sources of Housing ...............................................................20

Other/General.....................................................................................................................20
Annex: Sites submitted through the SHLAA and Local Plan consultation .............................22



3

Introduction

In total, responses were received from 53 different organisations.  The diagram below shows 
the type of organisations who responded.

7

8

9

4

25

Authorities

Infrastructure Providers

Statutory Bodies and Interest Groups

Parish Councils/Residents' Associations

Others

The Strategic Issues consultation occurred shortly after the SHLAA ‘call for sites’ period.  
There is a clear link between developer/interested party land interests and the nature of 
responses made to the Local Plan consultation.  There are a number of tables in the Annex 
outlining some of the land interests that make up part of the ‘other’ respondents.   

Consultation Document Section B: 

Dartford’s Strategic Development Objectives and Issues

Strategy and Scope of the Plan (Questions 1-2c and 4a)

Strategy

A number of respondents consider that the current strategy is appropriate and that the 
emphasis should continue to be on the current approach of focussing development on 
existing brownfield/ underutilised land within settlement confines by making more efficient 
use of land and optimising the density of development to support regeneration whilst 
protecting the Green Belt.  However, some comment that the strategy needs to take account 
of changes to the mix of uses coming forward on some strategic sites and consider the 
future role of Bluewater (see relevant sections below).

Some developers comment that the current strategy is appropriate but that it should promote 
a higher level of housing provision on suitable sites, including non-strategic previously 
developed sites, and a higher density of development in Dartford Town Centre.

Other developers state that the strategy should be reviewed to allow for more housing in 
rural villages/Green Belt (including a Green Belt review and the allocation of sites) and that 



4

there should be a more even spatial distribution across the Borough rather than relying on 
key delivery sites in the urban area.

There have been a number of general comments including the need for the Local Plan to:
 reflect updated policy and legislation; and
 clarify the plan period which should be at least 15/20 years from the date of 

adoption.

Scope of the Local Plan

A number of statutory and local bodies support the Local Plan being focussed on strategic 
policies but there are some references to the need to update development management 
policies to:

 comply with the strategic approach, current legislation and national planning policy; 
 strengthen planning controls; and 
 reflect the Dartford Town Centre Masterplan.

A number of developers consider that there should be a single new Local Plan which 
includes strategic policies and development management policies.  Some refer to the need 
to include site allocations.

The EDC suggests that, for proposals on sites that span both Boroughs, and as far as 
possible, the policies and proposals in DBC should be consistent with those being reviewed 
in Gravesham to avoid obvious conflicts. The Marine Management Organisation considers 
that the Local Plan needs to take into account marine planning.

Important Long-term Topics for Future Strategic Policies

Respondents list a wide variety of important topics for future strategic policies.  Statutory and 
local bodies in particular cite transport/highways, including the provision of sustainable 
transport options and lorry parking, and infrastructure provision, including superfast 
broadband, water supply and energy supply.  There are also references to green belt 
protection, biodiversity, green infrastructure, environmental net gain, flood mitigation, air 
quality, design and the historic environment.

A number of developers list the delivery of new dwellings as being important, particularly 
to address needs in the rural area.  Reference is also made to facilitating a mix of housing 
types, including older persons’ accommodation, and the need for development which 
creates communities to enable families to stay close.

A statutory body considers that economic development is important. One landowner refers to 
the importance of repurposing/regenerating Dartford Town Centre in considering future 
strategic policies for the Borough.

New Policy Guidance

A large number of policy areas have been listed as needing new or updated local policy/ 
guidance.  These relate to strategic sites, other site issues, house types, infrastructure, 
environmental issues, the built environment, the green belt, and recreation and tourism.  
These are listed in the table overpage.



5

Policy Areas needing New or Updated Local Policy/Guidance

Strategic Sites  Ebbsfleet Garden City
 Swanscombe Peninsula

Other Site 
Issues

 Windfall sites including former quarries/landfill sites and Borough 
Open Spaces

 Viability assessments
 Reinvigorating employment locations

House Types  Affordable housing for local people
 Older persons’ accommodation (new and retention of existing 

housing suitable for older people)
 Lifetime homes
 Build to rent
 Co-living
 Student accommodation
 HMOs

Transport 
Infrastructure

 Highways/transport
 Traffic management
 Use of River Thames for transport
 Public rights of way

Other 
Infrastructure

 Energy generation
 Water utilities
 Wastewater
 Waste management
 Education provision including allocating land for schools
 Emergency planning and resilience
 SUDS
 Technology
 Green infrastructure

Environmental 
issues

 Climate change
 Energy efficiency, renewable energy and local energy generation
 Water efficiency and supply
 Environmental net gain
 Biodiversity
 Electric vehicle connections
 Air quality
 Dark skies protection
 Protecting the best quality agricultural land

Built 
environment

 Heritage and conservation (including local list of assets)
 Design tools to support place-making
 Building on sloping sites

Green Belt  Traveller sites
 Housing
 Boundaries

Recreation and Tourism



6

Cross Boundary Issues and Duty to Co-operate (Questions 3a-b)

Main Cross Boundary Planning/Infrastructure Issues

The following key cross boundary issues have been identified, particularly by statutory 
bodies:

 Housing
 Employment
 Retail/role of Bluewater
 Key development sites including Ebbsfleet Garden City, Swanscombe Peninsula and 

the Thames Waterfront area
 Green Belt
 Infrastructure including education, health, TE2100, water supply, wastewater 

management
 Transport infrastructure including Crossrail extension, Fastrack (and possible link to 

the north Bexley proposed transit scheme), public transport, walking, cycling, traffic 
management, A2 junction improvements/M25/Dartford Crossing, Lower Thames 
Crossing, use of and access to the River Thames, modelling

 Green infrastructure

There are also some references to environmental sustainability and resilience, decentralised 
energy and electric vehicle charging infrastructure, heritage, and air quality in a cross 
boundary context.

Gravesham BC, Thurrock Council, the GLA and the EDC refer to the potential of producing 
joint plans.  Some make reference to the Thames Estuary 2050 Growth Commission report 
in this respect.  A number of statutory bodies also refer to the duty to co-operate, including 
the preparation of other strategic and local plans in neighbouring areas and the implications 
and opportunities to engage with these.

Protocol for Action and Communication

Respondents generally offered clear support for the protocol and its aims.  One comments 
that this should be reviewed in light of the revised NPPF and PPG guidance on duty to co-
operate and the need for statements of common ground.  The EDC has already committed 
to work with DBC through a recent Memorandum of Understanding.



7

Section C: Features of the Development Strategy for the Borough

Homes (Questions 5 part, 6a-c, 7a-b and 25a-c)

Policy Approach/Housing Numbers (see also Strategy section above)

A significant number of respondents comment that the policy approach should be informed 
by updated evidence/assessments including consideration of other housing/ 
employment scenarios – SHMA, SHLAA, SA/SEA.  The GLA refer to their demographic 
modelling which provides alternative population and household projections which could be 
taken into account when applying the government’s standard approach to calculating 
housing need.

Sevenoaks DC and Gravesham BC refer to the potential difficulties of meeting their 
housing needs in their areas and the potential of neighbouring areas to meet some of these 
needs.  A number of developers consider that DBC should accommodate some of the 
housing shortfalls arising from surrounding areas, deliver its Core Strategy housing target 
and/or provide an oversupply of housing.  However, some local bodies express concerns 
about increasing housing provision in the borough.

Housing Types

As already referred to above, some respondents consider that the size, type and tenure of 
housing needed in the borough should be informed by an updated Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment.  One developer considers that this should take account of local demand 
factors, site opportunities and constraints.

The EDC states that consideration needs to be given to alternative models of housing, 
including the private rented sector, self-build and custom build, as well as specialist housing 
to support specific needs and assist in downsizing.  Other respondents also recognise the 
importance of providing homes suitable for older and disabled people, including KCC who 
refer to the need for extra care housing and residential care homes. 

Swanscombe and Greenhithe TC considers that consideration needs to be given to starter 
homes and live-work units.  In addition to private sale and affordable housing, developers 
suggest that the Local Plan needs to have regard to build to rent, co-living, and rent to buy 
housing.

There is also reference to the need for a range of house types and locations.  One 
respondent considers that there should be more flexibility in the houses/flats ratio based on 
site characteristics and market demand.  The EDC states that there needs to be clarification 
of the housing mix ratios in the Thames Waterfront area.

Affordable Housing

A number of developers consider that Dartford should apply the national policy approach, 
i.e. not seek affordable housing contributions on developments of ten units or less and 
update the definition of affordable housing in accordance with the NPPF.

Conversely, some local bodies and developers support the current policy approach of 
seeking affordable housing contributions on smaller sites in the rural area.  KCC consider 
that it may be appropriate to seek an affordable housing contribution from smaller sites if an 
appropriate level cannot be achieved through larger sites, taking viability into account.



8

Some local bodies refer to the need to provide affordable homes which genuinely meet the 
needs of local people.

Accessible /Adaptable Dwellings

There is a mixed response to the question of whether all dwellings should be accessible/ 
adaptable for all users and ages through national design standards with local bodies in 
favour and developers generally against such a requirement.  One developer suggests a 
10% allowance.  The EDC considered that there should be an explicit policy setting out this 
requirement for all new dwellings unless it is not possible due to physical constraints.  KCC 
consider that the requirement for accessible/adaptable homes should apply to all affordable 
units and to at least 75% of market units (excluding 1-bed units) and that at least 2% of units 
on sites of more than 50 dwellings should be made wheelchair accessible.

Windfall Development

Large/Small Sites

Local bodies consider that windfall development is problematic, particularly on small sites, 
due to the loss of amenity space and parking issues.  One developer refers to the limited 
availability of small windfall sites in the urban area which are not easily deliverable.  
Conversely, a local resident considers that windfall development is only an issue in the case 
of larger sites.

A number of developers submit that windfall development is not problematic, contributes to 
meeting housing needs and should be supported subject to good standard of design, 
causing no harm and meeting sustainable development objectives.  

KCC refer to the fact that infrastructure can be more easily planned for sites identified 
through the Local Plan process.  Whilst both small and large windfall sites lead to a need for 
additional infrastructure, this is more difficult in the case of larger sites due to the cost of 
providing land and delivering the facilities.

Policy DP6: Sustainable Residential Locations

There is support for the current policy from local bodies, a local resident and KCC.  Some 
developers state that it needs to comply with national policy while others consider that it 
should allow for the development of open spaces which do not fulfil that purpose and the 
redevelopment of previously developed sites.

Efficiency of Land Use/Brownfield Land

Local and statutory bodies consider that Dartford can best make efficient use of land by 
focussing development on brownfield sites but it is recognised that this is a finite 
resource.  There are references to taking a more flexible approach to housing densities, 
with KCC suggesting that higher densities should be allowed in appropriate locations (e.g. 
around railway stations).  

Developers put forward a range of ways in which Dartford can make efficient use of land, 
including: bringing forward development on previously developed sites in the urban area and 
the Green Belt; setting differential CIL rates/not requiring excessive planning obligations for 
development of brownfield sites; factoring in the cost and timescales for developing 
brownfield land; allowing a wider range of housing types; and locating development where 
this supports services within settlements.



9

Some local bodies and a developer consider that the Local Plan should contain a target of 
80% of housing to be on brownfield land.  Conversely, developers with an interest in 
greenfield sites consider that there should not be such a target as the availability of 
brownfield land will reduce and it is subject to constraints, both of which may affect the 
delivery of growth in the long term.  Natural England consider that the target should be 
driven by the available area of low environmental value, possibly using a brownfield audit.  
KCC supports the focus on brownfield land subject to the provision of infrastructure.

In relation to whether the focus should be on delivering sites in part 1 of Dartford’s 
Brownfield Land Register, some developers point out that: it fails to include all brownfield 
land (e.g. former quarry and landfill sites, brownfield sites in the Green Belt); it will not 
support rural communities; and there should be more emphasis on the delivery of greenfield 
sites. The issue of the diminishing supply of brownfield sites is also raised.

Employment

A number of statutory bodies comment that the employment policy approach should be 
informed by updated evidence/assessments and consideration of whether the existing 
strategy is still appropriate – employment needs, employment land assessment.  Stone PC 
consider that there should be some flexibility to allow workplaces to change use.  A 
landowner wants the plan to maintain the approach of protecting successfully operating 
employment uses at Victoria Industrial Park.

Statutory bodies consider that DBC should consider land for industry and logistics and 
quality commercial space to provide for future economic development in Dartford.  Local 
bodies refer to the need for live-work units, provision for home working and provision for 
businesses perceived as under threat from the possibility of a London Resort.  The owner of 
the former Littlebrook Power Station suggests that the focus should be on advanced logistics 
and the storage and distribution employment sector.  One landowner considers that the Plan 
should seek to regenerate land in or with potential for employment use in order to maximise 
job creation whilst another states that job targets are not transferable to retail need and 
should not be used to support out of town retail development.

There is support for new economic growth focussed on locations that are well served by 
public transport and walking/ cycling.  Some respondents also consider that new 
economic growth should reflect the local skills and experience of the resident or future 
workforce.  The EDC would like to see the creation of a vibrant commercial destination at 
Ebbsfleet which maximises access to the public transport, walking and cycling network.  
KCC seeks policies which encourage development to commit to Local Employment 
Initiatives.

Retail and Leisure (Questions 9a and 9b)

Policy Approach

A number of respondents consider that the retail and leisure policy approach should be 
informed by updated evidence/assessments – retail capacity/need/impact studies, leisure 
study.  A couple of local bodies state that the plan should reflect changes in retail habits, e.g. 
online shopping.



10

Dartford Town Centre

In terms of Dartford Town Centre, KCC considers that the major opportunities have already 
been identified and that the redevelopment of the Station Mound could have the greatest 
impact.  Some respondents consider that there could be opportunities to increase residential 
development, e.g. through taller buildings, though a local resident is concerned about the 
impact of this on infrastructure and open spaces.  One landowner considers that there is 
potential to maintain/expand civic and community uses.  The GLA notes that any significant 
retail/leisure development would need to consider impacts on London’s centres.

Bluewater

A number of neighbouring authorities consider that any policy for Bluewater needs to 
consider its future role/status and impacts on other centres, taking into account updated 
evidence.

The owners of the site state that the current policy strikes the right balance between 
protecting existing centres and allowing changes to retail provision at Bluewater but that it 
should include updated guideline figures.  Both the owners and EDC consider that the policy 
should allow for flexibility of uses to respond to changing needs/demands in the retail sector.  
The owners refer to the potential for dining, leisure, hotel and residential development.

KCC comment that the Local Plan should support the further expansion of Bluewater so that 
it can compete with rival shopping locations subject to it complimenting the offer at Dartford 
and Gravesend, not making any further parking provision, improving sustainable forms of 
transport and the completion of the A2 Bean junction improvement. 

A major landowner within Dartford Town Centre considers that future 
development/expansion of Bluewater should be resisted to allow town centres to benefit 
from increased expenditure capacity in the leisure/retail sectors.  Local bodies state that the 
parking and opening time conditions need to be clarified and its setting should provide the 
context for any future change.

Transport, Infrastructure and Developer Contributions (Questions 3c and 10-
14b)

Transport General Comments

A number of respondents consider that there is a need for an updated, robust transport 
evidence base, including what impact the Lower Thames Crossing will have at Dartford.  

Interestingly, Network Rail refer to the issue of narrow platforms on curves at Dartford 
station and the fact that there may be the opportunity to move the station westwards for 
improved rail operation.  [This is a new proposal and is being discussed with them.  The 
relationship with the potential Crossrail extension is uncertain].  They also mention the 
potential to lengthen trains through Dartford to 12-car.

The GLA/TfL state that DBC could consider extending some of the Mayor’s strategic 
transport policy objectives.



11

Highways/Parking

Highways England state that the strategy, policies and allocations should support the 
operation of a safe and reliable transport network and alternatives to the car.  KCC 
recognise that severe traffic congestion on the local road network is often a result of 
incidents at the Dartford crossing.  They support improvements at the Dartford Crossing and 
the new Lower Thames Crossing.  There is a need for further investment beyond the 
planned STIPS schemes and DBC should continue to engage with KCC/Highways England 
to identify measures to improve the performance of the local road network.  Other 
respondents also raise issues of traffic congestion and support projects/improvements to 
ease this.  Local bodies have suggested the need for: road and parking enforcement; smart 
traffic lights; separation of local and through traffic; and action on lorry parking.  EDC 
suggest that there should be bespoke parking standards for sites in their area.

Buses/Fastrack

There is general support for improving the Fastrack/ bus network and services and ensuring 
that destinations are well served by them.  Swanscombe and Greenhithe TC considers that 
they should be made more reliable and affordable and that more efficient use should be 
made of bus lanes.  EDC make the suggestion that developer contributions should be used 
to fund Fastrack infrastructure and that this should be included on the CIL 123 list.  Bexley 
Council consider that there is the opportunity to link an expanded Fastrack scheme with the 
proposed transit scheme in north Bexley.  A local resident has expressed concerns about 
the relocation of buses from Market Street to Home Gardens.

Cycling/Walking

Respondents consider that better provision should be made for cyclists/pedestrians, i.e. a 
network of high quality routes and facilities.  EDC suggest that reference should be made to 
the Ebbsfleet Implementation Framework whilst KCC think that DBC should develop a cycle 
strategy with the development of traffic free cycle routes set out as a priority.

KCC wish to see policies which: encourage walking and cycling; ensure development 
provides high quality access infrastructure; address public rights of way issues; improve 
equestrian access; ensure developments do not adversely impact on non-motorised users of 
rural lanes; and protect and enhance promoted routes, e.g. England Coast Path National 
Trail.

A developer suggests that developer contributions could be used to fund cycle paths and 
cycle parking at railway stations.

Railway Services/Stations

Respondents identify overcrowding (peak capacity) as the most important issue facing 
future rail services in the Borough.  Maintaining access to existing London termini stations 
and the quality of local stations are identified as the next most important issues.  
Reliability and cost of travel and are identified as the other key issues.

In terms of relocating/rebuilding stations on the North Kent line, the issue of funding is 
raised, i.e. capital funding would need to be met by the private sector.  Opportunities should 
be investigated but any relocation would need to consider the impacts on local facilities.



12

There is support from EDC and Swanscombe and Greenhithe TC for the 
relocation/improvement of Swanscombe Station and Network Rail consider that there may 
be the opportunity to improve it if London Resort goes ahead.

Partners support the Crossrail extension to Ebbsfleet, with some making reference to the 
development opportunities that this would facilitate.  One respondent states that the route 
should continue to be safeguarded.

There are some issues raised over the possibility of linking the London Victoria railway line 
to the existing underused railway line south of Ebbsfleet International.  Statutory bodies 
question what impact it would have on development at Ebbsfleet Central and the capacity of 
Ebbsfleet station, how it would be funded, how services would operate, and how the A2 
would be crossed.  Local bodies and residents are concerned about impacts on residents, 
businesses, existing train services through Longfield/Farningham Road stations and the road 
network/parking provision.

River Transport

A number of statutory bodies comment that policies should support river transport, including 
between North Kent and Essex/London.  The PLA specifically refers to the use of the river to 
transport construction materials, freight and passengers, and the role of operational 
wharves.  Dartford and Crayford Creek Restoration Trust states that Dartford Creek should 
remain navigable.

Other Infrastructure

Infrastructure providers and statutory and local bodies consider that policies and schemes 
should take account of the need for:

 wastewater treatment, efficient/sustainable use of wastewater assets and the need to 
protect sensitive development from odour pollution

 water supply including the protection of groundwater and surface water sources from 
pollution and the efficient/sustainable use of water resources

 SuDS
 education provision through robust planning and safeguarding land/identifying sites
 health facilities including the potential for the future expansion of Darent Valley 

Hospital
 sports and leisure facilities – indoor and outdoor
 more facilities for children in villages
 wider service provision which does not just include facilities
 the provision of more community and social uses
 care home provision for older people
 high speed broadband to be provided in new housing

There is a need to provide these at the necessary time to meet the needs arising from new 
development and ensure that they are accessible by a variety of transport modes.

KCC consider that policies on housing delivery (CS11), community services (CS21) and 
delivery and implementation (CS26) are important for the delivery of infrastructure and that 
the Local Plan should allocate land for community facilities.

Infrastructure Delivery Plan

Respondents refer to the need for the IDP to include sufficient provision for infrastructure 
and provisions for review.  Comments have been received from infrastructure providers, 
statutory and local bodies stating that the IDP should include reference to:



13

 Community service needs arising from all development including changes to the 
delivery of services

 Sufficient GP facilities to meet needs arising from new development, to be funded 
through CIL

 Green infrastructure, including public rights of way, green space and enhancing 
habitats

 The need for riparian lifesaving equipment and suicide prevention measures to be 
provided by development on the riverside

 Crossrail
 Use of the River Thames
 Possible support for the Kenex Thames Transit was raised by Bean RA (although no 

response was received from the organisation directly on this.

Infrastructure Funding

A number of comments have been made on the proposed changes to the system of 
development contributions.  KCC consider that both CIL and S106 obligations could apply, 
particularly for larger sites, and they support the ability for authorities to recover the cost of 
monitoring obligations.  EDC consider that the current dual CIL/S106 agreement process 
adds uncertainty and complication.  They support CIL review, and particularly the proposals 
for viability assessment to be carried out at the plan making stage and for CIL to be based 
on existing land value with links to the residential/commercial index.  However, EDC are 
concerned about the implications of nationally set contributions and the proposed strategic 
infrastructure tariff which could have a negative impact on securing the infrastructure needed 
to support development in Dartford and the provision and funding of major infrastructure 
(notably the proposed Crossrail extension).  The CCG consider that the proposals will lead 
to the need to review Dartford’s CIL rates and developers state that viability needs to be 
taken into account.

KCC are keen to work with DBC if new funding approaches are explored and reference the 
need to work collaboratively to plan for strategic transport infrastructure beyond the current 
STIPS programme.  A number of statutory bodies refer to the need for developer 
contributions/CIL to provide sufficient school places, green infrastructure and improvements 
to railway facilities.

Natural Environment (Questions 15 and 16)

Local and statutory bodies consider that planning policies should achieve environmental 
net gain and plan positively for networks of biodiversity and green infrastructure including: 
protecting SSSIs and ancient woodland; enhancing biodiversity on new developments; 
considering the role of trees as part of a wider integrated landscape approach; and creating 
opportunities for greater public understanding and engagement with the local natural 
environment (e.g. River Darent, Dartford Marshes).

In terms of the approach to mitigating the impacts of large developments on the international 
habitats and species on the North Kent coast, a number of statutory bodies support the 
existing approach which should continue.  It is considered that DBC will need to consider the 
implications of the recent judgement on this issue.



14

Open Space (Questions 26a-c)

The question on where the focus of greenspace and outdoor recreation improvements 
should be elicited a variety of responses.  Statutory bodies make reference to the need to 
focus improvements in deprived areas and where there is a deficiency in provision, as well 
as increasing requirements for open space provision.  

Stone PC and Bean RA have made a number of suggestions for increased/improved open 
space provision as follows:

 former landfill sites that offer low development potential;
 Bean Triangle, funded by the EDC;
 Beacon Wood Country Park, funded by Tarmac; and
 The Thrift ancient woodland, funded by Highways England.

The Dartford and Crayford Creek Restoration Trust would like the Local Plan to support 
improvements at Dartford Creek and surrounding areas as a destination and catalyst for 
outdoor activity, health and wellbeing, as well as making the Darent Valley Path a more 
visible and inviting green route.  A couple of developers state that open space should be 
provided as part of developments whilst another considers that open space improvements 
should take place throughout the Borough.

Some statutory bodies refer to the need to: create a green space/ecological network; protect 
existing sites; and carry out an assessment of needs for open space sport and recreation 
facilities.  Sport England make particular reference to the protection of playing fields and 
sports facilities and the need for a Playing Pitch Strategy.

A number of suggestions are made on how open space enhancement should be funded 
including developer contributions and CIL.  One developer suggests that capital receipts 
generated through the development process should be used.

The EDC are currently investigating options for the long-term stewardship of open spaces in 
its area.  Swanscombe and Greenhithe TC consider that parish councils should fund 
enhancements through agreements with developers and they also raise the issue of 
residents of new developments currently being double charged due to development service 
charges.

Local bodies recognise the need for new open space as part of new development to provide 
a healthy and safe environment for all ages.  Statutory bodies consider that such spaces 
should be accessible to all users and by sustainable modes of transport, as well as 
multifunctional.  A number of respondents refer to the importance of making adequate 
provision for long term maintenance.  KCC makes reference to the need to integrate with the 
drainage system whilst the EDC consider that provision should be made for soft landscaping 
and, in the case of larger spaces, public toilets and refreshment facilities.  NE consider that 
provision should be made for publicly accessible semi-natural habitats.



15

Climate Change, Energy and Air Quality (Questions 17a-c)

Flood Risk

KCC consider that policies should reflect the government’s recent Climate Change Risk 
Assessment and the forthcoming National Adaptation Plan.

The EA states that Dartford’s SFRA should be updated to include their modelling updates.  
They also consider that there is a need to give greater resilience and protection to existing 
drainage infrastructure and flood defences, including setting development back from them, 
and to take account of measures in the TE2100 Plan.  

Some statutory bodies recognise that that flood risk can be reduced by working with natural 
processes, using green infrastructure (including trees) and SUDS.  KCC consider that 
policies should reflect changes that have occurred in respect of the way SUDS are delivered 
in line with their policy statement.  Thames Water also consider that reference should be 
made to the Dartford Surface Water Management Plan.  

Water Resources

Water companies want policies which promote the efficient and sustainable use of water 
resources and prevent development which would lead to a deterioration in the quality and 
yield of ground and surface water.  They are also keen to ensure that new development 
does not result in sensitive receptors being introduced to areas where they may be affected 
by existing land uses (policy DP5).  EDC comment that policies should support water 
sensitive design and sustainable water management.

Emissions/Air Quality

Respondents comment that policies should support modal shift by ensuring convenient 
access to public transport and safe/accessible pedestrian and cycle routes/facilities as well 
as supporting the use of the River Thames for transport.  Natural England suggest that a 
green infrastructure strategy should be produced.  A number of statutory and local bodies 
consider that there should also be a requirement for new development to make provision for 
electric vehicles and charging points,  

Some respondents recognise that air pollution is an issue in the Borough and this should be 
considered when planning for future development in the Borough.  KCC specifically refers to 
the government’s Clean Growth Strategy and ‘Road to Zero’ consultation 

The land use strategy can reduce emissions by locating residential close to employment 
areas and/or public transport.

Energy/Technology

Statutory and local bodies respond that planning policies should support broadband/high 
speed internet provision and encourage the use of green, brown and blue roofs, solar panels 
and rain water collection.  EDC consider that the references to the Code for Sustainable 
Homes should be updated to allow the application of future nearest equivalent standards.



16

Design and Conservation (Questions 18a-b)

In terms of heritage, Historic England suggest that the Local Plan needs to consider how the 
historic environment can assist in the delivery of wider objectives as well as how new 
development can contribute to local distinctiveness and the conservation/enhancement of 
heritage assets.  There is also the suggestion that masterplans or design briefs should be 
produced and that all documents should refer to the Borough’s heritage/character.  Local 
bodies recognise the need for development to reflect local heritage, including the application 
of existing policies DP12 and DP13.  Historic England/KCC and the EDC go further by 
respectively suggesting that a heritage strategy or SPD should be developed and the 
Ebbsfleet Character Study should be expanded to cover the Borough.  NE refer to the need 
to address connections between people and places and to integrate new development into 
the natural, built and historic environment.  KCC refer to a project involving volunteers from 
the Kent Gardens Trust reviewing the heritage significance of gardens.

Statutory bodies have put forward a significant list of suggestions which need to be 
considered to ensure good design, largely reflecting their areas of focus.  These include: 
green infrastructure; heritage; sustainable drainage systems; and the riverside environment.  
KCC consider that further design guidance should be produced which uses examples and 
covers a number of topic areas.  The EDC considers that the Plan should consider:

 tall buildings;
 public realm;
 public open space;
 private amenity space; and 
 Building for Life 12

.



17

Section D: Main Areas and Types of Future Development

Pattern of Development (Question 19)

There is significant support for the locations identified in the Core Strategy from statutory 
and local bodies as well as the developers of sites identified within the current plan.  Natural 
England considers that sites with the least environmental impact should be progressed to 
deliver sustainable development.

Developers with an interest in other sites consider that the plan should: recognise the role of 
non-strategic previously developed sites; allow for the development of suitable windfall sites 
that are well related to the priority areas; and/or provide a more even distribution of housing 
across the Borough including sites at villages south of the A2.

Stone, Greenhithe, Swanscombe and Thames Riverside (Questions 20-23)

Ebbsfleet to Stone Priority Area

See also the comments set out in the relevant sub-sections below.

Local bodies have made a number of comments.  They consider that policies need to 
recognise that this may no longer be a single area, there should be prioritisation of health 
services rather than residential development and the early provision of public transport 
should be required.

Stone and Greenhithe Former Landfill Sites

In relation to former landfill sites, statutory bodies state that consideration should be given to 
comprehensive restoration, ecological and landscape value, and opportunities for green 
infrastructure.  Similarly, a number of local bodies refer to their potential for recreational use 
but safety issues are also raised.  A developer submits that they are suitable for residential 
led redevelopment which can provide housing and bring community benefits.

There is general support from local bodies for these sites to provide public benefits/access 
though Natural England consider that this should be part of a wider green infrastructure 
strategy.

There are concerns from local bodies that redevelopment of landfill sites could increase 
pressures on infrastructure, lead to the loss of green space/gaps, adversely impact on the 
character of the area and exacerbate poor air quality.

Swanscombe Regeneration

The EDC considers that the regeneration in Swanscombe could be supported by reinforcing 
connections between Swanscombe and Ebbsfleet Central, whilst Natural England 
recognises the importance of securing the long term management of the Swanscombe Skull 
Site NNR.  The Town Council recognises that there are parking issues and raises the issue 
of funding availability.



18

Thames Waterfront Priority Area

Stone Parish Council considers that any development should be mixed use, include 
facilities and maximise access to public transport.  In addition, the appearance of the 
industrial area should be improved and there should be new links north/south of the railway 
line.

Some developers state that the policy and diagrams should be updated to reflect 
development undertaken since 2011.  One supports existing policies which promote 
redevelopment on the proviso that they remain flexible given the presence of complex 
brownfield sites.

A number of respondents consider that the policy should support river transport and the use 
of the River Thames though Natural England point out that there is a need to ensure that 
there are no impacts on coastal designated sites.  The relationship between the waterfront 
and Dartford Creek with regard to river use, leisure provision, public realm and amenity 
needs to be taken into account.

The PLA wants the references to wharves, the need for a study on cargo handling viability 
where sites are proposed for redevelopment and the encouragement of proposals which 
incorporate sustainable river transport uses using the wharves in policy CS6 to be retained.  
The policy should be updated to refer to the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016.

In relation to the former Littlebrook Power Station, the future role of the site needs to be 
clarified.  The landowner suggests that the whole of the site should be shown as a key 
development site suitable for new employment floorspace.

There are references to London Resort/Swanscombe Peninsula which are addressed in the 
section below.

Ebbsfleet Garden City (Questions 24a-c)

The EDC consider that the Ebbsfleet policy approach should support the principles and 
aspirations set out in the Ebbsfleet Implementation Framework and require development 
to reflect the site’s character as set out in the Character Study.  GBC consider that the 
Garden City principles should extend beyond the EDC’s area to ensure that existing 
adjoining communities benefit from the public investment being made.

Thurrock Council comment that Ebbsfleet should contribute as much as possible to meeting 
development needs.  Comments are also made in relation to the importance of a high quality 
public realm, environmental issues, technology and the potential for a heritage/cultural 
centre.

Swanscombe Peninsula

Local bodies have concerns about the impacts of the potential London Resort theme park on 
the local area, businesses and development of Ebbsfleet Central whilst the GLA require any 
significant retail/leisure development to consider impacts on London’s centres.

A number of statutory bodies recognise the uncertainties regarding the potential London 
Resort theme park and KCC suggest a specific policy for Swanscombe Peninsula which 



19

reflects the emerging proposal for London Resort and prospective alternative development if 
this does not come forward.  The EDC consider that a policy could support a mixed use 
development subject to overcoming constraints (including ecological value), integrating with 
the surrounding area and maximising the use of river based transport.

The potential developer asserts that London Resort is a fundamental part of growth at 
Swanscombe Peninsula and the plan should emphasise its importance to the regeneration 
of the area, its benefits to the local economy/jobs, improvements to roads/infrastructure, and 
an enhanced green network.

Ebbsfleet Central

There is uncertainty over what will be delivered.  The EDC recognise that the extant 
permission has not fully come forward due to viability issues but state that the landowner is 
exploring options within the parameters of the consent.  Policy CS5 provides a strong 
starting point though reference should be made to the Implementation Framework including 
the aspiration for a mixed and vibrant community supporting Ebbsfleet as an economic 
destination and enhancing connectivity including a pedestrian connection between Ebbsfleet 
and Northfleet stations

KCC consider that policy should allow for higher density development and an 
intensification of uses on the site including a Centre of Excellence for Healthcare, further 
education provision and/or a major leisure/cultural attraction.  The EDC also refer to the 
potential to provide a medical campus at Ebbsfleet.  The CCG make reference to the 
delivery of high order community/ cultural facilities, residential and major economic 
development on the site.

The landowner states that the Ebbsfleet permission is still live, could be brought forward and 
should not be considered for alternative infrastructure use.  Whilst they support sustainable, 
high quality development of the site, they would like a flexible policy position which allows for 
a residential led development with 4,000 homes anticipated as part of the Garden City.

Other Sites

KCC recognise that other sites are limited by environmental/ecological constraints and 
issues of contaminated land though a number of statutory bodies consider that there may be 
opportunities for these to be developed for green infrastructure, e.g. former landfill site north 
west of Ebbsfleet Station, Craylands Gorge, Swanscombe Heritage Park.

KCC consider that there is possible potential for the redevelopment of Manor Way Business 
Park in conjunction with redevelopment of Northfleet Industrial Estate in Gravesham if an 
alternative route to relieve the A226 over HS1 were to be delivered

The plan should include a vision for Bean Triangle, which is subject to an environmental 
improvement scheme commissioned by the EDC.  This should recognise the need to protect 
the ancient woodland.  Bean Residents’ Association consider that if Ightham Cottages are 
demolished, these should be rebuilt close to their current location and considered as a rural 
exception site.

Green Belt (Questions 27a-b)

There is support for the protection of the Green Belt and the current strategy from a number 
of statutory and local bodies.  This is in accordance with national planning policy.



20

Bean RA want to see the Green Belt protected, with specific reference to Bean Triangle and 
Beacon Wood Country Park.  They also consider that only replacement dwellings should be 
allowed and that no new traveller sites should be allowed adjacent to villages.

A number of developers state that a Green Belt review should be carried out.

Local Priorities (Questions 28a-c)

Area Needs

Some respondents have referred to the need to protect/improve community facilities and 
infrastructure e.g. cycling links.  Stone PC and Bean RA make specific reference to safe 
walking/cycling routes for children and others in their areas whilst the Dartford and Crayford 
Creek Restoration Trust refer to improved mooring provision, navigability and environmental 
improvements at Dartford Creek.

Some developers refer to the support that housing/employment development in the rural 
area can give to rural communities and meeting local housing needs.  One claims that the 
employment generating uses in Sutton at Hone, Hawley and South Darenth are greater than 
shown in the area profiles.

Bean RA comment on the need for the Bean and Darenth Area Profile to separate the 
statistics for Bean and investigate the reason for lower life expectancy.

Small or Brownfield Sites

Some developers have put forward small or brownfield sites for potential development.  The 
tables in the Annex contain lists of sites in which developers have expressed an interest. 

The Dartford and Crayford Creek Restoration Trust has suggested that the Bus Garage or 
Steam Crane Wharf could be used for employment and community use related to its 
riverside location.

KCC consider that the level of new housing that could be sustained should be informed by 
information on schools.

Specialist and Alternative Sources of Housing

KCC consider that developments for vulnerable adults should be located in areas with good 
transport links and close to community facilities.  Swanscombe and Greenhithe TC would 
like to see specialist and alternative sources of housing located in all locations to create 
vibrant, mixed communities.  Developers put forward options which support the potential 
development of their sites including: provision on brownfield or other suitable land in 
sustainable locations with low environmental value; adjacent to transport hubs and within 
800/400m of local services; and where the needs arise rather than relying on strategic 
allocation sites.

Stone PC raise the issue of affordability for aspiring owners in their parish and the fact that 
housing stock does not often provide effective downsizing opportunities.  A degree of parish 
housing priority would help address this issue.

A few sites have been put forward as suitable for specialist residential needs and alternative 
sources of housing.  These are included in the tables in the Annex.  Bean RA suggests that 



21

Branton’s Brickfield Bean could treated as a rural exception site suitable for the rebuilding of 
Ightham Cottages.



22

Annex: Land submitted through Local Plan consultations and 
subsequently

Land promoted by developers/ interested parties through the Local Plan consultation 
(not requested for Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment ‘SHLAA’ 
consideration):

Name of site
Nature of submission

Blackshole Farm, Watling Street Mixed use proposal.
Swanscombe Peninsula, London Resort Tourism/ leisure led proposal.
Croxton & Garry site, Tiltman Avenue Existing residential permission- subject S106.
Top Dartford Road Residential proposal.

Local Plan representations potentially relating to land submitted to the SHLAA:
Name of site SHLAA ref.
Highfield Farm, Betsham Road 186
Birchwood Park Golf Centre, Wilmington 196
Bluewater* -
West of Darenth Road* -
Land surrounding Ebbsfleet Station 1
Edwin Road, Wilmington 201
1-11 Ightham Cottages/Branton’s Brickfield, Bean 176
North of Elizabeth Street, Stone 189
Clock House, West of Green Street Green Road 191
Malt House Farm, Green Street Green Road 61
West of Green Street Green Road and North of Gill’s Road 192
Lords, Lane End and Manor Farm, North of Green Street Green Road 194
West of Hawley Road and North of Arnolds Lane, Hawley 163
Bybow Farm, south of Highfield Road, Wilmington 72
Former Heathside Nursery, Leyton Cross Road, Wilmington 47
Former Littlebrook Power Station, Dartford 180
Biffa Site, London Road, Greenhithe 34
East of Main Road, South of Keith Avenue, Sutton at Hone 66
West of Main Road, North of Chaplin Court, Sutton at Hone 67
Priory Shopping Centre, Dartford 212
North Kent College, Oakfield Lane, Wilmington 46
Park Corner Road, Betsham 115
Warrigal Farm, Sandbanks Hill, Green Street Green 188
School Lane, Bean 181
Ship Lane, Sutton at Hone 174
Rear of South Darenth Primary School, North of St Margaret’s Road 193
St Margaret’s Farm, St Margaret’s Road, Darenth 59
North of Shellbank House, Shellbank Lane, Bean 187
North of Steele Avenue, Greenhithe* -
The Whitings, Longfield 179
Westwood Farm, West of Westwood Road, East of Highcross Road 195

* Late sites may be resubmitted at the next Local Plan consultation and may necessitate 
further SHLAA work after that stage.



23

Other land submitted late to the SHLAA (post Local Plan consultation): 
Name of site
Barton Road, Sutton at Hone*
North of Main Road, Longfield*

* Late sites may be resubmitted at the next Local Plan consultation and may necessitate 
further SHLAA work after that stage.





1

APPENDIX B

Dartford Five Year Deliverable 
Housing Land Supply 2018

Planning Policy Team, December 2018



2

Contents

Page

1. Executive Summary 3

2. Housing Requirement  4

3. The Deliverable Housing Sites 6

4. Conclusions 9

Appendix 1. Local Housing Need Calculation 10

Appendix 2. Deliverable Housing Sites 11

Appendix 3. Deliverable Sites in the 5 Year Supply (2018/19 to 2022/23) 12

Appendix 4. Responses to Consultation 18

Map: Sites over 5 units in Dartford 5 Year Housing Land Supply 2018 20



3

1. Executive Summary

1.1 This is Dartford Borough Council’s calculation of its deliverable housing land supply required 

by national policy. It covers the period 1st April 2018 to 31st March 2023.

1.2 A revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in July 2018 that indicates 

that Local Planning Authorities are required to provide an annual update of deliverable sites 

to provide sufficient housing over a minimum of five years against a housing requirement. This 

requirement is to be set out in strategic policies, or if these are out of date (more than 5 years 

old) and have not been found to be out of date via a review, then the new standardised 

methodology for calculating Local Housing Need (LHN) should be used1.

1.3 Therefore, under the NPPF and the Planning Practice Guidance it is determined that for this 

Five Year Supply Statement the LHN should be used to calculate the housing requirement. 

Government have recently (October 2018) published further consultation on how to calculate 

LHN, proposing that the 2014-based household projections should be used as a baseline in 

order to help meet the Government’s target for homes in the right places. This has been 

applied. 

1.4 Within Dartford, major growth and regeneration plans are set out in the Core Strategy across 

three priority areas, at Dartford town centre/ Northern Gateway, the Thames Waterfront and 

Ebbsfleet to Stone, which includes large consented sites now being delivered by the Ebbsfleet 

Development Corporation (EDC). Housing completions last year (2017/18) continued to be 

high, with 1,031 dwellings completed. Starts on sites recorded in 2018 indicate that recent 

high delivery levels should be maintained.

1.5 Utilising the LHN standard methodology and Government guidance, Dartford has a five year 

deliverable land supply of 6.4 years (this includes a 5% buffer requirement). This leaves an 

additional reserve of other sites with planning permission. 

2. Housing Requirement  

1 NPPF, Paragraph 73. July 2018. 



4

2.1 Dartford has 2011 Core Strategy and 2017 Development Policies Local Plan documents in 

force. Dartford’s housing strategic policies are more than five years old and therefore to 

establish a five year housing requirement, the standardised local housing need methodology 

should currently be used to calculate a LHN figure. This is because whilst a review of the 

existing strategy has commenced it has not yet concluded (see NPPF footnote 37).

2.2 Appendix 1 outlines the calculation of the LHN for Dartford using the currently available data. 

For the period 1st April 2018 to 31st March 2023 there is a requirement for 4,085 homes (net) 

to be built within Dartford Borough, equating to 817 homes per year.

2.3 The NPPF2 also states that the supply of specific deliverable sites should include a buffer of:

a) 5% to ensure choice and competition in the market for land; or

b) 10% where the local planning authority wishes to demonstrate a five year supply 

of deliverable sites through an annual position statement or recently adopted 

plan, to account for any fluctuations in the market during that year; or 

c) 20% where there has been significant under delivery of housing over the previous 

three years, to improve the prospect of achieving the planned supply.

2.4 The 2018 NPPF also includes a new Housing Delivery Test. This is now the basis for considering 

past delivery. Dartford easily meets this Test and therefore (c) above is inapplicable, and as 

Dartford is not adopting (b) the new “annual position statement” optional process, a 5% buffer 

to the Dartford LHN applies. This increases the total requirement to 4,289 dwellings.

2.5 The Housing Delivery Test is based on actual levels of completions over the past three years. 

These are included in the table below, which for context sets out total net completions over 

the past five years. A break down for Core Strategy locations within the Borough is also 

indicated, demonstrating the delivery levels at adopted Strategic Sites.

Dartford completions (net) 2013/14-2017/18 3

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18Year / Core Strategy 

Priority Area for 

Development

Pre-HDT Housing Delivery Test (HDT) applies

2 NPPF, Paragraph 73. July 2018.



5

Dartford Town Centre 
Priority Area

3 5 1 18 8

Northern Gateway 
Strategic Site 

16 38 421 273 377

Thames Waterfront 
Priority Area 377 212 236 309 124

Ebbsfleet to Stone Priority 
Area 78 158 77 176 112

Ebbsfleet Valley Strategic 
Site 0 40 80 214 341

Other Sites 128 112 156 172 69

Borough Completions 602 565 971 1,162 1,031

2.6 The Borough’s Deliverable Housing Sites are set out in Appendix 3 and the next chapter. 

3. The Deliverable Housing Sites 

3.1 As shown by the sustained uplift in housing completions in recent years in the Borough, large 

scale sites identified in the Core Strategy have commenced construction and are delivering 

new homes at pace, for example sites to the north of Dartford town centre (Northern 

Gateway/ Thames Waterfront e.g. ‘The Bridge’ development).  Further major sites are now 

3 Further information on completions and housing types can be found in Dartford’s AMRs released 

annually here.

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/environment-and-planning2/new-planning-homepage/planning-policy/five-year-housing-land-supply


6

being advanced at Ebbsfleet through the interventions of the EDC with delivery continuing to 

gain momentum, and further site preparation and infrastructure provision for further phases 

now taking place.

3.2 The revised NPPF requires that local planning authorities identify a supply of specific 

deliverable sites to provide five years’ worth of housing against their housing requirement. 

The revised framework defines deliverable as the following:

To be considered deliverable, sites for housing should be available now, offer a suitable 
location for development now, and be achievable with a realistic prospect that housing will 
be delivered on the site within five years. Sites that are not major development, and sites 

with detailed planning permission, should be considered deliverable until permission 
expires, unless there is clear evidence that homes will not be delivered within five years (e.g. 

they are no longer viable, there is no longer a demand for the type of units or sites have 
long term phasing plans). Sites with outline planning permission, permission in principle, 
allocated in the development plan or identified on a brownfield register should only be 

considered deliverable where there is clear evidence that housing completions will begin on 
site within five years. (NPPF Glossary, page 66)4

3.3 Under national policy, sites with detailed planning permission or sites that are not major 

development (fewer than 10 dwellings) are considered to be deliverable. Guidance states that 

sites with outline planning permission; permission in principle; a Plan allocation; or are in the 

brownfield land register do not automatically indicate a site being deliverable in terms of the 

five-year supply.  Evidence is required as to the expected volume of completions within the 

five year period for these sites.

3.4 The sites in this Five Year Supply are drawn from careful consideration against new national 

policy of sites that are major and without detailed permission, including land identified in the 

SHLAA, selectively including additional sites with planning permission or in some instances a 

planning application submitted/ discussions in progress. In updating the land supply up-to-

date evidence of deliverability of the identified sites and progress on current applications and 

formal pre-applications has been secured.

3.5 Certainty in delivery of the strategic sites in Dartford is now at high levels with significant 

progress both at planning and construction stages by the private and public sector. With this 

established trend and investment in progress, the projected delivery level reflects market 

4 The October 2018 technical consultation on updates to national planning policy and guidance proposes to 
amend the definition of deliverable to clarify its intended application. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-planning-policy-and-guidance-including-the-standard-method-for-assessing-local-housing-need


7

confidence in Dartford based on intelligence from developers, up to date contact with 

applicants, and housing delivery levels in recent years in the Borough.  

3.6 The underlying confidence in a strong continuing demand for housing in Dartford remains. This 

is due to both the success of the local market and planning system with a track record of 

delivery; and the long-term appeal of investing or relocating in Dartford due to its major 

employment growth and excellent communications and location adjoining London. Demand has 

therefore continued to further push up average house prices during 2017/185.

3.7 The forward phasing takes into account the government funding support and targeted 

interventions being progressed at Ebbsfleet by the EDC. On some major sites, the delivery 

estimate reflects the multiple housebuilders on site; plus housing delivery addressing different 

market sectors, including affordable housing, other additional housing products promoted by 

government, as well as conventional commercial new-build housing. Nevertheless Dartford 

Borough Council has still fully applied the new definition of “deliverable” within the Ebbsfleet 

area. 

3.8 The supply featured here reflects input from developers, including through consultation held 

with developers/ landowners and infrastructure providers in June - July 2018 as part of the new 

Local Plan consultation. Responses to this consultation are set out in Appendix 4.

3.9 These activities and the site specific evidence supports the projected delivery of 5,492 

dwellings (Appendix 3). There is no reliance on any C2 development or student accommodation.

3.10 In total, 3,880 dwellings are forecast at sites that are already under construction, equalling 71% 

of the forecast. 

3.11 Appendix 3 and the attached map detail the sites included in the deliverable supply, and their 

status (deliverability rationale). This includes an indication of the evidence, where required, that 

supports delivery of sites within the period.

3.12 The list of sites in Appendix 3 omits some further prospective major developments.  These 

include sites that are developable and potentially deliverable; but do not currently have 

evidence available to the Council to demonstrate the high level of certainty necessary to fulfil 

the requirements of the new stricter definition of ‘deliverable’. 

5 ONS UK House Price Index, April 2018



8

3.13 In terms of other sites with permission, it is apparent there is strong potential for at least some 

of these to be brought forward in the five year period. For example, there are zero dwellings 

counted to 2022/2023 from the very large development with outline permission at Ebbsfleet 

Central. These further sites provide an additional possible land source and extra potential 

choice, further increasing the high level of certainty that the housing requirement will continue 

to be met in future.

4. Conclusions

4.1 The track record of delivery in Dartford is evident from successive years of high housing delivery 

in the Borough. 

4.2 With the development pipeline, current construction, and the focused interventions of the EDC 

this Five Year Supply anticipates specific sites to support continued levels of delivery at this rate. 

4.3 It is further shown this is consistent with the new definition of a “deliverable” site.



9

4.4 Dartford Borough’s 5,492 deliverable dwellings in the period equates to more than five years 

supply of deliverable housing sites measured against the LHN derived from the government 

standard methodology. The deliverable five year housing land supply is confirmed as 6.4 years.  



10

Appendix 1: Local Housing Need Calculation

 National government have developed a standardised methodology for calculating housing need. 

 The methodology uses a calculation from national household projections and an adjustment 

ratio to take account of market signals (done through using a ratio of house price to earnings of 

four). The need figures are capped at an increase of up to 40%. This methodology is set out fully 

in PPG6. Government has indicated7 that in the interim the 2014-household projections should 

be used to calculate LHN.

 The LHN calculation for Dartford:

Step 1: Using the 2014-based household projections (September 2016) from the current 

year over a ten year period (2018-28) indicate an increase of 595 households per year.

Step 2: This is adjusted using most recent median workplace-based affordability ratios. This 

is currently 9.97 as per the March 2018 release8. The following calculation is then applied:

Once calculated, the adjustment factor equals 0.373: ((9.97 – 4) / 4) x 0.25. 

Annual local housing need figure = (1 + 0.373) x 595 = 817

Step 3: The capped figure (595 x 1.4 = 833) is greater than the annual local housing need 

figure so a cap does not apply.

 Under this new methodology, there would be a requirement of 4,085 homes over 5 years. 

 Once a 5% buffer is applied (4,289 homes), Dartford has a 6.4 year supply based on a 5,942 

completions in the five year period, set out below.

Appendix 2: Deliverable housing sites

6 MHCLG, Housing need assessment, Planning Practice Guidance

7 MHCLG, Changes to planning policy and guidance including the standard method for assessing local housing 
need. October 2018.

8 ONS, Ratio of median house price to median gross annual (where available) workplace-based earnings by 
local authority district, England and Wales, 1997 to 2017. March 2018.

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-planning-policy-and-guidance-including-the-standard-method-for-assessing-local-housing-need
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changes-to-planning-policy-and-guidance-including-the-standard-method-for-assessing-local-housing-need


11

Sources and deliverability of sites identified in the 5 year supply:

Source of site Deliverability Assessment

Sites under 
construction

All assessed as deliverable. In the case of large sites with long-term 
phasing plans, only the portion considered deliverable within 5 
years has been included.  This has been assessed on the basis of 
information from house-builders about future estimated annual 
delivery rates and emerging evidence in connection with the 
delivery of Ebbsfleet Garden City. In addition, current evidence of 
delivery and occupancy rates at these and other recently active 
sites has been taken into account, as well as proposals for multiple 
house-builders or phases on-site concurrently.

Sites with planning 
permission

Most assessed as deliverable.  The NPPF now states that “Sites that 
are not major development, and sites with detailed planning 
permission, should be considered deliverable until permission 
expires, unless there is clear evidence that homes will not be 
delivered within five years”.  In some cases the five year supply 
shown may reflect only initial phases of a scheme.

Other Identified sites A small number of sites are included that are not in the sources of 
supply above, these all have a planning applications submitted or 
are at the advanced pre-application stage. The sites are identified 
in the council’s SHLAA. Revised delivery estimates have been 
derived from discussions with landowners and developers 
including pre-application discussions. 

Small sites There are currently 109 dwellings on small sites with permission, 
24 of which are under construction (as of April 2018).

Based on historic trends, a conservative 30 units per year on 
average have been completed on small sites (under 5 dwellings). 
Therefore an amalgamated figure of 150 over 5 years is included 
for small sites. 

These are then split in Appendix 3 depending on if they are under 
construction, with permission or as a residual, to total 150. 



12

Appendix 3: Deliverable Sites in the 5 year supply (2018/19 to 2022/23):

Site 

Reference
Site Name

5 Year 

Delivery
Planning Status Deliverability Rationale Application

Sites Under Construction

2 The Bridge 93
Detailed Planning 

Permission
Under construction 11/01399/REM

11 Hedge Place Road 56 Detailed Planning Under construction 12/01150/FUL

14 Orchard Street/Kent Road 6 Detailed Planning Under construction 88/00341

28 Land at Coleridge Road, 
Temple Hill 51 Detailed Planning Under construction 15/00084/FUL

34 Northern Gateway East 
(GSK) and Mill Pond 318 Detailed Planning Under construction 14/01213/REM

15/00625/REM

45 Eastern Quarry 2162
Part Detailed Planning, 

Part Outline Planning

Under Construction, Clear evidence 

provided by the EDC1

12/01451/EQVAR 
and various 

reserved matters

47 Northern Gateway West 
Abbott Murex 403 Detailed Planning Under construction 16/01601/FUL

88 St Clements Valley 32 Detailed Planning Under construction 14/01344/FUL
16/01913/FUL

91 Ebbsfleet Green 600
Part Detailed Planning, 

Part Outline Planning

Under Construction, Clear evidence 

provided by the EDC1

05/00308/OUT 
and various 

reserved matters

128 Darenth Road 82 Detailed Planning Under construction 14/01653/REM

284 Empire Sports Ground 29 Detailed Planning Under construction 15/01497/REM

521 Depot Rear of 2 Temple Hill 6 Detailed Planning Under construction 16/00464/FUL



13

530 Fox and Hounds, Green 
Street Green 6 Detailed Planning Under construction 16/01120/FUL

531 165 - 173 Hawley Road 12 Detailed Planning Under construction 18/00282/P3O

Small sites total (sites under construction 

that are under 5 units)
24 Detailed Planning Under construction

TOTALS 3,880

Site 

Reference
Site Name

5 Year 

Delivery
Planning Status Deliverability Rationale Application

Sites with Planning Permission

3 Ingress Park - Eastern 
Extension / Pier 151

Detailed Planning Permission, 

New Detailed Planning 

Approved Subject to S106.

Detailed Planning Permission 08/01601/FUL
17/01814/FUL

7 Craylands Lane 100
Outline Planning Permission, 

Detailed Planning Submitted

Clear evidence provided by 

EDC1
14/01689/OUT
EDC/18/0033

8 Greenwood 5 Detailed Planning Permission Not Major Development 17/01519/FUL

12 St Marys Church Hall, Church 
Hill 6

Outline Planning Permission, 

Detailed Planning Submitted
Not Major Development 14/01805/OUT

18/01044/REM

19 Rear of 131 The Brent 6 Detailed Planning Not Major Development 15/00769/REM



14

20 Knockhall Road 64

Part Detailed Planning 

Permission, New Detailed 

Planning Submitted

Detailed Planning Permission, 

Clear evidence provided 

through recent Reserved 

Matters application and agent 

discussion1

13/01522/OUT
15/00240/REM
18/00958/REM

32 Lowfield St Redevelopment 
site 400

Hybrid Planning Permission 

(Part Detailed, Part Outline)

Detailed Planning Permission, 

Part Reserved Matters 

Submitted. Clear evidence 

provided through recent 

application and developer 

discussion1

16/01919/FUL
18/00530/REM

42 Two Brewers public house 11 Detailed Planning Permission Detailed Planning Permission 14/00615/FUL

295 Land North of Cotton Lane 16 Detailed Planning Permission Detailed Planning Permission 14/00028/FUL

517 Land South Of St Mary’s 
Road, Stone 70 Detailed Planning Permission Detailed Planning Permission 17/02082/FUL

525 Land North of St Mary’s 
Road, Stone 152

Outline Planning Permission, 

Reserved Matters Submitted

Clear evidence provided from 

recent discussion and 

submission of Reserved 

Matters application1

15/01857/OUT
18/01341/REM

526 Instone House, Instone Road 8 Detailed Planning Permission Not Major Development 17/00043/P3O



15

527 Cressener Place 5 Detailed Planning Permission Not Major Development 16/00784/FUL

529 1st-3rd Floors,  27-31 High 
Street, Dartford 13 Detailed Planning Permission Detailed Planning 17/00871/P3O

531 Land Adjacent 33 St Marys 
Road, Stone 12 Detailed Planning Permission Detailed Planning 17/02042/FUL

532 Land Rear Of 37-41 
Brentfield Road 6 Detailed Planning Permission Not Major Development 18/01018/FUL

Small sites total (sites with permission 

under 5 units)
85 Detailed Planning Permission Not Major Development

TOTALS 1,110

Site 

Reference
Site Name

5 Year 

Delivery
Planning Status Deliverability Rationale Application

Sites with Application Submitted or Expected

4 Former Croxton and Gary 
site 220

Outline Planning Approved 

Subject to Section 106. Pre-

application discussions 

advancing positively with a 

house builder.

Allocated Site. Clear 

evidence provided by the 

EDC1

EDC/17/0110  

38 Former Co-op Site, Dartford 
Town Centre 120

Advanced pre-application 

discussions

Allocated Site. Clear 

evidence provided through 

pre-application process 



16

and signed development 

agreement between DBC, 

Homes England and 

developer1

43 Vauxhall Farm 70
Advanced pre-application 

discussions 

Allocated Site. Clear 

evidence provided though 

pre-application discussions. 

87 Stone Lodge 45
Outline Planning application 

submitted

Clear evidence provided1  

and land made 

unconstrained through site 

being first brought forward 

for other compatible 

buildings (deliverable 

school) in the masterplan. 

A Planning Performance 

Agreement is also in place. 

18/01074/OUT

503 Land at Beacon Drive, Bean 6
Detailed Planning Approved 

Subjection to Section 106
Not Major Development 16/01126/FUL

Small unidentified sites allowance 
(expected units) for 2021/22 and 

2022/23
41

Not Major Development / Trend based calculation amounting to 30 units per year on 

average

TOTALS 502



17

Evidence

1 Clear evidence has been demonstrated that the site will likely produce housing completions within 5 years through one of the following (as 
presented through PPG):

i. Any progress being made towards submission of an application
ii. Any progress with site assessment work; and

iii. Any relevant information about site viability, ownership constraints or infrastructure provision. 

This includes evidence provided through recent pre-application discussions, input from developers and landowners, and input from the 
EDC.

Additional Information 

Demolitions 

There are no major planned housing demolitions forecast, the figures set out above are net so any minor demolitions are taken into account already. 

Deliverable Sites Trajectory (2018-2023)

Year 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Sites under construction 975 876 720 705 604

Sites with planning permission 27 214 392 275 202
Sites with application submitted or 

expected 0 55 121 151 175

Total Forecast Completions 1,002 1,145 1,233 1,131 981



18

Appendix 4: Responses to Comments on the earlier draft 5 Year Supply 

(made during new Local Plan Consultation June/ July 2018)

Note: These comments were made as part of the Local Plan consultation after a SHLAA ‘call for site’s exercise - published on the web here. (Other supportive 

comments on housing delivery can be seen here). The draft Five Year Supply available then pre-dated the new NPPF. This current Five Year Supply has 

therefore taken a fresh approach compared to the one subject to comments below.  

Respondent Summarised Rep Response

Holbrook Griffith 
Development Ltd

Provided comments on how draft Five Year Deliverable Housing 
Land Supply 2018 was presented and calculated. They considered 
that:

1. They have been historically incorrectly reported
2. That the current calculation is not based upon a true baseline 

position and
3. That the current proposed method of calculation is incorrect 

as it does not accord with government guidance. 
4. The appropriate Core Strategy target needs to be used.
5. A backlog should be included and fully addressed using the 

Sedgefield method. 
6. Large sites should not be relied on in full. 

A different calculation for the five year supply and other analyses 
also provided.  

The new Supply document has been revised 
in light of the new 2018 NPPF and NPPG 
utilising the new standard method. Dartford 
has made some accurate predictions of 
delivery recently, although the criteria have 
been tightened further in line with the thrust 
and requirements of new guidance.
The application of the national LHN 
requirement here results from the Core 
Strategy being under review as more than 5 
years old, a statutory requirement.
Government (MHCLG) officials have advised 
officers, including from Dartford, at national 
events that as this is a new methodology that 
accounts for past delivery levels no backlog 
can currently be calculated. Backlog is 
addressed through the HDT.
The new definition of deliverable has meant 
that an extensive look at the deliverability of 
large sites has taken place, with the Supply 
document amended accordingly. 

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/environment-and-planning2/new-planning-homepage/planning-policy/new-local-plan/2018-regulation-18-representations


19

Kitewood Estates Provided comments regarding the housing need and the housing 
supply. They considered that due to some sites not having 
planning permissions there was significant doubt that they would 
deliver and that the number would be around 5,910.  

Noted. The supply has been updated in 
accordance with the new NPPF and NPPG 
regarding both housing need through the 
standard methodology and subsequent 
Government consultation, and housing 
supply through the new definition of 
deliverable. Subsequently some sites have 
been removed from supply where there was 
not sufficiently clear evidence. 
The projected supply under the new 
definition in this document is now lower than 
the total level the objector considers 
deliverable. 

PMG Regeneration Ltd Indicated that their clients considered the draft Five Year 
Deliverable Housing Land Supply 2018 failed to provide a sufficient 
level of detail to demonstrate a 5 year supply of deliverable 
housing sites. They also contend that specifically, and contrary to 
current guidance set out in the NPPG it failed to include the 
information to be contained in annual reviews of five year land 
supply .e.g. additional factual details.

Noted. The new Supply document has been 
revised in light of the new 2018 NPPF and 
NPPG. 
Significant additional site specific details are 
made available in this document and 
elsewhere.

Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation

Provided EDC’s forecast for housing delivery based on a 
combination of latest information provided by developers and 
their own assumptions.

Noted and acted on, with numbers and 
phasing adjusted accordingly. Extensive 
further communication has occurred to full 
understand the latest EDC information. 



20

Map of sites of five units or more in the Dartford Five Year Land Supply 2018



                             
CABINET

6 DECEMBER 2018

ORCHARD THEATRE: AUDITORIUM REFURBISHMENT

1. Summary

1.1 The Orchard Theatre operator, HQ Theatres, in consultation with the Council, 
have agreed in principle to refurbishment works to the auditorium during the 
summer of 2019 at an approximate cost of £490,000. Cabinet is asked to 
approve for the Council to undertake these works, subject to the funding for 
the works being approved as part of the overall Capital Programme for 
2019/20, which will be put forward for approval by the General Assembly of 
the Council as part of the budget in February 2019. Following completion of 
the works, it is anticipated that additional revenues will arise and HQ Theatres 
have agreed to adjust the annual payment downwards to reflect this. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 That Cabinet approve the funding of the refurbishment of the auditorium at an 
approximate cost of £490,000 subject to funding for the works being agreed as 
part of the Capital Programme for 2019/20.

2.2 That Cabinet agree that the annual payment to HQ theatres is adjusted as a 
result of the Council undertaking the works.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. HQ Theatres, in discussion with the Council, have been looking to 
improve the Orchard Theatre customer experience and generate 
increased revenue through improvements to the auditorium.  The 
proposal includes the replacement of all the seats and increasing 
capacity by circa 80 seats, and full decoration, including new carpet.

3.2. Not only will improvements to the auditorium decoration and finishes 
significantly enhance the customer experience, but increasing the 
auditorium capacity, improving sightlines of the stage and 
enhancements to the venue flexibility and accessibility will also 
enhance the attractiveness of the theatre to leading producers.

3.3. The refurbishment works should result in increased ticket yields and 
higher commercial returns, enabling the theatre to further strengthen 
and broaden the theatre programme. This in turn will increase the 
Council’s profit share.

3.4. Three quotes for the work have been obtained. Based on these quotes, 
the works will cost in the region of £490,000. References will be sought 
to demonstrate that the works will be undertaken to the required 
standard as well as at the best price.



                             
CABINET

6 DECEMBER 2018

3.5. The Council will fund the works. An adjustment will then be made to the 
management fee paid to HQ Theatres over a ten year period to reflect 
the benefit of the works to HQ Theatres through increased revenue.

3.6. HQ Theatres wish these works to be undertaken during the ‘dark 
period’ in the summer of 2019. Once complete, HQ Theatres will take 
responsibility for the ongoing maintenance and repairs of the 
auditorium seating.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Health and Wellbeing: Increase the opportunities for participating in sporting, 
cultural and leisure opportunities

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications The works will cost in the region of £490,000. An 
adjustment will be made to the management 
agreement over a ten year period to reflect the 
benefit of the works to the Theatre. It is 
anticipated that the future profit share to the 
Council will be increased.
The Capital Programme for 2019/20 will go to the 
General Assembly of the Council in February 
2019. The theatre works will be subject to 
provision being approved within the Capital 
Programme for these works

Legal Implications

Public Sector Equality 
Duty 
Crime and Disorder duty 

A legal agreement will be drawn up to reflect the 
arrangement. The management agreement will 
also be amended to reflect HQ Theatre’s 
responsibility for the ongoing maintenance and 
repairs of the auditorium seating.
None

None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications These works will be undertaken during a ‘dark 
period’ in the summer of 2019

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category



                             
CABINET

6 DECEMBER 2018

Not applicable

7. Appendices

None

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Sarah Martin
(01322) 343402

Internal 
Services

N/A





CABINET
06 DECEMBER 2018

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
10 DECEMBER 2018

FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS TO PARISH AND TOWN 
COUNCILS 2019/20

1. Summary

To agree the level of financial contributions to be paid to Parish and Town Councils 
in 2019/20.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS TO CABINET

2.1   That, subject to para. 2.2. below, the Council, under the provisions of 
Section 136 of the Local Government Act 1972, make the following 
contributions towards the expenses of Parish and Town Councils’ 
concurrent functions in 2019/20:

Bean 666
Darenth 1,464
Longfield 1,225
Southfleet 0
Stone 4,151
Sutton at Hone and Hawley 1,752
Swanscombe and 
Greenhithe 5,440
Wilmington 2,655

2.2     That the contributions be made subject to the Parish and Town Councils 
submitting suitably analysed details of estimated net expenditure for the 
ensuing year by 31 January each year, and actual net expenditure for the 
preceding year no later than six months after the end of each financial 
year, in a format prescribed by the Council.

2.3 That the payments be made in two equal instalments; the first on 30 April 
(or next working day) and the second, the latter of 30 September (or next 
working day) or seven days following receipt of the Parish or Town 
Councils’ 2018/19 accounts, certified as correct by their Clerks.

2.4 That the Council continues to operate the Capacity Building Fund and 
makes a contribution of £40,000 into the fund in 2019/20.

2.5 That the Managing Director, in consultation with the Leader and Deputy 
Leader of the Council, be granted delegated authority to agree the 
Capacity Building Fund bidding criteria and approval of awards through a 
Grants Panel process.



CABINET
06 DECEMBER 2018

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
10 DECEMBER 2018

2.6 That the Council make the following contributions to Parish and Town 
Councils to compensate for lost council tax income in local areas for the 
introduction of the council tax support scheme:

Bean 334
Darenth 1,923
Longfield 631
Southfleet 198
Stone 7,021
Sutton at Hone and Hawley 1,737
Swanscombe and 
Greenhithe 14,435
Wilmington 1,317

2.7RECOMMENDATION TO GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL

2.7.1 That the proposed contributions to Parish/Town Councils agreed by 
Cabinet, as set out in para. 2.6 above, be part of the overall budget, 
subject to formal approval at the 25 February 2019 Budget meeting.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Since 1 April 1974, the Council has made an annual contribution under 
Section 136 of the Local Government Act 1972 towards the expenses 
incurred by Parish/Town Councils for certain services which may be 
provided by both the Borough Council and the Parishes/Town Councils, 
i.e. concurrent functions.

3.2. It is important that Parish/Town Councils receive sufficient notice of the 
Council’s plans in this area in order to set their own budgets and Council 
Tax levels. 

3.3. The Section 136 contribution was set at a total of £23,138 in 2018/19.

3.4. The Council also provides funding to Parishes/Town Councils following 
the introduction of the Council Tax Support Scheme. The amount 
received by Parishes/Town Councils in relation to this was £36,795 (in 
total) in 2018/19. Initially the Council received a separately identifiable 
grant element for this but now any remaining funding is unidentified. Any 
distribution of funding to Parish and Town Councils is at the discretion of 
the Borough Council, which has been pleased to support the 
Parish/Town Councils in this way.  



CABINET
06 DECEMBER 2018

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
10 DECEMBER 2018

3.5. The Council also set aside £45,000 in 2018/19 within the Capacity 
Building Fund in order to assist Parish and Town Councils to become 
less reliant on core funding from the Council and to explore innovative 
ways of working.

3.6. For 2019/20, the Council is expecting a reduction in revenue support 
funding of 100%. 

3.7. Given the level of reduction, it is not feasible for the Council to continue 
to make the same level of funding available to Parish/Town Councils. It 
is proposed that the [Borough] Council share the burden of the expected 
grant reduction and therefore reduce all the funding streams referred to 
in Appendix A, by 25%. 

3.8. It is proposed to continue the Council’s commitment to the successful 
Capacity Building Fund grants at slightly lower level of £40,000 (in total). 
The grants will continue to assist Parish and Town Councils to become 
less reliant on core funding from the [Borough] Council and to explore 
innovative ways of working. Overall contributions will therefore, reduce 
by a little over 19% to accommodate the total reduction. 

3.9. Given that Revenue Support Grant has ended, it is likely that further 
adjustments will be applied next year so that funding to Parish and Town 
Councils fully reflect the reductions in grants received to date. 

3.10. The effect of the reduction in core Section 136 funding, Council Tax 
Support Grant and Capacity Building Fund for 2019/20 is shown in 
Appendix A.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The contribution by the Council assists Parishes and Town Councils to 
provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and to ensure 
that public and open spaces are clean and safe.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications The total sum payable by the Council to parish 
and town councils in 2019/20 will be £44,950. 
In addition, the Council will continue to operate 
the Capacity Building Fund and make a 
contribution of £40,000 into the fund.

Overall, the reduction in total funding is 
£19,983, which is smaller than the 
proportionate decrease in grant that the 
Council receives.



CABINET
06 DECEMBER 2018

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
10 DECEMBER 2018

Legal Implications Section 136 of the Local Government Act 
1972.

Staffing Implications None

Administrative 
Implications

None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A - Amounts payable to Parish and Town Councils in 
2019/20

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Parish Accounts Tim Sams
(01322) 343148

Financial 
Services/
Internal 
Services

N/A



AMOUNTS PAYABLE TO PARISH AND TOWN COUNCILS IN 2018/19 AND 2019/20 Appendix A

2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 2018/19

Core Sec 136
contribution CTS grant

Capacity
Building

Fund

Total
contribution
from DBC to

Parishes
Core Sec 136
contribution CTS grant

Capacity
Building

Fund

Total
contribution
from DBC to

Parishes

Reduced
total

contribution

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Bean 888 445 1,333 666 334 1,000 333

Darenth 1,952 2,563 4,515 1,464 1,923 3,386 1,129

Longfield 1,633 842 2,475 1,225 631 1,856 619

Southfleet 0 265 265 0 198 198 66

Stone 5,535 9,361 14,896 4,151 7,021 11,172 3,724

Sutton at Hone and Hawley 2,337 2,317 4,653 1,752 1,737 3,490 1,163

Swanscombe and Greenhithe 7,253 19,246 26,499 5,440 14,435 19,874 6,625

Wilmington 3,540 1,756 5,297 2,655 1,317 3,972 1,324

Total (inc CBF) 23,138 36,795 45,000 104,933 17,354 27,596 40,000 84,950 19,983





CABINET
06 Dec 2018

STREET  NAMING & NUMBERING –
Eastern Quarry Phase 5 (Parcel I)

Greenhithe

1. Summary

1.1 To approve a new road name for Phase 5 (Parcel I) of the Eastern 
Quarry development.

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

2.1 That the new road name for Phase 5 (Parcel I) of the Eastern Quarry 
development be approved as Norman Lane.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. This phase of the Eastern Quarry development is a single road with a 
mix of flats and houses accessed from Castle Hill Drive, nearby to 
Motte Lane and Bailey Drive.  The name was chosen, after discussions 
with the developer, to maintain the castle theme and link to the Norman 
built castle that once stood on the site.

3.2. The proposed name was submitted for consultation with a plan (as 
shown in Appendix A) to Members, Emergency Services, Royal Mail 
and the developer on 28th September 2018.  The name complies with 
the Council’s policy on Street Naming.

3.3. Councillor Mrs Thurlow had no objections and liked the 1066 
connection. Kent Police and Royal Mail also had no objections.  
Councillor Lloyd had no objection to Norman but felt local members 
may want something else.

3.4. Councillor Mrs Allen mentioned Norman Road in Dartford but as this is 
a separate postcode area and the same suffix would not be used, this 
would not cause any issues.

3.5. Councillors Coleman, Lees, Shippam, Mrs Thurlow and the Parish 
Council Chairman proposed alternative suggestions of Breton, 
Palisade, Keep, Gundulf, and Goodwinson.

3.6. There were no other responses.

3.7. The Developer requires the name as soon as possible to ensure that 
the utilities are connected. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable



CABINET
06 Dec 2018

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications It is open to the developer to object in the 
Magistrates’ Court to a street naming.  If the 
developer’s suggested names are in accord with 
Council Policy, it is likely that the Magistrates will 
rule in favour of the developer.

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment No uncertainties

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Map showing proposed site Title of Document

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
Consulted

Date / 
File Ref

Report 
Author

Section and 
Directorate

Exempt 
Information 
Category

Street Naming and 
Numbering Guidance

Dec 2013 Samantha 
Eastwood

Property Information 
(Internal Services)

N/A







              
CABINET

6 December 2018

CAPITAL PROGRAMME BUDGET MONITORING 2018/2019-
PROGRESS AND PROJECTED OUTTURN

1. Summary

1.1 To inform Cabinet of the progress to date on the schemes in the approved Capital 
Programme, and to report the latest position on capital resources.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1. That Cabinet note the progress made to date on the 2018/19 Capital Programme.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The original budget for 2018/19 was approved by the Council on 26 
February 2018 at £24,891,000 [Min No 82]. The General Assembly of the 
Council agreed £1,092,000 of carry-forward from the 2017/18 programme 
on 28 June 2018 and the total budget was increased to £25,983,000.

  
3.2. Attached as Appendices A and B to this report are details of the Capital 

Programme and budget for 2018/19. These detail the resources available 
for Housing and General Fund projects respectively, the expenditure to the 
end of October 2018, and the projected outturn for each project.

3.3 Housing Revenue Account projects
The budget approved by GAC on 26 February 2018 was £10.74m (£11.33m 
with carry-forward). Projections show expected total spend across the 
schemes of £12.6m.

The schemes with variances of £50,000 or more are as follows:

Central Heating Renewals - £164,000 under

Given some projected overspends on other schemes additional ordering has 
been delayed to ensure total spend is within budget parameters.

Asbestos Removal - £75,000 over

Asbestos removal is usually completed to accommodate other major works 
such as kitchen replacement, rewires and roofing. This year more asbestos 
been removed than expected, hence the overspend.



              
CABINET

6 December 2018

External Wall Rendering - £70,000 over
There is a large amount of enabling works required to accommodate 
external wall insulation works such as the need to replace fences, fascias, 
soffits and gutters. The total amount of enabling work needed was under 
estimated hence the slight overspend.

Door Entry Systems - £50,000 over
This year a large scheme at St Edmunds was due for completion. Following 
previous consultation, the Council was committed to complete the works, 
however the tenders returned were higher than the predicted spend when 
the budgets were set.

New Homes - Overspend of £1.05m
As previously reported it is expected that this project will be ahead of initial 
budget expectations by year-end due to additional progress on site than 
originally budgeted for. 

It is expected that the total capital budget will be within the budget envelope 
agreed by GAC due to lower expenditure than planned on other schemes. 
The situation will continue to be monitored. The additional funds required to 
fund the expenditure will come from 141 funding already received and 
funding set aside as part of the HRA business plan.

. 

Purchase of HRA dwelling – Overspend of £276,000
An HRA property in Darenth Wood Road became void and due to its 
condition and location the Managing Director agreed that disposal was 
deemed the best option providing that the capital receipt obtained was used 
to purchase a replacement HRA property in a serviceable condition, located 
closer to the Council’s Housing teams’ management areas. The overspend 
highlighted relates to the subsequent purchase of a new property, largely 
offset by the capital receipt.

3.4 General Fund projects: 

3.4.1 The budget approved by GAC on 27 February 2018 was £14.15m. This was 
subsequently increased to £14.65m.

Comments on the main ongoing schemes and those with significant 
variances are as follows:

Acacia Hall – As previously reported main works are now likely to start in 
March 2019. Given this, it is expected that project and construction costs will 
only be up to £1m in the current year against an initial budget of £4.3m.  



              
CABINET

6 December 2018

Final costs of this element of the river Acacia redevelopment cannot 
currently be reported as the final designs have yet to be completed (both for 
the Acacia site and for Central Park through joint working with the 
Environment Agency). It is anticipated a further report will be submitted in 
January 2019. 

Town Centre Heritage Scheme – The Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) had 
requested that the Council continued with the scheme, however it has now 
been determined that funds are not available for this financial year. Given 
this the Council has not been able to commence any more improvement 
works and no new expenditure is projected for the scheme. 

Stone Lodge – The tenders for the main build and 3G pitch were reported 
to Cabinet on 24 May 2018 [Min.No.9]. Both tenders have been let and work 
commenced in early August 2018. Work is well underway and footing and 
foundations have been completed. It is projected that total spend for the 
year may come to £3.975m ahead of the original project profile and budget 
of £3.69m for the financial year. The total existing budget for the project for 
the next two years is currently £4.3m. This will be reviewed as part of the 
budget process to ensure costs for infrastructure and facilities for the rest of 
the site are provided for.

Dartford Town Centre Transport and Public Realm Improvements – 
It had been intended to procure materials and commence capital Works at 
the end of this financial year. However, due to the complexity of the project it 
was necessary to carry out a number of key activities and option 
choosing/engineering exercises prior to being able to progress the design. 
This has resulted in a slippage of the programme, with a resultant delay in 
the commitment of budget and expenditure. With the first phase of the 
implementation scheduled to commence in early Summer 2019, with an 
anticipated acceleration by the inclusion of the High Street within the project 
scope, significant project spend is expected in 2019-20.

Fairfield Improvements – The project lead is currently investigating the 
option of the use of consultants to develop the project. Significant project 
spend is unlikely to take place in the current financial year.

Civic Centre Refurbishment 

Essential External Repairs 
These are estimated at £88,000 less than budgeted due to a lower tender 
cost for the roofing works than originally anticipated. 



              
CABINET

6 December 2018

Internal Repairs and Improvements

Works to E floor south wing are now completed and works to both D (south) 
and E (East) are planned for Q3/4 of the financial year. The budget is likely 
to underspend by circa £230,000 enabling further works to be carried out to 
modernise other parts of the building in 2019/20.

Community Infrastructure Levy Expenditure – At this stage funding has 
not been allocated to individual projects but an envelope for spending local 
contributions has been agreed.

Disabled Facilities Grant – An underspend of £187,000 is projected. This 
is based on current works and approvals to date with some allowance for 
additional works. There are no cases currently waiting to be assessed so it 
is difficult to increase the rate of spend.

3.5 Resources
Usable receipts brought forward into 2018/19 totalled £12.16m of which 
£7.465m are unrestricted receipts that can be used for any capital scheme 
and £4.693m are restricted to the provision of new social housing (141 
receipts). The 141 receipts must be used on the provision of new social 
housing, within three years of the receipt, and match-funded in the ratio of 
30:70 by other funding. 

Capital receipts of £2.37m had been received by the end of September, 
£1.56m arising from the Discounted Sales Scheme at The Bridge and a 
further £0.81m from Bridge development sales. 

In addition, £3.5m from the bridge development together with some future 
receipts will be applied to the Capital Adjustment Account in order to reduce 
the Councils Capital Financing requirement. This and future receipts will be 
applied to the Capital Adjustment Account in order to reduce the Council’s 
General Fund Capital Financing requirement from its current level of £3.8m. 
This will reduce the annual charge to the General Fund. 

Additionally, as of 30th September, 6 Right to Buy sales had completed, 
giving rise to a capital receipt of £667,000. Of this: £418,000 was retained 
as part of the “one for one” new build agreement with the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government, £148,000 was retained as a 
general capital receipt and £101,000 was required to be paid over to 
government as part of the pooling arrangements.  Three more sales at a 
value of £327,000 have completed in October, However the retained 
elements can not be calculated until the end of the quarter.

At this stage, it is reasonable to assume at least another £500,000 of 
general net capital receipts will be received in the year. This is reflected in 
Appendix B.



              
CABINET

6 December 2018

Grants and contributions totalling just under £1.179m are expected to be 
available to fund capital expenditure during 2018/19 given expected spend 
on the relevant schemes. 

It is expected that all the 2018/19 expenditure can be funded within existing 
resources. 

4 Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The capital programme covers many individual projects and will contribute to 
meeting many of the objectives in the Corporate Plan.

5 Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications As discussed in the report

Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment There is a small risk of committed schemes 

needing to be curtailed due to lack of capital 
finance; this risk is mitigated by regular and 
sound budget monitoring and reporting.

6 Appendices

Appendix A Capital Programme, Planned Expenditure and Resources– 
Housing Projects 2018/19

Appendix B Capital Programme, Planned Expenditure and Resources – 
General Fund Projects 2018/19

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File
 Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Tim Sams
01322 343148

Financial Services
Internal Services

N/A





APPENDIX A

CAPITAL PROGRAMME - BUDGET & RESOURCES

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 2018/2019
CURRENT EXPENDITURE PROJECTED 
BUDGET TO DATE OUTTURN
2018/2019 2018/2019 2018/2019

£'000s £'000s £'000s

COUNCIL HOUSING PROJECTS

Disabled Adaptations 250 68 250

Decent Homes Works:

Central Heating Renewals 914 389 750

Rewiring 1,000 416 1,000

Asbestos Removal 75 60 150

Rising Main Replacement 25 0 15

Door Replacements 100 30 100

Kitchen and Bathrooms 1,100 326 1,100

External Wall Rendering 1,490 1,553 1,560

Insulation Upgrades 0 3 16

Door Entry Systems 75 63 125

Fascia /Soffit Replacements 307 113 307

Roof Renewal 1,090 364 1,090

Roof Tanks/Water Mains Supply 50 0 50

Communal Areas 705 192 705

External Chimneys 35 0 18

Lift Replacement 25 0 25

Major Repairs 50 7 30

Supported Housing 150 86 150
Other Projects:
New Homes 3,890 2,705 4,941
Purchase of New HRA Property 0 276 276

11,331 6,651 12,658

Resources

Brought
Forward

Probable
Additions

in Year

Used to Fund
Capital

Expenditure

Usable Receipts (restricted) 0 255 (255)

1-4-1 Receipts 4,693 800 (1,482)

Major Repairs Reserve 0 3,061 (3,061)

Revenue Contribution 0 7,860 (7,860)
4,693 11,976 (12,658)



APPENDIX B

CAPITAL PROGRAMME - BUDGET & RESOURCES
GENERAL FUND 2018/2019

CURRENT EXPENDITURE PROJECTED VARIANCE
BUDGET TO DATE OUTTURN
2018/2019 2018/2019 2018/2019 2018/2019

£'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s

Acacia Hall - Improvements 4,310 137 1,000 (3,310)
IT Equipment 112 91 112 0
The Orchard Theatre 50 0 25 (25)
Other Corporate Properties 30 48 79 49
Town Centre Heritage Scheme 200 1 1 (199)
Central Park 50 0 50 0
Stone Lodge 3,690 351 3,975 285
Dartford Town Centre Transport and Public Realm Improvements 4,000 305 751 (3,249)
Fairfield Improvement Works 311 0 10 (301)
Civic Centre Refurbishment:

Internal Repairs and Improvements 626 98 330 (296)
Essential External Repairs 454 171 366 (88)

Community Infrastructure Levy Expenditure 200 0 0 (200)
Pay and Display Replacement Machines 55 51 55 0
Vehicle Purchase 0 8 8 8
Green Deal - Residual 0 0 2 2

0
Housing projects: 0
Disabled Facilities Grants 545 102 358 (187)
Private Sector Renewal 19 0 19 0

SUB TOTAL : GENERAL FUND PROJECTS 14,652 1,364 7,141 (7,511)

Resources

Brought
Forward

Probable
Additions

in Year

Used to Fund
Capital

Expenditure
Carried
forward

Usable Receipts 7,465 3,015 (5,962) 4,518
Grants & Contributions 384 1,296 (1,179) 501
Community Infrastructure Levy 3,479 1,000 0 4,479
Potential Capital Receipts, Revenue,
Reserves or Borrowing 0 0 0 0

11,328 5,311 (7,141) 9,498



CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
11 DECEMBER 2018

CORPORATE PLAN – KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS MONITORING REPORT

1. Summary

1.1 This report provides the progress with the latest set of Corporate Plan key 
actions and performance indicators for quarter 2 of 2018/19.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the contents of the key action and performance indicator 
monitoring reports attached at Appendices A and B.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Corporate Plan 2017-20 was approved by the General Assembly of 
the Council on the 17 July 2017 (Min. No. 34 refers). The Plan delivers 
the vision and priorities for the Council and Borough through the 
following five themes:

 Economic Development and Regeneration

 Health and Wellbeing

 Safer Communities

 Environment and Sustainability

 Housing and Stronger Communities

3.2. The Plan also includes the following theme relating to the Council itself:

 A Council Performing Strongly

3.3. Each theme includes a series of key actions setting out what the Council 
wants to achieve, and a set of performance indicators relating to the 
Council’s own service performance and the wider performance of the 
Borough.

3.4. Appendices A and B presents an update on the progress with meeting 
the key actions and performance indicators for the second quarter of 
2018/19.

3.5. The performance indicators either present data only or they have targets 
assigned to them. Most indicators report quarterly but some indicators 
may report annually, and these have been identified in the report.



CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
11 DECEMBER 2018

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 This report presents the data on the Corporate Plan Performance 
Indicators.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative 
Implications

None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Key Actions Monitoring Report
Appendix B – Performance Indicators Monitoring Report 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Corporate Plan 2017-20 Sarah Williamson
(01322) 343470

Policy and 
Corporate 
Support

Strategic 
Director 
(Internal 
Services)

N/A



1

APPENDIX A
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Key Actions Monitoring Report – Q2 2018/19

1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION
Strategic Aim: To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all of our communities

Key Action Q2 Update

Work with landowners and developers to bring forward the next phases 
of development on Lowfield Street, which includes community space 
and housing

Demolition to the remainder of the site to commence on 19 November. Construction 
of Phase 1 at northern end of the site expected to start January 2019 (118 dwellings).  
Detailed plans for Phase 2 and 3A are expected around March 2019. Bellways expect 
the whole site to be built out in 2 years.

Appoint and work with a developer to redevelop the Co-op site
Awaiting written confirmation from KCC regarding satisfaction of the title conditions. 
Ongoing meetings are being held with the developer to discuss progress. The 
planning application is expected to be submitted in March 2019.

Design and implement a Town Centre improvement scheme which will 
include an improved public realm and improved access into and 
around the Town Centre, particularly for those on foot

Installation of the Test Area in Market Street and attended public engagement 
completed. Formal Market Street Outline design complete and confirmation of 
commercial agreement with consultant for the detailed stage. Moving into detailed 
design stage.

Create an enhanced space in Market Street which links the town to the 
Park and enhances the setting of the Library and Museum with room to 
expand the market space and provide a public square

Installation of the Test Area in Market Street and attended public engagement 
completed. Formal Market Street Outline design complete and confirmation of 
commercial agreement with consultant for the detailed stage. Moving into detailed 
design stage.

Work with developers and the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation to 
deliver 6,000 homes

675 homes delivered to date at the Ebbsfleet Garden City sites which have 
commenced in Dartford: Eastern Quarry (528) and Ebbsfleet Green (147).  Reserved 
matters consents are in place for a further 583 homes at Castle Hill in Eastern quarry.  
Additional reserved matters for 496 homes are currently awaiting decision from EDC.  
An amended masterplan and revised S106 have been agreed for the remainder of 
the Eastern Quarry, which comprises 4,750 units.  Ebbsfleet Green has 507 homes 
with reserved matters agreed, with the remaining 297 at outline stage.

Work with developers, Kent County Council and Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation to plan for the improvement of the Fastrack 
system and its extension to the new developments

Eastern route out of Ingress Park now operational, providing full access to the service 
through the development. Fastrack spine across Eastern Quarry and tunnel link 
through to Bluewater projected opening September 2021.



2

London Rd/St Clements Way new dedicated Fastrack lane - works ongoing due to be 
completed Spring 2019.

A Fastrack Advisory Board has been set up with a view to supporting the ongoing 
improvement and delivery of the Fastrack service.

Rejuvenate the Acacia Hall site by providing a new entrance into 
Market Street, removing unsuitable buildings, improving the riverbank 
and increasing the number of car parking spaces

Work on the design for the new river channel has nearly been finalised. Options are 
being explored for joint procurements between the Acacia and Town Centre projects. 
New managing consultants have been appointed.

Set up a business advice website which will provide information and 
useful links for businesses in the area or looking to relocate to Dartford

We have established a website for the Dartford Business Awards and have agreed to 
partner with the Kent Growth Hub who are also promoting business opportunities in 
Dartford.

Introduce a new Dartford Business Awards competition
The 2nd Dartford Business Awards took place on 20 September 2018 and was 
extremely successful with entries from over 80 businesses in the Dartford area and 
over 350 people attending the awards ceremony.

Continue to develop the quality of the Town Centre appeal, 
attractiveness and ambience

We continue to work with Planning to support the implementation of the town centre 
regeneration works. Through Town Centre Management we are delivering a wide 
range of projects, events and the Thursday and Saturday markets, and we are 
organising a Business Breakfast Forum on 7 November 2018 with over 80 delegates 
attending.

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING
Strategic Aim: To reduce overall health inequality in Dartford and to provide for a rich and varied quality of life

Key Action Q2 Update
Develop a new rugby facility on the Stone Lodge site, in conjunction 
with related green space, including formal and informal recreational 
facilities

Groundworks on the site have been undertaken and work has commenced on laying 
the building’s foundations. The building’s steel frame is being fabricated. Negotiations 
for the lease for the facility are being finalised.

Continue to deliver public health initiatives across the Borough, 
including Healthy Weight, Dementia Awareness, Don't Sit Get Fit, 
Health Walks and Healthy Workplaces

Community Postural Stability classes are gentle exercise classes for older people at 
risk of falls. In quarter 2, 17 sessions ran. The number of attendances were 127. 
Attendees were 67.

There are currently 7 Health Walks in the Borough. In quarter 2, 89 Health Walk 
sessions ran. The number of attendances were 714. Attendees were 304. There were 



3

15 new people that joined the walks.

Get Active’s aim is to promote low cost physical activity opportunities across the 
Borough. In quarter 2, 29 sessions ran and the number of attendances were 291. 
Attendees were 131.

Why Weight is a free 12 week adult weight management programme designed for 
residents with a BMI of 28+. No Adult Weight Management Programmes ran over the 
summer period.

Don’t Sit Get Fit/Dynamo’s are family weight management programmes. No Family 
Weight Management Programmes ran over the summer period.

In terms of Dementia Awareness, the Healthy Lifestyles Coordinator continues to 
attend local meetings and events.

Healthy Workplaces is run in partnership with The Grand, Gravesend. In quarter 2, a 
local pharmacy successfully completed the Healthy Workplaces programme.

Continue to grant fund organisations which support better physical and 
mental health outcomes

In quarter 2, there were 3 grants awarded under the Salute to Youth Scheme, 
totalling £6,925. Promotion and the opening for applications for the Dartford Borough 
Council Community Grant was undertaken.

Work with Places for People to develop the Council's leisure offer The strong working relationship continues, with an increase in membership due to the 
expansion of the gym space.

Work with commercial and community groups to widen residents' 
access to culture and arts in the Town Centre

A wide range of groups are being encouraged to use the Sir Peter Blake Gallery, they 
include the photographic society, the local embroidery society and a series of works 
by local poets. There has also been an exhibition of children’s art.

Deliver a range of free and paid for events throughout the year Upcoming events include Santa’s House, the Santa tour of the borough and the Carol 
Concert.

Continue to deliver green space as part of residential and business 
developments Green space continues to be designed in to new developments.

Work with Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning 
Group to bring forward plans for a health hub on the Co-op site

Discussions continue between the Council, the developer and the CCG. The CCG 
are awaiting a decision on their funding bid to NHS England for the build costs.



4

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES
Strategic Aim: To create a safer borough in which to live, work and socialise

Key Action Q2 Update
Continue to utilise measures such as Community Protection 
Warnings/Notices, Public Space Protection Orders, and Acceptable 
Behaviour Agreements to modify behaviour that impacts negatively on 
others

This initiative continues and the CSU, Housing and EH utilise these tools to good 
effect.

Work with partners to deliver programmes designed to reduce anti-
social behaviour

Successful funding bids have been granted by the PCC to bolster CCTV capability 
and DTAC towards reducing ASB. Community Protection Warning letters are now 
being used to ban trouble makers and shoplifters from the town centre.

Ensure that businesses are meeting their regulatory safety duties in 
relation to food hygiene and employee/public health and safety

One missed high risk inspection in September represents 50% and this was due to 
access issues.

Continue joint Police and Council Licensing Team visits to licensed 
premises in Dartford to ensure adherence to licensing conditions and 
to ensure the responsible sale of alcohol

The excellent relationship with DBC licensing officers and Kent Police continues to 
flourish and there have been some very good results in terms of joint advice and 
enforcement activity in the town's pubs and clubs. There has also been very 
innovative and ground breaking training in safeguarding and counter terrorism for taxi 
and private hire drivers which has stimulated interest from other councils across the 
country.

Continue to develop the Better Cars and Better Cabs accreditation 
scheme in Dartford

DBC licensing have set a new trend in introducing a series of workshops in 
partnership with Kent Fire and rescue and Kent Police. This involves bespoke training 
in safeguarding, counter terrorism, relevant legislation and road safety measures. The 
scheme is ground breaking and proving very successful.

Continue to work with partners to reduce crime and anti-social 
behaviour in Borough businesses and public open spaces, providing 
vital intelligence and assistance to the Police and reassurance to both 
day and night time economy businesses and the public

DTAC is recognised as being one of the best business crime partnerships in the 
country. The initiative to introduce Community Protection Warnings instead of 
banning notices has been successful and the implementation of a Public Spaces 
Protection Order in the Town and Central Park areas seeks to reduce ASB 
particularly excess drinking in public places. We are now piloting a scheme to tackle 
low level youth shoplifters based upon restorative justice practices.



5

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY
Strategic Aim: To promote an environment which is attractive, with improved air quality and which provides a realistic choice of travel

Key Action Q2 Update

Procure a new waste collection contract Next contract is out to tender with award expected in January 2019.

Enforcement Officers will continue to appropriately enforce legal 
requirements in respect of littering, dog fouling, fly tipping, and parking

Under contract, DBC instructed Kingdom Security to act as our enforcement 
capability for litter and dog fouling in January 2016. Since then and up until the end of 
September 2018 8,860 fixed penalty notices (FPN) have been issued to offenders in 
the borough.

DBC, having led on the introduction of the new £400 Fly Tip FPN, still remain one of 
very few LA’s within Kent to have introduced this. Up until October 17, there have 
been 28 FPN’s for minor fly tips served by DBC Enforcement Officers (not Kingdom).

In terms of Fly Tip investigations DBC have an impressive 60% positive outcome / 
disposal rate.

A scheme to actively involve communities in helping to keep their local 
area clean will be implemented

A number of community groups continue to be helped with carrying out their own litter 
picking initiatives.

Work with developers to agree standards of design, layout and energy 
efficiency on proposed developments

Energy efficiency standards now incorporated in national building regulation 
standards. Standards for design and layout have been agreed through the 
Development Policies Plan Document, adopted in July 2017.

Work with partners to ensure that the Lower Thames Crossing, east of 
Gravesend, is expedited at the earliest possible opportunity

East of Gravesend option (Option C) has been selected.  Public consultation on the 
details of the scheme taking place 10 October to 20 December 2018.  Development 
Consent Order to be submitted Autumn 2019.  Expected completion date 2027.

Produce a scheme for the repair of the Civic Centre, which will include 
energy efficiency measures Completed.

Monitor air quality in the Borough in accordance with national 
requirements and seek to identify and implement measures within our 
control which have a positive impact upon air quality and/or reduce the 
potential health impact of pollution incidents

Air quality continues to be monitored. Hot weather has created high pollution levels.



6

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES
Strategic Aim: To facilitate quality choice and diversity in the housing market, assist in meeting housing need in Dartford and deliver high quality 
services to service users

Key Action Q2 Update
Encourage, facilitate and enable all types of housing to be built, which 
will meet the various types of need in the Borough. This will include the 
Council's own build programme

Target achieved for delivery of affordable homes in the borough for 2017/18. Council 
new build programme progressing well on time and within budget. Phase 2 of the 
Council new build programme close to being finalised for approval.

Work with developers and registered providers to deliver 120 
affordable homes during 2017-18 Delivery target achieved.

Include community facilities as part of major new developments

First primary school opened on Eastern Quarry.

Planning application for primary school on Northern Gateway expected December 18, 
with opening 2019/20. 

Stone Lodge outline application incorporating secondary school submitted, with 
temporary school opening in 2019.

Plans are being progressed for health hub on former Co-op site as part of Muse 
development of the site. 

Provide grants to communities and individuals through the Community 
Grant and Salute to Youth Schemes

In quarter 2, there were 3 grants awarded under the Salute to Youth Scheme. 
Promotion and the opening for applications for the Dartford Borough Council 
Community Grant was undertaken.

Deliver or support events such as Dartford Festival, St Georges Day 
and the Festival of Light

Work is underway on Dartford Festival 2019. A successful Festival of Light event was 
held last month.

Submit a bid to the Heritage Lottery Fund for the refurbishment of 
Dartford Museum

Funding arrangements through HLF have changed and this will have a knock on 
effect on proposals for the future refurbishment of the Museum.

Maximise the number of people registered to vote

Annual Canvass is progressing with a good return rate and focus is now on 
encouraging people identified to register to vote.  E-Canvassing was used for the first 
time and proved to be successful. The revised Register of Electors will be published 
on the 1 December 2018 and it is expected to show an increase electorate



7

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY
Strategic Aim: To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and demonstrate improvement

Key Action Q2 Update

Deliver a Channel Shift programme providing excellent service to 
customers, where, how and when they want it and delivering value for 
money

Website accessibility – With the majority of website users now using mobile devices, 
the mobile design has been enhanced to make better use of the available space, 
providing easier access to all main services and e-forms utilising more space.

Replacement online Special Collection application – A new application that provides a 
better customer experience with the end-to-end process being completed with no 
need for intervention by DBC staff. Application also includes a contractor interface 
that speeds up back end processing and optimises the collection resources.

Deliver a Flexible Working Scheme to reduce the running costs of the 
Council

Agile working continues to be trialled in two departments within the Council (one in 
internal services and one in external services).  Feedback on successes and 
concerns will be received and reviewed before rolling out further. An IT Review is 
taking place which will highlight IT support needed and costs.

Undertake a continuing review of budgets and processes to ensure 
maximum value for money and ensuring a balanced budget Medium Term Financial Plan reviewed and future year options to be determined.

Undertake a programme of repairs to the Civic Centre which will 
reduce running costs 2017/18 Programme delivered on time and within budget.

Work with other Local Authorities in Kent, the Local Government 
Association and Government to introduce 100% retention of Business 
Rates

2019/20 75% pilot bid has been submitted. Initial monitoring shows good financial 
results from the 2018/19 pilot.

Work with the Boundary Commission to review warding arrangements 
in the Borough and introduce any changes by May 2019

The final Community Governance Review recommendations were approved by the 
GAC on 27 September. The LGBCE had recommended changes to some of the 
parish internal electoral arrangements as part of their wider borough warding review.  
These changes have now been finalised by an Order agreed by Parliament. The 
Council’s final recommendations have altered some of the LGBCE’s changes and 
therefore consent is required to amend the Order. Once consent has been given, the 
Council will then need to make a Reorganisation Order by December 2018 in order 
for the changes to take effect from the May 2019 elections.





1

APPENDIX B
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Performance Indicators Monitoring Report – Q2 2018/19

Performance Indicator Status

Alert

Warning

OK

Data Only Indicator (no target)

1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Community Infrastructure Levy income £2,061,024 £794,057 £704,513 £181,170 £885,683  

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) has been applied 
to eligible development since April 2014. During quarter 2 
of 2018/19 relatively few payments have been made. One 
payment represents an instalment for a scheme that is 
liable for over £100k. Payments can rise or fall from 
quarter to quarter, as CIL is only triggered upon 
commencement of consented development. 15% of the 
revenue generated from CIL liable developments in a local 
area, will be passed to town/parish councils and applied to 
projects in local neighbourhoods, and a further proportion 
of the total CIL revenue will be used for administrative 
costs. In December 2017 Cabinet resolved that no CIL 
allocations would be made during the financial year 
2018/19, due to identified potential infrastructure project 
plans not being sufficiently advanced. However, this 
situation will be kept under review.



2

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Overall business birth rate 740 N/A Not measured for 
Quarters N/A  

The Business Demography data set refers to new business 
registrations as business births. Latest available figures 
show that there were 740 business births in 2016 which is 
up 0.68% from the previous year. In Kent overall (KCC 
area), the business birth rate in 2016 was 8,730. This is an 
annual indicator and the next update for 2017 is due at the 
end of November 2018.

Overall business death rate 495 N/A Not measured for 
Quarters N/A  

The Business Demography data set refers to businesses 
that have ceased to trade (identified through de-registration 
of the administrative units, that is, VAT and PAYE) as 
business deaths. Latest available figures show that there 
were 495 business deaths in 2016, which is up 25.31% 
from the previous year. In Kent overall (KCC area), the 
business death rate in 2016 was 7,325. This is an annual 
indicator and the next update is due at the end of 
November 2018.

District wide unemployment rate 1.2% 1.3% 1.1% 1.1% 1.1%  

There were 765 unemployed people in the Borough in 
September 2018, which represents an unemployment rate 
of 1.1%. This has increased since the previous month (45 
more unemployed people in September than in August). In 
Kent overall (KCC area), the unemployment rate in 
September 2018 was 2.0%.

Number of new homes completed (April-
March) 1,162 1,031 Not measured for 

Quarters N/A  Housing delivery continues to be strong.



3

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: Total 
Fairfield Centre Visits 459,270 504,916 132,174 133,431 265,605  

Membership peaked in July 2018 at 3,649, as the centre 
continued to benefit from the recent investment in the gym 
floor. This followed with a small reduction in August 2018 
which is normal seasonal trend.

Between 1st July and 30th September 2018, Fairfield 
received 133,431 visits compared to 132,174 visits in the 
quarter from April to June 2018. Compared to last year this is 
up 3,252 visits, 721 related to swimming activities due the 
extra nice weather and 2,436 in fitness activities with gym 
member visits having a significant impact following the 
expansion works in this area.

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: Average 
Number of Park Run Users 146 161 168 364 266  

This figure now includes both the Dartford Parkrun held in 
Central Park (average 192) and the Dartford Heath Parkrun 
(average 86).

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: Average 
Number of Junior Park Run Users 37 35 39 50 45  

There has been steady average attendance especially over 
the summer holiday period. These figures also include an 
event in July with 99 runners.

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: Princes 
Park Mini Pitch Users 179 191 38 34 72  

Income for this quarter is slightly down compared to the last 
quarter due to the regular teams mostly being off for school 
holidays and returning in September.

Number of local groups supported through 
Community Grant and other grant 
schemes

34 38 4 5 9  

In quarter 2, there were 3 grants awarded under the Salute 
to Youth Scheme and 2 grants awarded under the DBC 
Community Fund. The Community Grant for 2018/19 will be 
launched in quarter 3.

Percentage attendance at the Orchard 
Theatre (% of total seats available which 
are used)

61.33% 59.42% 64% 54% 59%  
The quarter 2 footfall figures are slightly lower than previous 
years by 7% mainly due to 2017 hosting 2 weeks of 
Hairspray selling over 9,000 tickets.



4

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Life expectancy gap for men
Latest value is 
for 2014-16 – 

see note
N/A Not measured for 

Quarters
N/A

 

Latest available figures for 2014-16 show that life 
expectancy is 9.1 years lower for men in the most deprived 
areas of Dartford than in the least deprived areas. In Kent 
overall (KCC area) life expectancy is 7.8 years lower for 
men. This is an annual indicator and the next update is due 
July 2019.

Life expectancy gap for women
Latest value is 
for 2014-16 – 

see note
N/A Not measured for 

Quarters
N/A

 

Latest available figures for 2014-16 show that life 
expectancy is 4.4 years lower for women in the most 
deprived areas of Dartford than in the least deprived areas. 
In Kent overall (KCC area) life expectancy is 4.7 years lower 
for women. This is an annual indicator and the next update is 
due July 2019.

Percentage of obese children in Year 6 21.9% N/A Not measured for 
Quarters

N/A
 

Latest available figures for 2016/17 show that 21.9% of 
children in Year 6 (10-11 year olds) were classified as obese 
in the Borough. This is higher than the previous year where 
21.1% of children in Year 6 were classified as obese. In Kent 
overall (KCC area) for 2016/17, the figure is 18.5%. This is 
an annual indicator and the next update is due in 2019.

Percentage of adults achieving at least 150 
minutes of physical exercise per week 63.9% N/A Not measured for 

Quarters
N/A

 

Latest available figures for 2016/17 show that 63.9% of 
adults were physically active in the Borough. This is slightly 
up from the 2015/16 figure of 63.1%. This indicator is defined 
as the percentage of adults (aged 19+) that meet Chief 
Medical Officer recommendations for physical activity (150+ 
moderate intensity equivalent minutes per week).



5

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Total number of arrests instigated by 
CCTV this month 72 78 27 17 44  Despite challenges with staff turnover, outcomes remain 

stable.

Total number of arrests supported by 
CCTV this month 59 58 21 12 33  Despite challenges with staff turnover, outcomes remain 

stable.

Number of businesses supporting 
Dartford Town Against Crime (DTAC) 209 436 100 83 183  

There has been some new take up from businesses but the 
overall figure remains reduced due to business closures and 
financial constraints on some SME's.

Number of Dartford Town Against Crime 
(DTAC) interventions against persistent 
offenders

22 14 3 3 6  

We are continuing to use Community Protection Warnings 
(CPW) instead of DTAC exclusions which are non-
enforceable. This is proving to be a far better and more 
strategic approach which has a legislative framework to 
support it.

Number of Community Protection 
Warnings issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 379 50 136 186  This continues to be a highly effective tool in tackling ASB 

across the district.

Number of Community Protection Notices 
issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 46 13 32 45  The lower numbers of CPN's (against CPW's) reflects the 

effectiveness of Community Protection Warnings.

Number of Public Space Protection Order 
Enforcement Notices issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 0 1 0 1  The performance reflects the vulnerability of the enforcement 

principally laying with another agency (Police).

Number of Acceptable Behaviour 
Agreements issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 27 3 3 6  

Whilst the CSU work closely with the Police in identifying 
when the use of an ABA is appropriate, it remains exclusively 
a Police task to decide to proceed, issue and then monitor 
the agreement. The Council use Community Protection 
Warnings and Notices to respond to the types of behaviour 
that an ABA tackles, but these are limited to those over the 
age of 18. ABA's tend to be aimed at those under 18 years.

Percentage of High risk (categories A & B) 
food hygiene inspections due and 
completed (cumulative)

100% 100% 100% 50% 50% 100% One missed high risk inspection in September represents 
50% and this was due to access issues.



6

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Number of reported anti-social behaviour 
incidents in the Borough by the Police 2,982 2,135 461 526 987  

Due to extensive and confusing changes to Home Office 
crime counting rules, (effectively making year on year 
comparisons impossible) this will no longer be reported on 
via Pentana. The difference between crimes reported to the 
Police and statistics gathered by the British Crime survey 
are markedly different.  A full explanation has been 
submitted to both the DBC Community Safety Partnership 
and Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee.

Total number of crimes reported in the 
Borough 10,098 12,060 3,537 3,616 7,153  

The counting rules for crime pattern analysis have been 
changed by the Home Office; therefore comparisons cannot 
be made until further notice from the Police. 

Number of criminal damage offences 
reported in the Borough 1,652 1,445 380 424 804  

Due to extensive and confusing changes to Home Office 
crime counting rules, (effectively making year on year 
comparisons impossible) this will no longer be reported on 
via Pentana. The difference between crimes reported to the 
Police and statistics gathered by the British Crime survey 
are markedly different.  A full explanation has been 
submitted to both the DBC Community Safety Partnership 
and Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee.



7

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

The average results of Nitrogen Dioxide 
levels from all automatic air quality 
monitoring stations in the Borough 
(micrograms per m2)

New indicator 
for 2017/18 43.1 33.1 38.6 35.9  Air quality continues to be monitored. Hot weather has 

created high pollution levels.

Number of households taking part in 
energy efficiency initiatives in the 
Borough

571 241 60 108 168  Figures are positive and similar to those achieved in 
2017/18.

Number of households taking part in 
green bin service 6,141 5,740 5,881 6,043 5,962 6,000 The number of customers has slightly increased.

Number of fly-tipping incidents 159 2,560 835 653 1,488
Whilst still high, the number of reported incidents of fly-
tipping has decreased since the reopening of the Pepperhill 
tip.

Number of graffiti incidents 59 58 14 11 25 The number of incidents of graffiti remains very low.

Percentage of household waste going to 
landfill 1.7% 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% 0.6%  The amount of waste being sent to landfill remains 

consistently low.



8

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

No of households on the housing register 1,064 1,134 1,137 1,106 1,106
There has been a drop in the numbers on the waiting list this 
quarter due to verification checks undertaken on inactive 
applications.

No of households living in temporary 
accommodation 107 108 93 82 82 The number of families in temporary accommodation is 

down again which is positive news.

Number of households where 
homelessness has been prevented 50 78 61 N/A N/A

The quarter 2 figure is not yet available due to some issues 
with extracting information from the government’s new 
homelessness data collection system (Hclic). This is 
expected to be resolved soon. The quarter 2 figure will be 
available in the next report.

Number of service requests completed for 
Private Sector Housing 429 234 72 51 123 125 Performance is on target.

Percentage of repairs completed in time 90.92% 87.62% 91.79% 96.46% 93.94% 98.00% Further improvement achieved this quarter and just below 
the very challenging target set but all very positive.

Average time taken to re-let local authority 
housing (in calendar days) (EXCL major 
works)

20.41 21.02 24.35 24.4 24.37 20

The target has not been achieved this quarter due to a high 
number of voids that required works that took longer than 
the standard 20 day target and several hard to let properties 
in the housing schemes. The situation has now recovered 
operationally and it is anticipated that the target will be 
achieved by the end of 2018/19.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Number of affordable homes delivered 
(gross) 239 173 52 46 98 70 The target has already been achieved and does not include 

DBC units due for occupation in coming months.

Number of new homes completed (Apr-Mar) 1,162 1,031 Not measured for 
Quarters N/A Housing delivery continues to be strong.

Number of service requests raised for 
Private Sector Housing

New indicator 
for 2017/18 272 70 81 151 The number of service requests received is similar to those 

during 2017/18.
No of private sector vacant dwellings that are 
returned into occupation or demolished 101 100 20 19 39 50 The target should be achieved by the end of the year.



9

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19 Q2 2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Percentage of in-year Business Rates 
collected

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A 98.9% 32.0% 57.4% 57.4% 56.2%

Business Rate collection continues to perform strongly in 
spite of the raising of £176,000 of charges on 26 September 
2018 in respect of the children’s activity centre.

Percentage of in-year Council Tax 
collected

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A 97% 29.2% 56.5% 56.5% 56.7%

Council tax collection percentage remains 0.2% down as 
compared with 2017/18 largely due to the timing of 
instalments for new dwellings.

Average time taken to process a new 
claim for Housing Benefit (cumulative)

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A 22 28 26 26 23

Capita's off-site processing resilience service is still focusing 
on helping with  the administration of new claims on the 
Council’s behalf until further notice (there is no additional 
cost to the authority as this service is being funded by DWP 
grants). However, there have been some staff vacancies left 
on hold pending the completion of a staffing restructure 
within the Revenues and Benefits service. Now that the 
restructure is complete, recruitment to these posts can go 
ahead but this has already impacted on Q2 & will continue 
to impact on performance in Q3

Average number of DBC working days 
lost due to short term (<4 weeks) illness 
per employee

4.39 3.18 1.08 1.04 2.12 2

There has been an increase in short term sickness absence 
against last year. An Employee Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy has been drafted with key actions to try and reduce 
absence levels where possible.  A number of wellbeing 
initiatives are already taking place.

Average number of DBC working days 
lost due to long term (>4 weeks) illness 
per employee

2.38 3.15 2.1 1.69 3.79 2.02

There has been an increase in long term sickness absence 
against last year. An Employee Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy has been drafted with key actions to try and reduce 
absence levels where possible.  A number of wellbeing 
initiatives are already taking place.

Percentage of supplier payments made 
within 30 days of receipt of invoice 99.02% 99.35% 99.01% 99% 99% 99% Strong performance continued during period.

Rent Collection and Arrears Recovery - 
rents collected as a proportion of rents 
owed.

97.67% 97.8% 91.9% 95.36% 95.36% 95% The percentage of rent collected is on target for the year.

Number of phone calls received by the 
Council 577,329 518,358 134,073 129,695 263,768 The total number of calls received in the last quarter have 

fallen slightly compared to the same quarter of last year 



10

Performance Indicator
2016/17 2017/18 Q1 

2018/19 Q2 2018/19 2018/19
Target Note

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status

however, if we look at the percentage decline it is less than 
2% so it is unlikely that there is a specific reason for the fall. 
Special collections have now been made an online service 
only, since early September, however this will not have had 
a significant impact on the past quarter.

Number of visits to DBC website 821,974 829,677 226,842 249,098 475,940 July experienced a high number of website visits which 
coincides with the Dartford Festival.


	Agenda
	7 Community Infrastructure Levy: Governance and Spending Review 2018
	App A  CIL 5 Yr  Programme 19-24
	App B  Dartford IDP 2018_
	App C  CIL Monitoring Report  2017 to 2018

	8 Lower Thames Crossing - Second Consultation
	Lower Thames Crossing Consultation - Appendix A

	9 Government Consultation on Planning Reform: Supporting the High Street and Increasing the Delivery of New Homes
	Planning_reform - Appendix A
	Scope of the consultation
	Foreword
	Part 1. Permitted development rights and use classes
	Part 2. Disposal of local authority land
	Part 3. Canal & River Trust: Draft listed building consent order
	Part 4. New town development corporations: Draft compulsory purchase guidance
	About this consultation
	Annex A: Privacy notice
	Annex B: Details of the general consent that governs disposals of land by the Greater London Authority
	Annex C: Draft listed building consent order
	Annex D: Draft compulsory purchase guidance – new town development corporations

	Government Consultation on Planning Reform - Appendix B

	10 Draft Licensing Policy 2019-2024
	Draft LicensingPolicy - Appendix A

	11 Draft Gambling Policy 2019-2022
	Gambling Policy 2019-2022 Appendix A

	12 Local Scheme of Support for Council Tax 2019/20
	Appendix A - Local Scheme of Support for  Council Tax
	Appendix B - Local Scheme of Support for Council Tax
	Appendix C - Dartford Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019-2020

	13 Electric Vehicle Charging Points Advice Note
	Appendix A Report to Development Control Board on 8 November 2018
	Appendix B Dartford's Air Quality Management Areas
	Appendix C Electric Vehicle Charging Points Advice Note Nov 2018

	14 New Build Council Housing Project  - Update
	15 Joydens Wood Community Centre  - Lease Surrender, Grant of a New Lease and Grant Funding
	Joydens Wood Community Centre Lease Renewal Appendix A

	16 Dartford Town Centre Transport and Public Realm Improvements
	Dartford Town Centre - Appendix A
	Appendix A 1 of 3
	Appendix A (2 of 3)
	Appendix A (3 of 3) - 1000004700-3-SK37-00

	Dartford Town Centre - Appendix B

	17 Local Plan Review - Progress
	Local Plan Appendix A
	Local Plan Appendix B

	18 Orchard Theatre Auditorium Refurbishment
	19 Financial Contributions to Parish and Town Councils
	Appendix A -Financial contributions to parish councils

	21 Street Naming and Numbering - Eastern Quarry Phase 5, Parcel 1
	Street Naming and Numbering Report - Appendix A

	22 Capital Programme Budget Monitoring 2018/19 - Progress and Projected Outturn
	Capital Monitoring 2018-19 Appendices

	23 Corporate Plan - Key Actions and Performance Indicators Monitoring Report
	Corporate Plan Key Actions Report - APPENDIX A
	Corporate Plan Key Actions - APPENDIX B


